THE MOLECULAR BIOLOGY OF ERYSIMUM LATENT TYMOVIRUS

A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy of the Australian National University

PATTANA SRIFAH

Molecular Evolution and Systematics Group Research School of Biological Sciences The Australian National University Canberra, A.C.T., Australia



TABLE OF CONTENTS

STATEMENT	(v)
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	(vi)
SUMMARY	(viii)
	()
CHAPTER 1 - INTRODUCTION	1
ERYSIMUM LATENT TYMOVIRUS	1
The biology of ELV	1
Properties of ELV Particles	3
The ELV Genome and Virion Protein	3
THE TYMOVIRUSES	5
General Biology	5
Genomic Sequences of Viruses	7
Tymovirus Gene Expression	11
Evolution of Tymoviruses	13
OBJECTIVES OF THE WORK REPORTED IN THIS THESIS	18
CHAPTER 2 - GENERAL MATERIALS AND METHODS	19
MATERIALS AND SOURCES	19
Enzymes and Proteins	19
Nucleic Acids and Nucleotides	19
Other Reagents	21
GENOMIC RNA PREPARATION	22
Virus Propagation and Purification	22
Viral RNA Extraction	22
SYNTHESIS OF dsDNA ENCODING THE VIRAL RNA GENOMES	23
	00

Phosphorylation of Oligodeoxyribonucleotide Primers23Polyadenylation at 3' -end of Viral RNA24Preparation of a dsDNA Copy of the Genomic RNA25cDNA Synthesis Using Specific ELV Primers26Determination of 5' -terminus by Primer Extension27

Polymerase Chain Reaction	28
PLASMID AND BACTERIOPHAGE CLONING	29
Preparation of Vectors for Cloning	29
Preparation of DNA for Insertion into Vectors	30
Ligation of DNA Fragments into Vectors	30
Transformation	31
PLASMID AND BACTERIOPHAGE PREPARATION	32
Bacteriophage ssDNA Preparation	33
ssDNA Preparation from dsDNA Plasmid Vectors	33
Preparation of Large Amounts of dsDNA	34
HYBRIDIZATION FOR TRANSFORMANT IDENTIFICATION	35
Radioactively-labelled Probe Preparation by Nick Translation	35
Colony Hybridization	36
Dot-blot Hybridization Procedure	37
DNA SEQUENCING	38
Denaturated dsDNA Preparation for DNA Sequencing	38
DNA Sequencing Protocols	39
PRODUCTION OF A dsDNA ENCODING THE ELV GENOME	40
Construction of Full-length ELV DNA	42
In vitro Transcription and Capping	44
Biological Assay by Inoculation of Chinese Cabbage Plants	44
Detection of Viral RNA by Dot-blot Hybridization	45
Identification of Virion Coat Protein Gene by PCR	46
COMPUTER ANALYSIS	46
CHAPTER 3 - PRIMARY STRUCTURE OF THE ELV GENOME	48
INTRODUCTION	48
SEQUENCE OF THE ELV GENOME	48

FEATURES OF THE ELV GENOME

CHAPTER 4 - COMPARISONS OF ELV AND OTHER TYMOVIRUSES; GENOMIC SEQUENCES AND

50

52

ENCODED PROTEINS

THE BASIC FEATURES	52
GENOMIC REGIONS	53
The 5' Non-coding Region	53
Proteins Encoded by Tymoviruses	53
Sequence of the 3' Non-coding Region	58
TYMOVIRUS EVOLUTION	60
VIRAL SIGNALS FOR HOST SPECIFICITY	61
CHAPTER 5 - RELATIONSHIPS OF TYMOVIRUSES AND	
OTHER VIRUSES	63
INTRODUCTION	63
VIRAL REPLICASE PROTEINS	64
The A Segments	66
The B Segments	66
The C Segments	66
Comparitive Phylogenetics of the RP motifs	67
THE 'SINDBIS-LIKE' VIRUSES, A SUPERGROUP BASED	
ON REPLICASE SIMILARITIES; CORRELATIONS WITH	
OTHER FEATURES	68
Genome Organization of Sindbis-like Viruses	69
5' - and 3' -terminal Non-coding Regions	71
Initiation and Termination Codons in Tymovirus Genes	71
Comparisons of Possible Subgenomic Promoters in the Genomes of	
Tymoviruses and Other Viruses	73
CHAPTER 6 - CONSTRUCTION OF CLONED DNA ENCODING	
THE ELV GENOME	76

iii

CLONE CONSTRUCTION

THE ELV GENOME

INTRODUCTION

Construction and Selection of Full-size cDNA Clones

,

76

76

76

77

79

Bioassay of Transcripts from the ELV DNA Clones

CHAPTER 7 - DISCUSSION and CONCLUSIONS

GENOMIC ELV SEQUENCE	79
The Terminal Untranslated Regions	79
Internal Control Regions	81
Encoded Proteins	82
RELATIONSHIPS WITH OTHER VIRUSES	
BASED ON SEQUENCE COMPARISONS	84
INFECTIOUS RNA TRANSCRIPTS FROM CLONES OF ELV	85

89

REFERENCES

iv



STATEMENT

This thesis contains no material which has been previously submitted for an academic record at this or any other University and is the original work of the author, except where acknowledged.

7. Sifare

Pattana Srifah



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to express my gratitute to my supervisor, Dr. Adrian Gibbs, for generously providing me with the opportunity to work in the Molecular Evolution and Systematics Group, for his friendship and continued support, especially, during the writing of this thesis and his guidance and encouragement throughout the course of this work. My sincere thanks go to my co-supervisor Dr. Paul Keese for his help with the theory and practice of all the molecular biology, and for his encouragement and helpfulness. In addition, I wish to thank Dr. Mary Skotnicki, another co-supervisor for all of her advice.

The work described in this thesis was supported by the following people; Anne Mackenzie, Marjo Torronen and Paul Keese for their technical assistance and advice; Adrian Gibbs, David Sandilands, Jack Palmer, Shouwei Ding, Georg Weiller, and John Armstrong for their computing advice; James Whitehead for drawing all the complicated figures; and for this willing help I am truly grateful.

Thanks also go to Australian International Development Assistance Bureau for the AIDAB-ACIAR Fellowship Award who provided financial support throughout the course of this study.

I am grateful to all my best friends, including Sunee Budsayavith, Karen Crabtree, Julie Glover, Jennie Gibbs, Sakkarin Niyomsilpa, Kala Paul, Suchirat Sakuanrungsirikul, Elizabeth Smith, Nualnoi - Rungrueng Threerat and Ken Wessen, whose kindness provided not only knowledge but also happiness, while I was studying in Australia. Special thanks due to my family, my friends in Thailand, especially Ms. Patchanee Leeladee, for caring, supporting and understanding me.



SUMMARY

The ssRNA genome of erysimum latent tymovirus (ELV) is 6034 nucleotides in length and closely resembles other tymoviruses in its organization. The genome has small non-coding regions at both ends and these together comprise about 3% of the genome. The coding region consists of three large open reading frames (ORFs) encoding proteins with M_r values of 48,596 (49K), 193,806 (194K) and 21,482 (21.5K) with the first starting seven nucleotides before the second and overlapping it. These three proteins are homologous with the overlapping, replicase and virion proteins (OP, RP and VP, respectively) already reported for other tymoviruses. Although the sequence relationships show that ELV is a tymovirus, it is the most distinct of those that have been sequenced so far, and its VP has an extra unique segment of eleven amino acid residues near its N-terminus. Nonetheless the serological relationships of the particles of different tymoviruses significantly correlate with the sequence relationships of their VPs.

Computer analyses failed to find any obvious and specific similarities between the three ELV and TYMV proteins that could explain why their host ranges and symptoms are so similar, and differ, in this respect, from ononis yellow mosaic, kennedya yellow mosaic and eggplant mosaic tymoviruses. It seems that protein signals encoding those particular biological functions are probably subtle.

The non-coding nucleotides at the 3'-terminus of the ELV genome is only 78 nucleotide long and, unlike that region of most other tymoviruses, is unable to form a complete tRNA-like structure able to be aminoacylated with valine.

The amino acid sequence of the RPs (206K proteins) of five tymoviruses were compared in detail with those of the corresponding proteins of alfalfa mosaic, apple chlorotic leaf spot, beet necrotic yellow vein, narcissus mosaic, potato M, potato X, Sindbis, tobacco mosaic and white clover mosaic viruses; these viruses of the Sindbis-

like group had been shown to have nucleotide binding and replicase motifs, and also possible methyltransferase motifs, that are clearly related to those of tymoviruses. It was shown that the five tymovirus RPs are most closely related to those of apple chlorotic leaf spot closterovirus, potato M carlavirus, narcissus mosaic, potato X and white clover mosaic potexviruses. These viruses differ considerably in gene organization, base composition and particle morphology, and comparisons with other groups suggest that genetic recombination has been an important feature in the origins of these virus groups.

Plasmids containing DNA segments encoding the complete ELV genome were made. pELV35 and pELV81 were constructed in the plasmid Bluescript SK(+) adjacent to the bacteriophage T7 RNA polymerase promoter. When transcribed in the presence of the cap homologue, m⁷GpppG, RNAs were obtained with the same sequence as the ELV genome, but with one extra guanine residues at the 5'-end and five extra nucleotides at the 3'-end. Chinese cabbage plants manually inoculated with such transcripts showed mild chlorotic spotting and mottling two weeks later. These symptoms were different from the characteristic and severe symptoms of ELV. They were only produced by transcripts made in the presence of the cap homologue, m⁷GpppG. No virus particles were detected in plants inoculated with the transcripts, but small amounts of ELV RNA was detected by nucleic acid hybridization, and the VP gene was detected after PCR amplification.



CHAPTER 1 - INTRODUCTION

ERYSIMUM LATENT TYMOVIRUS

The Biology of ELV

Erysimum latent tymovirus (ELV), first described by Shukla and Schmelzer (1972), was isolated in November 1969 from symptomless *Erysimum helveticum* (Jacq.) DC. collected from the Plantation of Zentralinstitut für Genetik und Kulturpflanzenforschung, Gatersleben in East Germany. It has only been recorded in East Germany where it causes diseases of wild and crop brassicas. It has been isolated from naturally infected plants of the perennial species *Erysimum perovskianum*, *E. pulchellum*, *E. sylvestre*, and *Barbarea vulgaris*, which were symptomless and *Arabis ludoviciana*, *E. crepidifolium* and *Fibigia clypeata* which showed mosaic symptoms that could have been caused by simultaneous infection with other viruses (Shukla *et al.*, 1972, 1975).

ELV has a narrow experimental host range, mostly infecting brassicas but also a few species of the Cucurbitaceae, Labiatae, Leguminosae, Resedaceae, and Solanaceae. ELV is readily transmitted experimentally by sap inoculation, and is transmitted in nature by four species of *Phyllotreta sp.* (flea-beetles) in a semipersistent manner; the virus can be acquired in less than 10 min, can infect plants in 30 to 60 min, and persists in insects for up to 3 days. The beetle vectors of ELV themselves have very restricted host ranges and are poorly dispersed, and this may be the main reason for the limited distribution of ELV. ELV is not known to be transmitted through seeds (Shukla *et al.*, 1975; Proeseler and Schmelzer, 1977).

ELV, like other tymoviruses, seems only to infect dicotyledonous plants (Table 1) (Shukla *et al.*, 1972; Guy *et al.*, 1984; P. Srifah unpublished data). Guy *et al.* (1984) reported a broad correlation between the host ranges and taxonomy of ten tymoviruses

including belladonna mottle virus (BMV), dulcamara mottle virus (DMV), clitoria yellow vein virus (CYVV), cacao yellow mosaic virus (CoYMV), ELV, eggplant mosaic virus (EMV), kennedya yellow mosaic virus (KYMV), ononis yellow mosaic virus (OYMV), scrophularia mottle virus (ScMV), and turnip yellow mosaic virus (TYMV). They used the taxonomic scheme proposed by Young and Watson (1970) in

Table 1. Plants susceptible and insusceptible to infection by erysimum latent tymovirus (ELV).

Susceptible plants

Insusceptible plants

Amaranthaceae:

Celosia argentea L.

Apocynaceae:

Catharanthus roseus (=Vinca rosea L.)

Aizoaceae:

Bignoniaceae:

Boraginaceae:

Brassicaceae:

Aethionema arabicum (L.) Andrz., A. recurvum Hausskn. et Bornm., Alyssum alyssoides L., Arabis hirsuta (L.) Scop., A. ludoviciana, Arabidopsis thaliana L., Aubrieta deltoides (L.) DC., Brassica chinensis L., B. juncea (L.) Czern. et Coss., B. napus var. napobrassica (L.) Rchb., B. nigra (L.) Koch, B. oleracea var. botrytis (L.)Alef., B. oleracea var. gongyloides L., Matthiola incana (L.) R. Br., Raphanus raphanistrum L. B. pekinensis (Lovr). Rupr., Bunias erucago L., Camelina sativa (L.) Crantz, Capsella bursa-pastoris (L.) Medik., Conringia orientalis (L.) Dum., Eruca vesicaria (L.) Cav. em. Thell., Erysimum allionii Hort., E. barbarea L., E. crepidifolium, E. helveticum (Jacq.) DC., E. perovskianum Fisch. & Mey, E. pulchellum Gay, E. sylvestre Scop., Fibigia clypeata, Hesperis matronalis L., Iberis umbellata L., Isatis tinctoria L., Lepidium sativum L., Lobularia maritima (L.) Desv., Lunaria annua L., Malcolmia africana (L.) R. Br., M. bicolor Boiss. et Heldr., M. flexuosa Sibt. et Sm., M. maritima R. Br., Matthiola bicornis DC., Sinapis alba L., S. arvensis L. Campanulaceae:

Caryophyllaceae:

Stellaria media (L.) Vill. Chenopodiaceae:

Convolvulaceae:

Dorotheanthus bellidiformis (Burm. f.) N.E.Br.

Catalpa bignonioides Walt.

Myosotis sylvatica (Ehrh.) Hoffm.

Aethionema grandiflorum Boiss. et Reyn., Alyssum saxatile L., Arabis caucasica Willd., Brassica oleracea var. acephala (DC.) Alef., B. oleracea var. capitata (L.) Alef., B. oleracea var. gemmifera DC., Cherianthus cheiri L., Fibigia clypeata Medik., Iberis amara L., I. sempervirens L., Malcolmia littorea R. Br.,

Lobelia erinus L.

Gypsophila elegans Bieb., Myosotis sylvaticus Hoffm.

Beta vulgaris L., Chenopodium amaranticolor Coste et Reyn., C. foetidum Schard., C. murale L., C. quinoa Willd., Spinacia oleracea L.

Ipomoea purpurea (L.) Roth.

Susceptible plants

Insusceptible plants

Asteraceae:

Cucurbitaceae: Cucumis sativus L. Euphorbiaceae:

Gesneriaceae:

Hydrophyllaceae:

Labiatae: Ocimum basilicum L.

Fabaceae: Trigonella coerulea (L.) Ser.

Malvaceae:

Myrtaceae:

Onagraceae:

Papaveraceae: -Plantaginaceae: Polemoniaceae: -Polygonaceae: -Pontederiaceae: -Ranunculaceae: Bellis perennis L., Dimorphotheca amaratiaca DC., Helianthus annuus L., Lactuca sativa L., Podolepis robusta (Maiden et Betche) J.H.Willis

Euphorbia marginata Pursh.

Sinningia speciosa (Lodd.) Hiern.

Nemophila menziesii Hook. et Arn.

Salvia splendens F. Sellow

Arachis hypogaea L., Cassia artemisiodes Galdich., Phaseolus vulgaris L. cv. Plena and Pinto, Pisum sativum L., Vicia faba L., Vigna sinensis (L.) Savi ex Hassk.

Gossypium hirsutum L.

Eucalyptus cloeziana F. Muell

Godetia amoena (Lehn) G. Don.

Papaver nudicaule L.

Plantago major L.

Phlox drummondii Hook.

Fagopyrum esculentum Moench

Leptosiphon sp.

Delphinium consolida L., D. hybridum Hort.

Susceptible plants

Insusceptible plants

Resedaceae:

Reseda odorata L.

Rosaceae:

Scrophulariaceae:

Solanaceae:

Nicotiana glutinosa L., N. megalosiphon Heurck et Muell., Solanum integrifolium Poir.

Tropaeolaceae:

Umbelliferae:

Valerianaceae:

-Violaceae:

Viola cornuta L.

Fragaria vesca L.

Antirrhinum majus L., Collinsia heterophylla Buist ex Grah., Erinus alpinus L.

Nicotiana clevelandii Gray, N. tabacum L., Petunia hybrida Hort. ex Vilm.

Tropaeolum majus L.

Amni majus L., Anthriscus cerefolium (L.) Hoffm., Apium graveolens var. dulce (Mill.) Pers., Pastinaca sativa L., Petroselinum crispum (Mill.) Nym. ex A.W.Hill

Valerianella locusta (L.) Betcke

Best Assay Species known are:

B. napus var. napobrassica (L.) Rchb. (local lesion host).

which, at the highest level, there are just two groups of dicotyledons; the 'crassinucelli' and the 'tenuinucelli'. Guy et al. (1984) noted that most tymoviruses found naturally in crassinucellate plants (e.g. Brassicacae and Leguminosae) were more closely related to others from crassinucellate plants than to tymoviruses from tenuinucellate plants (e.g. Solanaceae), and vice versa. This grouping also significantly correlated with the experimental host preferences of the viruses, and so Guy et al. (1984) suggested that there are two main groups of tymoviruses, which they named the crassi-tymoviruses and the tenui-tymoviruses. Thus ELV, like turnip yellow mosaic (TYMV), was classified as a crassi-tymovirus. This grouping is confirmed by the experimental host range studies of ELV (Table 1) which has been found to infect 44 out of 79 (55%) crassinucellate species, but only 5 out of 27 (19%) tenuinucellate species. These figures are similar to those obtained in the analysis of the taxonomy of tymoviruses and their naturally infected hosts by Guy et al. (1984), who, using a chi-square test, obtained a score of $\chi^2 = 5.7$, P< 0.025. It showed that the natural hosts of crassinucellate species were significantly more susceptible than were species from the tenuinucellate species.

Shukla and Schmelzer (1973c, d) reported that environmental conditions influence symptom expression and the accumulation of ELV particles in infected hosts. Infected *B. chinensis* (L.) show the most severe systemic symptoms and the greatest concentration of particles, 0.5 mg/g of plant tissue, 14 days after inoculation when grown under high intensity light (1200 lux) at 22°C and a relative humidity of 70 percent. Whereas, in lower light intensities (75 or 300 lux) and lower or higher temperatures (18°C or 25°C), the symptoms are milder or absent (at 32°C) and the virus particles present at lower concentrations. The virus concentration decreases 21 days after inoculation (Shukla and Schmelzer, 1973d).

ELV also induces, in infected cells, cytological changes that are characteristic of tymovirus infections (Lesemann, 1977). Vesicles bounded by double membranes are found in the peripheries of the chloroplasts, and masses of lightly staining empty

particles occur in the nuclei (Shukla *et al.*, 1980). As the disease develops, the chloroplasts become rounded and clumped, and form large internal vacuoles which can be easily seen using a light microscope (Matthews and Sarkar, 1976).

Properties of ELV Particles

In sap, particles of ELV have a thermal inactivation point between 76° C to 78° C, a dilution end point up to 1:500,000 and are stable at room temperature for more than 21 days (Shukla and Schmelzer, 1972).

ELV has icosahedral particles with a diameter of about 27 nm. When centrifuged the particles sediment as two components. The so-called 'bottom' component (BC) comprises 'full' nucleoprotein particles, which exclude negative stains from their interior and sediment at approximately 113S. By contrast the 'top' component (TC) comprises 'empty' protein shells and these are penetrated by negative stain and sediment at approximately 59S (Shukla and Gough, 1980). The BC particles are infectious, and contain both the genomic RNA and subgenomic RNA (the messenger RNA of the virion protein) (P. Srifah unpublished data). Whereas the TC particles are not infectious (Shukla *et al.*, 1973a) but contain host tRNA, and in this respect are similar to those of some other tymoviruses including BMV, DMV, CoYMV, EMV, KYMV, OYMV and wild cucumber mosaic (WCMV) (Bouley *et al.*, 1976; Geneveaux *et al.*, 1976; Blok *et al.*, 1987a).

The ELV Genome and Virion Protein

The genome of ELV consists of a single species of linear positive sense, singlestranded RNA molecules. These have a relative molecular mass of about $2x10^6$ and comprise 32% of the nucleoprotein particle weight, as estimated by particle composition and structure (Gough *et al.*, 1982). The genome has a base composition of 15.6% G, 23.9% A, 26.0% U, 34.5% C, and thus has the unusually large cytosine content and small guanine content (Shukla *et al.*, 1980), that is characteristic of tymoviruses.

A single species of virion protein (VP) comprises about 68% of the weight of ELV particles. An electron microscope analysis of ELV particles reveals that, like other tymoviruses, they have 32 surface protuberances, indicating that they have a shell

of 180 identical protein subunits arranged in a T=3 icosahedral surface lattice clustered into 20 hexamers and 12 pentamers (Colman *et al.*, 1980).

The ELV VP has been shown to have an estimated M_r of 21.7K by SDS polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. FITMOL analysis (Gibbs and Knowles, 1977) of its amino acid composition (Table 2; Shukla *et al.*, 1980 and Srifah *et al.*, 1990)

indicates that it has about 208 amino acid residues, which is somewhat larger than the VP of other tymoviruses. Recently, Srifah *et al.*(1990) reported the nucleotide sequence of ELV VP gene and its encoded protein. They found that the ELV VP is of 202 amino acid residues, and this was confirmed by partial peptide analysis.

Table 2. Composition of the virion proteins of ELV and other tymoviruses (Shukla et al., 1980).

	ELV	ELV	EMV	OYMV	TYMV
Molecular weight		21,483	19,769	20,449	20,152
Amino acid	Moles %	VIRUSES	Number	of residue	23
			0.5	2	
Alanine (Ala, A)	7.02	14(14)*	25	9	14
Cysteine (Cys, C)	0	0(0)	3	2	4
Aspartic acid (Asp, D)	5.53	11(5)	5	7	7
Glutamic acid (Glu, E)	10.20	21(6)	4	5	6
Phenylalanine (Phe, F)	3.50	7(7)	6	5	6
Glycine (Gly, G)	8.40	17(10)	- 7	8	8
Histidine (His, H)	2.04	4(4)	3	2	3
Isoleucine (Ile, I)	3.80	8(8)	13	15	16
Lysine (Lys, K)	3.49	7(7)	7	5	7
Leucine (Leu, L)	10.88	22 (22)	19	21	16
Methionine (Met, M)	1.44	3(4)	3	3	4
Asparagine (Asn, N)	NYTT-TTYN	- (6)	10	7	4
Proline (Pro, P)	10.34	21(20)	17	21	20
Glutamine (Gln, O)	high_nontrat	-(15)	9	11	8
Arginine (Arg, R)	2.61	5(5)	4	7	3
Serine (Ser. S)	13.80	28(28)	20	34	17
Threenine (Thr. T)	10.00	20(21)	21	11	27
Valine (Val. V)	8.05	16(16)	7	15	14
Tryptophan (Trp. W)	0.48	1(1)	1	1	2
Turosine (Tur Y)	1 50	3(3)	4	3	3
Stop/	1.00	(1)	(1)	(1)	(1)
New (Acp or Acp P)	5 53	(1)	(+)	(- /	(-/
Glx (Glu or Gln, Z)	10.2	(6+15)			

* The numbers of amino acids in brackets were deduced from the nucleotide sequence of viral genomic RNA of ELV (Srifah et al., 1990)

The amino acid sequence of ELV VP has been compared with the sequences of the VPs of four other tymoviruses, namely EMV-Trin (Osorio-Keese *et al.*, 1989),

KYMV-JB (Ding et al., 1990d), OYMV-Tin (Ding et al., 1989), and TYMV-CL (Keese et al., 1989). It was found that the sequence of ELV VP is the most distinct of all five tymovirus VPs, and, unexpectedly, it is larger than the VPs of other tymoviruses because it has an additional N-terminal 11 amino acids. The sequence relationships of the five VPs correlate well with relationships assessed from their amino acid compositions (Paul et al., 1980), and with their serological relationships (Shukla and Schmelzer, 1972; Koenig, 1976; Shukla and Gough, 1980) ELV shows only a very distant serological relationship with Andean potato latent (APLV) and OYMV. Nevertheless, it is clear that ELV is a definitive member of the tymovirus group (Shukla and Gough, 1980).

THE TYMOVIRUSES

General Biology

Turnip yellow mosaic virus, type member of the tymoviruses, is one of the most fully characterized plant viruses with small isometric particles. It was first reported over 40 years ago by Markham and Smith (1946).

Since then twenty or so viruses (Table 3) have been described with closely similar properties, especially of their virions, and these comprise the <u>turnip yellow</u> **mosaic virus** (tymovirus) group (Harrison *et al.*, 1971).

Turnip yellow mosaic virus (TYMV), because of its early isolation, ease of handling and the stability and high concentration of its particles, has become one of the most intensively studied plant viruses (Matthews, 1970).

One of the most interesting features of the virus, discovered in the 1940s, is that it produces both intact nucleoprotein particles and empty protein shells with no RNA (Markham *et al*, 1948 and Matthews, 1960). These two types of particles were compared and it was found that (Matthews, 1988):

(i) TYMV nucleoprotein particles are infectious, whereas the protein particles are not (Markham and Smith, 1949). This was the first clear indication for any virus that the nucleic acid is essential for infectivity;

(ii) the RNA is located centrally within a coat of protein, a feature later

found to be common to all small isometric virus particles;

(iii) the empty protein shells are stable in strong salt solutions, indicating for the first time that protein-protein hydrophobic interactions are important for the stability of the particles of some viruses.

Virus	Host plant families	Reference
Andean potato latent virus	Solanaceae	Gibbs et al., 1966
Belladonna mottle virus	Solanaceae	Paul, 1971
Cacao yellow mosaic virus (CoYMV)	Sterculiaceae	Brunt, 1970
Clitoria yellow vein virus (CYVV)	Leguminosae	Bock and Guthrie, 1977
Desmodium yellow mottle virus	Fabaceae	Fribourg et al., 1976
Dulcamara mottle virus	Solanaceae	Gibbs et al., 1966
Eggplant mosaic virus (EMV)	Solanaceae	Gibbs and Harrison, 1973
Erysimum latent virus	Brassicacae	Shukla and Gough, 1980
Kennedya yellow mosaic virus	Fabaceae	Gibbs, 1978
Okra mosaic virus	Malvaceae	Givord and Koenig, 1974
Ononis yellow mosaic virus	Fabaceae	Gibbs et al., 1966
Passiflora yellow mosaic virus	Passifloraceae	Crestani et al., 1984
Physalis mosaic virus	Solanaceae	Peter and Derks, 1974
(PIMV) Plantago mottle virus (PIMV)	Plantaginaceae	Granett, 1973
Scrophularia mottle virus (ScMV)	Scrophulariaceae	Bercks, 1973
Tomato white necrosis virus (TWNV)	Solanaceae	Barradas, 1983
Turnip yellow mosaic virus	Brassicacae	Matthews, 1970
Voandzeia necrotic mosaic virus	Fabaceae	Fauquet et al., 1984
Wild cucumber mosaic virus (WCMV)	Cucurbitaceae	van Regenmortel, 1972

Table 3. Members of the Tymovirus Group and their Hosts.

Another likely member of the group is poinsettia mosaic (PoiMV) (Koenig and Fulton, 1986).

All tymoviruses, like ELV, produce two types of icosahedral particles about 25-

30nm in diameter. First, there are the infectious nucleoprotein particles. These contain the monopartite RNA genome of $M_r 2x10^6$, which constitutes 35% of their particle weight, and which is of messenger sense and therefore infectious when deproteinized. The particles also sometimes contain minor amounts of a subgenomic mRNA that encodes the virion protein and has relative molecular mass of about $0.25x10^6$ (Kaper

and Steere, 1959; Matthews, 1970; Mellema *et al.*, 1979; Keeling *et al.*, 1979). Particles of the second type are empty protein shells. They are not infectious, but contain small amounts of subgenomic RNA in those of EMV, OkMV, and WCMV (Markham and Smith, 1949; Pleij *et al.*, 1976; Klein *et al.*, 1976; Ricard *et al.*, 1977; Szybiak *et al.*, 1978) and host tRNAs in BMV, DMV, ELV, EMV, OYMV and WCMV (Blok *et al.*, 1987).

The RNA-free particles of tymoviruses seem to be as stable as those which contain the genomic RNA. This indicates that protein-protein interactions, rather than protein-RNA interactions, are important in stabilizing them (Markham *et al.*, 1948). By contrast the particles of many other plant viruses, that have isometric particles of a similar size and a RNA genome, rely mostly on RNA-protein interactions, and are unstable in concentrated salt solutions (Kaper, 1975).

Tymovirus genomes have a large (32-42%) cytosine and small (15-17%) guanine content. Both the RNA genomes and the subgenomic RNAs of tymoviruses have been shown to be capped at their 5'-termini with m⁷GpppGp (Klein *et al.*, 1976; Pleij *et al.*, 1976; Ahlquist and Janda, 1984). This 5'-cap structure has been shown to facilitate the binding of eukaryotic cellular mRNAs to ribosomes for translation (Karatzas *et al.*, 1990) and to involve in the stability of RNA molecules for higher translation efficiency (Furuichi *et al.*, 1977; Shimotohmo *et al.*, 1977).

Genomic Sequences of Viruses

Recently the complete genomic sequences of several tymoviruses have been determined. They are:

- **TYMV** the type strain (Morch et al., 1988);
 - the Club Lake (CL) isolate from Australia (Keese et al., 1989);
 - the Blue Lake (BL) isolate from Australia (A.D.Meek unpublished data);
- **EMV** the Trinidad (Trin) isolate (Osorio-Keese et al., 1989);

KYMV - the Jervis Bay (JB) isolate (Ding *et al.*, 1990d); and

OYMV - the Tintagel (Tin) isolate (Ding et al., 1989).

a) Genomic Structure

The genomic sequences confirm previous estimates of the size and composition of tymovirus genomes. All are about 6,300 nucleotides in length, and the large cytosine and small guanine content, previously determined by direct chemical methods, is found to be uniformly distributed throughout the genomes. Their encoded proteins have a high proportion of amino acids, like proline, serine and threonine, that have cytosine-rich codons, but this is not the sole reason for their large cytosine content as they have a preponderance of cytosines in the third codon position of the major open reading frames (ORFs).

b) Tymovirus ORFs

There are three main open-reading frames (ORFs) of significant length that have similar placement relative to one another in every tymovirus genomic sequence (Figure 1).

Two 5'-proximal overlapping ORFs begin at 7 nucleotides apart. The larger ORF, which starts at the second AUG, covers more than 85% of the genome. The protein it encodes is about M_r 206K in size, and is probably a replicase protein (RP) as, in its C-terminal part, there are two sequence motifs common to RNA replicases. These are the nucleotide binding fold with the consensus sequence Gly-X-X-Gly-X-Gly-Lys[Ser/Thr] (GxxGxGK[S/T]) and the RNA-dependent polymerase with the consensus sequence Gly-Asp-Asp (GDD) (Kamer and Argos, 1984; Argos, 1988). These motifs are found in RNA replicases of several plant and animal viruses, and bacteriophages (Kamer and Argos, 1984; Goldbach, 1987; Goldbach and Wellink, 1988; Gorbalenya *et al.*, 1988a, b). The smaller 5' ORF overlaps the RP ORF and is about one third the size of the RP ORF, although this varies in different tymoviruses from M_r 66K to 82K.

The third ORF is 3'-proximal and encodes the virion protein (VP), which is of about M_r 20K, and is expressed via a subgenomic mRNA.





Figure 1. (a) A map of the TYMV genome and the proteins it encodes. Solid lines represent the viral genomic and subgenomic RNAs, and are marked with the positions of the initiation (Δ) and termination (O) codons, and the cap (*) and tRNA-like (**2**) structures at their 5'- and 3'-ends, respectively. Boxes represent the ORFs, and these are hatched to indicate different reading frames, and the possible post-translational cleavage sites (**4**) (from Morch *et al.*, 1989).

(b) Maps of four reported tymovirus genomes. Their three main ORFs are represented as open bars; white = OP, shadowed = RP, and black = VP. The triangles represent termination codons, white = UAA, shadowed = UGA, and black = UAG (from Ding, 1989).

c) The Untranslated Regions

The non-coding regions at the termini and between the ORFs constitute only about 3% of the genome.

i) 5'-terminus: The 5'-untranslated leader sequences of the genomic and subgenomic RNAs of TYMV contain a smaller proportion of G than other parts of the genome; the 5'-genomic leader is about 95 nucleotides long (Briand *et al.*, 1978) and that of the subgenomic RNA is only 19 nucleotide long (Guilley and Briand, 1978).

ii) Internal regions: There is, in EMV and TYMV, a small untranslated region between the RP and VP ORFs, whereas, in KYMV and OYMV, the RP and VP ORFs link and overlap, respectively. The RP/VP junction of the genome is also notable because it contains two conserved regions, the tymobox (5'-GAGUCUGAAU

UCGUUC-3') and the initiation box (5'-CAAU-3') (Ding *et al.*, 1990a), which are probably concerned with controlling transcription from the negative (complementary) genomic strand to produce the VP mRNA (Figure 2). The tymobox sequence has been shown to be valuable as a general tymovirus primer for VP cloning, as a specific probe

for identifying tymoviruses, and as a potential target site for ribozymes to control tymoviral infection (Ding et al., 1990a).

																																			-		_			
APLV-Hu	(?)	G	υ	C	υ	С	С	c ı	J A	с	υ	1	G	A C	; U	С	U	G	AA	U	U	G	С	U	U	c	c	C U	υ	-	U	υυ	C	٨	A	U	UNNUUADG	
BdMV-Eur	(?)	G	U	υ	υ	с	U	UC		c	U	U	G	A C	; U	С	U	G	AA	U	U	G	С	υ	υ	c	A (JG	G	U	υ	U C	C	A	A	U	AGCAACCAAOG	
CYVV	1	?)	G	υ	С	U	С	c	c ı	J A	c	G	٨	G	A C	; U	С	υ	G	AA	U	U	G	С	U	U	c	A C	сс	A	С	U	υυ	C	λ	A	С	UCUCUUGAGAUCAAUCAOG	
DMV	1	2)	G	υ	υ	υ	С	G	UC	5 A	c	U	U	G	A C	; U	С	υ	G	AA	U	υ	G	С	U	U	C	λ	JG	G	U	υ	UC	C	Å	٨	U	AGCAAAAUG	
FLV	(5303	-53	150)	G	λ	U	С	С	С	A	1 0	G	υ	U	G	AC	5 0	U	U	G	AA	U	υ	G	С	υ	U	clo	c d	υ	U	-	U	υc	C	λ	٨	U	GUNCNNOGN	
EKV-Trio	(5587	-56	35)	G	U	С	υ	c	U	c /	AA	c	U	G	G	AC	; U	С	υ	G	A A	U	U	G	С	υ	υ	cl	c	υ	U	¢	υ	c u	C	Â	A	U	AGAUCAAUG	
KYHV-BP	(2)	G	U	G	υ	с	С	c J	AA	C	υ	A	G	A C	5 0	С	υ	G	AA	U	U	G	Ç	υ	υ	C	A	υ	С	С	υ	υυ	C	A	A	U	UCUAGAUG	
KYMV-JB	(5666	-57	1131	G	υ	С	υ	С	С	c ,	AA	C	U	٨	G	AC	5 0	υ	U	G	h A	0	0	G	С	U	U	C	A	A U	С	С	υ	υυ	C	٠λ	A	U	UCUAGAUG	
KYMV-PD	1	?)	G	U	U	U	с	Ċ	GI	n A	C	U	٨	G	A C	5 0	с	U	G	A 7	10	U	G	С	U	U	C	λ	c c	٨	U	U	υο	C	A	٨	G	AUUGAGAUG	
OYMV-Tic	(5440	- 5:	190)	G	U	С	С	٨	G	U	n c	: 0	υ	٨	G	λ	5 L	C	U	G	x 1	10	υu	G	С	U	U	A	C	c u	С	-	U	υι	C	^ ک	٨	U	CAUG	U.
TYMV-BL	(5589	-50	547)	G	υ	υ	υ	С	С	с	G C	G	c	U	G	AC	5 0	C	υ	G	A 7	11) ()	G	С	U	υ	C	λ	сu	A	С	G	UC	: C	Å	A	U	AGCAAUCAGCCCCGACAUG	
TYMV-CL	(5589	-50	547)	G	U	υ	U	С	С	C i	n c	G	с	U	G	A	s u	C	υ	G	A 1	11	U U	G	С	υ	U	C	A	c u	A	U	G	UC	c	À	A	U	AGCAAUCAGCCCCGACAUG	
TYMV-Roth	(?)	G	υ	С	U	С	С	A	n c	; 0	; c	A	G	A	G L	C	υ	G	A Z	4 1	υ	G	С	υ	U	C	λ	C U	Λ	С	С	υι) c	A	٨	U	NGCANCOMOCNOG	
TYMV-LVDC	(5598	-51	546)	G	U	ΰ	υ	С	С	C .	A C	0	; C	U	G	Λ (sι	C	υ	G	AI	1	υυ	G	С	U	υ	c	A	c u	A	С	G	UC	c	- 2	A	U	AGCAAUCAGCCCCAACADG	
WCUMV	(?)	G	ΰ	G	U	С	С	C	A C	5 0	: 0	A	G	~	G) C	υ	υ	С	3 (; U	J G	С	A	υ	C	υ	c u	C	-	υ	0 1) c	2	1	U	UGANAUADG	
															-				-				-			-		_							_		-			

Tymobox

Consensus

GUCCUAA

UCUA

Initiation box

Figure 2. Aligned nucleotide sequences of tymoviral genomic RNAs in the region surrounding the initiation site of subgenomic RNA transcription. Two conserved sequences, the tymobox and the initiation box, are marked (from Ding et al., 1990a).

iii) 3'-terminus: The 3'-termini of several tymoviruses have been shown to be specifically aminoacylated by valyl-t-RNA synthetase. These terminal sequences can be folded into energetically stable tRNA-like structures (Pinck et al., 1970; Yot et al., 1970; Giège et al., 1978; Joshi et al., 1978; Joshi et al., 1982). Models of the secondary and tertiary structure of these 3'-termini have been derived from sequence comparisons, chemical modifications, direct enzymatic and chemical probing analysis,

M

and by computer analysis (Pleij et al., 1985; Pleij, 1990). The most likely structure, which can be represented in various ways (Figure 1), is similar to the classical cloverleaf of tRNA bent into an L-shape by additional basepairing (Figure 3)(Brian et al., 1977; Dumas et al., 1987; Florentz et al., 1982; Joshi et al., 1983 a, b; Rietveld et al., 1982; van Belkum et al., 1987).



Figure 3. Models of the possible secondary and tertiary tRNA-like structure of the 86 nucleotides at the 3'-end of turnip yellow mosaic virus (TYMV):

(a) a model resembling the classical clover-leaf pattern of tRNA. The boxed regions indicate the pseudoknot-forming tertiary interaction. Numbering is from the 3'-end. Roman numbers indicate hairpins;

(b) L-arrangement showing the co-axial stacking of the triple G-C interaction between stem I and stem II, thus creating the equivalent of the aminoacyl acceptor domain of tRNA;

(c) A three-dimensional model built using computer graphics. The thick solid line represents the sugar-phosphate backbone (from Pleij, 1990).

This tRNA-like structure is found to be a common feature of at least nine reported tymovirus genomes namely APLV, CYVV, CoYMV, EMV, KYMV, OkMV, OYMV, TYMV, and WCMV (Joshi *et al.*, 1983a; van Belkum *et al.*, 1987). All of them have, at the 3'-terminus, the nucleotides $-CC(A)_{OH}$, which is the specific substrate sequence for valyl-t-RNA synthetase, and they have a -ACA(C)- sequence in the anticodon-like loop; these structural features are probably responsible for the specific aminoacylation of these tymovirus genomes by valine (van Belkum *et al.*, 1987).

Tymovirus Gene Expression

There have been several reports of *in vitro* translation studies of the proteins obtained by translating tymovirus genomes using ribosomes prepared from reticulocyte lysates or wheat germ extracts. Benicourt *et al.* (1978) showed that, in the reticulocyte system, total TYMV RNA was efficiently translated into two large proteins of M_r 195K and 150K as well as the smaller M_r 20K VP. The 195K (or 206K RP) protein was shown to undergo post-translational proteolytic cleavage to yield proteins of 120K and 78K (Morch and Benicourt, 1980), which had been thought to be products of self-catalysis (Morch *et al.*, 1982b) or to result from a leaky termination codon, that suppressed the yield of the entire 206K RP. These hypotheses were soon excluded by the results of translation studies using yeast nonsense suppressor tRNAs (Morch *et al.*, 1982a), and by the determination of the complete genomic sequence of TYMV (Morch *et al.*, 1988; Keese *et al.*, 1989).

Most recently Morch *et al.* (1989) reported that the 206K protein matured by posttranslational cleavage to yield a 150k N-terminal and a 78K C-terminal fragment and then presumably the 150K fragment cleaved at the secondary sites to yield 120K and 30K proteins (Figure 1).

The 20K protein or VP is synthesised via a subgenomic RNA that corresponds to the 3'-terminal 694 nucleotides of the genomic RNA (Klein *et al.*,1976; Pleij *et al.*, 1976; Ricard *et al.*, 1977; Guilley and Briand, 1978). In addition, *in vitro* translation studies have revealed that the affinity of subgenomic RNA for the translation machinery is greater than that of the genomic RNA (Benicourt and Haenni, 1978). This may account for the efficient production of VP at the late stages of infection. This strategy for the enhanced expression of the VP gene is similar to that of many other viruses in the supergroup of the Sindbis-like plant RNA viruses (Goldbach, 1987). Further work has provided evidence that the TYMV subgenomic VP RNA is synthesised *in vivo* by transcription starting at an internal site on the complementary RNA (minus) genomic strand. This has been confirmed by the isolation of doublestranded RNAs of VP mRNA length from TYMV-infected plants (Gargouri *et al.*, 1989).

Until recently there was little information on the non-virion proteins of

tymoviruses, although it has always been presumed that they were involved in genome replication. Preparations of RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RNA replicase) isolated from infected tissue appear to contain two major subunits, a virus-encoded 120K protein and a host-encoded 45K protein (Mouchés *et al.*, 1984; Joshi *et al.*, 1986; Candresse *et al.*,1986). Early reports of TYMV genome replication by Bové *et al.* (1965) and Ralph and Clark (1966) showed that the chloroplasts of infected Chinese cabbage (*Brassica campestris* spp. *pekinensis* L.) are associated with viral replication, and that the vesicles within the chloroplast membranes are most probably involved. Double-stranded RNA and the replication complex are associated with the chloroplast membranes (Bovè, 1972; Lafleche *et al.*, 1972; Garnier *et al.* 1980). Furthermore, Hatta and Matthews (1976) reported that TYMV particles probably assembled near the necks of the chloroplast vesicles as endoplasmic reticulum was seen, by electron microscopy, in the cytoplasm overlying the vesicles at an early stage of infection, and was then later replaced by accumulating virion protein. Lastly, the 150K protein was detected in TYMV-infected protoplasts of Chinese cabbage (Candresse *et al.* 1987), which were shown to be excellent plant material for studying cytological modifications in TYMV-infected cells, and virus multiplication, as well as for testing for viral proteins produced during infection by TYMV (Lafleche *et al.*, 1972; Garnier *et al.*, 1980).

Weiland and Dreher (1989) have successfully constructed clones of the entire TYMV genome in the plasmid pUC8, and this, with the T7 promoter for transcription *in vitro*, yielded infectious full-length RNA. The expression of the non-virion protein genes of two overlapping open reading frames of TYMV (1.9kb and 5.5kb ORFs encoding for 69K and 206K proteins) were also investigated by site-directed mutagenesis of their initiation codons. Results from experiments with mutant RNAs translated *in vitro* indicated that full length transcripts, in which the initiation codon of the 5.5kb ORF had been changed, were unable to replicate in protoplasts, whereas those with changes in the initiation codon of the 1.9kb ORF replicate although poorly.

Evolution of Tymoviruses

Various criteria may be used to assess the relationships of tymoviruses, and those between tymoviruses and other viruses.

Gibbs et al. (1966) suggested that there are two clusters or subgroups of

tymoviruses, and that these can be distinguished by serological tests and their base composition. Koenig and Givord (1974) and Koenig (1976) showed that the relationships are more complex; they form a "loop structure" or network that resembles a tennis racquet. Koenig's classification largely correlates with the genome composition of the viruses and with the taxonomy of their natural hosts proposed by Dale et al. (1975) and by Guy et al. (1984), who classified them into the crassitymovirus and tenui-tymovirus subgroups, previously described. These classifications mostly also correlate well with others based on the amino acid compositions of the virion proteins (Paul et al., 1980), on cDNA-RNA hybridization and base ratio (Blok et al., 1987a), and on the amino acid sequences of some tymovirus virion proteins (Ding, 1989; Srifah et al., 1990). However, there seems at present to be no single criterion which provides an unequivocal classification, and their taxonomy seems less definite than that of tobamoviruses (Gibbs, 1980).



(b)



Figure 4. (a) Koenig's serological classification of tymoviruses based on the of average serological differentiation indices (SDI) in reciprocal tests (from Koenig, 1976).

(b) The phylogenetic relationships of ten tymovirus VPs. The tree was calculated by the UPGMA method from the distance score obtained from the progressive alignment of Feng and Doolittle (1987) (from Ding, 1989).

The presence of conserved amino acid sequences in the probable replicase proteins of RNA plant viruses is now well documented (Haseloff *et al.*, 1984; Kamer

and Argos, 1984; Ahlquist *et al.*, 1985; Argos *et al.*, 1988; Goldbach and Wellink, 1988; Gorbalenya *et al.*,1989a, b). These conserved sequences have been found in the proteins of animal and bacterial viruses as well as in cellular proteins. The two best known sequences are the ones likely to be associated with, firstly, the active site of viral RNA polymerase (Kamer and Argos, 1984; Argos, 1988), which is characterized by four conserved blocks of Dxxx[F/Y]D; [S/T]GxxxTxxxN[S/T]; GDD; and GxxxxxK extending over about 100 amino acids. The other one, thought to be associated with a nucleotide-binding or helicase activity, has up to six conserved blocks, one of which contains the sequence of GxxGxGK[S/T] (Hodgman, 1988; Gorbalenya *et al.*, 1988a, b; 1989a, b).

These shared sequence motifs, together with similarities of gene organization and expression, provide a classification (Figure 5) which places the replicases of animal and plant viruses into a supergroup of 'alpha-like' or 'Sindbis-like' replicases (Ahlquist *et al.*, 1985; Candresse, 1990; Cornelissen and Bol, 1984; Goldbach, 1987; Haseloff *et al.*, 1984; Poch *et al.*, 1989).



Figure 5. Hierarchical clustering of plant RNA viruses using the conserved 'polymerase' signature (from Candresse *et al.*, 1990). The dendrogram represents the relatedness of the sequences: the degree of homology between sequences is inversely proportional to the length of the branches and their linkages reflect the order obtained during the multiple alignment process and thus the increasing divergence of the sequences.

ACLSV=apple chlorotic leaf spot virus; AlMV=alfafa mosaic virus; BMV=brome mosaic virus;

BSMV=barley stripe mosaic virus; BWYV=beet western yellows virus; BYDV=barley yellow dwarf virus; CarMV=carnation mottle virus; CCMV=cowpea chlorotic mottle virus; CMV=cucumber mosaic virus; CNV=cucumber necrosis virus; CPMV=cowpea mosaic virus; CyRSV=cymbidium ringspot virus; EMV=eggplant mosaic virus; GCMV=Hungarian grapevine chrome mosaic virus; GFLV=grapevine fern leaf virus; MCMV=maize chlorotic mottle virus; NMV=narcissus mosaic virus; OYMV=ononis yellow mosaic virus; PEBV=pea early browning virus; PLRV=potato leafroll virus; PMV=papaya mosaic virus; POLIO=poliovirus (type 1); PPV=plum plox virus; PVS=potato virus S; PVX=potato virus X; PVY=potato virus Y; RCNMV=red clover necrotic mosaic virus; SBMV=southern bean mosaic virus; Sindbis=Sindbis virus; TBRV=tomato black ring virus; TCV=turnip crinkle virus; TEV=tobacco etch virus; TMV=tobacco mosaic virus; TRV=tobacco rattle virus; TVMV=tobacco vein mottling virus; TYMV=turnip yellow mosaic virus; WCMV=white clover mosaic virus (from Candresse et al., 1990).

These are also are classified into supergroup A by Habili and Symons (1989), and a supergroup of 'picorna-like' or 'polio-like' replicases (Franssen *et al.*, 1984; Argos, 1988; Goldbach and Wellink, 1988; Poch *et al.*, 1989). The tymovirus replicases, like those of the tricorna-, tobamo-, tobra-, potex- and some other virus groups (Candresse *et al.*, 1990) are of the alpha-like supergroup, and are unexpectedly close to the potexviruses (Ding, 1989 and Rozanov *et al.*, 1990).

The RNA pseudoknotted structures, which are found at the 3'-end of a number of animal and plant virus genomes, may also be used to provide evolutionary clues. These viral $-CCA_{OH}$ or $-CC_{OH}$ termini can serve as substrates for nucleotidyltransferases (Joshi *et al.*, 1983a; Dreher and Hall, 1988b; van Belkum *et al.*, 1987) and can be aminoacylated *in vitro*; bromo- and cucumoviruses accept tyrosine (Hall *et al.*, 1972; Kohl and Hall, 1974), most tobamoviruses accept histidine (Oberg and Philipson, 1972) except for sunn-hemp mosaic tobamovirus which accepts valine (Beachy *et al.*, 1976), and tymoviruses accept valine (Yot *et al.*, 1970; Pinch *et al.*, 1972).

These 3'-structures have also been shown to promote synthesis of minus strand genomic RNA. Initially this was demonstrated *in vitro* for TYMV by competitive inhibition of the replication of TYMV genomic RNA *in vitro* using transcripts of the 3'-structure (Morch *et al.*, 1987). The association of this replication promoting activity with the tRNA-like structure has been confirmed by both *in vivo* and *in vitro* experiments. In the first, *B. napus* was transformed with gene sequences complementary to the 3'-structure, which masked the site recognized by the replicase initiating minus strand synthesis and slowed infection (Cellier *et al.*, 1990). In the other experiments, site-directed mutagenesis of the pseudoknot region was found to affect the stability of the tRNA-like structure. Some of the mutants had a greatly decreased ability to be aminoacylated with valine (Mans *et al.*, 1990), even ones in which a single G-C basepair had been replaced by an A-U or the non Watson-Crick G-

A or G-U basepairs; such experiments showed that pseudoknot structure is only marginally stable and that its formation lowers the free energy by only a few kcal/mol. Recent work on bromo-, cucumo-, tobamo- and tymoviruses has shown that the 5'-termini of their genomic (+) and complementary (-) strands have regions of sequence similarity, and that these regions resemble the specific promoters of tRNA genes that interact with RNA polymerase III and are known as consensus internal control regions ICR1 and ICR2 (Fowlkes and Shenk, 1980; Marsh and Hall, 1987; Marsh et al., 1989; Allison et al., 1989). In particular, the most striking resemblance was found in ICR2, 5'-GGUUCGANUCC-3', which is almost a palindrome and contains the TyC loop of tRNAs and viral analogues. In order to examine the role of these sequences in viral replication, Pogue et al. (1990) used site directed mutagenesis to show the influence of the ICR2 sequence in promoting (+)-strand synthesis. The fact that sequences resembling ICR1 and ICR2 are found in the 5'- and 3'-terminal (tRNA-like) regions of these viruses may imply a common evolutionary relationship with tRNA genes (Marsh et al., 1989).

(a)





(a) Diagram showing locations of the ICR-like sequences at the 5'(+) and (-) strand termini and the

3'(+) strand tRNA-like terminus on BMV RNA 1 and 2;

(b) Model for an ancestral RNA genome showing ICR1 motifs at the ends of the (+) and (-) strands and a shared internal palidromic ICR2 (from Marsh et al., 1989).

OBJECTIVES OF THE WORK REPORTED IN THIS THESIS

Early work by Schmelzer and Shukla established the basic characteristics of erysimum latent virus and showed unequivocally that it is a tymovirus. My objectives have been to extend the analysis of this virus to the molecular genetic level and allow comparison with the reported genomic sequences of other viruses. In particular I wished to compare ELV and TYMV genomic sequences because they not only share general tymovirus characters, but seemed especially similar biologically (i.e. they share most of their hosts, and cause closely similar symptoms), despite the fact that serological tests with their virions indicate that they are only distantly related. Thus I wished to determine the molecular basis of this anomaly because, for example, the ELV genome might be a recombinant containing clear evidence of TYMV genomic sequences but with a distinct VP gene.

So, in summary, I intended:

1) to determine the nucleotide sequence of the ELV genome;

2) to analyse that sequence and assess more thoroughly the relatedness of ELV and other tymoviruses, and their relatedness to other viruses;

3) to seek clues on the function and control of tymovirus genes, and in particular, the molecular basis of host range similarities and differences;

4) to construct a full-length dsDNA clone of the ELV genome and produce infectious viral molecules transcribed *in vitro*.

The results of these studies are an essential prerequisite for modifying and manipulating ELV genes to establish their function.



CHAPTER 2 - GENERAL MATERIALS AND METHODS

MATERIALS AND SOURCES

Enzymes and proteins

Restriction endonucleases:

Most restriction endonucleases were purchased from New England Biolabs (USA) and Boehringer-Mannheim (FRG).

Polymerases:

E. coli DNA polymerase I E. coli DNA polymerase I, large fragment T₄ DNA polymerase SequenaseTM DNA polymerase Taq DNA polymerase AMV reverse transcriptase Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase T7 RNA polymerase Poly (A) polymerase Nucleases: DNase I, RNase free **RNase** A RNase H **Others:** T4 DNA ligase Alkaline phosphatase, Calf intestinal T4 polynucleotide kinase **RNasin**

Boehringer-Mannheim, FRG Pharmacia, USA Boehringer-Mannheim, FRG USB, USA Perkin Elmer Cetus, USA USB, USA BRL, USA Pharmacia, USA Bresatec, Australia

Promega, USA Boehringer-Mannheim, FRG Boehringer-Mannheim, FRG

New England Biolabs, USA Promega, USA New England Biolabs, USA Promega, USA Boehringer-Mannheim, FRG

Proteinase K

Nucleic Acids and Nucleotides

Vectors:

M13mp18 RF DNA* M13mp19 RF DNA* Bresatec, Australia Bresatec, Australia

pBluescript SK(+)
pGEM-7Zf (+) and (-)
pTZ18U and pTZ19U DNA*

Stratagene, USA Promega, USA Gifts from Dr. K. Reed

(* Vector dsDNAs used in this thesis were kindly prepared by A. Mackenzie)

Primers and Oligodeoxynucleotides:

m⁷G(5')ppp(5')G mRNA cap homologue M13 universal 17-mer primer pPUC/M13 reverse primer dT₈dG primer Synthetic random hexamers Synthetic ELV primers; PS2,PS3,PS7,PS8, PS9, PS10 and TALL-comp

New England Biolabs, USA Bresatec, Australia Promega, USA P.L.Biochemicals, Bresatec, Australia Protein/DNA facility, ANU

Pharmacia, Sweden

**

11

11

**

11

11

**

11

11

11

Nucleotides:

2'-Deoxyadenosine 5'-triphosphate (dATP)
2'-Deoxycytidine 5'-triphosphate (dCTP)
2'-Deoxyguanosine 5'-triphosphate (dGTP)
2'-Deoxythymidine 5'-triphosphate (dTTP)
2',3'-Dideoxyadenosine 5'-triphosphate (ddATP)
2',3'-Dideoxycytidine 5'-triphosphate (ddCTP)
2',3'-Dideoxyguanosine 5'-triphosphate (ddGTP)
2',3'-Dideoxythymidine 5'-triphosphate (ddTTP)
Adenosine 5'-triphosphate (ATP)
Cytidine 5'-triphosphate (CTP)
Guanosine 5'-triphosphate (GTP)
Uridine 5'-triphosphate (UTP)

Radioisotopes:

 $[\alpha - {}^{32}P]dATP (3,000 Ci/mmol)$ $[\alpha - {}^{32}P]dCTP (3,000 Ci/mmol)$ $[\gamma - {}^{32}P]ATP (>5,000 Ci/mmol)$ $[\alpha - {}^{32}P]GTP (3,000 Ci/mmol)$

Amersham, U.K.

11

**

11

Other reagents

Sigma Chemicals, USA Acrylamide ** N,N'-methylene-bisacrylamide Dithiothreitol (DTT) Kanamycin sulphate Ethidium bromide 11 Spermidine 5-Bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl-β-D-galactopyranoside (X-gal) 11 Isopropyl- β -D-thiogalactopyranoside (IPTG) 11 Beecham Veterinary Ampicillin (sodium salt)

Di-sodium ethylene-diamine-tetra-acetic acid (EDTA) Polyethylene glycol 6000 Sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS) N,N,N',N'-tetra-methyl-ethylene-diamine (TEMED) Urea (enzyme grade)

Products, Australia

AJAX Chemicals, Australia BDH Chemicals, Australia **Bio-Rad Laboratories, USA**

Sigma Chemicals, USA BRL, USA



GENOMIC RNA PREPARATION

Virus Propagation and Purification

The ELV isolate used in these studies was kindly provided by Dr D.D.Shukla. It was originally collected from Erysimum helveticum (Jacq.) DC. at Gatersleben, GDR in 1969 (Shukla and Schmelzer, 1972). The virus was propagated and maintained in Brassica campestris spp. pekinensis L. Two weeks after inoculation, the virus particles were extracted and purified using a modification of the method described by Shukla et al. (1973a), with an extraction buffer of 100mM Na₂HPO₄ and 50mM ascorbic acid, pH 7.0 (2 ml/g tissue). The filtered homogenate was shaken with an equal volume of a 1:1 mixture of *n*-butanol and chloroform and then constantly stirred for 30 minutes. The resulting emulsion was separated into its components by low-speed centrifugation (Sorvall RC-5C, GSA rotor, 5,000 rpm for 15 min at 4°C). The virus particles in the clear yellow supernatant were concentrated by high-speed centrifugation (Beckman, Ti 60, 35,000 rpm for 120 min at 4°C). The pellet was resuspended in 1x SSC buffer (150mM NaCl, 15mM Na₃-citrate). After a low-speed clarification spin, the suspension was layered onto a 10-40% sucrose density gradient (in 1x SSC buffer) and centrifuged for 3 hours at 26,000 rpm in a Beckman SW27 rotor at 4°C. The two light-scattering bands, top and bottom viral components, were collected from the gradient separately. After diluting with 1x SSC buffer, the viral particles were concentrated by high-speed centrifugation, resuspended in 1x SSC buffer including 1mM sodium azide and then stored at 4°C.

Viral RNA Extraction

The RNA used in early experiments to determine the nucleotide sequences of ELV genome was kindly supplied by A. Mackenzie. In later experiments, viral genomic RNA and subgenomic RNA of ELV were extracted separately from purified bottom and top component particles using the proteinase K method described by Both and Air (1979). 1 ml of purified virus (1 mg/ml) was mixed with 4 ml RNA extraction buffer (10mM Tris-HCl [pH7.4], 10mM KCl, 1.5mM MgCl₂, 0.2% sodium dodecyl sulphate), then 4mg proteinase K (Boehringer-Mannheim) was added and the mixture was incubated at 56°C for 15 min. The mixture was adjusted to 150mM NaCl and an

equal volume of TE-saturated phenol (TE buffer: 10mM Tris-HCl [pH8.0], 1mM EDTA) was added. After occasional mixing during a further 5 minutes incubation at 56° C, 5 ml of chloroform was added. The solution was mixed well and the phases were separated by centrifuging at 4,000 rpm in a Sorvall RC-5C, SS-34 rotor, at 5° C for 10 min. The RNA in the aqueous phase was precipitated by adding 2 volumes of cold ethanol (-20°C) and 0.1 volume of 3M sodium acetate, pH 5.5. The mixture was mixed well and kept on ice for 10 min. The RNA precipitate was recovered by centrifuging in a Sorvall rotor at 12,000 rpm at 4° C for 15 min. The pellet was resuspended in TE and the phenol was removed by twice reprecipitating with ethanol, before being washed with 70% ethanol. The nucleic acid pellet was dried briefly in a vacuum desiccator, resuspended in water and finally stored in small aliquots at -20°C.

SYNTHESIS OF DOUBLE-STRANDED CDNA TO VIRAL RNA GENOMES

The procedures for the synthesis of dsDNA encoding the ELV genome were basically as described by Gubler and Hoffman (1983).

Phosphorylating of Oligodeoxyribonucleotide Primers

Most synthetic oligodeoxyribonucleotide primers, such as $dT_8 dG$, were phosphorylated by T_4 polynucleotide kinase to catalyze the transfer of the γ -phosphate of ATP to the terminal 5'-hydroxyl group.

 $dT_8 dG (2 \mu g)$ (P.L.Biochemicals) was phosphorylated at its 5'-terminus using 2 units of T₄ polynucleotide kinase (New England Biolabs) in a reaction mixture containing 50mM Tris-HCl (pH 9.0), 10mM MgCl₂, 5mM dithiothreitol (DTT), and 1mM rATP in a 20 µl reaction volume.

Thus the reaction mixture was prepared as :

total

 $2 \mu l dT_8 dG (1 \mu g/\mu l)$

2 µl 10x kinase buffer (500mM Tris-HCl (pH 9.0),

100mM MgCl₂, 50mM dithiothreitol (DTT),

 $2 \mu l 10 mM rATP$

1 μl T4 polynucleotide kinase (2 U/μl)
<u>13</u> μl sterile water
20 μl

The mixture was incubated at 37° C for 30 minutes and then stopped by heating at 80° C for 5 min. The phosphorylated primer was stored at -20° C and 2 µl was used for each priming reaction.

Polyadenylation at 3'-end of Viral RNA

total

The 3'terminus of the viral RNA was polyadenylated using *E. coli* polyadenylation polymerase (poly(A)polymerase) before priming with dT_8dG . 10-20 µg viral RNA in 30 µl sterile water was denatured by heating at 56°C for 2 minutes, snap-cooled on ice, and then polyadenylated at 37°C for 30 min in 100 µl of a reaction mixture containing 50mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.0), 10mM MgCl₂, 250mM NaCl, 1mM DTT, 2.5mM MnCl₂, 1mM rATP, and 2.5 units poly(A)polymerase (Bresatec). Thus the reaction mixture was prepared as:

30 µl viral RNA

50 µl 2x reaction buffer (100mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.0),

20mM MgCl₂, 500mM NaCl, 2mM DTT, 5mM MnCl₂) 10 μl 10mM rATP <u>10</u> μl poly(A)polymerase (0.25 U/μl) 100 μl

The reaction was terminated by shaking with an equal volume of cold phenol/chloroform (ratio = 1:1), mixing with a Vortex mixer for 5 seconds, and then the mixture was separated by centrifugating in an Eppendorf centrifuge at 12,000 rpm for 2 min at room temperature. The aqueous phase was transferred into a sterile Eppendorf tube. The RNA in the aqueous phase was precipitated by adding 0.05 volume of 4 M NaOAc (pH 5.5), and 2-2.5 volumes of cold ethanol (-20^oC) and then kept at -20^oC for 10 min. After centrifuging at 12,000 rpm for 5 min at 4^oC, the pellet was quickly rinsed with cold 70% ethanol and dried under vacuum for 10 min. The polyadenylated RNA was dissolved in sterile distilled water and kept at -20^oC.

Preparation of a Double-stranded DNA Copy of the Genomic RNA a) First-strand cDNA Synthesis

The 10 μ g polyadenylated RNA together with 2 μ l of phosphorylated dT₈dG (for virion protein gene synthesis) or with synthetic random oligodeoxynucleotide hexamers (Bresatec)(for the whole viral genome synthesis) was heated to 80°C for 2
min (or 90°C for 1 min) and quickly chilled on ice. This mixture was then used as a template to synthesize cDNA in a reaction volume of 40 μ l containing 50mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.3), 8mM MgCl₂, 50mM KCl, 10mM DTT, 0.5mM each of dGTP, dATP, dTTP and dCTP, 3 μ l [α -³²P]dATP (10 mCi/ml), and about 20-22 units AMV reverse transcriptase (USB).

Thus the reaction mixture was prepared as:

total

22 μl RNA and the primer
8 μl 5x reaction buffer (250mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.3), 40mM MgCl₂, 250mM KCl)
4 μl 0.1M DTT
2 μl 10mM dNTPs
3 μl [α-³²P]dATP
1 μl AMV reverse transcriptase (22 U/μl)
40 μl

The first-strand cDNA was synthesized at 42°C for 90 min. The reaction was then terminated and the nucleic acid (RNA-DNA hybrid) was purified by the phenol/chloroform extraction and ethanol precipitation as described previously.

b) Second-strand cDNA Synthesis. Two alternative methods were used.

i) Procedure I: The pellet of the RNA-DNA hybrid was resuspended in 71 μ l sterile distilled water and then added to a mixture of 10mM Tris-HCl (pH7.4), 5mM MgCl₂, 10mM (NH₄)₂SO₄, 100mM KCl, 20 μ g/ml BSA, 40 μ M dNTPs, 1 unit of RNase H (Boehringer-Mannheim), 20 units of DNA polymerase I (holoenzyme, (Boehringer-Mannheim), 1 unit of T₄ DNA ligase (New England Biolabs). Thus the reaction mixture was prepared as :

71 µl RNA-DNA hybrid

25 μl 4x reaction buffer (40mM Tris-HCl (pH7.4),

 $20 \text{mM} \text{MgCl}_2, 40 \text{mM} (\text{NH}_4)_2 \text{SO}_4, 400 \text{mM} \text{KCl},$

80µg/ml BSA, 160µM dNTPs,

2 µl DNA polymerase I (10 U/µl)

 $1 \mu l RNase H (1 U/\mu l)$

 $\underline{1} \mu l T_4 DNA ligase (1 U/\mu l)$

total 100 µl

The mixture was incubated at room temperature for 2 hr or overnight, then the reaction was terminated and the resulting DNA was purified by phenol/chloroform extraction and ethanol precipitation as described above. The DNA pellet was dissolved in 20 μ l sterile distilled water and stored at -20°C.

ii) Procedure II: The reaction mixture from the first strand synthesis was directly added to the second strand synthesis buffer and enzymes. The second strand reaction buffer contained 20mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.0), 5mM MgCl₂, 10mM (NH₄)₂SO₄, 100mM KCl, 20 μ g/ml BSA, 2 units of RNase H (Boerhinger-Mannheim), 20 units of DNA polymerase I (holoenzyme, (Boerhinger-Mannheim), 2 unit of T₄ DNA ligase (New England Biolabs).

Thus the reaction mixture was prepared as :

40 μl the first-strand synthesis reaction mixture
100 μl 2x buffer (40mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.0), 10mM MgCl₂, 20mM (NH₄)₂SO₄, 200mM KCl, 40 μg/ml BSA)
1 μl DNA polymerase I (20 U/μl)
2 μl RNase H (1 U/μl)
2 μl T₄ DNA ligase (1 U/μl)
55 μl sterile distilled water
200 μl

The resulting dsDNA was purified by the phenol/chloroform extraction and ethanol precipitation as described previously. The DNA pellet was resuspended in 20 μ l sterile distilled water and stored at -20^oC.

cDNA Synthesis Using Specific ELV Primers

total

The sequences of the ELV cDNA genomic fragments were assembled by computer analysis into several contiguous large sequences. To complete the cloning of the entire genome, two oligodeoxynucleotide primers were synthesized. The first, PS2

primer, 5'-CTGGAAAGGATCCTGGAAGG-3'(complementary to nucleotides 2035-

2056), was used to obtain part of the sequence missing from the clones, and the other,

PS3 primer, 5'-CCGGAGACTTGAATGCCC-3' (complementary to nucleotides 261-

279), to determine the 5'-terminal sequence.

dsDNA was synthesized using PS2-5'CTGGAAAGGATCCTGGAAGG 3' as a first strand primer in the AMV reverse transcriptase system and then Procedure II, as described above, was used to synthesize the second strand. The resulting DNA was hydrolysed with the appropriate restriction endonclease, *Nae* I (nucleotides 1933-1938), end-filled and ligated into the *Sma* I site of M13 vector. The protocols for digestion and cloning will be described in the next section.

Determination of 5'-terminus by Primer Extension

The 5'-terminal nucleotide of the ELV genomic RNA was determined using methods described by Gustafson *et al.* (1987) and Veidt *et al.*(1988). The cDNA complementary to the 5'-terminal portion of viral genomic RNA was synthesized using the phosphorylated oligodeoxynucleotide primer: PS3-5'CCGGAGACTTGAATGC-CC 3'(nucleotides 261-279), AMV reverse transcriptase and dNTPs and as in the procedure previously described. The RNA-DNA hybrid was treated with 1 ng RNase for 10 min at room temperature. Then the synthesized cDNA, together with an equal volume of double-dye formamide loading buffer (95% formamide, 10 mM EDTA, 0.02% xylene cyanol and bromophenol blue), was boiled for 5 min before separation from other components by electrophoresis in a 5 % polyacrylamide gel containing 7 M urea in 1x TBE buffer (90mM Tris-borate [pH 8.3], 1 mM EDTA). The eluted cDNA fragment (see page 30 for elution method) was dA-tailed using 20 units of terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase (BRL) in a 'tailing' mixture (100mM potassium cacodylate [pH 7.2], 2mM CoCl₂, 0.2mM DTT, and 50 μ M dATP).

Thus the reaction mixture was prepared as:

- $30 \ \mu l \ cDNA$
- 10 µl 5X tailing buffer (500mM potassium cacodylate

[pH 7.2], 10mM CoCl₂, 1mM DTT) 2.5 μl 1mM dATP 1.5 μl TdT (14 U/μl)

6 µl sterile distilled water

total 50 µl

The mixture was incubated at 37°C for 30 min. The reaction was stopped by shaking with phenol/chloroform and the DNA in the aqueous phase was precipitated by addition of sodium acetate and ethanol as described above. The resulting DNA was

amplified by the *Taq* DNA polymerase chain reaction (PCR) procedure I (as described below) using PS3-5'CCGGAGACTTGAATGCCC 3' and 5'TTAAGC(T)₁₅ 3' as primers.

Polymerase Chain Reaction (Saiki et al., 1988).

a) Procedure I

The ssDNA products of the first-strand cDNA synthesis were amplified by PCR using *Taq* DNA polymerase. The resulting DNA was dissolved in 80 μ l of distilled water and denatured by heating to 94° C together with 1 μ l each of two primers (complementary to the 3'and 5'-termini) for 2 min. A reaction mixture containing 2 μ l 10mM dNTPs, 0.5 μ l *Taq* polymerase (2.5 U/ μ l), 1 μ l [α^{-32} P]dATP, 10 μ l 10X PCR buffer (500mM Tris-HCl [pH 8.3], 60mM MgCl₂, 10mM DTT, 400mM KCl) was added and volume adjusted to 100 μ l by adding distilled water. The mixture was overlaid with 100 μ l paraffin oil, and subjected to 30 temperature cycles using a IHB 2024 programmable heating block (Cherlyn Electronic Ltd); 94°C for 30 sec to disassociate double-strands, 37°C for 30 sec for annealing, 70°C for 2 min. 5 μ l of the reaction mixture was analysed in a 1-2% agarose gel and the DNA fraction found using a UV transilluminator after staining with EtBr. The amplified material was used for restriction enzyme hydrolysis, cloning, and sequencing after purification by phenol/chloroform extraction and ethanol precipitation.

b) Procedure II

For this work, the PCR method was used for amplifing genes either from ssDNA or dsDNA, for example the inserted genes in bacteriophage or plasmid vectors, as described by Güssow and Clarkson (1989). The amplification was done in 20 μ l aliquots of a reaction mixture which comprised 10mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.3 at 25°C), 50mM KCl, 1.5mM MgCl₂, 0.1 mg/ml gelatine, 0.25mM dNTPs, about 100 ng of each oligonucleotide primer, 2.5 U *Taq* DNA polymerase (Perkin Elmer Cetus), and the

template 0.2 μ g DNA. The mixture was overlaid with 100 μ l paraffin oil, and subjected to 30 temperature cycles using a IHB 2024 programmable heating block (Cherlyn Electronic Ltd); 94°C for 1 min to disassociate double-strands, 55°C for 1 min for annealing, 72°C for 2 min (or 3 min for inserts larger than 2.5 kb) for strand synthesis and finally 5 min at 55°C. 5 μ l of the reaction mixture was analysed in a 12% agarose gel and the DNA fraction found using a UV transilluminator after staining with EtBr. The amplified material was used for restriction enzyme hydrolysis, cloning, and sequencing.

c) Procedure III

This was a one-step amplification of transcripts in total RNA using the PCR method described by Goblet *et al.*(1989). The genomic RNA of 0.5 μ g ELV was mixed with 100 ng of each of two primers in 30 μ l sterile water. The mixture was heated at 65°C for 15 min and then cooled on ice. The annealed RNA was amplified in a reaction mixture of 20 μ l 2.5x PCR buffer (168mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.8 at 25°C), 41.5mM (NH₄)₂SO₄, 16.8mM MgCl₂, 25mM β -mercaptoethanol, 0.42 mg/ml BSA), 22 units AMV reverse transcriptase, 1 unit *Taq* DNA polymerase and 0.5mM dNTPs, and overlaid with paraffin oil. After annealing at 42°C for 15 min, the mixture was subjected to 40 temperature cycles: 92°C for 1 sec, 55°C for 2 min, 72°C for 2 min. In the last cycle the mixture was kept at 72°C for 5 min to ensure that all DNA fragments were completed. 5 μ l of each sample was electrophoresed in an agarose gel.

PLASMID AND BACTERIOPHAGE CLONING

The vectors I used most frequently were bacteriophages M13mp18 RF and M13mp19 RF and plasmids pGEM7Zf, pTZ18U and pTZ19U as well as Bluescript SK (+). Both the cDNA and vectors were hydrolysed with appropriate restriction endonucleases to generate compatible ends for cloning. Either a single restriction enzyme or two enzymes was used to prepare cDNA fragments, the vector was treated with calf intestinal alkaline phosphatase (CIP) to remove 5'phosphate groups and thus prevent recircularization of the vector during ligation. The cloning procedures used were essentially as described by Maniatis *et al.* (1982).

Preparation of Vectors for Cloning

The M13 RF or pTZ vectors $(1 \ \mu g)$ were hydrolysed by the six base restriction endonucleases Acc I and Sma I in 20 μ l reaction volumes of the appropriate buffer and incubated for 60 min in the conditions recommended by the supplier. To dephosphorylate the 5'-end of the linearised vectors with CIP, 0.1-0.4 unit of alkaline phosphatase (Promega) was added directly to the mixture, together with 5 μ l of 10x CIP buffer (500mM Tris-HCl [pH 9.0], 10mM MgCl₂, 1mM ZnCl₂, and 10mM spermidine) and then the volume was adjusted to 50 μ l with sterile water. dsDNA fragments with asymmetrical 'sticky' ends were incubated at 37°C for 30-60 min, whereas those with symmetrical 'blunt' ends were incubated for a further 15 min at 56°C. The vector DNA was purified by phenol/chloroform extraction and ethanol precipitation as described previously. The DNA pellet was resuspended in 50 μ l TE buffer (10mM Tris-HCl, 1mM EDTA, pH 8.0) to give a final DNA concentration of about 20 ng/ μ l.

Preparation of DNA for Insertion into Vectors

The dsDNA synthesised by the methods previously described was hydrolysed using a number of four base restriction endonucleases; *Hae* III, *Hinf* I, *Msp* I, *Rsa* I, *Sau*3A I, and *Taq* I. The DNA fragments produced by *Hinf* I and *Sau*3A I hydrolysis have 5'-overhangs that were 'end-filled' by adding 0.5 U of Klenow large fragment of *E. coli* DNA polymerase I (Boehringer-Mannheim) and 0.5mM dNTPs directly to the reaction mix after hydrolysis and it was further incubated at 37° C for 15 min, before 0.5 volume of formamide, double-dye loading buffer was added. The fragments were purified and fractionated by electrophoresis in 5% polyacrylamide gel in 1x TBE buffer. The individual DNA species (size range between 150-650 basepairs) were detected by autoradiography, and were excised and eluted from the gel slices by soaking for 6 to 12 hours in 0.5 ml of extraction buffer (10mM Tris-HCl [pH 7.4], 1% SDS), and the dsDNA was then precipitated in sodium acetate and ethanol.

Ligation of DNA Fragments into Vectors

Usually equimolar amounts of vector and insert were used in ligation reactions. Thus for a 3.0kb plasmid and a 0.5kb DNA insert fragment 1.0 μ g vector was ligated with 0.167 μ g insert DNA. I ligated together the *Sma* I-linearised vectors with the end-

filled or blunt-ended dsDNA fragments resulting from hydrolysis with Hae III, Hinf I,

Sau3A I, and Rsa I endonucleases. The Msp I and Taq I hydrolysed fragments were

ligated into Acc I-linearised vector molecules.

The ligations were done in 10 µl mixture containing 50 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.4), 10mM MgCl₂, 10mM DTT, 0.5mM rATP, 1 unit of T4 DNA ligase. Thus the reaction mixture was prepared as:

1 μl vector (20 ng/μl)
1 μl 10x ligase buffer (500mM Tris-HCl [pH 7.4], 100mM MgCl₂)
1 μl 0.1M DTT
1 μl 10mM rATP
1 μl T₄ DNA ligase (1 U/μl, New England Biolabs)
1 μl DNA fragments (3.5 ng/μl)

the mixture was adjusted to a volume of 10 μ l by adding sterile distilled water and incubated either at 4°C overnight, at 15°C for 4-6 h, or at 25°C for 1 h.

Transformation

Many different methods have been devised to transform M13 bacteriophage and pTZ plasmid vectors into *Escherichia coli*. In Procedure I described below, *E. coli* K12 strain JM101 was regularly and efficiently transformed by M13, whereas procedure II using CaCl₂-treated cells was best for transforming by pTZ plasmids.

a) Preparation of Competent Cells by Hanahan's Method (1983)

50 μ l of *E. coli* JM101 frozen in glycerol were inoculated into 35 ml of 2x YT medium (16 g Bactotryptone, 10 g yeast extract, 5 g NaCl per litre). The cells were aerated by shaking in an incubator at 37°C and 250 rpm until the cell suspension reached an optical density of 0.3-0.6 in 600 nm wavelength light (about 3-4 h), they were then placed into a 40 ml sterile centrifuge tube and left on ice for 10 min. The cells were centrifuged for 5 min at 3,000g at 4°C, resuspended gently in 10 ml cold TFB (10mM potassium methyl sulphoxide [pH 6.2], 45mM MnCl₂, 10mM CaCl₂, 3mM hydroxyamine cobalt chloride), and then incubated on ice for 5 min. After centrifuging as above, the cells were resuspended in 3.5 ml cold TFB and kept on ice for 5 min 2000 per cold deionised dimethyl formamide (DMFO). The

mixture was left on ice a further 5 min, then 7 µl 2-mercaptoethanol was added and the

cells were left on ice another 5 min before finally adding 150 µl DMFO. The cells

were further kept on ice for 5 min until used.

b) Preparation of Competent Cells by CaCl₂ Treatment.

E. coli JM101 were grown and pelleted as described in the first step of procedure I. Then cells were gently resuspended in 4 ml of cold 50mM CaCl₂. After 30 min incubating on ice, the cells were competent for transformation.

c) Procedure for Transfecting Bacterial Cells with Bacteriophage DNA.

5 µl of the M13 ligation reaction mixture was added to 150 µl of JM101 competent cell suspension. The mixture was kept on ice for at least 15 min before being heat-shocked at 42°C for 2 min and then was immediately added to 3 ml of warm 2x YT containing 0.7% agar, together with 20 µl of 0.1M isopropyl β l-D-thiogalactopyranoside (IPTG) and 10 µl of 4% 5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl β -Dgalactopyranoside (X-gal). After mixing well, the cell supension mixture was quickly spread onto minimal medium plates (15g bacto-agar, 10.5g K₂HPO₄, 4.5g KH₂PO₄, 1g (NH₄)₂SO₄, 0.5g Na₃citrate.2H₂O per litre, supplemented after autoclaving with 0.8 ml of 1M MgSO₄, 0.5 ml of 1% Thiamine-HCl and 10 ml of 20% (w/v) glucose) and then incubated at 37°C overnight to select transformants.

d) Procedure for Transforming Bacterial Cells with Plasmid DNA.

100 μ l of competent cells and 5 μ l of a ligation mixture containing plasmids were mixed and heat-shocked as described above. After incubating on ice for 5 min, the cell suspension was diluted with 0.8 ml of LB (5 g yeast extract, 10 g tryptone, 5 g NaCl per litre) and shaken at 37°C for 45 - 60 minutes. Then 100 μ l of this suspension plus 20 μ l of 0.1 M IPTG and 30 μ l of 4% X-gal was plated onto LB agar plates containing 80 μ g/ml ampicillin to select the transformants. The plates were incubated overnight at 37°C.

PLASMID AND BACTERIOPHAGE PREPARATION

Vectors, M13 and pTZ, both contain the gene for the α -peptide of β -galactosidase and thereby permit blue/white colour selection of recombinants. Whereas clones containing DNA inserted in the polylinker site of the vector will not produce active β - galactosidase. and thus the bacterial colonies of these clones will be colorless or, for bateriophages, clear areas of reduced bacterial growth.

The single- or double-stranded DNA cloned in this way was isolated and purified in the following ways.

Bacteriophage Single-stranded DNA Preparation

A single colourless plaque was sampled using a sterile toothpick and inoculated into 2 ml of 2x YT liquid medium containing either 0.1 volume of overnight *E. coli* JM101 culture, or fresh *E. coli* JM101 cells grown for 60 min. The infected bacterial cell culture was incubated at 37° C for 5-6 hours with shaking (250 rpm). Then the cells were removed by centrifuging twice in an Eppendorf centrifuge at top speed (about 15,000 g) for 5 minutes. The bacteriophage particles in the supernatant were precipitated by adding 250 µl of a mixture of 25% polyethylene glycol (PEG, $M_{\rm r}$ 8,000) and 2.5M NaCl to 1.25 ml of the supernatant and then the mixture was kept on ice for at least 30 min. The bacteriophage particles were concentrated by centrifuging for 5 min and resuspended in 100 µl of TE. To extract single-stranded genomic DNA, 50 µl of TE-saturated phenol was added to the viral suspension. The mixture was then vortexed twice for 10 seconds, and left on ice for 5 min before being vortexed again. The phases were separated by centrifuging for 2 min and the viral DNA in the aqueous phase was precipitated using ethanol and sodium acetate. The DNA pellet was resuspended in 30 µl of TE.

Single-stranded DNA Preparation from Double-stranded Plasmid Vectors

2 ml of 2x YT containing 80 μ g/ml ampicillin was inoculated with a single colony of JM101 harbouring the pTZ plasmid clone followed by 1 μ l of helper bacteriophage M13K07 (7.5 x 10¹⁰ pfu/ml). After incubating at 37°C for at least one hour, kanamycin was added to a concentration of 70 μ g/ml. The incubation was continued overnight. The single-stranded plasmid DNA was purified by the same method as the

bacteriophage ssDNA preparation described above.

Double-stranded DNA Plasmid Preparation on a Small Scale

Two methods, described below, were used to prepare plasmids of pGEM7Zf,

pTZ18U, pTZ19U and Bluescript SK(+) vectors.

a) Procedure I: Gentle Lysis Method (Holmes and Quigley, 1981).

Plasmid DNA can be isolated by this method, which I used most frequently, in under 2 hours. It produces DNA that is readily hydrolysed by restriction enzymes, and which can be ligated and retransformed.

A single transformant white colony was sampled using a sterile toothpick and inoculated into 2 ml of LB containing 80 μ g/ml ampicillin and grown at 37^oC to the middle of the logarithmic phase of growth (about 4 hours) or overnight with aeration by shaking. Then the bacterial cells were pelleted by centrifuging for 1 min in Eppendorf tubes. After resuspension in 200 μ l of STET buffer (8% sucrose, 5% Triton X-100, 50mM EDTA and 50mM Tris-HCl [pH 8.0]), the cells were lysed by adding 15 μ l of a 10 mg/ml stock of freshly prepared lysozyme (in 0.25M Tris-HCl [pH 8.0], or TE [pH 8.0]) and placing in a boiling water bath for 45-60 seconds. The degraded cells were immediately centrifuged in an Eppendorf centrifuge for 10 min. The plasmid DNA in the supernatant was precipitated by adding an equal volume of cold isopropanol and incubated at -20^oC for 5 min. The DNA was sedimented, washed and dried as described previously. The pellet was resuspended in 50 μ l of sterile distilled water, incubated at 65^oC for 10 min and stored at -20^oC.

b) Procedure II: Alkaline Lysis Method

The transformed bacteria from a single colony were grown and sedimented in the same way as in procedure I. The pellet of cells was resuspended in 200 μ l of GTE (50mM glucose, 25mM Tris-HCl [pH 8.0], 10mM EDTA) before adding 400 μ l of freshly made lysis solution (0.2M NaOH, 1% SDS). After incubating on ice for 5 min, 200 μ l of an ice-cold solution of 3M potassium acetate/ 2M acetic acid was mixed with the lysed cell suspension and the mixture incubated a further 15 min on ice. The chromosomal DNA and bacterial debris were removed by centrifuging for 5 min in an Eppendorf centrifuge. The plasmid DNA in the supernatant was precipitated by adding

0.6 volume (480 μ l) of isopropanol). After centrifugation and washing with 95% ethanol, the DNA pellet was dried and resuspended in 50 μ l TE.

Preparation of Large Amounts of Double-stranded DNA

The procedure for preparing large amounts of plasmid DNA was the same in principle as the alkaline lysis method described above. 500 ml LB was inoculated with 15 ml of a cell suspension which had been grown overnight from a single colony. After scaling up the alkaline lysis method, the DNA was further purified by centrifuging it to equilibrium in caesium chloride-ethidium bromide density gradients. The plasmid DNA obtained by precipitating with isopropanol was prepared for centrifuging by resuspending it in 14.4 ml of TE and 246 µl of 2M Tris base, then 15 g CsCl and 1.5 ml ethidium bromide (10 mg/ml) was added. The mixture was then put into six quick-seal centrifuge tubes (Beckman, size 13x32mm) and centrifuged at 100,000 rpm for 5-12 hours at 18-20°C (Beckman, TLA 100.3 rotor, TL-100 ultracentrifuge). The lower band, which was of closed circular plasmid DNA, was collected. The ethidium bromide was removed by shaking four times with an equal volume of 5M NaCl-saturated isopropanol, until the aqueous solution was no longer pink. The preparation was then dialysed against TE at 4°C overnight, and the DNA precipitated in 2.5 volumes 95% ethanol and 0.5 volume 7.5 M ammonium acetate. After centrifugation, the pellet was washed with 75% ethanol, allowed to dry and resuspended in TE.

HYBRIDIZATION FOR TRANSFORMANT IDENTIFICATION

To determine which recombinant clones contained viral insert DNA, dot-blot hybridization tests were done with radioactively-labelled probes using the method described by Maniatis (1982).

Radioactively-labelled Probe Preparation by Nick Translation

dsDNA complementary to the genomic RNA of ELV, was synthesized by PCR

method similar to that previously described using synthetic oligodeoxyribonucleotide primers. dsDNA was nicked by adding 5 μ l of pancreatic DNase I (200 ng/ml) in a mixture containing 50mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.5), 7.5mM Mg-acetate, 6.6mM DTT, 0.1 μ g BSA and 3 μ M dNTPs. In addition, *E. coli* DNA polymerase I was used for endfilling the 'recessed' 3'-termini of nick translated DNA in the presence of DNase I. Thus the reaction mixture was prepared as:

20.0 μl dsDNA
3.5 μl 10x buffer (0.5M Tris [pH 7.5], 75mM Mg-acetate)
2.0 μl 0.1M DTT
3.5 μl BSA (1 mg/ml)
1.0 μl 0.1mM dNTPs
5.0 μl DNase I (200 ng/ml)

The mixture was incubated at 14°C for 15 min, then 70°C for 5 min and finally cooled on ice or cold water. $[\alpha$ -³²P]dCTP and $[\alpha$ -³²P]dATP were incorporated into the nicked DNA by adding 1 µl of each radioactive nucleotide and 1 µl of *E. coli* polymerase I (holoenzyme, Boehringer-Mannheim)(5 U/50 µl reaction mixture). The mixture was incubated at 14°C for 30-45 min, and the reaction was then stopped by adding 4 µl of 10x stop buffer (125mM EDTA and 5% SDS), then with 3 µl of 4M HCl, incubated for 10 min at room temperature and finally neutralized with 4 µl of 4M NaOH and further incubated for 10 min. The labelled cDNA was fractionated in a Sephadex G-50 column and fractions, each of 200 µl, were collected.

Colony Hybridization

a) Lysis of Transformant Colonies and Binding of their DNA to Membrane Filters

Colonies carrying recombinant plasmids were transferred, using toothpicks, onto LB agar plates containing 80 μ g/ml ampicillin (two plates for each colony). Small streaks 2-3 mm in length, or dots of inoculum arranged in a grid pattern, were replicated on the two plates. Up to 50 colonies were transferred onto a single 90mm plate. The plates were inverted and incubated at 37°C overnight. The bacteria were transferred to BA 85 nitrocellulose membrane filters (pore size 0.45 μ m; Schleicher & Schuell) by laying the membrane, with sterile blunt-ended forceps, onto the surface of the culture plate and, when the filter was thoroughly wet, it was peeled from the plate. The bacteria were lysed by laying the transfer membrane for 9 min, colony side up, on

the surface of 3MM paper soaked with 0.5M NaOH, and then the alkali neutralized by transferring the filter to the second sheet of 3MM paper soaked with 1M Tris-HCl (pH 7.4) for 5 min repeating this step. The lysed cells were washed by transferring the filter to a fourth 3MM paper, this one soaked with 1.5M NaCl and 0.5M Tris-HCl (pH 7.4) for 5 min. The filter, colony side up, was laid on a sheet of dry 3MM paper and

allowed to dry at room temperature for at least 30 min. Then the filter was sandwiched between two sheets of 3MM paper and baked at 80°C for 2 hours in a vacuum oven.

b) Hybridization Protocols.

i) Prehydrization: The baked filter was floated on 6x SSC (52.60g NaCl and 26.46g Na₃-citrate per litre) until it was thoroughly wetted and then submerged for 2 min. The filter was transferred to a hybridization bottle (HB-OV-BS, Hybaid) or bag containing 10-15 ml of prehybridization buffer (50mM HEPES, 3x SSC, $100 \mu g/ml$ denatured salmon sperm DNA, 0.1% SDS and 1x Denhardt's solution which comprised 0.02% each of Ficoll, polyvinylpyrrolidone and bovine serum albumin). The filter was incubated for 1-2 hours at $65^{\circ}C$ with gentely shaking or incubated in the Hybaid mini hybridization oven in the same conditions.

ii) Hybridization: After excess solution was removed from the hybridization bag or bottle, it was filled with 10-15 ml warm hybridization buffer. The 32 P-labelled dsDNA probe was denatured by adding an equal volume of deionised formamide and heating for 3-5 min to 100°C, chilled rapidly on ice, and then added to the hybridization buffer. The filter and probe were incubated together at 65°C for 2-16 hours. Then, the filter was washed in a large volume of 2x SSC at room temperature for 5 min and then transferred to 2x SSC solution and gently agitated for 15 min. The filter was further washed with 1x SSC and 0.1% SDS and finally rinsed with 0.1x SSC. At no stage during the washing procedure was the filter allowed to dry. After washing the filter was air-dried at room temperature and exposed to X-ray film (Kodak XAR-5 or equivalent) for 12-14 hours at -70°C with an intensifying screen. Bacterial colonies corresponding to those that hybridized with the probe were collected from the replicate plates.

Dot-blot Hybridization Procedure

The dot-blot hybrization procedures were used to detect DNA or RNA directly.

However, the buffer used for DNA-RNA hybridization was different from the DNA prehybrization buffer; it was 40% deionised formamide, 3x SSC, $100 \mu g/ml$ denatured salmon sperm DNA, 50mM HEPES buffer (pH7.0), and 5x Denhardt's solution. For DNA-RNA hybridization, the nitrocellulose membrane was pre-wetted with water, then with 2x SSC and finally allowed to air dry before prehybrization.

To detect M13 ssDNA, 1µl of DNA was spotted onto the membrane and then allowed to dry in the air. The nucleic acid was bound to the membrane by baking it at 80° C for 2 hours and the ssDNA detected using the same hybridization protocols as described above.

DNA SEQUENCING

Single-stranded DNA, obtained from recombinant M13 clones, or generated from pTZ plasmids in the presence of M13KO7 helper phage, was the most suitable for sequencing by the dideoxynucleotide chain termination method (Sanger *et al.*, 1977, 1980). This usually involved *in vitro* synthesis of a DNA strand by a modified T7 DNA polymerase using a ssDNA template as described by Tabor and Richardson (1987) in the SequenaseTM system of United States Biochemical Corporation. However, double-stranded DNA was also sequenced effectively using the SequenaseTM system.

Denaturated Double-strand DNA Preparation for DNA Sequencing

The alkaline-denaturation method worked well when 3-5 μ g of RNA-free plasmid DNA was used as the template, but not so well with smaller amounts. The purified DNA (50 μ l in TE), prepared using the small scale alkaline lysis method previously described, was hydrolysed with 10 μ g/ml of RNase A (Sigma) at 37°C for 30 min. The DNA fragments were precipitated by adding 30 μ l of a mixture of 20% PEG 6,000 and 2.5M NaCl, and keeping the mixture on ice for an hour. The DNA was pelleted and washed with ethanol. The pellet by centrifugation was dissolved in 70 μ l of water or TE. 35 μ l of the resulting dsDNA solution was denatured in 0.2M NaOH and 2mM EDTA at 37°C for 30 min, the mixture was neutralized by adding 0.1 volume of 3M sodium acetate (pH4.5-5.5) and the DNA precipitated with 2.5 volume of ethanol. After centrifugation and washing the pellet with 70% ethanol, it was dissolved in 7 μ l of distilled water and 2 μ l of Sequenase reaction buffer and 1 μ l of primer were

immediately added.

DNA Sequencing Protocols

The kit of United States Biochemical Corporation for DNA sequencing with SequenaseTM was used in this study with the recommended protocol.

a) Annealing Template and Primer

7 μ l of single-stranded DNA solution was added to the same amount of reaction buffer and primer as for the double-strand DNA annealing mixture as described above. Then the capped tubes of both ss-and dsDNA were warmed to 65^oC for 2 min, placed at room temperature on the bench to cool slowly in heating block over a period of about 30 min. When the temperature was below 30^oC, the tubes were placed on ice. The annealed template was used within about 4 hours.

b) Labelling Reaction

The annealed template-primer DNAs were added to the labelling reaction mixture which comprised:

10.0 μl template-primer DNA
1.0 μl 0.1M DTT
2.0 μl diluted labelling mix (1:5 in water)
0.5 μl [α-³⁵S]dATP
2.0 μl diluted Sequenase (1:8 in TE)

These were mixed thoroughly and incubated for 2-5 min at room temperature. When, in the subsequent sequence analyses, band compressions were found, the dITP labelling mix was substituted for the dGTP mix.

c) Termination Reaction

2.5 µl of ddGTP, ddATP, ddTTP and ddCTP termination mix was added to the four set of tubes labelled G, A, T, and C as appropriate. These sets of four tubes were

pre-warmed at 37°C for at least 1 min, then 3.5 μ l of the labelled DNA mixture was added in each tube of the set, mixed well, centrifuged briefly and kept at 37°C for 3-5 min. The reactions were terminated by adding 4 μ l of 'stop solution', mixed and stored on ice.

d) Denaturing Gel Electrophoresis for Sequence Determination

The sample mixtures were heated to 75°C for 2-4 min, immediately before loading onto a 6% polyacrylamide/ 2x TBE/ 7M Urea (0.25mm thick) gel. After electrophoresis at 30mA for about 3 hr, when the dye marker had migrated 35 cm, the sequencing gel was dried on to Whatman 3MM filter paper in a vacuum dryer at 80°C for an hour before being autoradiographed using Kodak RP or Kodak XAR-5 film.

e) Determining the Nucleotide Sequence Adjacent to that Part which Hybridizes with the Primer

It was found that adding Mn^{2+} to normal (Mg^{2+}) sequencing reaction mixtures decreased the average length of DNA synthesized and intensified the bands corresponding to nucleotides close to the primer. Thus, 1 µl of Mn buffer was added to the normal sequencing reaction mixture in the labelling step before adding Sequenase. No other changes were found to be necessary.

PRODUCTION OF A dsDNA ENCODING THE ELV GENOME

dsDNA clones encoding the genome of ELV were synthesized by various methods.

First attempts were made by the well-tried method of Gall *et al.* (1988), who used methyl mercuric hydroxide treated RNA to synthesize a full-length DNA copy of the genome of grapevine chrome mosaic virus. This method has been used successfully to prepare full-length DNA clones of TYMV genomes (Anne Mackenzie, personal communication). cDNA to the ELV genome was synthesized in two ways. First about 15 μ g of viral genomic RNA was used together with 7.5 μ g of the 3'-end PS9 primer, 5'CCCGGATCC<u>TGGGGTGTCCCTTTACC</u> 3', which corresponds to the last 17 nucleotides of the 3'-terminus of ELV and also produces an extra unique *BamH* I site. In the other method polyadenylated ELV RNA and dT₈dG primer was used. Each treated in the same way, first they were denatured in 20mM methyl mercuric hydroxide by preparing a mixture of 7 μ l of 40mM CH₃HgOH, 1.5 μ l of ELV RNA solution (10 μ g/ μ l), 2 μ l primer (3.5 μ g/ μ l) and 3.5 μ l of sterile distilled water. The reaction mixture was incubated at room temperature for 10 min, in a fume hood, and to it was added the reverse transcriptase mixture consisting of:

Figure 7. Schematic diagram of the synthesis and cloning of double-stranded DNA to the ELV RNA genome and DNA sequencing of the clones. These procedures were as described by Gubler and Hoffman (1983) for dsDNA synthesis; Goblet *et al.* (1989) and Güssow and Clarkson (1989) for PCR; Maniatis *et al.* (1982) for cloning method and Sanger *et al.* (1977) for DNA sequencing.







Load samples on sequencing gel autoradiograph

Read sequence

5.0 μl 1M Tris-HCl (pH 8.3)
5.0 μl 1M KCl
8.0 μl 0.1M MgCl₂
1.0 μl 1M DTT
10.0 μl 10mM dNTPs
2.0 μl [α-³²P]dATP (3000 Ci/mmole; 10mCi/ml)
1.0 μl RNasin (BRL5518, 31.5 U/μl or 1.5μl Promega 20 U/μl)
52.0 μl sterile distilled water
1.5 μl reverse transcriptase AMV (USB, 15 U/μl)

total 86.0 µl

The mixture was kept at room temperature for 5 min and then transferred to 42° for 60-90 min. The reaction was stopped by adding 5 µl of 0.5M EDTA, and proteins were removed using phenol/chloroform; the DNA was precipitated by adding 0.5 volumes of 7.5M NH₄OAc and 2.5 volumes of 95% ethanol and centrifuged. The DNA pellet was washed with 70% ethanol and dried.

The second-strand DNA was synthesized using the *Taq* polymerase reaction. The DNA-RNA hybrid was dissolved in 80 µl of distilled water and denatured by heating to 94° C for 2 min together with the 5'-end primer which contains a T7 RNA polymerase promoter, the 5'-terminal 17 nucleotides of the ELV genome and a unique *Pst* I site at the 5'-end, PS10 (5'CCCCTGCAGTAATACGACTCACTATAG<u>GGAA</u> <u>AATTATTTCAATC</u> 3'). A reaction mixture containing 2 µl 10mM dNTPs, 0.5 µl *Taq* polymerase (2.5 U/µl)(Perkin Elmer Cetus), 1 µl [α -³²P]dATP, 10 µl 10X PCR buffer (500mM Tris-HCl [pH 8.3], 60mM MgCl₂, 10mM DTT, 400mM KCl) was added and volume adjusted to 100 µl by adding distilled water. The mixture was overlaid with 100 µl paraffin oil, and incubated at 70°C for 60 min. 1 µl of 10mM dATP was added to complete the reaction and further incubated at 37°C for 30 min. The dsDNA was purified by phenol/chloroform and ethanol precipitation. However

little of either ssDNA or dsDNA was obtained by this method. Therefore I used a combination of the RNase H method of Gubler and Hoffmann (1983), and the polymerase chain reaction (PCR) (Goblet *et al.*, 1989) to amplify DNA transcribed directly from the ELV RNA genome as described above.

An outline of the successful cloning procedure is shown in Figure 37 and Figure 38, and will be described in more detail here. For first-strand DNA synthesis, the ELV genomic RNA was denatured by heating to 94° C together with two oligonucleotide primers (dT₈dG and synthetic random oligonucleotide hexamers) and the primed ELV RNA was then used as a template to synthesize cDNA in a reaction volume of 40 µl containing 50mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.3), 8mM MgCl₂, 50mM KCl, 10mM DTT, 0.5mM each of dGTP, dATP, dTTP and dCTP, 2 μl [α-³²P]dATP (10 mCi/ml), and about 20-22 units AMV reverse transcriptase (USB). The second-strand DNA was synthesized by the RNase H method as previously described. The resulting dsDNA was hydrolysed with Sph I and then ligated into the Sph I site and Sma I / Sph I sites of pTZ18U and pTZ19U vectors. The resulting clones were called pELV25 (nucleotides 2142-3600), pELV37 (nucleotides 1-2142) and pELV40 (nucleotides 2461-4689). The part of the genome between nucleotides 4186-5494 was obtained by priming genomic RNA with PS7 primer (5'AGAGGGAATTCGAACTGGAA 3'; complementary to nucleotides 5484-5504) for the first-strand DNA synthesis using the method described above, the second-strand DNA synthesis using Taq polymerase reaction and the PS10 as previously described. The resulting DNA fragments were hydrolysed with EcoR I / Xba I and were cloned into the same restriction enzyme sites of pGEM7Zf vectors to give clone pELV2 (nucleotides 4186-5494).

Construction of Full-length ELV DNA

The 5'-end of the genome was constructed in the following way (Figure 37a). An EcoR I / Sph I fragment of pELV37 was ligated to a Sph I / Kpn I fragment of pELV25 and then cloned in the EcoR I / Kpn I site of the pTZ19U vector. The resulting clones were called pELV20 (nucleotides 1-3600). Next, the pELV20 was hydrolysed with EcoR I and the resulting fragment was inserted into the same restriction enzyme site of pELV40 to produce pELV31 (nucleotides 1-4689).

A 5'-substitution of pELV31 (Figure 37b) was prepared using the primer PS10

containing T7 RNA polymerase promoter. pELV31 was hydrolysed with Kpn I and converted to a blunt-ended molecule by adding 1 μ l of T₄ DNA polymerase (1 U/ μ l) (Boehringer-Mannheim) and 0.5mM dNTPs directly to the reaction and further incubated at 37°C for 30 min after hydrolysis. The fragments were purified by phenol/chloroform and ethanol as described above and then hydrolysed with Apa I.

The dsDNA fragment corresponding to nucleotides 1 to 2056 of the ELV genome was prepared using PCR method of Güssow and Clarkson (1989) as described above with pELV37 as a template and PS2 (complementary to nucleotides 2037-2056) and PS10 (nucleotides 1-17) as primers. The resulting dsDNA was hydrolysed with *Apa* I and ligated to the blunt-end / *Apa* I site of pELV31. This substituted pELV31 clone was called pELV38 (nucleotides 1-4689).

The 3'-end of the genome was constructed in a similar way to the 5'-end (Figure 37c). A clone encoding the 3'-end was obtained by ligating two products of the PCR method of Güssow and Clarkson (1989) using the M13mp18 clones originally obtained for sequencing of ELV genome; these were ELV9 (nucleotide 5373-5768) and ELV24 (nucleotide 5745-6034). M13 primer together with pPUC/M13 reverse primers (Bresatec and Promega) were used. The two fragment products were digested with *BstE* II / *Sph* I and cloned in the *Sph* I site of pTZ19U. The resulting clone was called pELV5 (nucleotides 5373 to 6034). Clones of pELV5 and pELV2 (nucleotides 5484-5504) were hydrolysed with *EcoR* I / *Xba* I and ligated into the *Xba* I site of the pGEM7Zf vector to give clone pELV3. The pELV3 clone was substituted at the 3'- end of the ELV sequence (Figure 37d) using the PCR method of Güssow and Clarkson (1989) and two primers; PS8-5'ATGGAAAGCTTGCCAAACTC 3'(nucleotides 4350-4370) and PS9 (nucleotides 6019-6034). The DNA products were cloned in *EcoR* V site of pBluescript SK(+) and the resulting clone was called pELV18 (nucleotides 4350-6034).

Finally two full-length clones of ELV, pELV35 and pELV81, were derived from the *Pst* I / *EcoR* V fragment of pELV31 ligated into the *Pst* I / *EcoR* V sites of pELV18 in pBluescript SK(+) (Figure 37e). Thus clones encoding ELV were obtained with T7 RNA polymerase promoters at both termini together with a *Pst*I site at the 5'-end and *BamH* I sites at both ends; the T7 RNA polymerase promoter at the 3'-end is part of the pBluescript SK(+) vector.

The cloning methods involved restriction endonuclease digestion, selection of

nucleic acid fragments by agarose-gel electrophoresis, ligation, plasmid preparation, and DNA sequencing for gene identification as described above.

In vitro Transcription and Capping

The cap homologue, m⁷GpppGp was directly incorporated into the 5'-end of RNA during the transcription reaction to yield capped RNA. 10µg each of the DNA clones of pELV35 and pELV81 for use as templates was linearised with *Pst I / BamH I* and transcribed with T7 RNA polymerase, as advised by Pharmacia, the supplier of the polymerase (Melton *et al.*, 1984). The DNAs were incubated in a 50 µl reaction mixture containing transcription buffer (40mM Tris-HCl [pH 7.5], 6mM MgCl₂, 2mM spermidine, and 10mM NaCl), 10mM DTT, 0.5 mg/ml BSA, 0.5mM ATP, CTP, UTP, 0.25mM GTP, 0.5mM m⁷GpppGp (New England Biolabs), 1 Unit/µl of RNasin (Promega), and 150 units of T7 RNA polymerase (Pharmacia).

Thus the reaction mixture was prepared by mixing:

15.0 µl linearized DNA

10.0 µl 5x transcription buffer (200mM Tris-HCl [pH 7.5],

30mM MgCl₂, 10mM spermidine, and 50mM NaCl) 5.0 μl 0.1M DTT

 $2.5 \ \mu l BSA (1mg/ml)$

2.5 µl RNasin ribonuclease inhibitor

5.0 µl 5mM ATP, CTP, UTP, 2.5mM GTP

5.0 μl 5mM m⁷GpppGp

T7 RNA polymerase 3-10 U /µl of reaction mixture.

The mixture was incubated at 37° C for one hour, then an extra 1 U/µl of enzyme was added to boost the reaction and it was further incubated for 2 hours. The template DNA was removed by treating with 0.1 U/µl of deoxyribonuclease (RQ1 RNase-free DNase I, Promega) at 37° C for 30 min, then shaken with phenol/ chloroform and the RNA was precipitated with 3M ammonium acetate and ethanol. The pellets were resuspended in 50 µl of saline-phosphate buffer (PBS) and analysed by electrophoresis in a 4% polyacrylamide gel containing 7M urea and 1xTBE.

Biological Assay by Inoculation of Chinese cabbage plants

The ELV RNA transcipts were directly inoculated to Chinese cabbage (B. campestris sp. pekinensis L.) and swede (B. napus var.napobrassica (L.) Rchb.) which were kept in the dark for two days before inoculation. The plants were dusted with

carborundum powder and mechanically inoculated with either 40 μ l of *in vitro* transcription mixes or, as controls, infected sap or 10 μ g of ELV RNA or viral particles in the same PBS buffer. The inoculated plants were kept in an insect-proof glasshouse at <u>c</u>.25^o and examined daily for symptoms.

Detection of Viral RNA by Dot-blot Hybridization

ELV RNA extracted from infected leaves or sap from systemically infected leaves were tested by dot-blot analysis. Radioactively-labelled dsDNA was synthesized by nick translation of the PCR product of amplified DNA directly from ELV clones using PS9 and TALL-comp primers. This nick-labelled DNA was used for RNA detection as in the method described previously.

a) RNA extraction

The method of Verwoerd *et al.* (1989) was used to extract RNAs from infected tissues. Fresh infected leaf tissue was put in Eppendorf tubes, frozen quickly in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80° C until ready for testing. After grinding with a small steel bar (precooled in liquid nitrogen), the frozen leaf powder was mixed with 500 µl/tube of a heated (80°) extraction buffer which consisted of phenol and a buffer mixture of 0.1M LiCl, 100mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.0), 10mM EDTA and 1% SDS (1:1). The mixture was shaken for 30 seconds, then 250µl chloroform-isoamylalcohol(24:1) was added, shaken and finally centrifuged for 5 min. The aqueous phase was mixed with one volume of 4M LiCl overnight and the precipitated RNA was pelleted by centrifugation. The RNAs were precipitated with 0.1 volumes of 3M NaOAc (pH 5.2) and 2 volumes of cold ethanol. The RNA pellet was dissolved in water.

b) Dot-blot hybridization protocol

Samples were directly spotted onto nitrocellulose membranes (1 μ l/spot), baked for 2 hours at 80^o, and then the membranes were hybridized with a nucleotide probe

complementary to ELV. These probes were produced, as described above, by nick translation from a dsDNA copy of the ELV genome. The hybridization method of Maniatis *et al.* (1982) was used and described above.

Identification of virion coat protein gene by PCR

RNA extracted from infected Chinese cabbage was directly amplified by PCR (Güssow and Clarkson, 1989). The VP gene was detected by the PCR method, as described above, using the PS9 and TALL-comp primers; the former, which primes the 3'-end of the genome has the sequence 5'CCCGGATCCTGGGGTGTCCCTTTACC 3' and the latter, which has the sequence 5'CCCTCGAGT[C/A]TGAATTGCTTC 3' primes the tymobox (Ding et al. 1990a). DNA products were analysed and fractionated by gel electrophoresis using the extracts of healthy plant as controls.

COMPUTER ANALYSIS

The nucleic acid and deduced amino acid sequences were analyzed using the SEQ library programs of the Research School of Biological Sciences, Australian National University and the University of Wisconsin Genetic Computing Group (UWGCG) Version 6 programs in a VAX computer.

The programs used included:

1. The Staden set of 'shotgun' sequencing programs (Staden, 1982): These record and compile the sequences obtained from sets of overlapping or complementary recombinant clones;

2. MAPPLOT: A GCG program that displays the positions of all of the cleavage sites for a chosen restriction endonuclease (Schroeder and Blattner, 1982);

3. **ISOELECTRIC:** A GCG program that plots the positive, negative and net charges of a protein of known composition as a function of pH;

4. SQUIGGLES: A GCG program that predicts the secondary structure of singlestranded nucleic acids and calculates their minimum free energy based on published values of stacking and loop destabilizing energies (Zuker and Stiegler, 1981);

5. DOTPLOT: A GCG program that compares pairs of sequences by dot-plots using the method of Maizel and Lenk (1981) or the very rapid algorithm of Sussman (Unger et al., 1986);

6. GAP and LINEUP: A GCG program that optimally aligns sequences by the method of Needleman and Wunsch (1970) and Sellers (1974) and allows editing of multiple alignments;

7. FASTA and TFASTA: A GCG program that compares a novel sequence with sets of known sequences in databases (Pearson and Lipman, 1988);

8. FETCH: A GCG program that copies data files from GCG database libraries into an active directory;

9. **PRETTY:** A GCG program that displays multiple sequence alignments and calculates a consensus sequence based on any of several different consensus functions;

10. HETZYG: A SEQ program that calculates the 'variability' at each position of a set of aligned sequences.

11. Progressive alignment: A program that progressively aligns a set of sequences (Feng and Doolittle, 1987);

12. NJTREE: A program which calculates a binary dendrogram describing the relationships of a set of objects from a matrix of their dissimilarities (such as the FJD distances (Feng *et al.*, 1985) calculated by the progressive alignment method), by the 'neighbour-joining' method of Saito and Nei (1987) as implemented by Studier and Keppler (1988);

13. **TDRAW:** A program which displays dendrograms calculated by NJTREE (J.W.H. Ferguson, personal communication);

14. SEQCORR: SEQ program to assess the correlation between amino acid or nucleotide sequence differences in a set of aligned sequences, and known differences in the properties of the organisms providing the sequences (i.e. host ranges).

CHAPTER 3 - PRIMARY STRUCTURE OF THE ELV GENOME

INTRODUCTION

The single-stranded RNA genome of ELV was sequenced as described in Chapter 2. ELV RNA, isolated from infected Chinese cabbage (*Brassica campestris* spp. *pekinensis* L.), was transcribed into double-stranded DNA and cloned in appropriate vectors for propagation and isolation using six different four-base restriction endonucleases *Dde* I, *Hae* III, *Hinf* I, *Msp* I, *Sau*3A I, and *Taq* I (Figure 8). cDNA obtained from the recombinant M13 clones or pTZ plasmids was sequenced using the chain termination method of Sanger *et al.*(1977) and the SequenaseTM system. The nucleotide sequences of ELV cDNA clones were compiled and analysed using various computer programmes.

SEQUENCE OF THE ELV GENOME

The viral inserts in 276 randomly-selected M13 clones, mainly from *Hae* III and *Msp* I fragments of cDNA, were sequenced using the dideoxy chain termination method. Clones that were between 150 and 750 nucleotides in length were chosen as those up to 500 nucleotides long could be fully sequenced; longer ones were sequenced from both ends.

A total databank of c. 40,000 nucleotides was obtained and used to compile the genomic sequence of ELV using the Staden (1982) and SEQ programs for shotgun sequencing. Most of the sequence was obtained from independent clones which formed an overlapping set in both orientations and extended over about 95% of the genome. Figure 10 shows the positions and lengths of the sequences that contributed to the consensus; many of those subsequences were obtained from several different

clones.

No clones were obtained that included nucleotides 1950-2056, therefore the primer PS2, 5'-CTGGAAAGGATCCTGGAAGG-3'(complementary to nucleotides 2035-2056), was used as a first-strand primer in the RNase H method (see Chapter 2)

Figure 8. Autoradiogram showing a restriction map of double-stranded DNA copy of genomic ELV. The dsDNA was hydrolysed by the four base restriction endonucleases *Dde* I, *Hae* III, *Hinf* I, *Msp* I, *Sau*3A I and *Taq* I and the DNA fragments were analysed by electrophoresis in 5% (W/V) polyarylamide gel. Standard molecular weights pBR325 / *Hinf* I markers are 1766, 652, 512, 506, 396, 394, 344, 290, 220, and 150 base pairs.







to synthesize a dsDNA NaeI fragment of approximately 110 bp, that spanned this region. This was sequenced in the same way as the other clones.

The 5'-terminus of the genome was determined from viral RNA using a specific primer, PS3, with the sequence 5'-CCGGAGACTTGAATGCCC-3'. This was complementary to nucleotides 261-276, and was used to synthesize a DNA complementary to the 5'-terminus of the genome, and poly dA was added to its 3'-end using polynucleotide terminal transferase. Then a DNA molecule encoding the 5'-terminal 276 nucleotides was produced by the polymerase chain reaction (PCR) using a primer with the sequence 5'-TTAAGC(T)₁₅-3' together with the PS3 primer.

Ten clones were obtained from the PCR product and the autoradiographs of their sequencing gels showed that, at its 5'-terminus, the genome had two guanines (Figure 9), one of which may correspond to the 7'-methylguanosine 'cap' structure that probably occurs in all tymoviruses (Klein *et al.*, 1976; Pleij *et al.*, 1976 and Ahlquist and Janda, 1984); it has been reported that reverse transcripts of capped RNAs can extend one base beyond the 5'-most nucleotide linked in the normal manner (Ahlquist and Janda, 1984; Gupta and Kingsbury, 1984), and the additional base added to the reverse transcript has, in one case, been identified as cytosine (Ahlquist and Janda, 1984). Thus it is likely that the sequence at the 5'-terminus of ELV is m^7 GpppGAAAAUU.

Clones encoding the 3'-terminus of the genome were identified because, in order to obtain cDNA complementary to the genome, it had been polyadenylated. Five separate clones with a 3'-terminal sequence that this treatment would produce (-CAAAAAAA) were found (Figure 9); the 5'-portions of those strands were homologous. The sequence of each clone was determined, in both orientations. Thus the 3'-terminal nucleotide of the ELV genome is -C or -C(A) like other tymoviruses (van Belkum *et al.*, 1987). It is unlikely that it has a longer poly(A) tail as the primer dT_8G failed to assist transcription unless the genome RNA had been polyadenylated.

The complete sequence of ELV genome is 6034 nucleotides in length (Figure 11).

Each nucleotide was determined unambiguously in each orientation at least twice,

making use of at least two independently-isolated clones, to avoid possible artifacts

arising from transcription errors using AMV reverse transcriptase. Only at nucleotide position 5004 was sequence heterogeneity, A and G, found.

Figure 9. Autoradiograms of M13 dideoxy sequencing reactions using Taq DNA polymerase and either $[\alpha$ -³²P]dATP (C) or $[\alpha$ -³⁵S]dATP (A) and (B). DNA products were analysed by electrophoresis in 6% polyacrylamide / 7M urea gel. In all gels the tracks are in sets of four with dideoxy analogs added in the order G, A, T and C from left to right.

(A) DNA sequence of an ELV clone that includes the 5'-terminus; two guanines (arrowed) are probably those in the cap structure, ⁷GpppGAAAAUU-.

(B) DNA sequence of an ELV clone representative of another 270 M13 clones.

(C) DNA sequence of an ELV clone at 3'-terminus with nucleotide sequences of $-CCCC(A_8)$





Figure 10. Map of the major overlapping cDNA inserts of clones used to determine the complete sequence of ELV genomic RNA. A composite map of some restriction sites corresponding to cDNA sequence is shown in the upper rectangle. The arrows indicate the regions, orientations and length of nucleotide sequences obtained from each clone. Some of the arrows represent more than one clone. The filled squares indicate the positions of the sequence used to prepare synthetic oligodeoxyribonucleotides in order to prime specific cDNA synthesis, and the 5'-terminal primer used to sequence the 5'-terminal region.





FEATURES OF THE ELV GENOME

The ELV genome has a base composition of 16.24% G, 23.72% A, 25.46% U and 34.58% C, and thus the corresponding dsRNA would have 50.82% G+C and 49.18% A+U. These base ratios are in close agreement with those in an earlier report by Shukla *et al.* (1980).

The ELV genome is very compact and there are no intercistronic regions. Computer analysis of its sequence revealed three major open reading frames (Figure 12) coding for proteins with predicted M_r of 48,597 (48K), 193,811 (194K) and 21,483 (21K). The amino acid sequences of the proteins are shown in Figure 11 and the phase of the reading frames of those ORFs are shown in Figure 12. The ORF, which starts closest to the 5'-terminus at nucleotide 97 and terminates with UGA at nucleotide 1419, encodes a protein of 440 amino acid residues (48K). This ORF is similar in size and genomic position to that encoding the 69K protein (OP; overlapping protein) of previously described tymoviruses. The function of the OP is at present unknown. The second ORF, which encodes a protein of 1747 amino acids (194K), begins at nucleotide 103 seven nucleotides after the OP ORF and hence out-of-phase with it, and terminates with a UGA codon at nucleotide 5350. This 194K protein is the largest ELV protein and has sequence motifs typical of viral replicase proteins (RP); it is homologous to the 206K protein encoded by the genomic sequence of TYMV (Morch et al., 1988; Keese et al., 1989). The third ORF is located near the 3'-terminus of the genome and encodes the virion protein (VP) of 202 amino acid residues (21K). The termination codon (UGA) of the RP ORF overlaps the AUG start codon of the VP ORF at nucleotide 5347, and thus the VP ORF, which ends at nucleotide 5955, is in the same phase as that of the OP. The amino acid composition of the VP predicted from the gene sequence is closely similar to that determined by chemical analysis (Shukla et al., 1980).

One consequence of the large cytosine content of the genome is the large number of cytosine rich codons, and hence of such amino acids as leucine (CNN), proline (CCN), and serine (NCN) residues in the encoded polypeptides.

1.59% of the ELV genome at its 5'-terminus, and 1.29% at its 3'-terminus, does not encode amino acids. The non-coding region at the 5'-terminus (nucleotides 1-96)

has a base composition of 8.3% G, 26.0% A, 37.5% U and 28.1% C, whereas that at the 3'-terminus (nucleotides 5956 to 6034) has a composition of 20.5% G, 21.8% A, 24.4% U and 33.3% C.



Figure 11. The complete nucleotide sequence of ELV RNA together with the amino acid sequences of polypeptides encoded by the three main open reading frames referred to in the text as replicase protein (RP), overlapping protein (OP) and virion protein (VP) are shown. Termination codons are indicated by asterisks. Two motifs, that of the NTP-binding fold GCGK[T/S] and the RNA polymerase sequence GDD, are boxed.

m ⁷ RP OP	10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100 110 120 GpppGAAAAUUAUUUCAAUCAGAAAACUCUCUUCAUAGACUUGUUUUCUUCCUUC	(6) (8)
RP OP	130 140 150 160 170 180 190 200 210 220 230 240 CCUAGACGCCCUAUCCUCCACCACUCACGGAUUCAUUCGGCUCCUCUUCUGGACUCUUCUGUGAGUCAAUCUUCAUUGGAACUAUUCCCCUACACUGUCCCAAAGGAACU L D A L S S T T H R D S I S A P L L D S S V S Q L Q S S L E L F P Y T V P K E L P R R P I L H H S P R F N L G S S S R L F C E S T P I F I G T I P L H C P K G T	(46) (48)
RP OP	250 260 270 280 290 300 310 320 330 340 350 360 UGUCCCCCAGCUCAAUCGCAUGGGCAUUCAAGUCUCCGGACUAACCUCAACUCCUCCACCCCCACGCUGCCCACAAAACCCUGGAACUGAACCUUCUCUCUC	(86) (88)
RP OP	370 380 390 400 410 420 430 440 450 460 470 480 CAAUGUGGACUCAGCCGUGGUCUUCAUGAAACCCUCAAAGUUCUUCAAACUCCAAGAGAAGAACUCCCACUUCAAAUUCUCUUCACAAUUACCGACUUCACCGUUCACGACUCCAAUCGGUA N V D S A V V F M K P S K F F K L Q E K N S H F K S L H N Y R L H P H D S N R Y Q C G L S R G L H E T L K V L Q T P R E E L P L Q I S S Q L P T S P S R L Q S V	(126) (128)
RP OP	490500510520530540550560570580590600CCCACAUCCCAGCACAAGCCUGCCUGAUGUAUUUUACGCCGCACCAAAUCUCAGGUUUGUUCGAAAGUUGCCCAAACCUUCUCAGUUUUUACGCCGCACCAAAUCUCAGGUUUGUUCGAAAGUUGCCCAAACCUUCUCAGUCUPHPSTSLFESCPNLSLPHPSTSLPTSGLFESCPNLSLPTSQHKPRCPNLRFVRLPSQSPTSQHKPAPNLRFVRLPSQSPTSQHKPAPNLRLRRRSQS	(166) (168)
RP OP	610 620 630 640 650 660 670 680 690 700 710 720 GUACGCCAGCCUCGUUCCUCCAGAAAGCUCAAUGACCGACUUGUCUCUAAACCCCGAUCUGUAUCGGUACUCAAUCCACAAGUCGACUCUCCAUUACACACCAGAAGGGCACUCAGU Y A S L V V P P E S S M T D L S L N P D L Y R Y S I H K S T L H Y T P E G H S A V R Q P R R S S R K L N D R L V S K P R S V S V L N P Q V D S P L H T R R A L S	(206) (208)
RP OP	730 740 750 760 770 780 790 800 810 820 830 840 CGGCAGUUACAAUCAGCCCGUCAACGCCCUCGAUUGGCUGAAAAUCUCUGCGAUCCAACUCCAUCCCUGAGCCUGUCCGUGUCCGUGUCCGGAUUCUGGGGCCCUUCCAUUCCCUUCC G S Y N Q P V N A L D W L K I S A I Q T P S L S L S V S V L E S W G P L H S L L R Q L Q S A R Q R P R L A E N L C D P N S I P E P V R V R P G I L G P S P F P S	(246) (248)
RP OP	850 860 870 880 890 900 910 920 930 940 950 960 UAUCGAGAGGAGCUCUCAAACACAAAAUCCAGAUUCUCAGAAGGAUCUGAUUUCCUUCC	(286) (288)
RP OP	970 980 990 1000 1010 1020 1030 1040 1050 1060 1070 1080 GCACCGUCUUGUGCCUCAGAAAACUUACGACGCCCUCUUCACUUACACUCGAGCAACCCGAACUCUCCGCACUUCAGAUCCCGCUGGAUUCGUAAGAACUCAGUCAAACAAGCCCGAGUU H R L V P Q K T Y D A L F T Y T R A T R T L R T S D P A G F V R T Q S N K P E F A P S C A S E N L R R P L H L H S S N P N S P H F R S R W I R K N S V K Q A R V	(326) (328)
RP OP	1090 1100 1110 1120 1130 1140 1150 1160 1170 1180 1190 1200 CAACUGGGUCACAUCUCAAGCUUGGGACAAUCUCCAAACCUACGGCCUCUUGACAGGCCUCCUGUGUCCUACAGGGCUCCUCUUACAAGACUCAAGGAGCU N W V T S Q A W D N L Q T Y A L L T A S Y R P P V S Y T L H R S P L T K L K E L Q L G H I S S L G Q S P N L R P L D S L L Q A S R V L H A T S V S S Y K T Q G A	(366) (368)
RP OP	1210 1220 1230 1240 1250 1260 1270 1280 1290 1300 1310 1320 UCUCACGAGGAAUGCUUUAAAACUCGCAGCGAUGGCAUCACCAGCUUCACUCUGGCCAUCUUCACCACAAUGACCGCGUUGAACACCAACUCCAGGGCCUUCCAUGAGUCUU L T R N A L K L A A M A S P A L T L A I F T T M T A L N T N S S K A L S F S A L S H E E C F K T R S D G I T S S H S G H L H H N D R V E H Q L Q Q G P L L Q C S	(406) (408)
RP OP	1330 1340 1350 1360 1370 1380 1390 1400 1410 1420 1430 1440 CAAGAUUCACUUGCUGAACCCACUUACAGGCCCGGAACUCCUUCACUUCCAAACUUCUGUAUUGCAGCAAAAGAACUCAGCUCCAGCCCAAGCUGAGGCGAAACAAGAAUUGGACAA K I H L L N P L T G P E L L H F Q T S V L Q Q K N S A P L S Q A E A K Q E L D K Q D S L A E P T Y R P G T P S L P N F C I A A K E L S S T Q P S *	(446) (441)
RP	1450 1460 1470 1480 1490 1500 1510 1520 1530 1540 1550 1560 GUCAGCUGUGCCAGCACCUUCUGAACAUGACUCUAGCGCCUCUCAAUCAA	(486)
RP	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	(526)
RP	UCCUCAAUCCAAUCUGGACAAUUACAAUUUGCAUCUACAUCCCGAGUCGUUCACUCUGGGCUGGAAACGACCGCCCUACUUUUGGACUCUCAUUCAAGUUUCCUACCCUCUUCUUGCCU P Q S N L D N Y N L H L H P E S F T L G W K R R P L L L D S H S S F L P S S C L	(566)
RP	1810 1820 1830 1840 1850 1860 1870 1880 1850 1870 1880 1870 1880 1970 1980 1970 1970 1970 1970 1970 1970 1970 197	(606)
RP	1930 1940 1950 1960 1970 1980 1990 2000 2010 2020 2030 2040 UCAAGCUGGUGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGG	(646)
RP	205020602070208020902100211021202130214021502160CCAGGAUCUCUUUCCAGCCAGUUACCUCACACAGCCAACUUCCCCUGCCGAUCAAAAAUACCGGGCUAUCUUGAAGCUCCCUACCCCCUCUGGAUGCAUGC	(686)
RP	217021802190220022102220223022402250226022702280UGCCCAAAUGCCUCAAGAGCUGUGAGGCUGUGAGGCUCUAAUGCCUCUAAGGCGCUCCACCUCACCUCAGGCUCUCGGCUCCGGGGGGGG	(726)
RP	2290 2300 2310 2320 2330 2340 2350 2360 2370 2380 2390 2400 UCUCAGUUACUAUUAUCACUUUCAGGCCGAGAUUCAUUCCGACAAUGAAAUAUAGAUUCGGCAUACAAACUGCUUCAACCAAGCUCUGCCUCAUUCGGGAUUCAGGACCCCAGCUCA L S Y Y Y H F Q A E I H S D N E I Y R F G I Q T A S T K L C L I R D S G P P A H	(766)
RP	241024202430244024502460247024802490250025102520CUUCACUGCUCCUGAUCCUCUAAGAGCCGGCUCCCUCCCAGCAGAUCCCAGACGAAUGAGAAUUCUCUACGCCGCUCACUUCUAGGCUUCCGCUUGAAUGGGAAUCUCUUGCCGAUCGAFTAPDPLRAGNLPIDFTAPDPLRSQTNENSLRRSLPID	(806)
RP	2530 2540 2550 2560 2570 2580 2590 2600 2610 2620 2630 2640 UCAAGUCCACAGCUUCACUUCUGAGGCCCUCUGGGGCAAAGAACCUUGCUUCCAACAUGAAAAAUGGUUUUGAUGGCAUUCUUACAACCCUGGGCUCUCCUCCUCCUCUGGACC Q V H S F T S E P S R A K N L A S N M K N G F D G I L T T L A A L S S L S S G P	(846)

ILLID
(886)	2760 UUCAACA I Q Q	2750 CUCAUCCA T H P	0 CAAAJ K			2730 UUUGO F 1	CCGGGT S G	2720 ICCUGU	O UAUUCI I H	271 JGACCU D L	00 ACUGI T	270 CCCAAA P K	590 CUCUA A L	26 AUUUUGC D F A	2680 UCUGCO I C	UGGCA	2670 UCUUGA L I	UCUUCA	UCGCA R	2650 CCGCGAU R D	CUCAC	RP.
(926)	2880 JCAACUUG S T W	2870 JGGAGAUUU W R F	O CAACI N	286 ACACCA H H	0 CAGCI P A	2850 CUCCC L F	UGGCU	2840 AGACA D	GAAAUG K S	283 Agagug E W	20 CGAUC R S	282 AACCUUG N L	B10 CCACC F T	28 CUCCCAC T P T	2800 UGGUCA V V	CAGGGI	2790 CAACUU N F	ACUUCC	2 CCCUC P	2770 CAAAAACC K T	GCUUC	RP.
(966	3000 AUCCUCCU I L L	2990 AGCUCGUC K L V	0 UGUCI	298 UCCCAC P T	0 CUGAI	2970 AUAGO	CUCUCI S L	2960 CCUUU L	CCUAGA	295 AGGAUA G Y	40 CCUCC P F	294 AAACUUG K L	930 JUUAC I Y	29 ACGAAAU D E I	2920 UCAUUG V I	ACUCG	2910 CGAAAU E I	900 AACAUG K H	2 CUUAAJ L I	2890 AGCCCUC A L	GGAAU	P
(1006	3120 AGCUACCG S Y R	3110 JGUUACUGG C Y W	0 CUACI	310 CGACUA D Y	0 UCAU F I	3090 CCUUU P F	UGCUC	3080 AAGGU R		307 CUCAGA S E	50 CUCAC L S	300 UUGCGGG	50 CAAC	30 ACUCCUC H S S	3040 CUGCUC S A	AACUU	3030 UCACUC H S	020 GCGAGU	JCAAGO	3010 CCCCCUU P L	CGGAG	IP
(1046)	3240 CACUCAGU	3230 GUUAACAGC V N S		322 UAACAA N N		3210 CCCAC P 5		3200 GGACU		319 AAGAC K T	BO JUCAU F 1	318 GAAGGCI E G		31 UCAACCC F N P	3160 CAUGUU P C	CCUGCO	3150 UUUCUC F S	140 CAAAGCI A K	3 JGUCGO V /	3130 AAAAUGU K C	CGUUC	P
(1086)	3360 JCUCCCUC	3350 SCUCUUCUG	0 CACAC	334 UCGUAA R N		3330 CACCU H I	UCAUC	3320 UGCUU	CGACCO	331 CUUCUCO F S		330 CAAGGAU O G	90 GAGU	32 UAUCUUC I S S	3280 UCACAA V T		3270 CUGGAA W N		32 JGAAGO E	3250 CAUCUCU I S	AGUCCI	P
(1126)	3480 GCCAGCC	3470 SCUUACUCU	O GUUA(346 GUUCUC	O GAAU(R M	3450 UCUCO	GUUCCI	3440 CUCCG		343 JCUGAG	20 ACAUU T F	342 SAUUUCI D F		34 ACUUCAA Y F K	3400 GAGUUU G V	CUCUG(3390 AUCCCG S R	380 UCACCAG	33 GCUCI	3370 CCUCGUA L V	AAACUG	P
(1120)	3600 JCUGCCCC	3590	0 ACCCI	358 GUUCCA		3570 CGAUC	GCUUU	3560 UUCCA	AGAAG	355 ACAAA		354 ACUGCCO	30 IGAUA	35 UCAACAU	3520 UCCAAC	UGUCUL	3510 AGAGAU E T	500 UCUUUCO	35 IGACUL	3490 CCUUCCA	GAUUCI	P
(1100)	3720 JUGUCUGU	3710 SAAAGACGU	0	370 JGAGUC	0 AUGGI	3690	AAGCU	3680 CAAUC	JGUGAA	367	50	360 JACUCGA	50 CAAU	36 UCCCAAC	3640 CUCAUA	222222	3630 UCCCUG	620 CAAAUCU	36	3610 ccccccc	AAAAA	r
(1206)	3840 SUCUACCC	3830 CACACUGCU	0 UGACC	382 JCCUUC	D CAGU	3810 GAGCC	CAGAC	3800 .GCCCU		3790 AGCAG	BO JCAAG	378 SCACCUI	70	37 UCAAUAU	3760 CUGACA	UCAUUC	3750 GACUCU	740 CUCGCAU	37 CCCAC	3730 UCUGCCC	ucucci	r
(1246)	V Y P 3960 SACUUCCA	H T A 3950 SUGAAUCUA	D O CUGG(P S 394 AUUUCC	P V	E P 3930 AGCCP	S D	9 3920 AGACC	F C) ACUCAA	S S 391(AUUGA)	S S	A P 39(SAAGUC/	190 ACCCA	L N I 38 CUCACGA	3880 JUCCAG	H S	3870 CGCUCA	860 CUCUCGO	28 38 UUCAC	L P 3850 UGACUUC	UGGCUL	P
(1286)	D F H 4080 CAUACCA	L N L 4070 CAGCAGCU	W 0 0 0 0 0 0	F P 406 AUUUCG		S Q 4050 AGACU	Q T ACAAAJ	D 4040	L K) \GCUUC	I E 403(CUUCC)	K E 20 ACUCU	E V 402 GACUCCI	P 10 GUCA	AACCCGG	4000 GGCACC	F L	A H 3990 GAUCUC	T L A 980 CUUCUUU	F I 39 ACUUC	D F 3970 AUGCCAG	G F CAUAUC	2
(1326)	PYQ 4200 IGCAUUGC	T A A 4190 JUUCUAGAA	P 0 UCUUI	F R 418 CGAAGC	L R D JCAAG	R L 4170 CCCUU	H K GAUUG(L 4160 UGUGC	A S	L P 4150 CGCGAG	T L IO JACCG	D S 414 CAAGUUU	.30 GUGU) P G 41 GCUCCUG	4120 JCUACC	A R	I S 4110 AGGCAA	S S I 100 CUUUCCU	T S 41 GACUC	C Q 4090 UCCUUCU	I S	P
(1366)	C I A 4320	F L E 4310 CUAAGUCA	L 0 CUUCC	E A 430	FN) JUGUA	P F 4290 ACUUU	R L GACAUI	4280 CUGGC	P N CCUGA	R D 4270	Y R	Q V 426	SO AGCC.	S W 42 CUAUUGU	4240	C L	G N 4230 CUCAAA	S F I 220 Agcugag	D S 42 GCCCA	P S 4210 CGACUAC	I T UGUCAJ	P
(1406)	Q H K 4440	A K S 4430	F O UCAAC	K I 442		T F 4410	R H	4400 CACCC	P D	S D 4390	S R	N A 438 CUCAUGO	A 70	I V	2 A 4360 CUUGCC	T Q	S K 4350 CCCAUG	Q L S 340 UUUUUGG	A 0 43	D Y 4330 UGAUGGC	V N	2
(1446	D Q I 4560	R L F	Y Q O	454	V P	P 4530	L G	4520		4510	H	L M 450	L A	Q T	A C 4480	N K	3 P 1 4470	I F 460 UCUACUA	5 44	N D G	V	2
(1486)	F D Q 4680	Y T A 4670	D	T N 466		H C	T S	4640	HL	S K 463(W C	R R 462	L	H D	4600	G N	H A 4590	I Y Y 580	H I 45	P S	ER	5
(1526)	UCGGACC F G P 4800	AAACCCAG E T Q 4790	V V	T N 478	JCAAF G K	4770	H V	4760	I S	N L 4750	P E	S I 474	30	1 R R 47	4720	V L	F E 4710	700	E A	H G	S Q	P
1566)	CAGGCGA G D 4920	L V S	ACCGA P T	490	JUCGC R	5ACCU L 4890	AGUACG Y E	L Q 4880	L N	GCUGUU A V 4870	ACUU L	ACUACA Y N 486	CACUC T I	LCGACAAC D N 48	Y D	GGCAC G T	4830	T G	CGACU R L 48	C M 1	LT	P
(1606)	ACUACUU Y Y L 5040	UCUGCGGUN F C G	CCUCU L	GACGG D G	JGAUC L I	SO10	CGAGCA PS	5000	R L	CACCUC H L 4990	L L	AAGAGC K E 498	CGUCI V	GCCUUUG PF	4960	R S	3UCCCC2 S P 4950	GAACCCU G T I 940	UCCGG S G	Y L		P
1646)	UGGACA G H	GUUCUCGAI	ACCGA T E	Y L	JUCCU S	JUCCU P 5130	CAAGCU K I	F D	S A	AUGGCU D G	AGAC	AGCCGA A E	AUGAU M 1	K L	F A	GCCUU A L	CACUU PL	CCGCAAU R N	GCAUC C I 50	Q G	AGGACCC G P	P
(1706)	AACCAGG Q P G	UCCUACUGO	GAAAA	S Q	CACGO T R	A T	GCAAAG R K	CUGCCO C F	Y F	UUCGAU F D	A C	AGAGUG Q S	CUAUC		UGAUCI	P S	L L	UCUGGCA L W C	UCUCU S L	G D	UGGUCU G L	P
(1746)	AACUCGA K L D	CUAAAUUCA T K F	UAGUA	CUGAU	GCAGO R S	A R	GCCAUG S H	JUCAA	AUGCU M L	UACUCA Y S	CUUU P F	CUCGUC S R	CAUAU	CAAGUU	AUCGG	JGCUUU A L	K I		GAAAC	AGAUCAG	CCUUGU L V	P
(1769) (18)	UGUUCGU V R	AGAAGACGI	ACUCA	UCGAG) ACUCA L	S370 CUGAA	NUCCAC	S R	CUUCC	CAAUGA Q * M	AUGU N V	UUUCCA F S	UCCCU	AUUGCUU	GUUUG F	GGUUGA V E	JCCCAU P M	UCCAAGA L Q D	ACUCU T L	L T	CUCUUC S S	P
(58)	5520 CAAGAAV Q E	5510 CCGGCUGG	0 CUCUC P I	550 AUUCCI E F) JUCGA F	5490 CAGU	CCGUUC P F	5480 UCCAGO L Q	UCAGC	5470 CCCAAC A P	CAAG	546 IGGACCU I G P	50 CAAAI P I	54: CACUUCI P L	5440 CUCUU A L	UCUCAG F S	5430 CCAACUI S N	420 CCAGUUU P V	54 AACUC K T	5410 CCCAGAA S Q	AAACUCU K L	P
(98)	5640 CAUUGGG I G	5630 UGCUGUAUG A V	CCCAG	562 UCUCUC) JGUCG V	5610 ACGCU	ACUUCA L F	5600 ACUCAL T O	AACUC	5590 GAGCCC	0 CCGU R	558 CCGACA R H	70 CUUU(ACCUUC T F	5560 AUGGCI M A	CCCAAA P K	5550 ACCUUC T F	540 UCUCGCC L A	55 UGCCU L P	5530 GUCACCC	GGUUCU G S	P
(138)	5760 CUCCUCU S S	5750 GGUAACCA	GGUCA	574 SUCGGUG) CUCGG	5730 AAUC	JCAACA	5720 GGCGGT G G	CUUAC	5710 UGGGCA L G	0 AAUA	570 CUCCCA	90 ACUUC	S6	5680 AGCUC	CCCGCC P A	5670 JGGGUC W V	660 ACUCAUC L I	SG UCCAA V Q	5650 CUCACCG	CACCCC H P	P
, /	5880	5870	0	586		5850	CUCCI	5840	ccccc	5830	0	582	10	58	5800	AUGAAC	5790 CUCAUG	780	57	5770	CCAGCI	

100	0011	000	inn	ngu	CUL	-06	C 02	-	CUC	CUC	AUG	AUG	AAC	CCA	CAC	AUC	AAA	GAC	UCU	ACA	AGC	UAC	ACC	GAC	ACC	CCC	:AAA	CUC	CUC	CGU	CUA	CAG	CACC	CCC	GCU	GUG	CCA	GAC	GAC	AA	ACUC	
VP	P	A	K	V	2	5	A	N	L	L	M	M	N	P	H	I	K	D	S	Т	S	Y	Т	D	T	P	K	L	L	V	Y	S	Т	P	A	V	P	D	D	K	L	(178)
	ACA	ACC	58 CAG	90 CUC	AGO	cu	590 CC/	DO NUC	AUU	5 GUC	910	GGU	GAA	592 GUU	0 CUG	cuc	59 AGC	30 UCC	ccu	CAA	940 CUC	AAU	ccu	595 UCA	0 GCU		59 GCA	60 AUA	GC	GAC	597		·uuc	598		CAG	59	90 IGUC	ACC	ACC	5000	
VP	T	Т	S	S	,	•	S	I	I	V	F	G	E	V	L	L	S	S	P	Q	L	N	P	S	A	#			100	0110		11100				0110						(203)

6010 6020 6030 CGCUCCUGAAUGUCCCCAGGUAAAGGGACACCCC (A) OH **Figure 12.** Gene organization of both plus- and minus-strand of ELV RNA showing the open reading frames of different triplet codon phases. The ORFs (white boxes) start with the AUG initiation codon and terminate with either UAA, UAG, or UGA codons. The calculated molecular weight in kilodaltons (K) of three major polypeptides: OP(48K), RP(194K) and VP(21K) encoded by each ORF in plus-strand RNA are shown.





Unit scale



<u>CHAPTER 4</u> - COMPARISONS OF ELV AND OTHER TYMOVIRUSES; GENOMIC SEQUENCES AND ENCODED PROTEINS

THE BASIC FEATURES

The complete genomic sequences of five tymoviruses are known, namely ELV, EMV-Trin (Osorio-Keese *et al.*, 1989), KYMV-JB (Ding *et al.*, 1990d), OYMV-Tin (Ding *et al.*, 1989), TYMV-Type (Morch *et al.*, 1988) and TYMV-CL (Keese *et al.*, 1989). That of ELV is 6034 nucleotides in length (Figure 11). It has a base composition of 16.24% G, 23.72% A, 25.46% U and 34.58% C, and thus has the large content of cytosine and small content of guanine which is characteristic of tymoviruses; C 34-42% and G *c.* 15% (Symons *et al.*, 1963; Gibbs *et al.*, 1966; Koenig, 1988; Morch *et al.*, 1988; Keese *et al.*, 1989; Osorio-Keese *et al.*, 1989; Ding *et al.*, 1989, 1990). Despite the large C content, the ELV genome has only twelve strings of five or six cytosine residues (C₅ or C₆); this is many fewer than the twenty two strings of C₅, five of C₆, one of C₇ and one of C₁₁ found in TYMV (Morch *et al.*, 1988; Keese *et al.*, 1989).

Comparisons of the genomic sequences of the tymoviruses show that the basic plan of the ELV genome is closely similar to those of the others (Figure 13), although it is the smallest. They all have three ORFs (OP, RP and VP) and two of these overlap; the OP ORF starts seven nucleotides before the RP ORF, but is only about one third as long. The ORF for the third protein, the VP, is at the 3'-end of the genome and, in different tymoviruses, is in any of the 3 reading frames with respect to the OP/RP ORFs; ELV and TYMV-CL have VP ORFs in the same phase as their OP ORFs, KYMV-JB has its VP ORF in the same phase as its RP ORF, whereas, EMV-Trin and OYMV-Tin have their VP ORF in the third reading frame.

All components of the genomes, the ORFs and untranslated regions, vary in length. For example, among the ORFs, the OPs are the most variable, whereas, of the intergenic regions, that between the RP and VP genes varies from +14 to -20 nucleotides in length; it is fourteen and four nucleotides long in TYMV and EMV respectively, whereas in ELV and KYMV-JB there is no intergenic region and in OYMV-Tin the RP gene overlaps that of the VP by twenty nucleotides (Table 4).

GENOMIC REGIONS

Comparisons of the different regions of the genomes of the tymoviruses were made using various techniques. These analyses are reported here, starting at the 5'termini of the genomes; analyses that involved comparisons with non-tymoviral sequences (e.g. promoter regions) are discussed in Chapter 5.

The 5'non-coding region

The 5'non-coding regions of tymoviral genomes have a smaller guanine content (8.3-12.9%) than the remainder of the genome (15.1-16.8%), and a slightly smaller cytosine content (24.4-30.2% compared with 34.6-39.4%).

The sequences of the 5'-terminal regions of ELV, TYMV-CL, KYMV-JB, EMV-Trin and OYMV-Tin were examined using the SQUIGGLES program of the GCG package and also by eye. They formed structures with 2, 1, 2, 3, and 4 stem-loops (Figure 14a, b), and these had free energies of ΔG -14.5, -13.5, -12.9, -14.6 and -23.0 kcal/mol, respectively (Zuker and Stiegler, 1981). It has been reported previously that the two stem-loops of OYMV have similar sequences and may have arisen by duplication (Ding *et al.*, 1989). The two stem-loops of ELV may also have a similar history as the base-paired parts of the first loop (nucleotides 17-45) and the second loop (nucleotides 52-106) have similar sequences. However there is no obvious shared feature, neither of a sequence motif in these regions, which might act as a signal for ribosomal binding to the 5' side of the initiation codon AUG of the first ORF, nor of a pseudoknot structure which is required for efficient ribosomal frameshifting signal at the junction of two overlapping openreading frames.

Proteins Encoded by Tymoviruses

Tymovirus genomes encode three proteins. The OP ranges in size from M_r 48.6-82.1K, the RP from 193.8-206.5K and the VP from 19.5-21.5K respectively; a ratio of size differences of, approximately, 3:9:1 with the OPs varying the most (Figure 13).

Figure 13. Comparison of the genomic organizations of ELV and the other four tymoviruses. The three ORFs are drawn as rectangles with the similarity of the regions of amino acid sequence of the gene products indicated by shading. Also indicated are the nucleotide positions of the start, read-through and stop codons; and the size (molecular weight) of each polyprotein, the cap structure, VP = virion protein, N = NTP-binding site and P = RNA polymerase site. The conserved regions correspond to the regions aligned by the progessive alignment method of Feng and Doolittle (1987) and shown in Figure 19.







	ELV	EMV-Trin	KYMV-JB	OYMV-Tin	TYMV-CL
Total length	6034	6330	6362	6212	6320
Base compositio	on (% moles)				
Guanine (G)	16.2	15.6	15.1	15.6	16.8
Adenine (A)	23.7	21.1	22.5	21.4	23.1
Uracil (U)	25.5	24.7	23.0	28.1	21.7
Cytosine (C)	34.6	38.5	39.4	34.8	38.4
Non-coding regi	ons				
Total portion	(%) 2.9	3.7	2.6	5.1	3.1
5'terminus					
size	96	101	78	172	88
۶G	8.3	12.9	12.8	12.8	11.4
%A	26.0	26.7	30.8	15.1	29.5
%U	37.5	30.7	32.0	41.9	29.5
%C	28.1	29.7	24.4	30.2	29.5
3'terminus					27.0
size	79	132	85	147	106
%G	20.5	18.9	24.7	25.2	22.6
%A	21.8	15.9	20.0	21 1	21 7
%U	24.4	22.0	16 5	23.8	24 5
*C	33.3	43.2	38 8	29.0	21.5
Intergenic	*	4	0	*	14
Coding regions					
OP				-	
size	1323	1950	2262	1794	1887
position	97-1419	102-2051	79-2340	172-1965	89-1975
stop codon	(UGA)	(UGA)	(UGA)	(UAG)	(UGA)
%G	16.2	14.7	14.1	15.1	17.6
%A	25.2	20.6	22.2	21.2	21.6
8U	23.5	24.4	21.4	26.6	20.7
%C	35.1	40.3	42.3	37.1	40.1
RP					
size	5247	5520	5625	5331	5535
position	103-5350	109-5628	86-5710	179-5509	96-5630
stop codon	(UGA)	(UAG)	(UAG)	(UAA)	(UAG)
%G	16.4	15.5	15.0	15.7	16.8
&A	23.7	21.0	22.6	21.9	23.3
8U	25.6	25.0	23.0	27 4	21 5
%C	34.3	38.5	39.4	35 0	38 6
VP		0010		50.0	50.0
size	606	567	567	579	570
position	5347-5955	5633-6199	5711-6277	5487-6065	5645-6210
stop codop			(IICA)	(IICA)	(1122)
%G	15 1	16.9	14 5	14 0	16 1
<u>8</u> Δ	23 7	22.2	21.0	20.2	22.0
%II	22.9	22.2	22.2	20.2	23.0
\$C	30 1	20.0	12.0	30.9	20.2
	50.4	50.0	14.5	54.9	39.3

 Table 4. Nucleotide composition of tymovirus-genomic RNA.

* RP overlaps with VP.

Figure 14. Sequence alignment of the 5'-termini of five tymoviral genomes and their potential secondary structures. These sequences are those of ELV, EMV-Trin, KYMV-JB, OYMV-Tin and TYMV-CL. The structures in (A) were computed and drawn by the SQUIGGLES program and those in (B) by close inspection and by analogy.



Sequence alignment of non-coding 5'termini of five tymoviral RNAs.

ELV	95
EMV-Trin	GAAAAUUAUUUCAAU
KYMV-JB	GUAAUCAGAACCAGAACUAACC
OYMV-Tin	GUAAUUUUUUGCCAGUUCAACCCUUUCGAGCCUUCAACUUUACCUUUACCUUUUACUUUUUUUU
TYMV-CL	CONTRACTOR CONTRA
	CHDAUCAAC

96

CAGAAAACUCUUUCAUAGACUUGUUUUCUUCCUUCCCACCCCCUCUAAACCUCUUUAUCCAAGAUCUCGUUUAGAUUUAUGGCCAAUGGCUUU 191 CUGUUAUCAGCCUUAGUUCUUUUACUUUCCUGUCCAAAUUUCUGAACCGACUAGUGCCUUCCUAGAAC.CCACUACGUCAAUGCCUCAUGGCCUU . GUAACAUUACCAGAUCAGCCCUCUUAACAGACAACUGAUCUUUCCUCCAAUUAAUCUGUCAUCUAGUUUGUGAAAACUGAUGUCAAAUGGCUUU UUGAACACUCCCUCCUAGAGCCAGUGUUCUUUUUUUUCCCUUCUUUAAUUCACACCCUUUCGA.....GCCUGUGAAUUCAUGUCUAAUGGCCUU UACCAAUUCCAGCUCUCUUUUGACA.ACUGGUCUUAUACCAACUUUCCGUACACUUGCAACCCUCGUAAGACAAUUGCAAAUGAGUAAUGGCCUU

Secondary structures of non-coding 5'termini of tymoviruses.







	υC		
	A C	σ	
СА	U - A	СА	
σσ	U-λ	C - G	
U - A	C - G	U - A	
C - G	U - A	U - A	U - G
υ – λ	U	СС	G A
С	СС	СС	U - λ
С О	σσ	G - C	U - A
σσ	C C FINEDALA	U-A FANA TELE DALA	U - A
C – G	C-G ELV RNA	G-C EMV-Irin RNA	G - C
λ – υ	λ - Ο	λ - υ	λ - υ
λ - υ	λ-υ	U - A	υ
λ - υ	λ - υ	С	C – G
λ - υ	U - A	C - G	U- λ
G - C	C - G	U - λ	A - U
5' A – U	U - A 3'	5' G-C 3'	C - G
AUUUCAAUC UCCUUCC	CACCCCC UUUAUGGCCAAUG	GAACC AAUGCCUCAUG	5'- 0 C 0 G 0
9	106	66 111	55

Λ	G	=	-5	3	kcal	1/	mo	
	u			· •	nua	11	IIIV	

 $\Delta G = -4.8 \text{ kcal/mol}$

 $\Delta G = -3.2 \text{ kcal/mol}$

	σ	UC	
υc	СА	C G	T A
U G	C - G	U - A	G
υ - λ	с U- А	C - G	C - G
C-G U	G C-G	СС	Π-λ
с с с	G C C	СС	C C
СС О	с с с	λ - υ	СА
λ-Ū C	C U - A	c-g OYMV-Tin RN.	A C A TYMV-CL R
A - U (3 - C C - G	λ - υ	λ-U
C - G (C - G A - U	C - G .	A – U
υ – λ τ	U - A C - G	U - A	C - G
υ – λ τ	U-A A-U	υ-λ	G-C
G - C (C - G A - U	λ - υ	U - A
5' A -U 3'5' A	A-U G-C 3'	5' A-U 3'	5' U-A 3'
UUGCC UUACC CCUUUG	υσοςςοο σοσοο	UCUUU CAUGUCUAAUG	UACAC AUGAGUAAUG
9 44 64	130	138 181	58 98
$\Delta G = -4.4 \text{ kcal/mol}$	$\Delta G = -7.0 \text{ kcal/mol}$	$\Delta G = -5.3 \text{ kcal/mol}$	$\Delta G = -3.7 \text{ kcal/mol}$

B

KYMV-JB RNA

3' UCAAAUG 82

RNA

The sizes, compositions, net charges and predicted isoelectric points of the 3 sets of proteins are summarized in Table 5. It can be seen that the OPs are the most basic of the proteins and have isoelectric points in the range pH 10.9-11.9 whereas the isoelectric points of the others are in the more usual pH range of 5.6-9.6. Isoelectric points are calculated from the proportion and type of charged amino acids in the protein, thus the basic nature of the OPs reflects the relatively large proportion of basic amino acids (Arg, Lys and His) compared with acidic amino acids (Tyr, Cys, Glu and Asp) in those proteins (Table 5, Figure 15).

a) The Overlapping Proteins (OP)

As noted above, the tymoviral OPs, and the ORFs that encode them, vary much more in size than the RPs and VPs; the OPs range from M_r 48.5-82K (ratio=1:1.7), the RPs from M_r 194-210K (ratio=1:1.1), and VPs from M_r 19.6-21.5K (ratio=1:1.1) (Figure 13). ELV has the smallest OP and RP, but the biggest VP, whereas KYMV-JB has the biggest OP and RP, but the smallest VP, thus there is no correlation between the relative sizes of the different proteins of each tymovirus.

Despite their size variation, the OP ORFs all start 7 nucleotides to the 5'-side of the start of the RP ORFs, thus the size variation reflects the variability in the position of their termination codons. A major consequence of the relative positions of the start codons of the OP and RP is that the large number of cytosine residues found in the 3rd positions of the RP ORF (Table 4, 6) are in the 1st codon positions of all OP ORFs. Whereas the degeneracy of the genetic code ensures that a bias towards cytosine in 3rd codon positions will have only a limited effect on the encoded amino acids, a similar nucleotide bias in 1st codon positions will have a very great effect on the amino acids encoded. This could account for the large amounts of the basic amino acids, arginine (CGN) and histidine (CAPy), and also of proline (CCN) and leucine (CUN) in the OPs (Table 5); the relative proportions of amino acids in ELV proteins is close to those of TYMV-CL proteins, and the amino acid composition of those have been discussed by

Keese et al. (1989)

The OP sequences were aligned (Figure 16) by the progressive alignment method of Feng and Doolittle (1987), and pairwise comparisons of the aligned sequences showed they have a % identity varying from 25.7% to 33.5%. Most of the conserved residues are found in the N-terminal region (from 1 to 380 residues), and the C-

		ELV		EM	V-Trin			KYMV-JB		01	YMV-Tin	1		TYMV-C	L
	OP	RP	VP	OP	RP	VP	OP	RP	VP	OP	RP	VP	OP	RP	VP
Amino acid residues	440	1747	202	649	1839	188	750	2262	188	597	1776	192	627	1844	189
Molecular weight	48596 1	93806 2	1482	70250 20	04730 1	9769	82130 2	10027 1	9601	66073 1	98126 2	20466	69097	206508	20152
Isoelectric point	11.2	7.9	9.1	10.9	8.4	8.3	11.9	9.6	9.1	11.7	7.9	7.3	11.9	7.9	5.
Net charge	28	6	1	35	19	2	52	30	-2	46	8	0	34	4	-3
Amino acid compositio	on														
A = Ala	18	121	14	39	112	25	37	105	20	18	106	9	28	115	14
C = Cys	10	29	0	21	34	3	8	22	3	19	35	2	20	22	4
D = Asp	10	80	5	25	65	5	17	75	5	13	65	7	29	90	7
E = Glu	18	59	6	8	55	4	20	54	3	14	65	5	17	61	6
F = Phe	12	82	7	24	85	6	21	100	3	25	98	5	14	82	6
G = Gly	21	61	10	16	57	7	25	62	8	23	68	8	30	61	8
H = His	20	68	4	34	93	3	39	90	4	40	83	2	35	93	
I = Ile	12	68	8	13	84	13	16	80	15	14	91	15	20	85	16
K = Lys	15	72	7	17	60	7	24	77	5	19	72	5	11	61	7
L = Leu	50	235	22	75	261	19	82	248	21	67	220	21	64	229	16
M = Met	1	21	4	2	19	3	1	28	3	6	28	3	3	25	4
N = Asn	20	71	6	15	74	10	20	80	8	18	68	7	13	62	4
P = Pro	55	157	20	108	204	17	161	214	16	82	171	21	121	194	20
Q = Gln	27	76	15	26	78	9	40	92	8	30	60	11	23	80	8
R = Arg	41	73	5	51	79	4	65	82	1	54	66	7	69	94	3
S = Ser	68	219	28	108	209	20	101	199	23	114	206	34	74	198	17
$\mathbf{T} = \mathbf{Thr}$	19	116	21	40	120	21	43	123	25	18	109	11	44	140	27
V = Val	17	66	16	23	77	7	21	74	10	19	86	15	21	74	14
W = Trp	1	19	1	0	20	1	3	24	1	3	25	1	3	25	2
f = Tyr	5	55	3	4	53	4	6	45	6	1	54	3	6	53	3
Mole percent of the o	charge gr	oup													
H+K+R (basic)	17.273 1	2.192 7	.921	15.716 12	2.616 7	. 447	17.067 1	3.287 9	.042	18.928 12	2.444 7	.292	18.341	13.449	6.878
D+C+E+Y (acid)	9.773 1	2.758 6	.931	8.937 11	1.256 8	.511	6.801 1	0.459 5	.319	7.874 12	2.332 8	.855	8.612	12.256	10.581

Table 5. Amino acid composition of tymovirus-encoded proteins (OP, RP, and VP).

	ELV			ENV-	Tin		KYMV-JB				OYMV-Tr	TYMV-CL			
Position	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3
Whole gend	me														
G	308	419	254	406	277	306	286	42.4	248	261	421	291	268	360	433
A	419	468	543	442	547	348	353	511	569	330	475	526	553	426	483
T	533	468	535	469	584	513	434	432	597	626	520	602	551	37.3	446
c	752	656	679	794	702	943	1048	754	706	854	655	651	735	948	744
OP															
G	84	85	45	112	108	66	121	117	80	88	119	63	133	129	69
A	90	115	127	119	130	152	137	167	197	104	135	140	121	131	155
Т	96	91	122	143	136	195	128	141	215	151	130	195	90	124	175
С	170	148	146	275	275	236	367	328	261	254	213	199	284	244	229
RP															
G	388	227	248	366	213	275	370	219	254	390	227	219	401	233	296
A	412	481	350	395	478	286	437	513	318	421	467	275	431	500	343
T	389	472	480	404	526	446	382	530	384	409	523	531	371	495	325
С	559	568	670	674	622	832	685	612	918	556	559	751	641	616	880
VP															
G	51	22	19	48	18	29	46	16	19	44	20	16	49	18	25
A	52	46	44	58	42	24	59	39	21	44	40	32	59	38	32
T	33	57	48	32	48	45	35	52	37	43	59	76	33	55	34
С	66	77	91	50	80	90	48	81 '	111	61	73	68	48	78	98

Table 6. Codon usage of five tymoviral genomes in the term of open reading frames.

Figure 15. Graphs comparing the potential isoelectric points (I.E.P.) of the OP, RP and VP encoded by the ELV genome. The isoelectric point, is calculated from amino acid composition; the numbers of amino acids relevant to the calculation are given below each graph.





Erysimum latent tymovirus

R73 K72 H68 Y55 C29 E59 D80

R41 K15 H20 Y5 C10 E18 D10

R5 K7 H4 Y3 E6 D5

Figure 16. Alignment of encoded overlapping proteins of five tymoviruses: ELV, EMV-Trin, KYMV-JB, OYMV-Tin and TYMV-CL by the progressive alignment method of Feng and Doolittle (1987) and PRETTY program.

		1 80
ELV	48K	MANGFSTSPRRPILHHSPRFNLGSSSRLFCESTPIFIGTIPLHCPKGTCPPAQSHGHSSLRTNLNSSPPRCPQNPGTEPS
EMV-Trin	70K	MPHGLSVCSRSSQLNYSQRCFYKSNSELRRGTSPRLSIPISLAPSQRSRSPPSILGHPELRPRSHSPPPPNPQNSRDFSP
KYMV-JB	82K	MSNGFPTSSRCSSVDFTQGPLLAPSPRVGSRLLNGLPPNLPLDGPTRPPTLPSQIGNPDQLLRKFPPPPPSAQDAGNPPT
OYMV-Tin	66K	MSNGLRTSFERISLFHPQGFISESSAEFCCSAPSNLSPKFPMDHWERTSSFSPRCRHPDLRVRLOSSPPRGPOSDRNLPS
TYMV-CL	69K	MSNGLP IS IGRPCTHDSQRSLSAPDSRIHSGFNSLLDTDLPMVHSEGTSTP TOLLRHPNIWFGNLPPPPRRPODNRDFSP
Consensu		MGLPPO
		81 160
ELV	48K	LQPLGKVLQCGLSRGLHETLKVLQTPREELPLQISSQLPTSPSRLQSVPTSOHKPAYREAILHPRLPDVFYAAPNLRFVR
EMV-Trin	70K	VQSLACSRSPAFNCDVHETVQVSKTCGSKPKIPRVDQLSTHCRRHHSLPLHLTHFSKOFNLLHARCSDVLFSSSDBRSLH
KYMV-JB	82K	LHPLDASLHPAFICPLHEASKIHEAPKEEOVLPTSPOLPPDSHRFSAFSFNLSPPPKHPFRVHARCSDVLPTRTDPSSVS
OYMV-Tin	66K	LOPLELHGDRPGLCDVHETLOVOKIGLROSKLLRTSKLPSHRGRFRSTPLHLHLSSEVRNRFHARCPDVLOPLSDTRPLH
TYMV-CL	69K	LHPLVFPGHHSOLRHVHETOOVOOTCPGKLKLSGAEELPPAPOROHSLPLHTTRPSREPHHEHARRPDVI PSVPDHCPVI
Consensu		
		161 240
ELV	48K	KLPKPSOSVROPRRSSRKLNDRLVSKPRSVSVLNPOVDSPLHTRRALSROLOSARORPRLAENI CDDNSTDEDVDVDCT
EMV-Trin	70K	SVSRTRDPVLOSHSASRVSFHRSLSLPRDLHLODLRSDSPLHPGESPLRLVOSAPPSPTLAEDELUDLAEDEVCDOACT
KYMV-JB	82K	PSSAVDOPILLSCOPTRIPL HPPL PHARPLHI HPFRSNPPI HPRCTI PRETODAUNSPI I AENOLUDI DKOODI UUNSCI
OYMV-Tin	66K	SVPLSSEAPLOSSCSPRKLIHRPLSPPKPLHIHNEROHSSLCSPRSPCPKIPPPPCNOLAOAOOUPLPSSKAPLCLOAOT
TYMV-CL	69K	TETKPRTSVROPRSATRGPSERPTLLPKI//HUHDDPHSSIRPRGSPSPOLOPT//PDFLLPSSKPLSLQAQI
Consensu	R STE	
Compendation		х
		241 320
FLV	4.8K	
EMV-Trin	70K	
KYMU-TP	82K	
OVMU-Tin	GEV	LGISFFHIDIRKSPPPRSEAASSQSSSILPLPRPGNRPGVLPGPKVRGAPSSNLP
TYMU-TIN	COV	
Conconcil	DAK	LGPRPLAPHSIRDPPPRITPGPSNTHDLRPLSVLPRTSPRRGLLPNPRRHRTSTGHIP
consensus		TGbTT
		221
DIV	1012	400
ELV ENGI Mada	TOK	GRESQAPSCASENLRRPLHLHSSNPNSPHERSRWIRKNSVKQARVQLGHISSLGQSPNLRPLD
EMV-IFIN	TUR	APTSPPPASANKRLQRSLHLHSRSPHSSHFRPSRICANSKQQTRARLGHSKRVGQSADLVCQCPPP
KIMV-JB	82K	LPTPQAPPRARERLQKSLHLHASRQNAPRLRPRRLRSDP1QQTRTQVGHPQCVGQPTNLRAAQLPSPTKRGVPRSPQPTP
OIMV-Tin	66K	SSTSSSSPRSNRGVRCSVHLHKSRSNSQDLRSCRVRSNSLQQTPILMGHFKSLGQSPNLRSFERPRPTR
TYMV-CL	69K	PTTTSRPTGPPSRLQRPVHLYQSSPHTPNFRPSSIRKDALLQTGPRLGHLERLGQPANLRTSERSPPTKRRLPRSSEPNR
Consensus	8	GQGQ
		401
	4.0	401 480
ELV	48K	SLLQASRVLHATSVSSYKTQGASHEECFKTRSDGITSSHSGHLHHNDR.VEHQLQQGPL
EMV-Trin	70K	PPSMLPLLLLPRGKVKAPLRPTLASLSFGSHPIPYHVTSSPP
KYMV-JB	82K	ENEAVLLTALAPPRRHSRSWPLLPFPPSSLPEVVFASSKGKVHLRLSTQPPSSPQTSSSPPPPSPRTDSGIQTPLAS.PP
OYMV-Tin	66K	
TYMV-CL	69K	LPKPLPEATLAPSYRHRRPYPLLPNPPAALPSIAYTSSRGKIHHSLPKGALPKEGAPPPPRRLPSP
Consensus		***************************************
		481 560
ELV	48K	LQCSQDSLAEPTYRPGTPSLPNFCIAAKELSSTQPS
EMV-Trin	70K	LIQFOHPFPPPSATFSVSPLGVLTTAFALNPTQSAERSCDPFSPTPTLGHKTTSLSRLPLPPPHSPHSAQ
KYMV-JB	82K	SKRKEKSLPHPSHQPPSHSKRNLRRHSALPLLLPIHPTKTTQPH.PAVPQPTAGPTPHPPPTKKIPLHPPKSQE
OYMV-Tin	66K	SKRVSLPN.SVLHHDRPKRPI.HFGSFPIMVAPSHLLPRKLWSRASSPPTCSPTTSNHGHPEEALRFLPKNL
TYMV-CL	69K	APRPQLPLRDLGRTPGFP.TPPKTPTRTPESRITASPTDIAPLDSDPVLSVRTEVHAPE
Consensus		

		561 640
ELV	48K	*****
EMV-Trin	70K	DRASALATDVSNSETKNCPSPTVPPPFLPNHLHPLLPGTDPPTTPROLSPSPSSLSLRTFLDSAVISCDSS
KYMV-JB	82K	RHPSPPPDVFHDCQPSSPTSHVVGYRRLLGSGISLPFKLAFWRRRSPNPARHLPPPPPPRKLHSELDSNSLSRSSSFSLS
OYMV-Tin	66K	POHCOMALMENYCSHFSSPSSSVSFPEDHOSSL
TYMV-CL	69K	RRTFMDPEALRSALASLPSPPRSVGIIHTAPOTVLPANPPSPTRHLPPTSPPWILOSPVGEDAIVDSEDDSIS
Consensus	5	

		641	720
ELV	48K	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	
EMV-Trin	70K	PVLPPSPSPSSHSSSSFQSCTSPPRFPCYPPPPSALDLLFSS	TPG
KYMV-JB	82K	PLCSLPPSPSPSEQLPTVSAPPTPSPIAPTPLPGSRHPSPIRPTNPRRTTPCSSNHRTOTREFOPKOPOPKLLGRFK	PPT
OYMV-Tin	66K	SPQSHSSESLRGDSPPSSHLPSSPSSACSGDSFASCSSFGPSNPTSASSALGGNHFNFSFFS	
TYMV-CL	69K	SFHS.HDFDSPSGPLRSQSPSRFRLHLRSPSTSSGIEPWSPASYDYGSAPDTD	
Consensus	3		
		721 784	
ELV	48K		
EMV-Trin	70K	TDPFPPPDTPPPHKRTIALERLRLRQCATPFHSCDDVC	
KYMV-JB	82K	EEFLQRQSPRSQQTYAYLLKYYTPQPPSPIR.IDSLTLSERWAAELFRSPSPSRSYQHHPFSSP	
OYMV-Tin	66K		
TYMV-CL	69K		
Consensus			

* Progressive alignment: Feng and Doolittle, 1987)
Gap penalty = 8
Length with gaps = 781
Actual sequence lengths: 750, 627, 649, 597, 440,

Percent identity (based on aligned regions): KYMV TYMV EMV OYMV TYMV 32.10

EMV	28.34	28.97		
OYMV	26.49	28.10	33.50	
ELV	25.74	28.86	27.69	29.93

Distan	ce score	s for p	phylogenet	ic tree:
	EMV	OYMV	KYMV	TYMV
OYMV	117.55			
KYMV	138.99	156.67		
TYMV	130.07	140.00	118.52	
ELV	166.85	154.21	183.65	155.73



Figure 17. Graph showing the variability at each position of the aligned amino acid sequences of the OPs of five tymoviruses; ELV, EMV-Trin, KYMV-JB, OYMV-Tin and TYMV-CL.



Tennalnal requestors show little similarly. This week continued by tentmatic p the residues at each president of the sherned promines by the 10227270 program, which calculates for each residence a variability index, that is analogous to the class cal

Mariability why 5 Pr







terminal sequences show little similarity. This was confirmed by estimating the variation at each position of the aligned proteins by the HETZYG program, which calculates for each position a variability index, that is analogous to the classical 'heterozygosity index', using the formula:

Variability =
$${}^{1}_{21} \Sigma P^2$$

where P is the proportion of each of the 21 amino acids at that position; a gap is considered as the 21st amino acid. Figure 17 is a graph of the variability index for the OPs. It can be seen that the sequences vary throughout their length, but particularly in their N-terminal half.

The progressive alignment program also estimates a 'distance score for phylogenetic tree' between each pair of sequences (Feng *et al.*, 1985). These 'FJD distances' (Feng *et al.*, 1985) estimates were then used to calculate a dendrogram (Figure 25) by the neighbour-joining method (Saito and Nei, 1987; Studier and Keppler, 1988), and it can be seen that the topology of the OP dendrogram is the same as that calculated for the more conserved RP and VP sequences.

The fact that the N-terminal portions of the OPs seem more conserved that the Cterminal parts may indicate that the N-terminal parts of the OPs are more functionally constrained than the C-terminal parts, however this seems unlikely if that function is associated with the basic nature of the OPs because basic amino acid residues are distributed throughout the OPs.

Ding (1989) suggested that the OPs may be membrane binding proteins, however further analysis of their hydrophobicity fails to reveal any consistent pattern of hydrophobicity (data not shown). It seems more likely that, because of their high isoelectric points, they have a histone-like function.

b) The Replicase Proteins (RP)

The largest ORFs of the genomes of the tymoviruses, ELV, EMV-Tin, KYMV-JB, OYMV-Trin and TYMV-CL, have closely similar sequences (identities about 50-56%) and encode proteins of M_r 194K, 205K, 210K, 198K and 206K, respectively. The amino acid sequences of these proteins are also clearly homologous as is shown in dot diagrams (Figure 18).

Figure 18. Dot diagram comparisons of the ELV replicase protein with those of four other tymoviruses. The ELV RP is located on the ordinate, and the RPs of EMV-Trin (A), KYMV-JB (B), OYMV-Tin (C) and TYMV-CL (D) are located on the abscissae. A dot is placed on the plot whenever a window of three amino acids matches exactly in the two sequences; calculated by DOTPLOT.





0y.Rp ck: 2,690, 1 to 1,776

Figure 19 shows the sequences aligned by the progressive alignment method, together with a graph of the variability indices (Figure 20) for each position along the sequence. These figures confirm the dot diagram analyses, and show that there are three major regions of close sequence similarity, which are around positions 1-450, 1000-1250 and especially 1450-1850. These correspond to the same regions of sequence conservation noted by Rozanov *et al.* (1990) and are marked I, II and III on Figure 20. They also show one major and several minor regions of dissimilarity, including some where parts of the sequence have been lost or gained, thus confirming the gaps and diagonal shifts in the dot diagrams (Figure 18).

The conserved regions shown in Figure 20 (I, II and III; from N- to C-terminus) have short sequences, or motifs, that show similarity to sequences of known or likely function in other proteins. The region III contains the classical sequence motif -Gly-Asp-Asp- (-GDD-), which is found in the replicase proteins (RPs) of all virus genomes, and was one of the first motifs to be described (Kamer and Argos, 1984; Goldbach and Wellink, 1988; Gorbalenya *et al.*, 1989a, b). The B regions have the well-known motif -Gly-X-X-Gly-X-Gly-Cys-Gly-Lys-Thr/Ser- (-GXXGXGCGK[T/S]-), that is characteristic of many NTP-utilizing enzymes, and is found in some, but not all, viral RPs (Gorbalenya *et al.*, 1989b). Of the three conserved regions, the region I shows least similarity although those of different tymoviruses are unequivocally related, and they show some distant similarities to motifs with methyltransferase activity in alphaviruses (Mi *et al.*, 1989; Candresse *et al.*, 1990). The relationships of these motifs to those in non-tymoviral proteins are discussed in detail in Chapter 5.

Each RP sequence was divided into three regions, A, B and C (Figure 26). Separate classifications of each region were calculated, as before, by the progressive alignment and neighbour-joining tree methods, and represented as dendrograms. The three dendrograms (data not shown) had the same topology, although their mean branch lengths differed; the A regions had a mean identity of 48.6%, the B regions 44.7% and the C regions 60.0%. This analysis indicates that the three regions of the

RP proteins of these five tymoviruses have probably co-evolved during the divergence of the tymoviruses, and there is no evidence of genetic recombination in this gene. **Figure 19.** Alignment of encoded replicase proteins of five tymoviruses, ELV, EMV-Trin, KYMV-JB, OYMV-Tin and TYMV-CL, by the progressive alignment method of Feng and Doolittle (1987) and PRETTY program.

		1 80
ELV	194K	MAFQLALDALSSTTHRDSISAPLLDSSVSQLQSSLELFPYTVPKELVPQLNRMGIQVSGLTSTPHPHAAHKTLELNLLFN
EMV-Trin	205K	MAFQSALEALNSTTHRDASTNPILNSVVEPLRDSLSLYPWLLPKEAVPHLLSWGIPNSGLGVTPHPHPIHKTVETFLLFN
KYMV-JB	210K	MAFOLALDALASTSHKDPSLHPVLESVHDSLTDSLOTYPWMVPODLOPFLLKSGTPINSEGSSPHPHPAHKTLETHILET
OVMU-Tin	1001	MARY AN AND ASSTURDED AND A NOAD OTH ANALY OF THE ANALY AND THE ANALY AN
OIMV-III	TOOL	MATELALMALASSINCOLOSSI INTERCICASSINCOLOSS
TYMV-CL	206K	MAFQLALDALAPTTHRDPSLHPILESTVDSIRSSIQTYPWSIPKELLPLLNSYGIPTSGLGTSHHPHAAHKTIETFLLCT
Consensu	8	MAFAL-ALH-DP-L-SSYPWEP-LGILHPHHKELL
		81
FIN	19/16	HWAKSCNUDSAUTEMEDSKEEKI OEKNSUEKSI UNVDI UDUDSNDVDUDSTSI DTEKDEVIUDSI MVETDUOISSI DISS
	DOEN	INWARSON VDSAV VPERE SATE ALIGERAISHE ASLAN TALAP ADSINCT APSISLPTEARE THOSLATE TPHOTSGLEESC
EMV-Trin	ZUSK	HWHALARLPSTVMEMRPSKEQKLAALNPKEQELINERLTAADTTRYPSTSLTEPSNSICEMHDALMYFSPAQIVDLFTQS
KYMV-JB	210K	HWMHLCTQPSSVLFMKPQKFMKLQRKNKFFQHLHNYRLTPTDSVRFPSTSPHLPNTPFVFMHDALMYYQPEQILHLFHQV
OYMV-Tin	198K	HWSFMATVQASVMFMKPSKFKKLASVNPNFSELVNYRLTAADSVRYPSTSTSLPKYEIVFMHDALMYFNPSQILDLFIQC
TYMV-CL	206K	HWSFQATTPSSVMFMKPSKFNKLAQVNSNFRELKNYRLHPNDSTRYPFTSPDLPVFPTIFMHDALMYYHPSOIMDLFLOK
Consensu	6	HWV-FMKP-KF-KLN-F-L-NYRLD-RYP-SLPF-HD-LMYF-P-OT-LF
		1.61
		161 240
ELV	194K	PNLLSLYASLVVPPESSMTDLSLNPDLYRYSIHKSTLHYTPEGHSAGSYNQPVNALDWLKISAIQTPSLSLSVSVLESWG
EMV-Trin	205K	PALETLYCSLIVPPESHFTDLSLFPEIYTYKISGQTLHYIPENHHSGSYNOPLOALSWLKISSILSPSLALSVTKLESWG
KYMV-JB	210K	POLTNLECSLVTPPESHETHLSLMPDLYTETLKGOTLHYTPEGHSAGSVNOPTTALSWLKTNSTLSPNLNISTTIESWC
OVMU-Tip	1000	DELODI UCEL MODESSETTO I SI UDNI VOVOTSCONTI UVUDECUUACEVDODI DA TEMI VI NETUEDU NI CUEVA DEVIC
	TJOK	FSLQKLHCSLVVFFESSFIDLSLHPNLIIIIISGNILHIVFEGHHAGSIDQFLDAISWLKLNSIHSPHLNLSVSKLESWG
TYMV-CL	206K	PNLERLYASLVVPPEAHLSDQSFFPKLYTYTTTRHTLHYVPEGHEAGSYNQPSDAHSWLRINSIRLGNHHLSVTILESWG
Consensu	B	P-LL-SLV-PPEFSL-PY-YTLHY-PE-HGSY-QPAWLI-LSVLESWG
		241 320
ELV	194K	PLHSILIFERSSO TON PDSOKTKDI ISEOTDONI TI DNDDSI MUDI D
EMU_Dain	2052	
EMV-IIII	2054	EAUSTEIÖKGFEKKESPSYKKEAPHØLEKUIENSÖNÖPPHÖLSÖFEEPÖÖLÖPAPEKIEDCAEPÄÖLEKÖLEK
KYMV-JB	210K	PLHSILIQRGLPLPDPKLLVRSLPPFSRSPDPETDLVSFQVPKSVELPQATFLSQPLR
OYMV-Tin	198K	PVHSLLITRGLPHLPSSEKQQVSFHIPNCLPLPEATFLHQPLR
TYMV-CL	206K	PVHSLLIQRGTPPPDPSLQAPSTPMASDLFRSYOEPRLDVVSFRIPDAIELPOATFLOOPLR
Consensu	3	P-HS-LI-RVSEPI.PI.PI.PI.PI.P
		321
-	1047	400
ELV	194K	HRLVPQKTYDALFTYTRATRTLRTSDPAGFVRTQSNKPEFNWVTSQAWDNLQTYALLTASYRPPVSYTLHRSPLTKLKEL
EMV-Trin	205K	HRLVPTSVYNALFTYTRAVRTLRTSDPAGFVRTQSNKPEHAWVTPNAWDNLQTLS.VNAPHRPQVCYHFFSSPVARLKLH
KYMV-JB	210K	HRLVPESVYNALFTYTRAVRTLRVSDPAGFVRTQSNKPEHKWVTPSAWDNLQTFALLNCPLRPNVVYHVLLNPLOKMKLY
OYMV-Tin	198K	HRLVPTEVYDALFTYTRAVRTLRTSDPAGEVRTHSNKPOYSWVTSRAWDNLOTVALLNAPVRPVVLEDEELSPLKKEOLE
TYMU-CL.	2068	
Concentration	2001	DREVERAVINALE IIIRAVAILAISDEAAF VAMMSSAEDHDWVISNAWDNLQIFALLNVELRENVVIHVLQSEIASLALI
Consensus	5	-RLVPI-ALFTITRA-RTLR-SDPA-FVRS-RPWVTAWDNLQTRP-V-YPL
		401 480
ELV	194K	LTRNALKLAAMASPALT.LAIFTTMTALNTNSSKALSFSALKIHLLNPLTGPE
EMV-Trin	205K	FACHWRAVIIALTPELTTSPILIDIENENTDED IDDIISIEDDSV SSD D ILUSTID
KYMU_TD	2102	
KIMV-0B	ZIUR	F SQHWKKLGVIAAPGLFCLSLLLKSQKWSLPLP.KAKSISVFKKNLLLPPKPHRPPLLPHPEQMLQEFKLPWHRPPPKGK
OIMV-Tin	198K	MSQHINSLVIKALPFLGLIPPLVKLTTLGFPIPSVSHFQILFFTMIGPSGQFILEAFP
TYMV-CL	206K	LRQHWRRLTATAVPILSFLTLLQRFLPLPIPLA.EVKSITAFRRELYRKKAPHHPLDVFHLQQH
Consensu		P-LLLL
		481
FIV	1011	
	TAN	
EMV-Trin	205K	SQLRGAAIPNRPLPLWVTKL.HHFLDSHSLLPTP.PIRPRIELQRLPLMSLIPKPK.
KYMV-JB	210K	RNPFLTLLINLLHIPREICAGIRRYPSYYQSIQPKPLNPIQQFRNQLLAQLH.TLPLPKKFLSILPRARKDIPLLPRMSF
OYMV-Tin	198K	
TYMV-CL	206K	LRNHHSATSAVRPASPPHORI PHALOKANII LIDDIG DILTANDEEDGEOKOMIDNAELON TI

C	P	-1
2	0	
~	\sim	-the

Consensus

ELV194KTSCPSASKQLAPPLTAE.SHSSVNALLRKFLGPNSPQSNLDNYNLHLHPESFTLGWKRRPLLLDSHSSFLP.....EMV-Trin205KIVLPL...LSLL...LSSPTIYIH.FFQAQTPQQLHDNYHLHLHPSRFELSWTLQSYHVTQAQSFLPLLLPAPTQAKYMV-JB210KTTVNLPLQPPMWLAIGASLVPELAFLLSWLSGDVDLQTQHDIYHHHLHPENFTLSWTRTPYLALAPSPFLPYAHSPLPPLOYMV-Tin198KKITAL...ISAL...PAALSVFLK.TISPLSLQSLHDGYNAHLHPSPFNLSWSLETFHVQSPSPFLPLSLTPPSPSTYMV-CL206KKRFALPWQASLVLLS...LSESSVLLHKLFSPPTLQAQHDTYHRHLHPGSYSLQWERTPLSIPRTTAFLPFTPTTSTAPConsensus

 	 -G	113	1	T-TD	 TAWTIV9	 ,

Consensus	8	MFS-AI-LPRLPPHIP
TYMV-CL	206K	GTNGSSAMFSDAFNNSLIIMDRYFPSLFPQLKLITSPLTTRSPKLNGATPSASPTHRSPNFHLPPHIPLSYDR
OYMV-Tin	198K	${\tt GSAGTSYMFSCALTGLPVDmmsAFP.LFHTLPLIHEPIRSRRHRLVAGHTPSLHVPPSNKWPHRLHLPPHIPTSHSK}$
KYMV-JB	210K	GTNNSSDMFSRAIYRQPINLSSSFPRIFHLLPLLNKPISRRSTRLIGSHSPIFHNPRLTNIHLPPHIPTSYSQ
EMV-Trin	205K	NSFGTNYMFSQALCQGTIDLNNVFPHIMPHLPKMYEPIRSRSNRFVAGSLNFRPTTNSRLLSSLTKPTHLPPHIPTNHSL
ELV	194K	SLSGSSRMFSLAYSGQPIHLPDFFPEIVFQLNMITAPLTKRSSSFRSGFQPNISSAPKIPAPPNLPCPPHIPTNYSK
		1281 1360

		1361 1440
ELV	194K	DVIVNNQALYGESLERRLSVLHLPPTRMTLHSDINITAPSSSSFQPSDEPVPSDHTAVYPGFDFFTLAAHFLPAHDPEVK
EMV-Trin	205K	DVLVSNPVLLGETLDPRLEVLHLPPTRLPLHLDLLPTVPSSSSFSSVDHLFPTPISPAICGYTFENLAAFFLPAHDPDLK
KYMV-JB	210K	DFVVSNPIFQGQ.ADPRLDTHFLPPTRLPLQSELLPAQLSQTTKPTDSFTNNTPFTPVYPGENFENLAAFFLPAHDPELK
OYMV-Tin	198K	DVILAHGIVASNAPERRLTTLHLPPTRLPLHFDLESCNPSTVSTSSTSN, SEVPFTHAFLGESFEELAAHFLPAHDPDLK
TYMV-CL	206K	DFVTVNPTLPDOGPETRLDTHFLPPSRLPLHFD, LPPATTPPPISTSVDPPOAKASPVYPGEFFDSLAAFFI DAHDDSTP
Consensu		DE-RLLPP-RL-L-DGFLAD-FLPAUDD
		1441 1520
FLV	1946	ETELKDOTSOOFDWINIDEUTSCOTSSITSABUODCEDETIIDASIUKDIDEDDTAADVOTTDEDEDETIONEUUS
EMU_Trin	2054	EULINDOKSNOEDVI DADEEL SCODSSI LADIUKDASDDELL POSTKKELKEKE TAAP IQIIPSDSELGNCLIKSWCQVY
LINV TD	2000	EVEINDQRSNQFFILDAFFELSCQFSSLLAPIHRPASDFILLPGSIKKKLKFKASSSFISITPSDQLLGQHLFSSLCLAY
RIMV-0B	ZIUR	EVIKRDQISAQFPWFDRPFSLSCQPSSLIAAKHSPSQDPTLLPFS1PKKLRFRKSDNPHVLSAIDVLLGNQLFFNLCKAY
OIMV-TIN	198K	EVTVGDQTSQQFPYLDQPYTLSCQPSSLLAASHKPASDPTLLIFSISKRLRFRASSSPYAFTPNDLILGHLLYTNWCKAF
TYMV-CL	206K	EVLHKDQSSNQFPWFDRPFSLSCQPSSLISAKHAPNHDPTLLPASINKRLRFRPSEAPHQITADDVVLGLQLFHSLCRAY
Consensu	8	EVDQ-S-QFPWLFSCQ-SSLH-PD-TLLSKRLRFRPDLGLFCY
		1521 1600
ELV	194K	RRDPNVRLPFNEALFLECIAVNDYAQLSSKTQATIVANASRSDPDWRHTFVKIFAKSQHKVNDGSIFGPWKACOTLALMH
EMV-Trin	205K	GRNPNSVLPFQPELFSECICINDYAQLSSKTQATIVANHQRSDPDWRLTAVRIFAKAOHKVNDASIFSGWKACOTLALMH
KYMV-JB	210K	RRNPTHVGPFNPALFAECIALNDYAQLSSKTQATLVANHSRSDPDWRHTAVKIFAKSOHKVNDASIFGNWKACOTLALMH
OYMV-Tin	198K	GRCPNSTIPFNPALFAECICLNEYAOLSSKTOATIVSNASRSDPDWRYTVVRIFAKSOHKVNDGSIFGSWKACOTLALMH
TYMV-CL	206K	SROPNITVPFNPELFAECISLNEYAOLSSKTOSTIVANASRSDPDWRHTTVKTFAKAOHKUNDCSTECSWACOTLALMU
Consensu	R	-R-PPFIF-ECINDYAOI.SSKT0-T-V-NPCDDDWD-T-V-TFAKAORKVNDGSTFGSWKACUTLALMH
		KI II ME ECI- NDIRQUSSRIQ-I-V-N-RSDEDWR-I-V-IERR-QHRVND-SIEWRACQTIAIMH
		1601
FIX	1014	
ELV Dein	TAN	DIVILIEGPVRRIGREFDQLERPSHIIIHAGNTPHDLRRWCSKHLE.TSHCTTNDITAFDQSQHGEAVVFEVLKMRRLSI
EMV-IIIN	ZUJK	GIIILVLGPVKKIQRIFDSKDRPPHIYHCGKTPSQLSQWCQTHLS.GSSYIANDYTAFDQSQHGEAVVLECLKMRRLSI
KIMV-JB	ZIUK	DFVILSLGPVKKIQRIFDALDRPPHLYTHCGKSPADLSAWCQTHLT.GQIKLTNDYTAFDQSQHGESVILEALKMKRLSI
OIMV-TIN	198K	DFVILTLGPVKKYQRIIDHYDRPNFIYTHCGKTPSELSAWSHSFLK.GDAYICNDYTSFDQSQHGEAVIFESLKMHRVGI
TYMV-CL	206K	DYVILVLGPVKKYQRIFDNVDRPSHIYSHCGKTPNQLRDWCQEHLTHSTPKIANDYTAFDQSQHGESVVLEALKMKRLNI
Consensu	B	-YVIL-LGPVKKYQRDDRPY-H-GPLWLNDYT-FDQSQHGE-VVLE-LKM-RI
		1681 1760
ELV	194K	PENLISLHVHLKTNVETQFGPLTCMRLTGEPGTYDDNTDYNLAVLNLQYDLRKTPTLVSGDDSYLSGTLSPRSNWPFVKE
EMV-Trin	205K	PDSLIQLHSHLKCSVDTQFGPLTCMRLTGEPGTYDDNSDYNLAVIYSQYSLNGHPILISGDDSVLCGTPPPSPLWPTLKK
KYMV-JB	210K	PSHLIQLHVHLKTNVATQFGPLTCMRLTGEPGTYDDNSDYNLAVIHSQFDMKDIPVMVSGDDSLIDRQPPLAQSWEATKR
OYMV-Tin	198K	PRHLIDLHIYLKTNVSTQFGPLTCMRLTGEPGTYDDNTDYNLAVIFSQYVISDHPIMVSGDDSVICGHPPINPNWPAVEK
TYMV-CL	206K	PSHLIQLHVHLKTNVSTQFGPLTCMRLTGEPGTYDDNTDYNLAVIYSOYDVGSCPIMVSGDDSLTDHPLPTRHDWPSVLK
Consensus	8	PLI-LHLKV-TOFGPLTCMRLTGEPGTYDDN-DYNLAVOYP-MVSGDDSWW
		gi i Modobo w
		1761
FLV	194K	1761 LI HLELKESSLIDGI ECCYVI CEOCCIENELAI EAKIMIAEDECSAEDKI ESYL TEESI CUCI CECLINOL LEGENU VOC
ELV EMV-Trip	194K 205K	1761 LLHLRLKPSSLIDGLFCGYYLGPQGCIRNPLALFAKLMIAEDDGSAFDKLPSYLTEFSIGHGLGDSLWQLLPSDLVLYQS MI HL BEK IERTSHRI ECCYYVSRHCAARNEYAL EAKL MICHDRASL UDKKI SYL SERSTENU ACRIVERAL DOULL DOUL
ELV EMV-Trin	194K 205K	1761 LLHLRLKPSSLIDGLFCGYYLGPQGCIRNPLALFAKLMIAEDDGSAFDKLPSYLTEFSIGHGLGDSLWQLLPSDLVLYQS MLHLRFKIERTSHPLFCGYYVSPHGAARNPYALFAKLMICVDDKSLHDKKLSYLSEFSTGHLAGDLVTSILPSHLLPYQS
ELV EMV-Trin KYMV-JB	194K 205K 210K	1761 LLHLRLKPSSLIDGLFCGYYLGPQGCIRNPLALFAKLMIAEDDGSAFDKLPSYLTEFSIGHGLGDSLWQLLPSDLVLYQS MLHLRFKIERTSHPLFCGYYVSPHGAARNPYALFAKLMICVDDKSLHDKKLSYLSEFSTGHLAGDLVTSILPSHLLPYQS LLHLRFKTEKTTHPLFCGYYTGSAGAIRNPLALFSKLMIAIDDEAIHDRRLSYLTEFSTGHQLGDALWTLLPESTQIYQS
ELV EMV-Trin KYMV-JB OYMV-Tin	194K 205K 210K 198K	1761 LLHLRLKPSSLIDGLFCGYYLGPQGCIRNPLALFAKLMIAEDDGSAFDKLPSYLTEFSIGHGLGDSLWQLLPSDLVLYQS MLHLRFKIERTSHPLFCGYYVSPHGAARNPYALFAKLMICVDDKSLHDKKLSYLSEFSTGHLAGDLVTSILPSHLLPYQS LLHLRFKTEKTTHPLFCGYYTGSAGAIRNPLALFSKLMIAIDDEAIHDRRLSYLTEFSTGHQLGDALWTLLPESTQIYQS LLHLRFKTEETSLPLFCGYYVGPTGCCRNPFALFAKLMISYDKGNLFETLPSYLYEFSIGHRLGDVVRLLFPDHLLKYYS
ELV EMV-Trin KYMV-JB OYMV-Tin TYMV-CL	194K 205K 210K 198K 206K	1761 LLHLRLKPSSLIDGLFCGYYLGPQGCIRNPLALFAKLMIAEDDGSAFDKLPSYLTEFSIGHGLGDSLWQLLPSDLVLYQS MLHLRFKIERTSHPLFCGYYVSPHGAARNPYALFAKLMICVDDKSLHDKKLSYLSEFSTGHLAGDLVTSILPSHLLPYQS LLHLRFKTEKTTHPLFCGYYTGSAGAIRNPLALFSKLMIAIDDEAIHDRRLSYLTEFSTGHQLGDALWTLLPESTQIYQS LLHLRFKTEETSLPLFCGYYVGPTGCCRNPFALFAKLMISYDKGNLFETLPSYLYEFSIGHRLGDVVRLLFPDHLLKYYS RLHLRFKLELTSHPLFCGYYVGPAGCIRNPLALFCKLMIAVDDDALDDRRLSYLTEFTTGHLLGESLWHLLPETHVQYQS
ELV EMV-Trin KYMV-JB OYMV-Tin TYMV-CL Consensus	194K 205K 210K 198K 206K	1761 LLHLRLKPSSLIDGLFCGYYLGPQGCIRNPLALFAKLMIAEDDGSAFDKLPSYLTEFSIGHGLGDSLWQLLPSDLVLYQS MLHLRFKIERTSHPLFCGYYVSPHGAARNPYALFAKLMICVDDKSLHDKKLSYLSEFSTGHLAGDLVTSILPSHLLPYQS LLHLRFKTEKTTHPLFCGYYTGSAGAIRNPLALFSKLMIAIDDEAIHDRRLSYLTEFSTGHQLGDALWTLLPESTQIYQS LLHLRFKTEETSLPLFCGYYVGPTGCCRNPFALFAKLMISYDKGNLFETLPSYLYEFSIGHRLGDVVRLLFPDHLLKYYS RLHLRFKLELTSHPLFCGYYVGPAGCIRNPLALFCKLMIAVDDDALDDRRLSYLTEFTTGHLLGESLWHLLPETHVQYQS -LHLRFKLFCGYYGRNPLALF-KLMIDSYL-EFGHGDLPY-S
ELV EMV-Trin KYMV-JB OYMV-Tin TYMV-CL Consensus	194K 205K 210K 198K 206K	1761 LLHLRLKPSSLIDGLFCGYYLGPQGCIRNPLALFAKLMIAEDDGSAFDKLPSYLTEFSIGHGLGDSLWQLLPSDLVLYQS MLHLRFKIERTSHPLFCGYYVSPHGAARNPYALFAKLMICVDDKSLHDKKLSYLSEFSTGHLAGDLVTSILPSHLLPYQS LLHLRFKTEKTTHPLFCGYYTGSAGAIRNPLALFSKLMIAIDDEAIHDRRLSYLTEFSTGHQLGDALWTLLPESTQIYQS LLHLRFKTEETSLPLFCGYYVGPTGCCRNPFALFAKLMISYDKGNLFETLPSYLYEFSIGHRLGDVVRLLFPDHLLKYYS RLHLRFKLELTSHPLFCGYYVGPAGCIRNPLALFCKLMIAVDDDALDDRRLSYLTEFTTGHLLGESLWHLLPETHVQYQS -LHLRFKLFCGYYGRNPLALF-KLMIDSYL-EFGHGDLPY-S
ELV EMV-Trin KYMV-JB OYMV-Tin TYMV-CL Consensus	194K 205K 210K 198K 206K	1761 LLHLRLKPSSLIDGLFCGYYLGPQGCIRNPLALFAKLMIAEDDGSAFDKLPSYLTEFSIGHGLGDSLWQLLPSDLVLYQS MLHLRFKIERTSHPLFCGYYVSPHGAARNPYALFAKLMICVDDKSLHDKKLSYLSEFSTGHLAGDLVTSILPSHLLPYQS LLHLRFKTEKTTHPLFCGYYTGSAGAIRNPLALFSKLMIAIDDEAIHDRRLSYLTEFSTGHQLGDALWTLLPESTQIYQS LLHLRFKTEETSLPLFCGYYVGPTGCCRNPFALFAKLMISYDKGNLFETLPSYLYEFSIGHRLGDVVRLLFPDHLLKYYS RLHLRFKLELTSHPLFCGYYVGPAGCIRNPLALFCKLMIAVDDDALDDRRLSYLTEFTTGHLLGESLWHLLPETHVQYQS -LHLRFKLFCGYYGRNPLALF-KLMI-DSYL-EFGHGDLPY-S 1841
ELV EMV-Trin KYMV-JB OYMV-Tin TYMV-CL Consensus ELV	194K 205K 210K 198K 206K	1761 LLHLRLKPSSLIDGLFCGYYLGPQGCIRNPLALFAKLMIAEDDGSAFDKLPSYLTEFSIGHGLGDSLWQLLPSDLVLYQS MLHLRFKIERTSHPLFCGYYVSPHGAARNPYALFAKLMICVDDKSLHDKKLSYLSEFSTGHLAGDLVTSILPSHLLPYQS LLHLRFKTEKTTHPLFCGYYTGSAGAIRNPLALFSKLMIAIDDEAIHDRRLSYLTEFSTGHQLGDALWTLLPESTQIYQS LLHLRFKTEETSLPLFCGYYVGPTGCCRNPFALFAKLMISYDKGNLFETLPSYLYEFSIGHRLGDVVRLLFPDHLLKYYS RLHLRFKLELTSHPLFCGYYVGPAGCIRNPLALFCKLMIAVDDDALDDRRLSYLTEFTTGHLLGESLWHLLPETHVQYQS -LHLRFKLFCGYYGRNPLALF-KLMIDSYL-EFGHGDLPY-S 1841 1920 ACFDYFCRKATRSQKILLQPGLVDQETLDKIALSAKFISRPFYSMLSSHARSLISTKFKLDSSLTTLQDPMVEFELL.PF
ELV EMV-Trin KYMV-JB OYMV-Tin TYMV-CL Consensus ELV ELV	194K 205K 210K 198K 206K 194K 205K	1761 LLHLRLKPSSLIDGLFCGYYLGPQGCIRNPLALFAKLMIAEDDGSAFDKLPSYLTEFSIGHGLGDSLWQLLPSDLVLYQS MLHLRFKIERTSHPLFCGYYVSPHGAARNPYALFAKLMICVDDKSLHDKKLSYLSEFSTGHLAGDLVTSILPSHLLPYQS LLHLRFKTEKTTHPLFCGYYTGSAGAIRNPLALFSKLMIAIDDEAIHDRRLSYLTEFSTGHQLGDALWTLLPESTQIYQS LLHLRFKTEETSLPLFCGYYVGPTGCCRNPFALFAKLMISYDKGNLFETLPSYLYEFSIGHRLGDVVRLLFPDHLLKYYS RLHLRFKLELTSHPLFCGYYVGPAGCIRNPLALFCKLMIAVDDDALDDRRLSYLTEFTTGHLLGESLWHLLPETHVQYQS -LHLRFKLFCGYYGRNPLALF-KLMIDSYL-EFGHGDLPY-S 1841 1920 ACFDYFCRKATRSQKILLQPGLVDQETLDKIALSAKFISRPFYSMLSSHARSLISTKFKLDSSLTTLQDPMVEFELL.PF AVHDFFCRNCTPAEKILLSLDPIPESKILQLILKVRWASQAFFSYLPQKARELLVARSSLPSLYSNPKVSQLESELL.PF
ELV EMV-Trin KYMV-JB OYMV-Tin TYMV-CL Consensus ELV EMV-Trin KYMV-JB	194K 205K 210K 198K 206K 194K 205K 210K	1761 1840 LLHLRLKPSSLIDGLFCGYYLGPQGCIRNPLALFAKLMIAEDDGSAFDKLPSYLTEFSIGHGLGDSLWQLLPSDLVLYQS MLHLRFKIERTSHPLFCGYYVSPHGAARNPYALFAKLMICVDDKSLHDKKLSYLSEFSTGHLAGDLVTSILPSHLLPYQS LLHLRFKTEKTTHPLFCGYYTGSAGAIRNPLALFSKLMIAIDDEAIHDRRLSYLTEFSTGHQLGDALWTLLPESTQIYQS RLHLRFKTEETSLPLFCGYYVGPTGCCRNPFALFAKLMISYDKGNLFETLPSYLYEFSIGHRLGDVVRLLFPDHLLKYYS RLHLRFKLELTSHPLFCGYYVGPAGCIRNPLALFCKLMIAVDDDALDDRRLSYLTEFTTGHLLGESLWHLLPETHVQYQS -LHLRFKLFCGYYGRNPLALF-KLMI-DSYL-EFGHGDLPY-S 1841 1920 ACFDYFCRKATRSQKILLQPGLVDQETLDKIALSAKFISRPFYSMLSSHARSLISTKFKLDSSLTTLQDPMVEFELL.PF AVHDFFCRNCTPAEKILLSLDPIPESKILQLILKVRWASQAFFSYLPQKARELLVARSSLPSLYSNPKVSQLESELL.PF ACFDYFCRHSPPHEKALLSSFELPDSVISKISSSTKWLSKNAFYALPSKIRKAVIASRHSSSFPENPDVSOLEFELL.OS
ELV EMV-Trin KYMV-JB OYMV-Tin TYMV-CL Consensus ELV EMV-Trin KYMV-JB OYMV-Tin	194K 205K 210K 198K 206K 194K 205K 210K 198K	1761 1840 LLHLRLKPSSLIDGLFCGYYLGPQGCIRNPLALFAKLMIAEDDGSAFDKLPSYLTEFSIGHGLGDSLWQLLPSDLVLYQS MLHLRFKIERTSHPLFCGYYVSPHGAARNPYALFAKLMICVDDKSLHDKKLSYLSEFSTGHLAGDLVTSILPSHLLPYQS LLHLRFKTEKTTHPLFCGYYTGSAGAIRNPLALFSKLMIAIDDEAIHDRRLSYLTEFSTGHQLGDALWTLLPESTQIYQS LLHLRFKTEETSLPLFCGYYVGPTGCCRNPFALFAKLMISYDKGNLFETLPSYLYEFSIGHRLGDVVRLLFPDHLLKYYS RLHLRFKLELTSHPLFCGYYVGPAGCIRNPLALFCKLMIAVDDDALDDRRLSYLTEFTTGHLLGESLWHLLPETHVQYQS -LHLRFKLFCGYYGRNPLALF-KLMIDSYL-EFGHGDLPY-S 1841 1920 ACFDYFCRKATRSQKILLQPGLVDQETLDKIALSAKFISRPFYSMLSSHARSLISTKFKLDSSLTTLQDPMVEFELL.PF AVHDFFCRNCTPAEKILLSLDPIPESKILQLILKVRWASQAFFSYLPQKARELLVARSSLPSLYSNPKVSQLESELL.PF ACFDYFCRKSPPHEKALLSSFELPDSVISKISSSTKWLSKNAFYALPSKIRKAVIASRHSSSFPENPDVSQLEFELL.QS ACWDLFCRKCTASQKLILSFEPIPPSFFSKLASTSRWVSKVLFSDLPTKIRDMLISSSKLPSYHODPRVOYLESELLTSF
ELV EMV-Trin KYMV-JB OYMV-Tin TYMV-CL Consensus ELV EMV-Trin KYMV-JB OYMV-Tin TYMV-CL	194K 205K 210K 198K 206K 194K 205K 210K 198K 206K	1761 1840 LLHLRFKIERTSHPLFCGYYUSPHGAARNPYALFAKLMIAEDDGSAFDKLPSYLTEFSIGHGLGDSLWQLLPSDLVLYQS MLHLRFKIERTSHPLFCGYYUSPHGAARNPYALFAKLMICVDDKSLHDKKLSYLSEFSTGHLAGDLVTSILPSHLLPYQS LLHLRFKTEETSLPLFCGYYUSPHGAARNPYALFAKLMISYDKGNLFETLPSYLYEFSIGHRLGDVVRLLFPDHLLKYYS RLHLRFKTEETSLPLFCGYYUSPAGCIRNPLALFCKLMIAVDDDALDDRRLSYLTEFTTGHLLGESLWHLLPETHVQYQS -LHLRFKLFCGYYGRNPLALF-KLMIDSYL-EFGHGDLPY-S 1841 1920 ACFDYFCRKATRSQKILLQPGLVDQETLDKIALSAKFISRPFYSMLSSHARSLISTKFKLDSSLTTLQDPMVEFELL.PF AVHDFFCRNCTPAEKILLSLDPIPESKILQLILKVRWASQAFFSYLPQKARELLVARSSLPSLYSNPKVSQLESELL.PF ACFDYFCRKATRSQKLILSFEPIPPSFFSKLASTSRWVSKVLFSDLPTKIRDMLISSSKLPSYHQDPRVQYLESELLTSF ACWDLFCRKCTASQKLILSFEPIPPSFFSKLASTSRWVSKVLFSDLPTKIRDMLISSSKLPSYHQDPRVQYLESELLTSF
ELV EMV-Trin KYMV-JB OYMV-Tin TYMV-CL Consensus ELV EMV-Trin KYMV-JB OYMV-Tin TYMV-CL Consensus	194K 205K 210K 198K 206K	1761 1840 LLHLRFKIERTSHPLFCGYYVSPHGAARNPYALFAKLMIAEDDGSAFDKLPSYLTEFSIGHGLGDSLWQLLPSDLVLYQS MLHLRFKIERTSHPLFCGYYVSPHGAARNPYALFAKLMICVDDKSLHDKKLSYLSEFSTGHLAGDLVTSILPSHLLPYQS LLHLRFKTEETSLPLFCGYYVGPTGCCRNPFALFAKLMISYDKGNLFETLPSYLYEFSIGHRLGDVVRLLFPDHLLKYYS RLHLRFKLELTSHPLFCGYYVGPAGCIRNPLALFSKLMIAVDDDALDDRRLSYLTEFTTGHLLGESLWHLLPETHVQYQS -LHLRFKLFCGYYGRNPLALF-KLMIDSYL-EFGHGDLPY-S 1841 1920 ACFDYFCRKATRSQKILLQPGLVDQETLDKIALSAKFISRPFYSMLSSHARSLISTKFKLDSSLTTLQDPMVEFELL.PF AVHDFFCRNCTPAEKILLSLDPIPESKILQLILKVRWASQAFFSYLPQKARELLVARSSLPSLYSNPKVSQLESELL.PF ACFDYFCRKATRSQKLILSFEPIPPSFFSKLASTSRWVSKVLFSDLPTKIRDMLISSSKLPSYHQDPRVQYLESELLTSF ACWDLFCRKCTASQKLILSFEPIPPSFFSKLASTSRWVSKVLFSDLPTKIRDMLISSSKLPSYHQDPRVQYLESELLTSF ACFDFFCRRCPKHEKMLLDDSTPTLSLLERITSSPRWLTKNAMYLLPAKLRLAITSLSQTQSFPESIEVSHAESELL.HY AD-FCRKLKL
ELV EMV-Trin KYMV-JB OYMV-Tin TYMV-CL Consensus ELV EMV-Trin KYMV-JB OYMV-Tin TYMV-CL Consensus	194K 205K 210K 198K 206K	1761 1840 LHLRLKPSSLIDGLFCGYYLGPQGCIRNPLALFAKLMIAEDDGSAFDKLPSYLTEFSIGHGLGDSLWQLLPSDLVLYQS MLHLRFKIERTSHPLFCGYYVSPHGAARNPYALFAKLMICVDDKSLHDKKLSYLSEFSTGHLAGDLVTSILPSHLLPYQS LLHLRFKTEKTTHPLFCGYYUGPAGARNPYALFAKLMISVDKGNLFETLPSYLYEFSIGHRLGDVRLLFPDHLLKYYS RLHLRFKTEETSLPLFCGYYVGPAGCIRNPLALFSKLMIAIDDEAIHDRRLSYLTEFSTGHQLGDALWTLLPESTQIYQS -LHLRFKLFCGYYGRNPLALF-KLMIAVDDDALDDRRLSYLTEFTTGHLLGESLWHLLPETHVQYQS -LHLRFKLFCGYYGRNPLALF-KLMI-DDSYL-EFGHGDLPY-S 1841 1920 ACFDYFCRKATRSQKILLQPGLVDQETLDKIALSAKFISRPFYSMLSSHARSLISTKFKLDSSLTTLQDPMVEFELL.PF AVHDFFCRNCTPAEKILLSLDPIPESKILQLILKVRWASQAFFSYLPQKARELLVARSSLPSLYSNPKVSQLESELL.PF ACFDYFCRHSPPHEKALLSSFELPDSVISKISSTKWLSKNAFYALPSKIRKAVIASRHSSSFPENPDVSQLEFELL.QS ACWDLFCRKCTASQKLLLSFEPIPPSFFSKLASTSRWVSKVLFSDLPTKIRDMLISSSKLPSYHQDPRVQYLESELLSF ACFDFFCRRCPKHEKMLLDDSTPTLSLLERITSSPRWLTKNAMYLLPAKLRLAITSLSQTQSFPESIEVSHAESELL.HY AD-FCRKLWKK
ELV EMV-Trin KYMV-JB OYMV-Tin TYMV-CL Consensus ELV EMV-Trin KYMV-JB OYMV-Tin TYMV-CL Consensus	194K 205K 210K 198K 206K	1761 1840 LHLRIKVPSSLIDGLFCGYYLGPQGCIRNPLALFAKLMIAEDDGSAFDKLPSYLTEFSIGHGLGDSLWQLLPSDLVLYQS MLHLRFKIERTSHPLFCGYYVSPHGAARNPYALFAKLMICVDDKSLHDKKLSYLSEFSTGHLAGDLVTSILPSHLLPYQS LLHLRFKTEKTTHPLFCGYYGSAGAIRNPLALFSKLMIAIDDEAIHDRRLSYLTEFSTGHQLGDALWTLLPESTQIYQS LLHLRFKTEETSLPLFCGYYVGPAGCIRNPLALFSKLMIAVDDDALDDRLSYLTEFTTGHLLGESLWHLLPETHVQYQS -LHLRFKLFCGYYGRNPLALF-KLMI-DSYL-EFGHGDLPY-S 1841 1920 ACFDYFCRKATRSQKILLQPGLVDQETLDKIALSAKFISRPFYSMLSSHARSLISTKFKLDSSLTTLQDPMVEFELL.PF AVHDFFCRNCTPAEKILLSLDPIPESKILQLILKVRWASQAFFSYLPQKARELLVARSSLPSLYSNPKVSQLESELL.PF ACFDYFCRKSPPHEKALLSSFELPDSVISKISSSTKWLSKNAFYALPSKIRKAVIASRHSSSFPENPDVSQLEFELL.QS ACWDLFCRKCTASQKLILSFEPIPPSFFSKLASTSRWVSKVLFSDLPTKIRDMLISSSKLPSHQDPRVQYLESELLTSF ACFDFFCRRCPKHEKMLLDDSTPTLSLLERITSSPRWLTKNAMYLLPAKLRLAITSLSQTQSFPESIEVSHAESELL.HY AD-FCRKLWKCC
ELV EMV-Trin KYMV-JB OYMV-Tin TYMV-CL Consensus ELV EMV-Trin KYMV-JB OYMV-Tin TYMV-CL Consensus	194K 205K 210K 198K 206K	1761 1840 LLHLRFK IERTSHPLFCGYYLGPQGC IRNPLALFAKLMI AEDDGSAFDKLPSYLTEFS IGHGLGDSLWQLLPSDLVLYQS MLHLRFK IERTSHPLFCGYYVSPHGAARNP YALFAKLMICVDDKSLHDKKLSYLSEFSTGHLAGDLVTS ILPSHLLPYQS LLHLRFKTEKTTHPLFCGYYTGSAGA IRNPLALFSKLMIAIDDEA IHDRRLSYLTEFSTGHQLGDALWTLLPESTQIYQS LLHLRFKTEETSLPLFCGYYVGP TGCCRNPFALFAKLMISYDKGNLFETLPSYLYEFS IGHRLGDVVRLLFPDHLLKYYS RLHLRFKLELTSHPLFCGYYVGP AGC IRNPLALFCKLMIAVDDDALDDRRLSYLTEFTTGHLLGESLWHLLPETHVQYQS -LHLRFKLFCGYYGRNPLALF-KLMIDDSYL-EFGHGDLPY-S 1841 1920 ACFDYFCRKATRSQKILLQPGLVDQETLDKIALSAKFISRPFYSMLSSHARSLISTKFKLDSSLTTLQDPMVEFELL.PF AVHDFFCRNCTPAEKILLSLDP IPESKILQLILKVRWASQAFFSYLPQKARELLVARSSLPSLYSNPKVSQLESELL.PF ACFDYFCRHSPPHEKALLSSFELPDSVISKISSSTKWLSKNAFYALPSKIRKAVIASRHSSSFPENPDVSQLEFELL.QS ACWDLFCRKCTASQKLILSFEP IPPSFFSKLASTSRWVSKVLFSDLPTKIRDMLISSSKLPSYHQDPRVQYLESELLTSF ACFDFFCRRCPKHEKMLLDDSTPTLSLLERITSSPRWLTKNAMYLLPAKLRLAITSLSQTQSFPES IEVSHAESELL.HY A-D-FCRKLWKKL
ELV EMV-Trin KYMV-JB OYMV-Tin TYMV-CL Consensus ELV EMV-Trin KYMV-JB OYMV-Tin TYMV-CL Consensus	194K 205K 210K 198K 206K 194K 205K 210K 198K 206K	1761 1840 LLHLRFK IERTSHP LFCGYYUSPHGAARNP YALFAKLMI AEDDGSAFDKLP SYLTEFS IGHGLGDSLWQLLPSDLVLYQS MLHLRFK IERTSHP LFCGYYUSPHGAARNP YALFAKLMICVDDKSLHDKKLSYLSEFSTGHLAGDLVTSILPSHLLP YQS LLHLRFKTEKTTHP LFCGYYUGPTGCCRNPFALFAKLMISYDKGNLFETLP SYLYEFS IGHRLGDVVRLLFP DHLLKYYS RLHLRFK IEETSLP LFCGYYUGPTGCCRNPFALFAKLMISYDKGNLFETLP SYLYEFS IGHRLGDVVRLLFP DHLLKYYS RLHLRFKLELTSHP LFCGYYUGPAGC IRNPLALFCKLMIAVDDDALDDRRLSYLTEFTTGHLLGESLWHLLPETHVQYQS -LHLRFK LFCGYYGRNPLALF-KLMIDDSYL-EFGHGDLPY-S 1841 1920 ACFD YFCRKATRSQKILLQPGLVDQETLDK IALSAKF ISRPF YSMLSSHARSLISTKFKLDSSLTTLQDPMVEFELL.PF AVHDFFCRNCTP AEKILLSLDP IPESKILQLILKVRWASQAFF SYLP QKARELLVARSSLP SLYSNPKVSQLESELL.PF ACFD YFCRHSPPHEKALLSSFELPDSVISKISSSTKWLSKNAFYALP SKIRKAVIASRHSSSFPENPDVSQLEFELL.QS ACWDLFCRKCTASQKLILSFEP IPPSFFSKLASTSRWVSKVLFSDLPTKIRDMLISSSKLP SYHQDPRVQYLESELLTSF ACFD FFCRRCPKHEKMLLDDSTPTLSLLERITSSPRWLTKNAMYLLP AKLRLAITSLSQTQSFPES IEVSHAESELL.HY AD-FCRKLWRSE-ELL 1921 SNVQ
ELV EMV-Trin KYMV-JB OYMV-Tin TYMV-CL Consensus ELV EMV-Trin TYMV-CL Consensus ELV ELV	194K 205K 210K 198K 206K 194K 205K 210K 198K 206K	1761 1840 LLHLRLKP SSLIDGLFCGYYLGPQGC IRNPLALFAKLMIAEDDGSAFDKLPSYLTEFS IGHGLGDSLWQLLPSDLVLYQS MLHLRFK IERTSHPLFCGYYVSPHGAARNPYALFAKLMICVDDKSLHDKKLSYLSEFSTGHLAGDLVTS ILPSHLLPYQS LLHLRFK TETSHPLFCGYYVGPTGCCRNPFALFAKLMIAIDDEAIHDRRLSYLTEFSTGHQLGDALWTLLPESTQIYQS LLHLRFKTEETSLPLFCGYYVGPAGC IRNPLALFCKLMIAVDDDALDDRLSYLTEFTTGHLLGESLWHLLPETHVQYQS -LHLRFKLELTSHPLFCGYYVGPAGC IRNPLALFCKLMIAVDDDALDDRLSYLTEFTTGHLLGESLWHLLPETHVQYQS -LHLRFKLELTSHPLFCGYYOPAGC IRNPLALFCKLMIAVDDDALDDRLSYLTEFTTGHLLGESLWHLLPETHVQYQS -LHLRFKLELTSHPLFCGYYOPAGC IRNPLALFCKLMIAVDDDALDDRLSYLTEFTTGHLLGESLWHLLPETHVQYQS -LHLRFKLFCGYYGRNPLALF-KLMIDDSYL-EFGHGDLPY-S 1841 1920 ACFDYFCRKATRSQKILLQPGLVDQETLDKIALSAKFISRPFYSMLSSHARSLISTKFKLDSSLTTLQDPMVEFELL.PF AVHDFFCRNCTPAEKILLSLDP IPESKILQLILKVRWASQAFFSYLPQKARELLVARSSLPSLYSNPKVSQLESELL.PF ACFDYFCRHSPPHEKALLSSFELPDSVISKISSSTKWLSKNAFYALPSKIRKAVIASRHSSSFPENPDVSQLEFELL.QS ACWDLFCRKCTASQKLILSFEP IPPSFFSKLASTSRWVSKVLFSDLPTKIRDMLISSSKLPSYHQDPRVQYLESELTSF ACFDFFCRRCPKHEKMLLDDSTPTLSLLER ITSSPRWLTKNAMYLLPAKLRLAITSLSQTQSFPESIEVSHAESELL.HY AD-FCRKLWLRSE-ELL 1921 SNVQ SQ
ELV EMV-Trin KYMV-JB OYMV-Tin TYMV-CL Consensus ELV EMV-Trin KYMV-JB OYMV-Tin TYMV-CL Consensus ELV EMV-Trin KYMV-JB	194K 205K 210K 198K 206K 194K 205K 206K 194K 206K	1761 1840 LLHLRLKPSSLIDGLFCGYYLGPQGCIRNPLALFAKLMIAEDDGSAFDKLPSYLTEFSIGHGLGDSLWQLLPSDLVLYQS MLHLRFKIERTSHPLFCGYYVSPHGAARNPYALFAKLMICVDDKSLHDKKLSYLSEFSTGHLAGDLVTSILPSHLLPYQS LLHLRFKTEKTHPLFCGYYVGPAGGIRNPLALFSKLMIAIDDEAIHDRRLSYLTEFSTGHQLGDALWTLLPESTQIYQS LLHLRFKTEETSLPLFCGYYVGPAGCIRNPLALFCKLMIAVDDDALDDRLSYLTEFTGHLLGESLWHLLPETHVQYQS -LHLRFKLFCGYYGRNPLALF-KLMI-DDSYL-EFGHGDLPY-S 1841 1920 ACFDYFCRKATRSQKILLQPGLVDQETLDKIALSAKFISRPFYSMLSSHARSLISTKFKLDSSLTTLQDPMVEFELL.PF AVHDFFCRNCTPAEKILLSLDP IPESKILQLILKVRWASQAFFSYLPQKARELLVARSSLPSLYSNPKVSQLESELL.PF ACFDYFCRKASPPHEKALLSSFELPOSVISKISSSTKWLSKNAFYALPSKIRKAVIASRHSSSFPENPDVSQLEFELL.QS ACWDLFCRKCTASQKLILSFEP IPPSFFSKLASTSRWVSKVLFSDLPTKIRDMLISSSKLPSYHQDPRVQYLESELLTSF ACFDFFCRRCPKHEKMLLDDSTPTLSLLERITSSPRWLTKNAMYLLPAKLRLAITSLSQTQSFPESIEVSHAESELL.HY AD-FCRKLW
ELV EMV-Trin KYMV-JB OYMV-Tin TYMV-CL Consensus ELV EMV-Trin TYMV-CL Consensus ELV EMV-Trin KYMV-JB OYMV-Tin	194K 205K 210K 198K 206K 194K 205K 206K 194K 205K 205K 210K 198K 205K	1761 1840 LLHLRFKIERTSHPLFCGYYUSPHGAARNPYALFAKLMIAEDDGSAFDKLPSYLTEFSIGHGLGDSLWQLLPSDLVLYQS MLHLRFKIERTSHPLFCGYYUSPHGAARNPYALFAKLMICVDDKSLHDKKLSYLSEFSTGHLAGDLVTSILPSHLLPYQS LLHLRFKTEKTTHPLFCGYYUGPTGCCRNPFALFAKLMISYDKGNLFETLPSYLYEFSIGHRLGDVVRLLFPDHLLKYYS RLHLRFKTEETSLPLFCGYYUGPAGCIRNPLALFSKLMIAIDDEAIHDRRLSYLTEFTTGHLLGESLWHLLPETHVQYQS -LHLRFKTELTSHPLFCGYYUGPAGCIRNPLALFCKLMIAVDDDALDDRRLSYLTEFTTGHLLGESLWHLLPETHVQYQS -LHLRFKLELTSHPLFCGYUGPAGCIRNPLALFCKLMIAVDDDALDDRRLSYLTEFTTGHLLGESLWHLLPETHVQYQS -LHLRFKSLELTSHPLFCGYUGPAGCIRNPLALFCKLMIAVDDALDDRRLSYLTEFTTGHLLGESLWHLLPETHVQYQS -LHLRFKLFCGYYG-RNPLALF-KLMI-DDSYL-EFGHGDLPY-S 1841 1920 ACFDYFCRKATRSQKILLQPGLVDQETLDKIALSAKFISRPFYSMLSSHARSLISTKFKLDSSLTTLQDPMVEFELL.PF AVHDFFCRNCTPAEKILLSLDP IPESKILQLILKVRWASQAFFSYLPQKARELLVARSSLPSLYSNPKVSQLESELL.PF ACFDYFCRKATRSQKILLSEP IPPSFFSKLASTSRWVSKVLFSDLPTKIRDMLISSSKLPSYHQDPRVQYLESELLTSF ACFDFFCRRCPKHEKMLLDDSTPTLSLLERITSSPRWLTKNAMYLLPAKLRLAITSLSQTQSFPESIEVSHAESELL.HY AD-FCRKLWRSE-ELL 1921 SNVQ SQ FQF NHGRLSTN

Consen	sus	
--------	-----	--

Figure 20. Graph showing the variability of the aligned amino acid sequences of the RPs of five tymoviruses, ELV, EMV-Trin, KYMV-JB, OYMV-Tin and TYMV-CL. The highly conserved regions (I, II and III) were analysed separately; region I possibly containing methyltransferase motif; region II containing GCGK[T/S] conserved sequence of a NTP-binding motif whereas region III possesses the GDD signal of RNA polymerase.





c) The Virion Proteins (VP)

The ORF closest to the 3'-terminus of the genome encodes the VP, which is translated from a subgenomic messenger RNA transcribed from the (-) genomic strand.

The sequences of peptides obtained by proteolysis of the ELV VP have been compared with the amino acid sequence deduced for this protein from the nucleotide sequence of the VP ORF. All were found to represent parts of the VP sequence, thus confirming that this ORF encodes the VP (Srifah *et al.*, 1990). The deduced VP has a sequence that is closely similar to those of sixteen other tymoviruses, namely those of APLV (Maria Osorio-Keese, unpublished data), BMV (Ding *et al.*, 1990b), CoYMV (Ding *et al.*, 1990c), CYVV (Anne Mackenzie, unpublished data), DMV (Jennifer Gibbs, unpublished data), EMV-Trin (Osorio-Keese *et al.*, 1989), KYMV-BP (Anne Mackenzie, unpublished data), OYMV-JB (Ding *et al.*, 1990), KYMV-PD (Paul Keese, unpublished data), OYMV-Tin (Ding *et al.*, 1989), TYMV-BL (Drew Meek, unpublished data), TYMV-Cauliflower (Anne Mackenzie, unpublished data), TYMV-CL (Keese *et al.*, 1989), TYMV-Roth (Marjo Torronen, unpublished data), TYMVtype (Morch *et al.*, 1988) and WCuMV (Anne Mackenzie, unpublished data).

The virion proteins of all tymoviruses except that of ELV are of about 189 amino acid residues, whereas that of ELV is 202 residues. These sequences are closely similar in sequence and Figure 21 shows their alignment calculated by the progressive alignment method of Feng and Doolittle (1987). It can be seen that the greater length of ELV results from a stretch of 11 extra amino acid residues near the N-terminus found only in the ELV VP, and that the ELV sequence is least like that of the other VPs.

The variation at each position of the aligned proteins was also estimated (Figure 22). It can be seen that the sequences vary throughout their length and there are no particularly variable regions.

Pairwise comparisons of the 17 aligned sequences showed that the number of

identical amino acid residues vary from 30.2% for the OYMV/TYMV-BL comparison to 98.9% for the comparison of TYMV-BL/TYMV-CL (Table 7).

The 'FJD distance' (Feng *et al.*, 1985) between each pair of sequences was used to calculate a dendrogram (Figure 25) by the neighbour-joining method (Saito and Nei, 1987; Studier and Keppler, 1988). In the dendrogram the VPs fall into three clusters Figure 21. Alignment of amino acid sequences of seventeen tymoviral coat proteins by the progressive alignment method of Feng and Doolittle (1987) and PRETTY program.

		1
ELV	21K	OU MTSSRSTELTETOEDVVRKLSOKTPVSNESALPLPNGPOAPTOLOPEOFFEDI DACOECSUTI DI ATEREMATEL CRUDD
TYMV-BL	20K	METDKEL. APODRTVTVATVLPTAPCPSPETTKOPEOSEVLEACTKDAEASLTANTDEVCTUTTVATVLPTAPCPSPETTKOPEOSEVLEACTKDAEASLTANTDEVCTUTTVATVL
TYMV-CL	20K	MEIDKEL. APODRTVTVATVLPTVPCPSPETIKOPEOSEVLEAGIKDAEASLITANIDSVSILITEIKA
TYMV-TYPE	20K	MEIDKEL. APODRTVTVATVLEDVDCDSDLTLKOPEOSEVLEAGTKDAEASLTIANIDSVSTLTETKA
TYMV-CAUL.	20%	
TYMV-RO	201	
KAWA-KO	201	MATNUWI ACOLDWARKSCEIDI OCOMDADATIWADIO IDI ACI OMADATASITVASLANVSNLTALYRH
KIMV-BE	201	MATNEVLASQLPVNIKSSEIPLQSGTPPPTIVYPFQIELASLGTADASDAISIASNSLLASVTTLYRH
KIMV-DD	201	MAINHVLASQLPVNTKSSEIPLQSGTPPPTIIYPFQIEMASLGTADASDSISIASNSLLASVTTLYRH
CovMV	ZUR	MASNHILATQTPVNTKSSEIPLEPGKTPPTITYPFQIELASLGTADASDAISIASNSSLASVTTLYRH
COIMV	ZUK	MSSDLILAPQPLINTKASELPSQSGSPPPEIVYPFQFTIASLGVEPTADFVSIAAQAAITAYTSLYRH
CIVV	ZUK	MSTDVIVSAQPLINTKASEIPLQPGSPPPSITYPFQITIASLGVAATSDAVSISAQSSLASFTSLYRH
BMV	ZUK	MDESKIVTVKQPSISAPGFTLSAPDGEQAGSIRQIFQFEATSVGVYETLAQVNLSSSDSLAKLTSGYRR
DMV	ZUK	MDESKIVTVKQPSISAPGFTLSAPEGEQAGSIRQIFQFEATSVGVVETLAQVSLSASESLAKLTAGYRR
APLV	ZUK	MEDQTPAVSKQPSINAPGYNLPPPSSQLSSSFELPFQFQATTFGAAETAAQVSLSSSTVISTIAKNFRH
EMV-Trin	20K	MEDTAILRSPQPSINAPGFHLPPTDSQQSSAIELPFQFQATTFGATETAAQISLASANAITKLASLYRH
OYMV-Tin	20K	MEDSQPIKVRQPSISAPGTHLSPNPGQQSPSMVVPFQVSVSDLGVSEVSAQITLSSDPTLAQLTSIYRM
WCMV	20K	MTTDTSVSAKQPSINAPGHVLSIPDTPRSPSFPFKFQIHVANFGPKEVSSQISLSSCPELLRLTSLFRH
Consensus		MFQR-
		81 160
ELV	21K	AQLTQLHAVVSPSAVSIGHPLTVQLIWVPASSTTTSSQILGTYGGQQISVGGQVTNSSPAKVSANLLMMNPHIKDSTSYT
TYMV-BL	20K	ASLESLWVTIHPTLQAPAFPTTVGVCWVPANSPVTPTQITKTYGGQIFCIGGAINTLSPLIVKCPLEMMNPRVKDSIQYL
TYMV-CL	20K	ASLESLWVTIHPTLQAPAFPTTVGVCWVPANSPVTPTQITKTYGGQIFCIGGAINTLSPLIVKCPLEMMNPRVKDSIQYL
TYMV_TYPE	20K	ASLESLWVTIHPTLQAPAFPTTVGVCWVPANSPVTPAQITKTYGGQIFCIGGAINTLSPLIVKCPLEMMNPRVKDSIQYL
TYMV-CAUL	20K	ASLDELWLTISPTHLAPAFPTQVRVCWVSANSPITDLQITNTYGGQVFCVGGSLNSHSPLEVKCPLHMMNRRVKDSVQYL
TYMV-RO	20K	ASLDELWLTISPTHLAPAFPTQVRVCWVSANSPITDLQITNTYGGQIFCVGGSLNSHSPLEVKCPLHMMNRRVKDSVQYL
KYMV-BP	20K	AKLTSLKATIHPTGQAPAYPTTVALAWVPYNSTATSAQILSVYGGQMFCIGGSINSLSPIDVPCNLTNVNPVIKDSVTYS
KYMV-JB	20K	AKLTSLKATIHPTGQAPAFPTTVALAWVPYNSTATSAQILSVYGGQMFCIGGSINSLSPIDVPCNLTNVNPIIKDSVTYS
KYMV-PD	20K	AKLTSLKATIHPTGAAPAYPTTVALAWVPYNSSATAAEVLSVFGGOMFCIGGSINSLSPIDIPCNLTNVNPIIKDSVTYS
CoYMV	20K	AILTDLQAIIHPNGYAPAFPTSVALAWVPYNSTATAAKILDVFGGOEFCVGGSINSTSPIIVPCPLTNINPIIKDSVTYT
CYVV	20K	AILQDLHATIHPSASAPAFPTSVALAWVPYNSTATASEILNVYGGOEFCIGGAINSSKPIIIPCPLTNINPVIKDSVTYL
BMV	20K	AKVVELFLTITPTQRAIDCPVTVDVAWVPANSTAPPSKILSIYGGORFLIGGPITTSOITRVPCNLOSVNAMIKDSTIYT
DMV	20K	AKLVELFLTITPTQLAIDNPVTVDVVWVPANSTATPSKILSVYGGORFLIGGTLTTSOVIRVPCNLOSVNAMIKDSTITT
APLV	20K	AKLIOCHAIITPTYLAIANPITINLVWVPDSSTAKPSETLNVYGGTSFTFGGAFCSTKSTTVPLPMNSVNIMIKDSALYT
EMV-Trin	20K	VRLTOCAATITPTAAAIANPLTVNIVWVSDNSTAKPTEILNVEGGSSYTEGGALNATKPLTTPIPMNSVNGMIKDSVLYT
OYMV-Tin	20K	ASIVECEAVLEPNSTSSKNPVHCDLTWVPSNSSASPKTTLOTYGGNRETVGGPTTSNOTISEPLPLDSVNPLTKDSVL
WCMV	20K	ARLLSAKATITPFDGVVSLPITVDLAWVSANSPASPTDILKTVCCSSVTFCCAIMSTRDIELDLDINGVADMUKDGVCVL
Consensus		PPWVSCGCGCG
		161 205
ELV	21K	DTPKLLVYSTPAVPDDKLTTSSASIIVFGEVLLSSPOLNPSA
TYMV-BL	20K	DSPKLLISITA. OPTAPPASTCIITVSGTLSMHSPLITDTST
TYMV-CL	20K	DSPKILISTTA OPTAPPASTCITTVSCTLSMHSPLITDTST
TYMV TYPE	20%	
TYMV-CAUL	201	DSPKIVISVTA OPTOPTASTCIIIVSGILSMASPLIIDISI
TYMV-RO	201	
KYMU-BD	201	
KYMU-TR	201	
KYMU-DD	201	
COYMU	201	DIFRIENTSTAQSTAPTTATCSLTISGTLTLHSPLLQASS
CVIN	201	DIFRICTISTAPSISTSATUTLTIKGKVKLHSPLLSSSSS
DMV	20K	DIPALLVISTAPAYSTSPTCTLTITGKVKLHSPLLSSSS
DMI	ZUK	DSPKLLVIAPIAKGSPKTPSATVQIGGQILLSAPLLQAL
DMV	ZUK	DSPKLLVYSPVAKGSPKTPSATVQIAGQILLSAPLLQAL
APLV	ZOK	DGPKLLAYSPAPATPSKSPVATIQISGKILLSSPLLQAS
EMV-Trin	20K	DCPKLLAYSAAPSSPSKTPTATIQIHGKLRLSSPLLQAN

 OYMV-Tin
 20K
 DSPRLLAFSPA..PPETQSIPSASLLIRGKLRLSSILVQPLLTSS

 WCMV
 20K
 DTPKLLVFSPA..PAKATSVTLASPQISGEVLCSSQLLQAL...

 Consensus
 D-P-L

	TYBL	TYCL	TYTY	TYCA	TYRO	KYBP	KYJB	KYPD	COYV	CYVV	BMV	DMV	APLV	EMV	OYMV
TYCL	98.94														
TYTY	97.88	98.41													
TYCA	67.72	67.72	67.72												
TYRO	67.72	67.72	67.72	98.41											
KYBP	50.00	50.00	50.53	46.81	46.28										
KYJB	51.06	51.06	51.60	47.87	47.34	96.81									
KYPD	49.47	49.47	50.00	45.74	45.21	86.17	85.11								
COYV	44.15	44.15	44.68	44.15	43.62	62.57	63.10	63.64							
CYVV	43.85	43.85	43.85	42.25	41.71	64.71	64.17	66.31	76.47						
BMV	34.76	34.76	35.29	33.16	32.62	40.11	40.11	39.04	37.63	41.94					
DMV	34.76	34.76	35.29	35.29	34.76	41.18	41.18	40.11	39.25	43.55	90.43				
APLV	30.48	30.48	30.48	29.41	29.41	36.90	36.90	35.83	41.40	43.01	47.34	50.53			
EMV	32.62	32.62	32.09	34.22	34.22	37.97	37.97	40.64	44.62	41.94	45.21	47.34	68.09		
OYMV	30.16	30.16	30.16	30.69	30.69	34.57	34.57	35.11	36.17	37.43	46.81	45.21	42.55	42.55	
WCuMV	32.62	32.09	31.55	31.02	31.02	39.04	39.04	37.97	36.02	39.78	43.09	41.49	50.00	47.87	45.21
ELV	33.51	33.51	33.51	32.98	32.45	37.77	37.77	35.64	35.83	36.90	37.23	38.30	32.98	31.38	32.80

Table 8. Percent identity (based on aligned regions) of seventeen tymoviral coat proteins.

Distance scores for phylogenetic tree

TYCL	0.70														
TYTY	1.46	0.86													
TYCA	25.23	25.10	24.42												
TYRO	26.37	26.41	25.77	1.31											
KYBP	53.25	54.39	53.28	59.92	62.29										
KYJB	52.72	53.87	52.77	59.83	61.69	1.09									
KYPD	51.14	52.07	50.74	57.87	60.18	7.53	8.34								
COYV	62.90	62.41	62.26	67.16	69.25	32.71	32.55	31.09							
CYVV	57.35	58.38	57.67	63.19	65.18	27.53	27.65	24.52	14.55						
BMV	87.41	87.50	86.95	86.97	89.31	70.40	70.84	69.43	78.74	73.32					
DMV	85.68	85.74	85.60	81.78	82.96	67.71	68.51	66.83	75.39	69.84	6.25				
APLV	101.23	100.21	100.70	101.15	102.35	77.60	79.21	76.98	76.63	73.43	52.53	46.40			
EMV	90.18	89.00	89.58	90.83	89.43	70.60	71.84	66.01	67.69	67.01	52.27	47.22	27.97		
WCuMV	94.82	97.83	98.38	99.45	100.97	72.98	74.31	73.91	85.14	73.94	67.73	65.66	52.02	54.16	
OYMV	102.21	100.07	101.45	99.48	101.51	78.63	79.11	76.03	77.92	72.20	63.09	62.22	60.96	55.60	65.90
ELV	99.26	102.00	102.04	101.87	105.36	86.09	87.62	86.43	90.23	90.11	88.33	82.07	95.08	99.56	105.49

WCuMV

31.91

102.27

Figure 22. Graph showing the variability in each position of the aligned amino acid sequences of the virion proteins of five tymoviruses; ELV, EMV-Trin, KYMV-JB, OYMV-Tin and TYMV-CL.

111131110







with the ELV VP as an 'out-group'. The clusters mostly correlate with the host range preferences of the viruses; the VPs of the brassica-infecting tymoviruses form one cluster, all those of legume-infecting tymoviruses, except OYMV, form a second cluster together with CoYMV, and the third cluster is of the VPs of tymoviruses that infect solanaceous plants together with OYMV and WCuMV. There is an indication that the atypical VPs of the second and third clusters (i.e. CoYMV in the second, and WCuMV and OYMV in the third) have perhaps changed during evolution more than the other VPs of each cluster (i.e. they are on longer branches of the dendrogram). This might indicate that these two clusters have primarily co-evolved with leguminous and solanaceous hosts, respectively, but that these clusters have been the sources of new viral species that have adapted to plant species of other families and, as a result their VPs have undergone increased evolutionary change.

The relatedness of the VP sequences also correlates with the serological relationships of the viral particles. Figure 23 is a graph showing the clear positive correlation between the FJD distances (FJD) of the 17 tymoviruses and their 'serological differentiation indices' (SDIs) (as reported by Koenig (1976), together with some estimates based on the data of Shukla and Schmelzer (1972) and Shukla and Gough (1980)). Many of the serological comparisons gave a SDI of 10 (the maximum that Koenig recorded), and two groups of comparisons, around SDI=1/FJD=24-26 and SDI=2/FJD=50-62, were outside the main trend shown by the graph. These anomalous points are the estimated SDI values, namely those comparing type and cauliflower strains of TYMV and those comparing TYMV and KYMV isolates, respectively. There was a very significant statistical correlation between the SDI and FJD values (correlation coefficient = 0.853; p < 0.001), despite the predictable increase in variability at larger values of SDI and FJD; the comparisons involving estimated SDI values were omitted from this calculation.

Sequence of the 3' non-coding region

The 3' non-coding regions have an above average guanine content (18.9-25.2%)

and their cytosine content is similar to that of the remainder of the genome (Table 4).

This composition probably reflects the fact that the 3' regions form stable stem-loop structures.

Figure 23. Graph showing the correlation between the 'FJD distances' of the seventeen tymovirus virion proteins and their serological differentiation indices (SDIs).






Figure 24. Sequences of the 3'-termini of five tymoviral genomes and their potential tRNA-like secondary structures together with likely structure of yeast tRNA^{Val} (Bonnet *et al.*, 1974) are presented.



Sequences of the non-coding 3'-termini of six tymoviral RNAs.

DMV					UGAUUU	CUUCACACUUCAG	AGCCCUGUC	AAUAAACCAAAUU		
ELV			UAAG	CAAUAGCGA	ACCUUAAG-	-CUUCUUUCUC	CAGCGUGUC	ACCACGUUUCGCU	CCUGAAUGUCCCCACCU	100
EMV-Trin	CCCCCAUCUC	CUAUGGUA	AUUGCGGACA	GUUCCGC	UCCCUCUA	GCACACAGAGGUC	CAUUUGGGU	GCGACUCCCCCCC	CUCCCGUCGGUC-	- 7 80
KYMV-JB	UCAGGCCACA	GCCUGAUUC	AGGUCGCCA	GUGCGAC	CACCCGUUC	CCACACAACGGG-	CAUUGGGGU	GCAACUCCCCCGU	CCAUCCUGGACGUC-	- 20
OYMV-Tin	CCURAGCAAC	CCGCUUAAA	UAUGACCGG	UGUCAU	GCCUCUAG	CACACAGAGAGGUCG	CG-UGGGUU	CAACUCCCCCCCU	UUUCCGAGGGUA	-IIC(
TYMV-CL	CGAUCUUUA	AAAUCGUUA	GCUCGCCAG	UUAGCGAG	UCUGUCCCO	CACACGACAGA-U	JAAUCGGGUG	CAACUCCCGCCCC	UCUUCCGAGGGUC	- 4110
	V	v	IV	IV	III	III	II	II	I	

Secondary structures of non-coding 3'termini of five tymoviruses.



AAG poly(A) GGGACACCCC(A) CGGGAACC(A) CCAGGACC(A) GGAAACC(A) CGGAACC(A) I

A

A A

The 3' non-coding region of ELV is 78 nucleotides in length (nucleotides 5956-6034). The SQUIGGLES program failed to predict a secondary structure for the sequence, that resembled the tRNA-like structures found at the 3'-termini of other tymoviral genomes. These structures resemble that of the tRNA^{Val} from yeast (Giège et al., 1978), and can be aminoacylated with valine (Meshi et al., 1981; Florentz et al., 1982; Joshi et al., 1982; Rietveld et al., 1982).

Therefore the 3' non-coding region of ELV was aligned by eye with that of other tymoviruses and found to have only part of the classical clover-leaf or L-shaped tRNA-like structure. It probably has four stem loops with short arms, that have 6, 4, 3 and 2 base-paired nucleotides, which correspond to loops I, II, III, and IV of the classical clover-leaf pattern. In Figure 24 this structure is compared with the similar regions of four other tymoviral genomes. It is clear that all the tymoviral tRNA-like structures are similar but not identical. The number of stem loops are the same, but their details differ.

The ELV sequence, like that of other tymoviruses, contains a -GGG- in loop I, but, in the anticodon loop, (loop III) there is no -ACA(C)-, which is found in all other tymoviruses (van Belkum *et al.*, 1987). The -GGG- domain of loop I probably base pairs with a -CCC- in the single-stranded domain separating loops I and II (Figure 24). These three G-C base pairs create the coaxial stack of twelve base pairs of stems I and II found in the classical tRNAs L-shape (Florentz *et al.*, 1982). This stem formation defines the aminoacyl acceptor domain of canonical tRNA. The other domain, conserved in all tymoviruses except ELV, is the -ACAC- in anticodon loop III, and it has been suggested that this element may be a crucial and common signal for interaction between viral RNA and the valyl-tRNA synthetase (van Belkum *et al.*, 1987).

It has been shown that several tymoviral genomic RNAs can be aminoacylated with valine, these include APLV-Hu, BMV, CYVV, EMV, KYMV, OYMV, TYMV and WCuMV (Rietveld *et al.* (1982). The site of aminoacylation is probably the 3'

tRNA-like terminus, and sequences of this sort have been found in the 3' terminal genomic sequences of APLV (Maria Osorio-Keese, unpublished data), BMV (Ding et al., 1990b), CoYMV (Ding et al., 1990c), CYVV (Anne Mackenzie, unpublished data), EMV-Trin (Osorio-Keese et al., 1989), KYMV-BP (Anne Mackenzie, unpublished data), KYMV-JB (Ding et al., 1990), KYMV-PD (Paul Keese,

unpublished data), OYMV-Trin (Ding et al., 1989), TYMV-BL (Drew Meek, unpublished data), TYMV-CL (Keese et al., 1989), TYMV-type (Morch et al., 1988), TYMV-cauliflower (Anne Mackenzie, unpublished data), TYMV-Roth (Marjo Torronen, unpublished data), and WCuMV (Anne Mackenzie unpublished data). This observation suggests that some tymovirus genomes may not form tRNA-like structures, and confirms the suggestion of van Belkum et al. (1987) that ELV possibly lacks a tRNA-like structure. In addition it has been found (Jennifer Gibbs; unpublished data) that the dulcamara mottle tymovirus genome possesses a poly(A) tail and the associated signal sequence (-AAUAAA-) at its 3' terminus.

TYMOVIRUS EVOLUTION

The comparisons of various features of tymoviral genomes provide clues on the evolution of this group of viruses. All tymoviruses share characters such as the size and basic plan of their genome, its composition and the number, genomic arrangement and sequence of the proteins it encodes. It is likely that these characters were inherited from the progenitor of the group.

There are other characters that vary between different species of the group. These include details of the sequences in different regions of the genome and the length of the intergenic regions. These differences have probably arisen since the primary radiation of the group, either by random evolutionary changes or as a result of adaptation. Surprisingly there are also major differences in the 3'-terminal regions, which in most tymoviruses are able to form a tRNA-like structure that can be amino-acylated, but which is only partially present in ELV, and which, in DMV, has apparently been replaced by a poly(A) tail like that found in, for example, comoviruses of plants and picornaviruses of animals.

The relationships of the different conserved parts of tymovirus genomes (i.e. the OP, RP-A, RP-B, RP-C and VP) are all closely similar. Figure 25 shows dendrograms

representing the relationships of the amino acid sequences of the known tymoviral OPs, RPs and VPs. It can be seen that the topologies of these dendrograms are closely similar, with ELV as the most distinct species of the group. The dendrograms differ in total branch lengths reflecting the fact that the OPs have changed most and the RPs least during evolution of the group. Superficially, the dendrograms seem also to differ **Figure 25.** Dendrogram showing the hierarchical clustering of five tymoviruses based on their amino acid sequence similarity in three different proteins (OP, RP and VP); the sequences were aligned by the progressive alignment program of Feng and Doolittle (1987) and the FJD distances (Feng *et al.*, 1985) used to calculate a dendrogram by the neighbour-joining program of Saitou and Nei (1987).











ELV **EMV-Trin** APLV WCuMV **OYMV-Tin** BMV DMV **KYMV-BP KYMV-JB KYMV-PD** CoYMV CYVV **TYMV-BL** TYMV-CL **TYMV-TYPE TYMV-Caul**

TYMV-Roth



L-0

in the relative lengths of the 'speciation phase' and of the branches leading to individual species; in the OP and RP dendrograms the former covers one third of the dendrogram, whereas in the VP dendrogram there is no clearly defined speciation phase. However when the VP dendrogram is reduced to the proteins of the same 5 tymoviruses represented in the OP and RP dendrograms, it can be seen that there are no real differences.

VIRAL SIGNALS FOR HOST SPECIFICITY

It has been shown (Guy *et al.*, 1984) that tymoviruses preferentially infect species of the same family as their known natural host or hosts (e.g. Brassicaceae, Cucurbitaceae, Leguminosae, Sterculiaceae or Solanaceae), or of the same higher order grouping (e.g. 'crassinucelli' or 'tenuinucelli').

An attempt was made to determine whether the viral protein sequences gave any clues of which parts of them might be involved in determining those host range preferences. A program, SEQCORR, examined each position in the aligned sequences in turn, and calculated a correlation coefficient between all pairwise comparisons of the amino acids at that position and the known host range preferences of the viruses. Pairs of viruses with the same natural host family, or higher order grouping, were given a host similarity of one, those that differed were given a similarity of zero, and the similarities of the amino acids were taken from the MDM78 matrix (Dayhoff *et al.*, 1978).

Table 8a shows the 7 amino acid positions in the 18 aligned VPs that gave correlation coefficients of 0.6 or greater (p << 0.001) with the major host group, and the 5 positions that were similarly correlated with host family. Tables 8b and 8c show similar listing for the OPs and RPs, respectively; with the host major groupings, only those positions correlating perfectly are given whereas, for the host families, positions

giving correlation coefficients of 0.6 or greater are given.

It can be seen that the only perfect correlations were with the major host groupings, and then only among the five OPs and RPs. There was no obvious grouping of the positions that showed significant similarities, and the number of positions that correlated was broadly related to the size and conservation of the

Table 8. Correlations between the host species taxonomy and amino acids at individual positions in the aligned proteins of tymoviruses.

Amino acid position Host Host Amino acid position Crass/Ten¹30 60 77 99 129 158 179 Family 26 68 148 149 181 S APLV Т Y A Ν N Т \mathbf{L} K S S Ν V G S BMV Т F L С K S S S L Ι V COYMV C S A L F С Т Т St N Q N I CYVV C S S L F С Т L T Ν Q Ν I DMV Т F L G Ν \mathbf{L} Κ S S S S I V С S B ELV S R H S S Т V F Μ Μ EMV Т F S Α L Т A S Ν L Κ Ν V С S S L С KYMV-BP Y Т Т \mathbf{L} Ν Ν Ν V KYMV-JB C S S \mathbf{L} F С Т Т L Ν Ν Ν V KYMV-PD С S S L Y С Т Т \mathbf{L} N Ν Ν V OYMV-Tin C Т S I Т L S \mathbf{L} S D S V Ν TYMV-BL C F С Т Ε F Q Ρ В V Ι Μ Μ TYMV-Caul C S Т L F С Q Т В L Μ I Μ TYMV-CL С Т E F С Q B V I Μ F Ρ Μ С TYMV-Ro S T L F С Q Т В I L Μ Μ TYMV-TYPE C Т E F С Q P В I Μ F V Μ

P

P

A

P

Ρ

S

Ρ

A

A

Α

Ρ

S

S

S

S

S

Т

A) Virion Proteins.

WCuMV

С

H

S

L

L

1 Only those positions that gave correlations coefficients \geq 0.6 (P<0.001) are listed. For details see text.

S

S

Cu

С

Ν

S

V

т



B) Overlapping Proteins.

	Host				Amino acid position											
	Cra	ss/1	len	2 8	41	81	83	119	204	233	307	341	354	376	378	388
		140														
ELV		С		S	P	L	P	Р	R	P	P	S	R	N	R	R
EMV-1	rin	т		С	S	v	S	S	G	F	S	R	С	D	v	S
KYMV-	JB	С		S	P	L	P	Р	R	P	Р	S	R	N	R	R
OYMV-	Tin	С		S	P	L	P	Р	R	Р	Р	S	R	N	R	R
TYMV-	CL	с		S	P	L	P	P	R	P	P	S	R	N	R	R
	Fai	mily	7	35	39	53	172	180	326	335	342	389	444			
								(a . b . c				v				
ELV		в		I	I	Q	P	N	S	Р	N	R	Н			
EMV-T	rin	S		R	P	S	S	F	A	S	S	S	v			
KYMV-	JB	L		G	N	S	S	L	Р	S	R	R	L			
OYMV-	Tin	L		N	K	P	S	L	Р	S	R	R	L			
TYMV-	CL	в		L	D	Q	P	S	Т	Р	S	R	Н			

2 Only those position that gave perfect correlations are shown.



	Hos	t									F	mino	acid	posi	itio	n							
Cras	ss/T	$en^2 5$	11	36	41	116	123	133 1	39 1	171	187	203	206 3	75 37	76 3	77 4	408	412 5	585	677	835	845	1076
ELV	С	L	S	E	V	Y	S	L	F	V	L	G	A	A	L	L	L	A	L	P	P	A	L
EMV-Trin	т	S	N	S	L	F	Т	F	С	I	I	N	S	S	-	V	Y	L	I	L	S	С	Р
KYMV-JB	С	L	A	Q	v	Y	S	L	V	V	L	G	A	A	L	L	L	A	L	P	Р	A	L
OYMV-Tin	С	L	A	Q	I	Y	S	L	V	V	L	G	A	A	L	L	L	A	L	P	Р	A	L
TYMV-CL	С	L	A	Q	I	Y	S	L	I	V	L	G	A	A	L	L	L	A	L	P	P	A	L
	115	4 1166	1181	120	8 1	228	1229	1280	146	55 1	525	1554	1582	1595	5 16	87 1	1688	1732	2 17	76	1817	1824	1836
ELV	L	Y	F	S		S	Q	S	A	4	N	S	G	D		Г	N	V		G	L	L	С
EMV-Trin	F	Н	N	A		R	R	N	P	>	Q	Q	S	G	(C	S	I		S	A	I	V
KYMV-JB	L	Y	F	S		S	Q	S	A	ł	N	S	G	D		Г	N	V		G	L	L	С
						-	0	0			N.T.	~	~							-	-	_	~
OYMV-Tin	L	Y	F	S		S	Q	S	A	7	N	S	G	D		Г	N	V		G	L	L	C
YMV-Tin YMV-CL	L L Fami	Y Y Ly ¹ 51	F F 60 1	S S 19 1	58	S S 391	Q Q 402	5 S 410 4	A A 40 4	198	N N 505	s s 579 (G G 662 6	D D 70 79	95 8	r r)9 8	N N 847 8	V V 863 8	383	G G 959	L L 962	L L 1165	C C 1171
OYMV-Tin TYMV-CL ELV EMV-Trin KYMV-JB OYMV-Tin TYMV-CL	L L Fami B S L L B	Y Y Ly ¹ 51 N L L N	F F 60 1 L F F L	S S 19 1 H T T H	58 E T H I L	S S 391 R S L L Q	Q Q 402 T A S S R	S S 410 4 A L V I A	A A A A A S V I A	K P C I	N N 505 A H P S	S S 579 L Q S S F	G G 562 6 I T L V	D D 7079 P E A T P	95 8 E A L T	r D D V S T E	N N 847 S S A A S	V V 863 8 T S E D T	883 E D D D E	G G 959 L Y Y V	L L 962 N E S A N	L L 1165 S S T T S	С С 1171 С Q H A С
OYMV-Tin TYMV-CL ELV EMV-Trin KYMV-JB OYMV-Tin TYMV-CL	L L Fami B S L L B	Y Y Ly ¹ 51 N L L L N 1174	F F 60 1 L F F L	S S 19 1 H T T H 123	58 E T H I L	S S 391 R S L Q 245	Q Q 402 T A S S R 1297	S S 410 4 A L V I A 1312	A A A A A S V I A 133	K P C C I	N 505 A H P S 333	S S 579 L Q S S F	G G 562 6 I T L U V	D D 70 79 P E A T P	95 8 E A L T	C D D V S T E	N 847 S S A S N S	V V 863 8 T S E D T	883 E D D E	G G 959 L Y Y V	L L 962 N E S A N	L L 1165 S S T T S	C C 1171 C Q H A C
OYMV-Tin TYMV-CL ELV EMV-Trin KYMV-JB OYMV-Tin TYMV-CL ELV	L L Fami B S L L B	Y Y Ly ¹ 51 N L L N 1174 K	F F 60 1 L F F L 1209 H	S S 19 1 H T T H 123 A	58 E T H I L 7 1	S S 391 R S L Q 245 T	Q Q 402 T A S S R 1297 F	S S 410 4 A L V I A 1312 I.	A A A A S V I A 133 S	к Р С С І З1 1:	N N 505 A H P S 333 A	S S 579 L Q S S F 1409 H	G G 562 6 I T L U V 1478	D D 70 79 P E A T P 1481	95 8 E A L T 14	r r)9 8 V s T E 94 1	N N 847 S S A S 1509 S	V V 863 8 T S E D T 1596	883 E D D E 5 16	G G 959 L Y Y V 32 B	L L 962 N E S A N 1663 V	L L 1165 S S T T S 1820 S	C C 1171 C Q H A C 1901
OYMV-Tin TYMV-CL ELV EMV-Trin KYMV-JB OYMV-Tin TYMV-CL ELV ELV	L L Fami B S L L B	Y Y Ly ¹ 51 N L L L N 1174 K S	F F 60 1 L F F L 1209 H T	S S 19 1 H T T H 123 A H	58 E T H I L 7 1	S 391 R S L L Q 245 T T	Q Q 402 T A S S R 1297 F V	S S 410 4 A L V I A 1312 L T	A A A A A S V I A 133 S N	K P C C I S 1 1: S	N N 505 A H P S 333 A R	S S 579 L Q S S F 1409 H T	G G 562 6 I T L L V 1478 A G	D D 70 79 P E A T P 1481 H K	95 8 E A L T 14	r r D9 8 V S T E 94 1	N 847 S S A A S 1509 S S	V V 863 8 T S E D T 1596 Y	883 E D D E 5 16	G G 959 L Y Y V 32 R S	L L 962 N E S A N 1663 V V	L L 1165 S S T T S 1820 S L	C C 1171 C Q H A C 1901 L P
OYMV-Tin TYMV-CL ELV EMV-Trin KYMV-JB OYMV-Tin TYMV-CL ELV EMV-Trin KYMV-JB	L L Fami B S L L B	Y Y Ly ¹ 51 N L L N 1174 K S D	F F 60 1 L F F L 1209 H T V	S S 19 1 H T T H 123 A H V	58 E T H I L 7 1	S S 391 R S L Q 245 T T S	Q Q 402 T A S S R 1297 F V S	S S 410 4 A L V I A 1312 L I I T	A A A A A S V I A 133 S N H	K P C I 31 1: 5	N N 505 A H P S 333 A R P	S S 579 L Q S S F 1409 H I F	G G 562 6 I T L L V 1478 A G F	D D 70 79 P E A T P 1481 H K P	95 8 E A L T 149	F F D V S T E 04 1 2 5 7	N 847 S S A S 1509 S S N	V V 863 8 T S E D T 1596 Y Y F	883 E D D E 5 16	G G 959 L Y Y V 32 R S S	L L 962 N E S A N 1663 V U T	L L 1165 S S T T S 1820 S L A	C C 1171 C Q H A C 1901 L P P
OYMV-Tin TYMV-CL ELV EMV-Trin KYMV-JB OYMV-Tin TYMV-CL ELV EMV-Trin KYMV-JB OYMV-Tin	L L Fami B S L L B	Y Y Ly ¹ 51 N L L N 1174 K S D D	F F 60 1 L F F L 1209 H T V T	S S 19 1 H T T H 123 A H V V	58 E T H I L 7 1	S S 391 R S L Q 245 T S S	Q Q 402 T A S S R 1297 F V S A	S S 410 4 A L V I A 1312 L I I I I	A A A A A S V I A 1333 S N H H H	K P C C I S 1 1: S	N 505 A H P S 333 A R P P P	S S 579 L Q S S F 1409 H I F F	G G 562 6 I T L L V 1478 A G F F	D D 70 79 P E A T P 1481 H K P S	95 8 E A M L T 14	r r D V S T E 04 1	N N 847 S S A A S 1509 S N N	V V 863 8 T S E D T 1596 Y Y F F	883 E D D E 516	G G 959 L Y Y V 32 R S S S	L L 962 N E S A N 1663 V V I I	L 1165 S S T T S 1820 S L A	C C 1171 C Q H A C 1901 L P P P D

different proteins (i.é. was greatest in the RPs). These results give no definite clues on which amino acids, if any, encode host preferences, but do indicate which residues might be targeted in an analysis of such preferences by site directed mutagenesis of cloned viral genomes.



<u>CHAPTER 5</u> - RELATIONSHIPS OF TYMOVIRUSES AND OTHER VIRUSES

INTRODUCTION

The structure and organization of the particles, and the genomes, of representatives of about 20 plant viral groups have, so far, been studied. They differ in many significant ways. The particles are of various shapes, structures and sizes, and the genomes are similarly diverse, some are segmented, others unipartite, and their genes are expressed using various translation strategies.

Despite these differences, computer-assisted sequence comparisons have revealed the clear similarity of parts of the non-virion proteins of these genomes. Many of these proteins have at least one region with the characteristic motifs of nucleotide-binding proteins (Hodgman, 1988; Gorbalenya *et al.*, 1988b, Gorbalenya *et al.*, 1989a, b) and all have a region with the RNA polymerase motifs (Argos *et al.*,1984; Franssen *et al.*, 1984; Haseloff *et al.*,1984; Kamer and Argos, 1984; Ahlquist *et al.*,1985; Argos, 1988; Goldbach and Wellink, 1988; Morozov *et al.*, 1990; Skryabin *et al.*, 1988b; Gorbalenya *et al.*,1989a, b).

Comparisons of these sequences motifs place many plant viruses into two supergroups. These supergroups have been named the 'picorna-like' and 'Sindbis-like' viruses after the animal-infecting viruses they contain (Goldbach, 1986; 1987; Goldbach and Wellink, 1988). A taxonomic study by Poch *et al.*(1989) and Candresse *et al.* (1990) of these motifs confirmed these groupings and showed that the tymoviruses are members of the 'Sindbis-like' supergroup. Candresse *et al.* (1990) also showed that the 'Sindbis-like' viruses consistently formed two clusters; cluster I being the tymo-, carla-, clostero-, and potexviruses, and cluster II the alfalfa mosaic, alpha-, bromo-, cucumo-, furo-, hordei-, tobamo- and tobraviruses.

The 'Sindbis-like' supergroup is a very diverse group of plant and animal viruses (Figure 31), and its evolution has involved both point mutational changes, and also the recombination of viral genes. The importance of recombination in the evolution of RNA genomes has only recently been realized, although it was described for viruses with DNA genomes some time ago, and named modular evolution by Botstein (1980) to explain the results of his studies of phages of gram-negative bacteria. One clear example of natural viral recombination in viruses within RNA genomes is that described by Robinson *et al.* (1987), who showed that some tobravirus isolates are recombinants of tobacco rattle virus (TRV) and pea early browning virus (PEBV).

This chapter reports analyses of the relationships of the 'Sindbis-like' viruses based on the amino acid sequences of their RPs, and then proceeds to determine whether the RP classification correlates with other characters of the viruses such as the type of structure at the 3'-terminus of their genomes, on their genomic signals for the initiation and termination of translation and mRNA production, and on their genome composition and organization. The initial detailed comparisons involved the five fully sequenced tymoviruses and the following 'Sindbis-like' viruses:

- alfalfa mosaic virus (AlMV; Cornelissen et al., 1983);
- apple chlorotic leaf spot closterovirus (ACLSV; German et al., 1990);
- beet necrotic yellow vein furovirus (BNYVV; Bouzoubaa et al., 1987);
- narcissus mosaic potexvirus (NMV; Zuidema et al., 1989);
- potato M carlavirus (PVM; Zavriev et al., 1991);
- potato X potexvirus (PVX; Huisman et al., 1988);
- Sindbis alphavirus (Sindbis; Strauss et al., 1984);
- tobacco mosaic tobamovirus (TMV; Goelet et al., 1982);
- white clover mosaic potexvirus (WClMV; Forster et al., 1988).

VIRAL REPLICASE PROTEINS

The viral replicase sequences examined in this study were obtained from the Genbank, EMBL and NBRF databases. The proteins studied were the 216.5K protein of ACLSV, those encoded by the RNA1 and RNA2 of AlMV, the 237K protein of BNYVV, the 165K proteins of potexviruses, the 223K protein of PVM, the nsp1-nsp2-nsp4 proteins of Sindbis virus, the 126K protein of tobacco mosaic virus and the five

known 206K tymoviral RPs. For ease of analysis, the RP sequences were divided into three parts chosen to coincide with the three segments of the tymoviral replicases discussed in Chapter 3. First the tymovirus sequence segments were prealigned with the other 'Sindbis-like' RPs using the GAP program of the GCG package (Devereux *et al.*, 1984). Each of the three sets of replicase segments was then aligned definitively using the 'progressive alignment' method of Feng and Doolittle (1987). The resulting alignments were arranged for display using the GCG LINEUP and PRETTY programs, and the latter gave the consensus sequence. The resulting segment alignments were named the A segment, which spans the N-terminal third of the RP, the B segment, which is from the end of the A segment to the start of the C-terminal quarter, and the C segment, which is the C-terminal quarter. The A segment in Sindbis alphavirus has RNA methyltransferase activity (Mi *et al.*, 1989), the B segment contains the motifs of a NTP-binding protein, and the C segment the motifs of a RNA-dependent RNA polymerase.

The C-terminal two-thirds of the RPs of the 'Sindbis-like' viruses are clearly homologous (Figure 26), especially around the regions which include motifs of the nucleotide-binding protein (Hodgman, 1988; Gorbalenya *et al.*, 1988b) and the RNAdependent RNA polymerase (Kamer and Argos, 1984; Argos, 1988). The N-terminal regions are less similar and although the tymo-, potex-, clostero- and carlavirus sequences can be readily aligned, those of the other 'Sindbis-like' viruses show a much smaller amount of homology in this region (Rozanov *et al.*, 1990; Morozov *et al.*, 1990; Goldbach and Wellink, 1988). Nonetheless some recognisable elements of the methyltransferase found in Sindbis alphavirus (Mi *et al.*, 1989) are present in the others.

Quantitative estimates of the similarity of the aligned RPs and their A, B and C segments are given in Table 9, which gives the percentage of identical residues in pairwise comparisons of the different proteins or segments (Feng and Doolittle, 1987). The greatest identity is, as expected, between different species of the same virus group; 48% (EMV-Trin/TYMV-CL) to 54% (EMV-Trin/OYMV-Tin or TYMV-CL/KYMV-JB) in tymoviruses, and between 44% (NMV/PVX) to 53% (NMV/WClMV) in potexviruses, compared with only 10-23% of identical residues between the tymoviral RPs and those of Sindbis-like viruses. Comparisons of the most

conserved regions of the RPs are those around the RNA polymerase motifs (range 12-22% of identical residues), and the least conserved around the possible methyltransferase motifs (8-19%). Furthermore, in tymoviruses and potexviruses, the methyltransferase and nucleotide-binding regions are separated by non-homologous sequences of different lengths. Figure 26. Alignment of the encoded replicase proteins of five tymoviruses and other Sindbislike viruses (virus names as in the text and Table 9).

194К ELV 205К EMV 210К КҮМV 198К ОҮМV 206К ТҮМV 186К NMV 186К NMV 166К РVХ 147К WC1MV 216К ACLSV 223К РVМ 1a A1MV* 237К BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126К ТМV Сольельив	1 80 MA. FQLALD ALS. STTHRDSISAPLLDSSVSQLQSSLELFPYTV MA. FQSALE ALN. STTHRDASTNPILNSVVEPLRDSLSLYPWLL MA. FQLALD ALA. STSHKDPSLHPVLESVHDSLTDSLQTYPWMV MA. FQLALD ALA. STSHKDSSLNPVLNSAVQPLQTSLQNFPWII MA. FQLALD ALA. STHKDSSLNPVLNSAVQPLQTSLQNFPWII MA. FQLALD ALA. PTTHRDPSLHPILESTVDSIRSSIQTYPWSI MA. FQLALD ALA. PTTHRDPSLHPILESTVDSIRSSIQTYPWSI MA. KVRAALE RIR. DPSVQTALSEAAYTHVRPVLKESLVNCPYAL MA. KVRAALD SFT. DSTTKTLIQDEAYRNIRPIMEKHKLANPYAQ MA. KVRAALD RIT. DPSVKAVLNEEAYSHIRPVLRESLTNNPYAI MAFSYRTPQE ELLSRLPQSQQEVISGFQYERIQKEEEKKVENFSFYL MAVTYRTPME DIVNCFEPATQAVIANSAATLYKNFEEQHCQYFNYYL MADSFGFTPMEVLLFGGESVQLLTSDMPIDVQWGFVYSTRCYALWKDDLIHLNPLLKYSQRIAKRWEKLVSGFVGPV MEKPVVNVDVDPQSPFVVQLQKSFPQFEVVAQQVTPNDHANARAFSHLASKLIELEVPTT.ATILDIGSAPARRMFSEHQ MAYTQTATTS ALLDTVRGNNSLVN.DLAKRRLYDTAVEEFN.
	81 160
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS*	PKELVPQLNRMGIQVSGLTSTPHPHAAHKTLELNLLFNHWAKSCNVDSAVVFMKPSKFFKLQEKNS. PKEAVPHLLSWGIPNSGLGVTPHPHPIHKTVETFLLFNHWHALARLPSTVMFMKPSKFQKLAALNP. PQDLQPFLLKSGIPINSFGSSPHPHPAHKTLETHLLFTHWMHLCTQPSSVLFMKPQKFMKLQRKNK. GKEHLPFLLAAGIPTSGFGCNPHPHAVHKVIETFLLFNHWSFMATVQASVMFMKPSKFKKLASVNP. PKELLPLLNSYGIPTSGLGTSHHPHAAHKTIETFLLCTHWSFQATTPSSVMFMKPSKFNKLAQVNS. SNDEADCLESFGITVNPYANQTHTHAACKVIENRMLEIVGMHLPKHSCTMLFLKRSKLRYMRRAAI. TVEAANDLEGFGIATNPYSIELHTHAAAKTIENKLLEVLGSILPQEPVTFMFLKPRKLNYMRRNPR. APDAADTLEKYGIATNPFAVKVHSHGAVKSIENTLLERVGFNLPKEPCIFLFLKRSKLRYLRRGPS. PEKTREWFTKSGVYLSPFAYVNHSHPGCKTLENHLLFNVVASYISKYSYVACLSIKSNKMSKMERLGP. SPLAKRKLSMAGIYLSPYSAVVHSHPVCKTLENYILYSVLPSYINSSFYFVGIKERKL.QLLKSKC. LPSDKGEVLKISFSLDATQQNILRANFPGR.RTVFSNSSSSSHCFAAHRLLETDFV. PLDKLLSLLAKLMRYCVNMGVSVQEIYLSDAIVSS.SYMLHVSRSAGCVSFSWLYAKLSMFASCGKFWVG YHCVCPMRSPEDPDRMMKYASKLAEKACKITNKNLHEKIKDL.RTVLDTPDAETPSLCFHNDVTCNMRAEYSVMQDVYIN
Consensus	EL-YGIFH-H-A-K-E-LLLFMKKF-L
Consensus	161 240
Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus	ARDRRENVESKVISEEQILIATRAIPEF.QITFYNTQNAVHSLAGGLRSLELEYL.
Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus	ARDRRPAVNESKVISEEQILIAIRAIPEF.QITFYNTQNAVHSLAGGLRSLELEYL.
Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 186K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS*	AKUKREKVAF SKVISELGULTATKATPER.QTFYNTQNAVHSLAGGLRSLELEYL.
Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV	ARUMKER VNESKUTILAIKAPEF.QITF.YNTQNAVHSLAGGLRSLELEYL.

210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus	AGSYNQPITALSWLKINSI.LSPN.LNPN.LNLSITILESWGPLHSILIQRGLPL.PDPKL AGSYDQPLDAISWLKLNSI.HSPH.LNPH.LNLSVSKLESWGPVHSLLITRGLPH. AGSYNQPSDAHSWLRINSI.RLGN.HSPH.LNLSVSKLESWGPVHSLLIQRGTPP.PDPSL GGCYFHPYTTLEWLKVRMI.NAED.FHKLSTGF.ILTFQLVESLGANHLFIVQKAK.LL GGAYHHEFAHLQWLKVGKI.KWRDPKDSFLGHLNYTTEQVEMHTVTVQLQESFAANHLYCIRRGD.LL GGSYSHEFKQLEWLKVGHLKSPE.LSLTFQMIESIGANHLFMITRGI.KSSSYTQPLENGFLLSSSSIIKNRVTG.VEIRYQVSLVYSLGSHHLFHIYPAEDL.MKEEVRR SEGYQQPLKGGYLLGARSL.KLPD.GTV.YMVDVLCSKFPHHLISITKGEAA.APTH.RA SDLDVGELACSLDQKGVMKFICTMMVD.ADMLIHNEGEIPNFNVRWEIDRKKDLIHFDFMDEP.ILG KDLVRTTLE.LLHSALA.TKYRNMES.GERELMNNLKGCGYIVKRSVENAIYEVVSDKDVAE.VLR PGITGETVGYAVTHNSEGFLLC.KVTD.TVKGERVSFPVCTYIPATICDQMTGIMATDISPDDAQKLLVG DAVCHNTFQ.TMRHQPMQ.QSGRVYA.IALHSIYDIPADEFGAAL.LRKNVHTCYAA.FH -G-YPLWLKI
	401 480
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus	.TQNPDSQKIKDLISFQTPQALILPNPDSLAVPLR.HRLVPQKTYDALFTYT LPNQPPRATTPNSQNQLLHQTSQLFFELQQPQLSLVSFRIPDCVELPQATFLRQPLR.HRLVPTSVYNALFTYT LVRSLPPFSRSPDPETDLVSFQVPKSVELPQATFLSQPLR.HRLVPESVYNALFTYT LPSSEKQQVSFHIPNCLPLPEATFLHQPLR.HRLVPTEVYDALFTYT QAPSTPMASDLFRSYQEPRLDVVSFRIPDAIELPQATFLQQPLR.DRLVPRAVYNALFTYT LTPQNRTFCR.DSLVTLPQVFCPAAMNANRPLSKTKAMQMLLYC LTPEVRTFGQPDRYVIPPQIFLPKVHNCKKPILKKTMMQLFLYV ITPRVRTFTK.DSYVLFPQIFHPRNLNPSKPFPKVKAMQLFTYV FGPYDLFDVGSLFVKPVRVPIQDFPLSVFKKIFIYMSSLKKPDVQSAVAKLRQLSD FGPFEAVASEALKATLSPDYPCAFPVSYEVVNKIYRYLRTLKKPDEQSAIAKLSQIIAEPSG YSHRFSLLKHYLTYNAVDLGHAAYRIERKQDFGGVMVIDLTYSL.GFV YAQTVASTKKEAKRKPNTGKRKMVMSEATRRTIELHELSRIVAEEKKIPNHF.HFD LNQRIVINGRTNRNTNTMQNYL.LPIIAQGFSKWAKERKDDLDNEKMLGTRERKLTYGCLW.AFR FSENLLLEDSYVNLDEINACFSRDGDKLTFSFASESTLNYCHSYSNIL.KYV L
	481 560
194K ELV	RATRTLRTSDPAGFVRTQSNKPEFNWVTS
210K KYMV	RAVRIERI
198K OYMV	RAVRTLRTSDPAGFVRTHSNKPQYSWVTS
206K TYMV	RAVRTLRTSDPAAFVRMHSSKPDHDWVTS
186K NMV	KSVKQVTERDIYAKIRQIIPTSELELYDP
147K WCIMV	KIVKVARNCDIFAKVRQLIKSSDLDKISA
216K ACLSV	ADISIESVFSF
223K PVM	REIDFVECFARLVIHNSSMCATIMPEQLKEFMGNWLGKMPSVLARRFSSVRAVCVNKFIRGLKPYSFTLRLNEITW
la AlMV*	PKMPHSNGRSCAWYN
23/K BNYVV	ESDFAS.VGNFTQLVCEDVGYNFSVDAWLHL
126K TMV	CKTYFPASNREVYMKEFLVTRVNTWFCK
Consensus	VDFVRWW
	561
194K ELV	.QAWDNLOTYALLTASYRPPVSYTLHRSPLTKLKELLTRNALKLAAMASPALT.LAIFTTMTALN
205K EMV	.NAWDNLQTLS.VNAPHRPQVCYHFFSSPVARLKLHFAQHWRAYLLALTPFLTTSPLLLPLFNFN
210K KYMV	.SAWDNLQTFALLNCPLRPNVVYHVLLNPLQKMKLYFSQHWRRLGVIAAPGLFCLSLLLRSQKWS
198K OYMV	.RAWDNLQTYALLNAPVRPVVLFDFFLSPLKKFQLFMSQHINSLVIKALPFLGLIPPLVKLTTLG
206K TYMV	.NAWDNLQTFALLNVPLRPNVVYHVLQSPIASLALYLRQHWRRLTATAVPILSFLTLLQRFLPLP
166K DVY	DEIVHLANYFFFVSSLDSITCYEDLLSSDIWNRLTRPLRTAVRKFVELFKGRQDFDKLL
147K WCLMV	.DEIVHIVNYFVFISKLDSINSYSDILSLPIWSKALLPIKTKITOLWEKLTGARAFNOLL
216K ACLSV	WGCMKDWFFDKLPYREVLEKIGLADDFT.RRLMKIKPLAFDIHTTDRPLTVRMIIDQIWE
223K PVM	wniwensymmetrid a evdvpekldslfmgegaglvahitsrpyvgtvpladrewnallcmdsqkllhamrrmfmrgawgrading a statemetric a stateme
la AlMV*	RVKGQMVVHTVNEGYYHHSYQTAVRRKVLVDKKVLTRVTEVAFRQFR
NSP STNDPTC*	IPMSIPOKIKI ALOPKKEEKI LO
126K TMV	. FS RIDTFLLYKGVAHKSV
Consensus	LY-LLYLL

AGSYNQPVNALDWLKISAI....QTPS.....LSLSVSVLESWGPLHSLLIERSSQ.....

205K EMV SGSYNQPLQALSWLKISSI...LSPS.....LALSVTKLESWGPVHSILIQRGLPPKPSLSARPPV

400

321

194K ELV

	641 720
194K ELV	TNSSKALSFSALKIHTSVLQQKNSAPLS
205K EMV	TPFP.LPRLLSLFRRSVSSP.RLLHSILPSQLRGAAIPNRP
210K KYMV	LPLPKAKSISVFRRNLLLPPKPHRPPLLPHPEQMLQEFKLPWHRPPPKGKR
198K OYMV	FPIPSVSHFQILFFT
206K TYMV	IPLAEVKSITAFRRELDVFHLQQH
186K NMV	IALKWOPFSYSLETLAKMEDISWH
166K PVX	KAVDFHPVDFSFKVE
147K WC1MV	DALQWKTFTYSLEVVDFS
216K ACLSV	ERLSSFDNISNIVFYGRREWL.NNGVLPKVKKKGLAKLIPGREV
223K PVM	AHMCVISREFLLKYVEARLKSSCLIAKARRRGQHKEKLEAWEVLGLKSSDALFRAMTYLCNARLEPMFSESGL
la AlMV*	PNADAHSAIQSIAT
237K BNYVV	TGVFQPVHFDKTSAGLGIPGSKMGTAERVICHMSDGLGNGYN
NSP SINDBIS*	AAAEVVCEVEGLQADIGAALVETPRGHVRIIPQANDRMIG.Q
126K TMV	DSSSVNYWFPKMRDMVIVPLFDISLETSKRTRKEVLVSKDFV
Consensus	L
	721 800
194K ELV	QAEAKQELDKSAVPAPSEHDSSASQSTSLSLSASSQLLSTEKHPGSELSSKAIPVSTSCPS
205K EMV	LPLWVTKLHHFLDSHSLLPTPPIRPRIELQRLPLMSLIPKPK.IV
210K KYMV	NPFLTLLINLLHIPREICAGIRRYPSYYQSIQPKPLNPIQQFRNQLLAQLHTLPLPKKFLSILPRARKDIPLLPRMSFTT
198K OYMV	SCGLVPRLPPPV.AQQLQTMGILRKRSAFSLKTSLSTVKWPSWKI
206K TYMV	LRNHHSAISAVRPASPPHQRL.PHALQKAALLLLRPISPLLTATPFFRSEQKSMLPNAELSW.TLKR
186K NMV	QAAELARRLESEPDLLSWEDLCSKPIADPLASVSTPPLATLTSPAISESRVTDTS
166K PVX	DVEEMESLFSDGDLLDCFTRMPAYAVNAEEDLATIRKTPEM
147K WClMV	
216K ACLSV	DSHNYPREIYSDLLSSTSIWRSYDDDFRHRSASPLVILRSNRAYSEA
223K PVM	
la AlMV*	YIPVATTIYYRVKKLYN.AIPEMLSLLDKEERSTDAVLKGSEGP
237K BNYVV	HVKSDWQTLLKHPILSSSKYNFAVEVDLTGRYGCLATFRLTRVTGVKYVARTIK
NSP SINDBIS*	YIVVSPNSVLKNAKLAPAH.PLADQVKIITHSGRSGRYAVEPYDAKVLMPAGGA
126K TMV	FTVLNHIRTYQAKALTYANVLSFVE.SIRSRVIINGVTAR
Consensus	<u>L</u>
	801 880
194K ELV	801 ASKQLAPPLTAESHSSVNALLRKFLGPNSPQSNLDNYNLHLHPESFTLGWKRRPLLLDSHSSFLP
194K ELV 205K EMV	801 ASKQLAPPLTAESHSSVNALLRKFLGPNSPQSNLDNYNLHLHPESFTLGWKRRPLLLDSHSSFLP LPLLSLLLSSPTIYIHFFQA.QTPQQLHDNYHLHLHPSRFELSWTLQSYHVTQAQSFLPLLLP
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV	801 ASKQLAPPLTAESHSSVNALLRKFLGPNSPQSNLDNYNLHLHPESFTLGWKRRPLLLDSHSSFLP LPLLSLLLSSPTIYIHFFQA.QTPQQLHDNYHLHLHPSRFELSWTLQSYHVTQAQSFLPLLLP VNLPLQPPMWLAIGASLVPELAFLLSWLSGDVDLQTQHDIYHHHLHPENFTLSWTRTPYLALAPSPFLPYAHS
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV	801 ASKQLAPPLTAESHSSVNALLRKFLGPNSPQSNLDNYNLHLHPESFTLGWKRRPLLLDSHSSFLP LPLLSLLLSSPTIYIHFFQA.QTPQQLHDNYHLHLHPSRFELSWTLQSYHVTQAQSFLPLLLP VNLPLQPPMWLAIGASLVPELAFLLSWLSGDVDLQTQHDIYHHHLHPENFTLSWTRTPYLALAPSPFLPYAHS TALISALPAALSVFLKTISP.LSLQSLHDGYNAHLHPSPFNLSWSLETFHVQSPSPFLPLSLT
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV	801 ASKQLAPPLTAESHSSVNALLRKFLGPNSPQSNLDNYNLHLHPESFTLGWKRRPLLLDSHSSFLP LPLLSLLLSSPTIYIHFFQA.QTPQQLHDNYHLHLHPSRFELSWTLQSYHVTQAQSFLPLLLP VNLPLQPPMWLAIGASLVPELAFLLSWLSGDVDLQTQHDIYHHHLHPENFTLSWTRTPYLALAPSPFLPYAHS TALISALPAALSVFLKTISP.LSLQSLHDGYNAHLHPSPFNLSWSLETFHVQSPSPFLPLSLT FALPWQASLVLLSLSESSVLLHKLFSPPTLQAQHDTYHRHLHPGSYSLQWERTPLSIPRTTAFLPFTPT
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV	801 ASKQLAPPLTAESHSSVNALLRKFLGPNSPQSNLDNYNLHLHPESFTLGWKRRPLLL.DSHSSFLP LPLLSLLLSSPTIYIHFFQA.QTPQQLHDNYHLHLHPSRFELSWTLQSYHV.TQAQSFLPLLLP VNLPLQPPMWLAIGASLVPELAFLLSWLSGDVDLQTQHDIYHHHLHPENFTLSWTRTPYLA.LAPSPFLPYAHS TALISALPAALSVFLKTISP.LSLQSLHDGYNAHLHPSPFNLSWSLETFHV.QSPSPFLPLSLT FALPWQASLVLLS.LSESSVLLHKLFSPPTLQAQHDTYHRHLHPGSYSLQWERTPLSI.PRTTAFLPFTPT .SPKLTN.ISVESILHPTSSNHATIAESLNPKFCGWTRGDFHHMIVNQPSDR.LKGCRSWSYTTS
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX	801 ASKQLAPPLTAESHSSVNALLRKFLGPNSPQSNLDNYNLHLHPESFTLGWKRRPLLL.DSHSSFLP LPLLSLLLSSPTIYIHFFQA.QTPQQLHDNYHLHLHPSRFELSWTLQSYHVTQAQSFLPLLLP VNLPLQPPMWLAIGASLVPELAFLLSWLSGDVDLQTQHDIYHHHLHPENFTLSWTRTPYLALAPSPFLPYAHS TALISALPAALSVFLKTISP.LSLQSLHDGYNAHLHPSPFNLSWSLETFHVQSPSPFLPLSLT FALPWQASLVLLSLSESSVLLHKLFSPPTLQAQHDTYHRHLHPGSYSLQWERTPLSIPRTTAFLPFTPT .SPKLTNISVESILHPTSSNHATIAESLNPKFCGWTRGDFHHMIVNQPSDRLKGCRSWSYTTS .DVGQEVKEPAGDRNQYSNPAETFLNKLHRKHSREVKHQAVKK.AKOP
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV	801 ASKQLAPPLTAESHSSVNALLRKFLGPNSPQSNLDNYNLHLHPESFTLGWKRRPLLL.DSHSSFLP LPLLSLLLSSPTIYIHFFQA.QTPQQLHDNYHLHLHPSRFELSWTLQSYHVTQAQSFLPLLLP VNLPLQPPMWLAIGASLVPELAFLLSWLSGDVDLQTQHDIYHHHLHPENFTLSWTRTPYLALAPSPFLPYAHS TALISALPAALSVFLKTISP.LSLQSLHDGYNAHLHPSPFNLSWSLETFHVQSPSPFLPLSLT FALPWQASLVLLSLSESSVLLHKLFSPPTLQAQHDTYHRHLHPGSYSLQWERTPLSIPRTTAFLPFTPT .SPKLTNISVESILHPTSSNHATIAESLNPKFCGWTRGDFHHMIVNQPSDRLKGCRSWSYTTS .DVGQEVKEPAGDRNQYSNPAETFLNKLHRKHSREVKHQAVKK.AKOP NKPTS
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV	801 ASKQLAPPLTAESHSSVNALLRKFLGPNSPQSNLDNYNLHLHPESFTLGWKRRPLLL DSHSSFLP LPLLSLL LSSPTIYIHFFQA.QTPQQLHDNYHLHLHPSRFELSWTLQSYHVTQAQSFLPLLLP VNLPLQPPMWLAIGASLVPELAFLLSWLSGDVDLQTQHDIYHHHLHPENFTLSWTRTPYLALAPSPFLPYAHS TALISAL PAALSVFLKTISP.LSLQSLHDGYNAHLHPSPFNLSWSLETFHVQSPSPFLPLSLT FALPWQASLVLLS LSESSVLLHKLFSPPTLQAQHDTYHRHLHPGSYSLQWERTPLSI PRTTAFLPFTPT .SPKLTNISVESILHPTSSNHATIAESLNPKFCGWTRGDFHHMIVNQPSDRLKGCRSWSYTTS .DVGQEVKEPAGDRNQYSNPAETFLNKLHRKHSREVKHQAVKK.AKOP .RLETDTLEDEVSQNANN.NKPTS
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM	801 ASKQLAPPLTAESHSSVNALLRKFLGPNSPQSNLDNYNLHLHPESFTLGWKRRPLLL.DSHSSFLP .LPLLSLL.LSSPTIYIHFFQA.QTPQQLHDNYHLHLHPSRFELSWTLQSYHV.TQAQSFLPLLLP VNLPLQPPMWLAIGASLVPELAFLLSWLSGDVDLQTQHDIYHHHLHPENFTLSWTRTPYLA.LAPSPFLPYAHS .TALISAL.PAALSVFLKTISP.LSLQSLHDGYNAHLHPSPFNLSWSLETFHV.QSPSPFLPLSLT FALPWQASLVLLS.LSESSVLLHKLFSPPTLQAQHDTYHRHLHPGSYSLQWERTPLSI.PRTTAFLPFTPT .SPKLTN.ISVESILHPTSSNHATIAESLNPKFCGWTRGDFHHMIVNQPSDR.LKGCRSWSYTTS .DVGQEV.KEPAGDRNQYSNPAETFLNKLHRKHS.REVKHQAVKK.AKOP. .RLET.DTLEDEVSQNANN.NKPTS AKFSSNC.LSLCAAPCDEVIARTPFELNHR.REKKELSLKCLDF.HIK.KMKVK.NV RSEFASCVLEPEVWRDVEAALDIELGEVACACNARFVQGVVLSNQAGLNVREQVAGASVGL.YTKDRSNLKWGN
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV*	801 880 ASKQLAPPLTAESHSSVNALLRKFLGPNSPQSNLDNYNLHLHPESFTLGWKRRPLLL DSHSSFLPLPLLSLL LSSPTIYIHFFQA.QTPQQLHDNYHLHLHPSRFELSWTLQSYHV TQAQSFLPLLLP VNLPLQPPMWLAIGASLVPELAFLLSWLSGDVDLQTQHDIYHHHLHPENFTLSWTRTPYLA LAPSPFLPYAHSTALISAL PAALSVFLKTISP.LSLQSLHDGYNAHLHPSPFNLSWSLETFHV QSPSPFLPLSLT FALPWQASLVLLS LSESSVLLHKLFSPPTLQAQHDTYHRHLHPGSYSLQWERTPLSI PRTTAFLPFTPT .SPKLTN ISVESILHPTSSNHATIAESLNPKFCGWTRGDFHHMIVNQPSDR LKGCRSWSYTTS .DVGQEV KEPAGDRNQYSNPAETFLNKLHRKHS REVKHQAVKK AKOPRLET DTLEDEVSQNANN NKPTS AKFSSNC LSLCAAPCDEVIARTPFELNHR.REKKELSLKCLDF HIK.KMKVK.NV RSEFASCVLEPEVWRDVEAALDIELGEVACACNARFVQGVVLSNQAGLNVREQVAGASVGL YTKDRSNLKWGN .M.W YSGPTFLS.ALDKVNVPG D.F.VAKALLS
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV	801 ASKQLAPPLTAESHSSVNALLRKFLGPNSPQSNLDNYNLHLHPESFTLGWKRRPLLL DSHSSFLPLPLLSLL LSSPTIYIHFFQA.QTPQQLHDNYHLHLHPSRFELSWTLQSYHV. TQAQSFLPLLLP VNLPLQPPMWLAIGASLVPELAFLLSWLSGDVDLQTQHDIYHHHLHPENFTLSWTRTPYLA LAPSPFLPYAHS .TALISAL PAALSVFLKTISP.LSLQSLHDGYNAHLHPSPFNLSWSLETFHV QSPSPFLPLSLT FALPWQASLVLLSLSESSVLLHKLFSPPTLQAQHDTYHRHLHPGSYSLQWERTPLSI PRTTAFLPFTPT .SPKLTN. ISVESILHPTSSNHATIAESLNPKFCGWTRGDFHHMIVNQPSDR. LKGCRSWSYTTS .DVGQEV. KEPAGDRNQYSNPAETFLNKLHRKHS REVKHQAVKK AKOP RLET DTLEDEVSQNANN NKPTS AKFSSNC. LSLCAAPCDEVIARTPFELNHR.REKKELSLKCLDF. HIK.KMKVK.NV RSEFASCVLEPEVWRDVEAALDIELGEVACACNARFVQGVVLSNQAGLNVREQVAGASVGL YTKDRSNLKWGN .M.W. YSGPTFLS.ALDKVNVPG D.F.VAKALLS. LPKRDLKSLFSR .LRPED. RYVRVLDLLHIVRSIRLKGHAGLKEPYQYFPVYKREVD TTVSYCFSIAE
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS*	801 ASKQLAPPLTAESHSSVNALLRKFLGPNSPQSNLDNYNLHLHPESFTLGWKRRPLLL DSHSSFLP .LPLLSLL LSSPTIYIHFFQA.QTPQQLHDNYHLHLPSRFELSWTLQSYHV TQAQSFLPLLLP VNLPLQPPMWLAIGASLVPELAFLLSWLSGDVDLQTQHDIYHHHLPPNFTLSWTRTPYLA LAPSPFLPYAHS .TALISAL PAALSVFLKTISP.LSLQSLHDGYNAHLHPSPFNLSWSLETFHV QSPSPFLPLSLT FALPWQASLVLLS LSESSVLLHKLFSPPTLQAQHDTYHRHLHPGSYSLQWERTPLSI PRTTAFLPFTPT .SPKLTN. ISVESILHPTSSNHATIAESLNPKFCGWTRGDFHHMIVNQPSDR LKGCRSWSYTTS .DVGQEV. KEPAGDRNQYSNPAETFLNKLHRKHS REVKHQAVKK AKOP. .RLET DTLEDEVSQNANN. NKPTS. AKFSSNC LSLCAAPCDEVIARTPFELNHR.REKKELSLKCLDF. HIK.KMKVK.NV RSEFASCVLEPEVWRDVEAALDIELGEVACACNARFVQGVVLSNQAGLNVREQVAGASVGL YTKDRSNLKWGN .M.W. YSGPTFLS.ALDKVNVPG D.F.VAKALLS. LPKRDLKSLFSR .LRPED. RYVRVLDLHIVRSIRLKGHAGLKEPYQFPVYKREVD. TTVSYCFSIAE .VPWPEFFLALSESATLVYNEREFVNRKLYHIAMHGPAKNTEEEQ.YKVTKAELAETEVVFDVDKKRCVKKEEASCVLS
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV	801 ASKQLAPPLTAESHSSVNALLRKFLGPNSPQSNLDNYNLHLHPESFTLGWKRRPLLL.DSHSSFLP .LPLLSLLLSSPTIYIHFFQA.QTPQQLHDNYHLHLHPESFTLGWKRRPLLL.DSHSSFLP VNLPLQPPMWLAIGASLVPELAFLLSWLSGDVDLQTQHDIYHHHLHPENFTLSWTRTPYLA.LAPSPFLPYAHS .TALISAL.PAALSVFLKTISP.LSLQSLHDGYNAHLHPSPFNLSWSLETFHV.QSPSPFLPLSLT FALPWQASLVLLS.LSESSVLLHKLFSPPTLQAQHDTYHRHLHPGSYSLQWERTPLSI.PRTTAFLPFTPT .SPKLTN.ISVESILHPTSSNHATIAESLNPKFCGWTRGDFHHMIVNQPSDR.LKGCRSWSYTTS .DVGQEV.KEPAGDRNQYSNPAETFLNKLHRKHS.REVKHQAVKK.AKOP. .RLET.DTLEDEVSQNANN.NKPTS AKFSSNC.LLSLCAAPCDEVIARTPFELNHR.REKKELSLKCLDF.HIK.KMKVK.NV RSEFASCVLEPEVWRDVEAALDIELGEVACACNARFVQGVVLSNQAGLNVREQVAGASVGL.YTKDRSNLKWGN .M.W.YSGPTFLS.ALDKVNVPG.D.F.VAKALLS.LPKRDLKSLFSR .LRPED.RYVRVLDLLHIVRSIRLKGHAGLKEPYQYFPVYKREVD.TVSYCFSIAE .VPWPEFLALSESATLVYNEREFVNRKLYHIAMHGPAKNTEEEQ.YKVTKAELAETEYVFDVDKKRCVKKEEASGLVLS .SEW.DVDKSLLQSLSMTFYLHT.KLAVLKDDLLISKFSLG.S
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV CONSENSUS	801 ASKQLAPPLTAES. HSSVNALLRKFLGPNSPQSNLDNYNLHLHPESFTLGWKRRPLLL DSHSSFLPLPLLSLL LSSPTIYIHFFQA.QTPQQLHDNYHLHLHPSRFELSWTLQSYHV. TQAQSFLPLLLP VNLPLQPPMWLAIGASLVPELAFLLSWLSGDVDLQTQHDIYHHHLHPENFTLSWTRTPYLA. LAPSPFLPYAHS .TALISAL PAALSVFLKTISP.LSLQSLHDGYNAHLHPSPFNLSWSLETFHV. QSPSPFLPLSLT FALPWQASLVLLS LSESSVLLHKLFSPPTLQAQHDTYHRHLHPGSYSLQWERTPLSI PRTTAFLPFTPT .SPKLTN. ISVESILHPTSSNHATIAESLNPKFCGWTRGDFHHMIVNQPSDR. LKGCRSWSYTTS .DVGQEV. KEPAGDRNQYSNPAETFLNKLHRKHS. REVKHQAVKK. AKOPRLET DTLEDEVSQNANN. NKPTS. AKFSSNC LSLCAAPCDEVIARTPFELNHR.REKKELSLKCLDF. HIK.KMKVK.NV RSEFASCVLEPEVWRDVEAALDIELGEVACACNARFVQGVVLSNQAGLNVREQVAGASVGL. YTKDRSNLKWGN .M.W. YSGPTFLS.ALDKVNVPG D.F.VAKALLS. LPKRDLKSLFSR .VPWPEFLALSESATLVYNEREFVNRKLYHIAMHGPAKNTEEEQ.YKVTKAELAETEYVFDVDKKRCVKKEEASGLVLS .SEW. DVDKSLLQSLSMTFYLHT. K.LAVLKDDLL ISKFSLG.S
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus	801 ASKQLAPPLTAES. HSSVNALLRKFLGPNSPQSNLDNYNLHLHPESFTLGWKRRPLLL DSHSSFLPLPLLSL. LSSPTIYIHFFQA.QTPQQLHDNYHLHLHPSRFELSWTLQSYHV. TQAQSFLPLLLP VNLPLQPPMWLAIGASLVPELAFLLSWLSGDVDLQTQHDIYHHHLHPENFTLSWRTPYLA. LAPSPFLPYAHS .TALISAL. PAALSVFLKTISP.LSLQSLHDGYNAHLHPSPFNLSWSLETFHV. QSPSPFLPLSLT FALPWQASLVLLS. LSESSVLLHKLFSPPTLQAQHDTYHRHLHPGSYSLQWERTPLSI. PRTTAFLPFTPT .SPKLTN. ISVESILHPTSSNHATIAESLNPKFCGWTRGDFHHMIVNQPSDR. LKGCRSWSYTTS .DVGQEV. KEPAGDRNQYSNPAETFLNKLHRKHS. REVKHQAVKK. AKOPRLET. DTLEDEVSQNANN. NKPTS. AKFSSNC. LSLCAAPCDEVIARTPFELNHR.REKKELSLKCLDF. HIK.KMKVK.NV RSEFASCVLEPEVWRDVEAALDIELGEVACACNARFVQGVVLSNQAGLNVREQVAGASVGL. YTKDRSNLKWGN .M.W. YSGPTFLS.ALDKVNVPG. D.F.VAKALLS. LPKRDLKSLFSR .VPWPEFLALSESATLVYNEREFVNRKLYHIAMHGPAKNTEEEQ.YKVTKAELAETEYVFDVDKKRCVKKEEASGLVLS .SEW. DVDKSLLQSLSMTFYLHT. K.LAVLKDDLL ISKFSLG.S
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus	801 ASKQLAPPLTAES. HSSVNALLRKFLGPNSPQSNLDNYNLHLHPESFTLGWKRRPLLL DSHSSFLP LIPLISLL LSSPTIYIHFFQA.QTPQLHDNYHLHLHPSRFLSWTLQSYHV. TQAQSFLPLLLP VNLPLQPPMWLAIGASLVPELAFLLSWLSGDVDLQTQHDIYHHHLHPSNFTLSWTRTPYLA. LAPSPFLPXAHS TALISAL PAALSVFLKTISP.LSLQSIHDGYNAHLHPSPFNLSWSLETFHV. QSPSFFLPLSLT FALPWQASLVLLS. LSESSVLLHKLFSPPTLQAQHDTYHRHLHPGSYSLQWERTPLSI. PRTTAFLPFTPT SPKLTN. ISVESILHPTSSNHATIAESLNPKFCGWTRGDFHHMIVNQPSDR. LKGCRSWSTTS DVGQEV. KEPAGDRNQYSNPAETFLNKLHRKHS. REVKHQAVKK AKOP RLET. DTLEDEVSQNANN. NKPTS. AKFSSNC. LSLCAAPCCEVIARTPFELNHR.REKKELSLKCLDF. HIK.KMKVK.NV RSEFASCVLEPEVWRDVEAALDIELGEVACACNARFVQGVVLSNQAGLNVREQVAGASVGL. YTKDRSNLKWGN M.W. YSGPTFLS.ALDKVNVPG. D.F.VAKALLS. LPKRDLKSLFSR LKPED. RYVRVLDLLHIVRSIRLKGHAGLKEPYQYFPVYKREVD. TTVSYCFSIAE VPWPEFLALSESATLVYNEREFVNRKLYHIAMHGPAKNTEEEQ.YKVTKAELAETEYVFDVDKKRCVKKEEASGLVLS SEW. DVDKSLLQSLSMTFYLHT. K.LAVLKDDLL ISKFSLG.S
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus	801 850 850 850 850 850 850 850 850 850 850
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV	801 880 ASKQLAPPLTAES. HSSVNALLRKFLGPNSPQSNLDNYNLHLHPESFTLGWKRRPLLL DSHSSFLP LPLLSLL LSSPTIYIHFFQA.QTPQQLHDNYHLHLHPESFTLGWKRRPLLL DSHSFLP VNLPLQPPMWLAIGASLVPELAFLLSWLSGDVDLQTQHDIYHHHLHPENFTLSWTTPYLA. LAPSPFLPAHS TALISAL PAALSVFLKTISP. LSLQSLHDGYNAHLHPSPFNLSWSLETFHV. QSPSPFLPLSLT FALPWQASLVLLS LSESSVLLHKLFSPPTLQAQHDTYHRHLHPGSYSLQWERTPLSI PRTTAFLPFTT SPKLTN. ISVESILHPTSSNHATIAESLNPKFCGWTRGDFHHMIVNQPSDR. LKGCRSWSYTTS DVGQEV. KEPAGDRNQYSNPAETFLNKLHRKHS. REVKHQAVKK. AKOP. RLET DTLEDEVSQNANN. NKPTS. AKFSSNC LSLCAAPCDEVIARTPFELNKR. REKKELSLKCLDF. HIK.KMKVK.NV RSEFASCVLEPEVWRDVEAALDIELGEVACACNARFVQGVVLSNQAGLNVREQVAGASVGL YTKDRSNLKWGN M.M. YSGPTFLS.ALDKVNVPG. D.F.VAKALLS. LPKRDLKSFS LPPED. RYVRVLDLLHIVRSIRLKGHAGLKEPYQYFVYKREVD. TTVSYCFSIAE VPWPEFLALSESATLVINEREFVNRKLYHIAMHGPAKNTEEEQ.YKVTKAELAETEYVFDVDKKRCVKKEEASGLVLS SEW. DVDKSLLQSLSMTFYLHT. K.LAVLKDDLL ISKFSLG.S MARKER BERNARFFLAFFLEPPARKALYHIAMHGPAKNTEEEQ.YKVTKAELAETEYVFDVDKKRCVKKEEASGLVLS SEW. DVDKSLLQSLSMTFYLHT. K.LAVLKDDLL ISKFSLG.S MARKER BERNARFFLAFFLEPPARFAAFFLEPARFAAFFLEPARFAAFFLEPARFAAFFLEPARFAAFFLEPARFAAFFLEPARFAAFFLEPARFAAFFLEPARFAAFFLEPARFAAFFLEPARFAAFFLEPARFAAFFLEPARFAAFFLEPARFAAFFLEPARFAAFFLEPARFAAFFLEPARFAAFFAAFFLEPARFAAFFLEPARFAAFFLEPARFAAFFLEPARFAAFFAAFFLEPARFAAFFLEPARFAAFFLEPARFAAFFLEPARFAAFFLEP
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV	801 800 801 800 800 800 800 800 800 800
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV	801 880 ASKOLAPPLTAESHSSVNALLRKFLGPNSPOSNLDNYNLHLHPESFTLGWKRRPLLL.DSHSSFLP LPLLSLLLSSPTIYIHFFQA.OTPQQLHDNYHLHLHPSRFELSWTLQSYHVTQAQSFLPLLPP VNLPLQPPMWLAIGASLVPELAFLLSWLSGDVDLQTQHDIYHHHLHPENFTLSWTRTPYLA.LAPSPFLPYAHS TALISALPAALSVFLKTISP.LSLQSLHDGYNAHLHPSPFNLSWSLETFHVQSPSPFLPLSLT FALPWQASLVLLSLSESSVLLHKLFSPPTLQAQHDTYHRHLHPGSYSLQWERTPLSIPRTTAFLPFTT .SPKLTNISVESILHETSSNHATIAESLNPKFCGWTRGDFHHMIVNQPSDRLKGCRSWSYTTS .DVGQEVKEPAGDRNQYSNPAETFLNKLHRKHS.REVKHQAVKK.AKOP RLETDTLEDEVSQNANN.NKPTS. AKFSSNCLSLCAAPCDEVIARTPFELNHR.REKKELSLKCLDF.HKK.KMKVK.NV .WSEFFASCVLEPEVWRDVEAALDIELGEVACACARFVQGVVLSNQAGLNVREQVAGASVGL.TTKDRSNLKWGN .M.W.YSGPTFLS.ALDKVNVPG.DF.VAKALLS.LPKRDLKSLFSR .LRPED.RYVRVLDLLHIVRSIRLKGHAGLKEPYQYFPVYKREVD.TTVSYCFSIAE .VPWEEFLALSESATLVYNEREFVNRKLYHLAMHGPAKNTEEEQ.YKVTKAELAETEYVFDVDKKKRCVKKEEASGLVLS .SEW.DVDKSLLQSLSMTFYLHT.K.LAVLKDDLL.ISKFSLG.S .DVDKSLLQSLSMTFYLHT.K.LAVLKDDLL .SSCLQP.PA.SPSIAAAPHPLPPAQK.PPRPTTVPT.PKPLASPSDLNGCACDSALLPSTAAMTSAEHPT PLPDLPVNSSPLEP.PPPLPS.QPPLSGCPATQAPSAQPTPGEPLLAPPTTELKPESSNN.NNPNSSAGSNPPP PSSEELALPP.PPLPFS.QPPLSGCPATQAPSAQPTPGEPLLAPPTTELKPESSNN.NNPNSSSAGSNPPP PSSEELALPP.PPLPFS.QPPLSGCPATQAPSAQPTPGEPLLAPPTTELKPESSNNN.NNPNSSSAGSNPPP PSSEELALPP.PPLPFS.QPPLSGCPATQAPSAQPTPGEPLLAPPTTELKPESSNNN.NNPNSSSAGSNPPP PSSEELALPP.PPLPFS.QPPLSGCPATQAPSAQPTPGEPLLAPPTTELKPESSNNN.NNPNSSSAGSNPPP
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV	801 880 ASKOLAPPLTAESHSSVNALLRKFLGPNSPOSNLDNYNLHLHPESFTLGWKRRPLLL.DSHSSFLP LPLLSLLLSSPTIYIHFFQA.OTPQQLHDNYHLHLPSSFTLGWKRRPLLL.DSHSSFLP LPLSLLLSSPTIYIHFFQA.OTPQQLHDNYHLHLPSSFTLSWTLQSYHVOQQSFLPLLSP VNLPLQPPMWLAIGASLVELAFLLSWLSGDVDLOTQHDIYHHHLPSSFTLSWTRTPYLA.LAPSPFLPYAHS TALISAL.PAALSVFLKTISP.LSLQSLHDGYNAHLHPSPFNLSWSLETFHV.OSPSFLPLSST FALPWQASLVLLS.LSESSVLLHKLFSPPTLQAQHDTYHRHLHPGSYSLQWERTPLSI.PRTTAFLPFTT .SPKLTN.ISVESILHPTSSNHATIAESLNPKFCGWTRGDFHHMIVNQPSDR.LKGCRSWSYTTS DVGQEV.KEPAGDRNQYSNPAETFLNKLHRKHS.REVKHQAVKK.AKOP. RLET.DTLEDEVSQNANN.NKPTS AKFSSNC.LSLCAAPCDEVIARTPFELNHR.REKKELSLKCLDF.HIK.KMKVK.NV RSEFASCVLEPEVWRDVEAALDIELGEVACACNARFVQGVVLSNQAGLNVREQVAGASVGL.TTKDRSNLKWGN .M.W.YSGPTFLS.ALDKVNVPG.DF.VAKALLS .VPWPEFLALSESATLVYNEREFVNRKLYHAMHGPAKNTEEEQ.YKVTKAELAETEYVFDVDKKRCVKKEEASGLVLS .SEW.DVDKSLLQSLSMTFYLHT.K.LAVLKDDLL .SEW.DVDKSLLQSLSMTFYLHT.K.LAVLKDDLL .SEW.DVDKSLQSLSMTFYLHT.K.LAVLKDDLL .SEV.PPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPTVPT.PKPPTVPT .KLAVLKDDLL .SSCLOP .PA.SPSIAAAPHPLPPAQK.PPPPTTVPT .KLAVLKDDLL .SEV.QPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPP
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV	801 800 ASKQLAPPLTAES. HSSVNALLRKFLGPNSPQSNLDNYNLHLHPESFTLGWKRRPLLL DSHSSFLP. LPLLSLL LSSPTTYIHFFQA.QTPQQLHDNYHLHLHPSKFLSWTLQSYHV. TQAQSFLPLLP VNLPLQPPMWLAIGASLVPELAFLLSWLSGDVDLQTQHDIYHHHLHPENFTLSWTRTPYLA. LAPSPFLPXHS .TALISAL PAALSVFLKTISP.LSLQSLHDGYNAHLHPSFTLSWTRTPYLA. LAPSPFLPXHS .TALISAL PAALSVFLKTISP.LSLQSLHDGYNAHLHPSFTLSWTRTPYLA. LAPSPFLPXHS .TALISAL PAALSVFLKTISP.LSLQSLHDGYNAHLHPSFTLSWTRTPYLA. LAPSPFLPXHS .TALISAL PAALSVFLKTISP.LSLQSLHDGYNAHLHPSFTLSWTRTPYLA. LAPSPFLPXHS .TALISAL PAALSVFLKTISP.LSLQSLHDGYNAHLHPSFTLSWTRTPYLA. ASPFLPX .TALISAL SESSVLHKLFSPPTLQAQHDTYHRRHPGSYSLQWERTPLSI. PRTTAFLFFTT .SKLTN. ISVESILHTSSNHATIAESLNPKFCGWTRGDFHHMIVNQPSDR. LKGCRSWSYTS .DVGQEV. KEPAGDRNQYSNPAETFLNKLHRKHS. REVKHQAVKK. AKOP .RLET. DTLEDEVSQNNN. NKPTS. AKFSSNC. LSLCAAPCDEVIARTPFELNHR.REKKELSLKCLDF. HIK.KMKVK.NV RSEFASCVLEPEVWRDVEAALDIELGEVACACNARFVQGVVLSNQAGLNVREQVAGASVGL. YTKDRSNLKWGN .M.W. YSGFTFLS.ALDKVNVPG. D.F.VAKALLS. LPKRDLKSLFSR .LFPED. RYNRVLDLLHIVRSINKGHAGLKEPYQYFYYRREVD. TTVSYCFSIAE .VVPREFLALSESATLVYNEREFVNRKLYHIAMHGPAKNTEEEQ.YKVTKAELAETEYVFDVDKKRCVKKEEASGLVS .SEW. DVDKSLLQSLSMTFYLHT. K.LAVLKDDLL ISKFSLG.S .SEV. DVDKSLLQSLSMTFYLHT. K.LAVLKDLL ISKFSLG.S .SEV. DVDKSLLQSLSMTFYLHT. K.LAVLKDLL ISKFSLG.S .SEV. DVDKSLLQSLSMTFYLHT. K.LAVLKDLL ISKFSLG.S .SEV. DVDKSLLQSLSMTFYLHT. K.LAVLKDLL .SSFSLPPD.PPPLPPS.QPPLSQGPATQAPSAQPTPGEPLLAPPTTELKPESSNPN.NPNPSSSAGSNPPP PSPSEEIALPP. PFFLPPS.QPPLSQGPATQAPSAQPTPGEPLLAPPTTELKPESSNPN.NPNPSSSAGSNPPP PSPSEEIALPP. PFFLPPS.QPPLSQGPATQAPSAQPTPGEPLLAPPTTELKPESSNPN.NPNPSSSAGSNPPP PSPSEEIALPP. PFFLPPL.PAQETPS. PPAPALVPPT. QPP.QPQPWEEIISTFIS STAPPDHSEASLPPAFASTSV.PR.PPVASSLGAQPPTTTAAPPTP TEPTQRAHQNSDLTLESSTPIC.PPPPIQSS PLOVLMLENLLITPPWR.LSDL.LLTLNTPANACCIQILDCSAASAWVDWSVQPLKFPVAFPVAGETTTI DCMM
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX	801 880 ASKQLAPPLTAES. HSSVNALLRKFLGPNSPQSNLDNYNLHLHPESFTLGWKRRPLLL DSHSSFLP LPLLSLL LSSPTINIHFFQA.QTPQQLHDNYHLHLHPESFTLGWKRRPLLL DSHSSFLP VNLPLQPPMWLAIGASLVPELAFLLSWLSGDVDLQTQHDIYHHHLHPESFTLSWTLQSYHV. TQAQSFLPLLP VNLPLQPPMWLAIGASLVPELAFLLSWLSGDVDLQTQHDIYHHHLHPESFTLSWTRTPYLA. LAPSPFLPXHS TALISAL PAALSVFLKTISP.LSLQSLHOGYNAHLHPSFYNLSWSLEFTHV. QSPSPFLPSIT FALPWQASLVLIS. LSESSVLLHKLFSPPTLQAQHDTYHRHLHPGSYSLQWERTPLSI PRTTAFLPFTT SPKLTN. ISVESILHPTSSNHATIAESLPKFCGWTRGDFHHMIVNQPSDR. LKGCRSWSYTTS DVGGEV. KEPAGDRNQYSNPAETTINKLHRKHS. REVKHQAVKK. AKOP. RLET. DTLEDEVSQNANN. NKPTS. AKFSSNC. LSLCAAPCOEVIARTPFELNHR.RKKLSLKCLDF. HIK.KMKVN.NV RSEFASCVLEPEVWRDVEAALDIELGEVACACNARFVQGVVLSNQAGLNVREQVAGASVGL. YTKDRSNLKWGN M.M. YSGPTFLS.ALDKVNVPG. D.F.VAKALLS. LPKRDLKSLFSR LRPED. RYVRVLDLLHIVRSIRLKGHAGLKEPYQYFPVYKREVD. TVSYCFSIAE .VPWPEFLALSESATLVYNEREFVNRKLYHIAMHGPAKNTEEEQ.YKVTKAELAETEYVFDVDVKKRCVKKEEASGLVLS .SEW. DVDKSLLQSLSMTFYLHT. K.LAVLKDDLL ISKPSLG S MAA M.SSCLQP. PA.SPSIAAPHPLPPAQK.PPRPTTVPT. PKPLASPSQTQAA APTGAQASNPAPRPPAFHAIPL.PP.QPSTSSSPPLQEPTLSHLIHPPLTEKPSPLNGCACDSALLPSTAMMTSAEHFT PLPPLPVNSSPLFP. PPPPLPS.QPPLSQGPATQAPSAQPTPGEPLLAPPTTELKPESSPN.NNPNSSAGSNPPP PSSSEEIALPP. PIFV.PPPL. PAQETTS. PPAPALVPFT. OPP.OPOVEMEIISTFLS STAPPDHSEASLPPAFSTSV.PR.PPPVASSLGAQPPTTTAAPPTPIEPTORAHQNSDLTLESSTPIE.PPPPIQSS PDVDLMLENLLLTP. IPWESR.LSDI.LLTINTPANACCIQILDCSAASAWVDWSVQPIKTFPVAFVCMGETTLT
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WCIMV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a AlMV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 166K PVX	801 880 ASKQLAPPLTAES. HSSVNALLRKFLGPNSPQSNLDNYNLHLHPESFTLGWKRRPLLL DSHSSFLP LPLLSLL LSSPTIYIHFFQA.QTPQQLHDNYHLHLHPESFTLGWKRRPLLL DSHSSFLP VNLPLQPPMWLAIGASLVPELAFLLSWLSGDVDLQTQHDIYHHHLHPESFFLSWTLQSYHV. TQAQSFLPLLP VNLPLQPPMWLAIGASLVPELAFLLSWLSGDVDLQTQHDIYHHHLHPENFTLSWTRTPYLA. LAPSPFLPXHS .TALISAL PAALSVFLKTISP.LSLQSLHOGYNAHLHPSFFNLSWSLETFHV. QSPSFFLPJSLT FALPWQASLVLLS LSESSVLLHKLFSPPTLQAQHDTYHRHLHPGSFSLQWERTPLSI PRTTAFLPFTPT .SPKLTN. ISVESILHPTSSNHATIAESLPKFCGWTRGDFHMIVNQPSDR. LKGCRSWSYTTS DVGQEV. KEPAGDRNQYSNPAETFLNKLHRKHS. REVKHQAVKK AKOP. .RLET. DTLEDEVSQNANN. NKPTS AKFSSNC. LSLCAAPCDEVIARTPFELNHR.REKKELSLKCLDF. HIK.KMKVN.NV RSEFASCVLEPEVWRDVEAALDIELGEVACACARFVQGVUSNQAGLNYRQVGAGSVGL. YTKDRNLKWGN .M.W. YSGPTFLS.ALDKVNVPG. D.F.VAKALLS. LPKRDLKSLFSR LRFED. RYVRVLDLLHIVRSIRLKGHACLKEPYQTFPVYKREVD. TTVSYCFSLAE .VPWPEFLALSESATLVYNEREFVNRKLYHIAMHGPAKNTEEEQ.YKVTKAELAETEYVFDVDVKKRCVKKEEASGLVLS .SEW. DVDKSLLQSLSMTFYLHT. K.LAVLKDDLL ISKFSLG.S
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM	801 800 ASKOLAPPLTAES. HSSVNALLRKFLGPNSPQSNLDNYNLHLHPESFTLGWKRRPLLL. DSHSSFLP LPLLSLL. LSSPTIYIHFFQA.QTPQQLHDNYHLHLPSSFTLGWKRRPLLL. DSHSSFLP VNLPLQPPMWLAIGASLVPELAFLLSWLSGDVDLQTQHDIYHHHLPSSFTLSWKTRPYLA. LAPSPFLPIAHS .TALISAL. PAALSVFLKTISP.LSLQSLHOGYNAHLHPSPFNLSWSLETFHV. QSPSFPLPISIT FALPWQASLVLS. LSESSVLHKLFSPPTLQAQHDTYHRHLPGSYSLQWERTPLSI. PRTAFLPFTPT SPKLTN. ISVESILHPTSSNHATIAESLNPKFCGWRGDFHMIVNQPSDR. LKGCRSWSTTS .DVGQEV. KEPAGDRNQYSNPAETFLNKLHRKHS. REVKHQAVKK. AKOP
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV*	801 800 ASKOLAPPLTAES. HSSVNALLRKFLGPNSPOSNLDNYNLHLHPESFTLGWKRRPLLL. DSHSSFLP LPLLSLL. LSSPTIYIHFFQA. QTPQQLHDNYHLHLPSFFLGWKRRPLLL. DSHSSFLP VNLPLQPPMWLAIGASLVPELAFLLSWLSGDVDLQTQHDIYHHHLPSFFLSWTLQSYHV. TQAQSFLPLLP VNLPLQPPMWLAIGASLVPELAFLLSWLSGDVDLQTQHDIYHHHLPPNTLSWTRTPYLA. LAPSPFLPYAHS TALISAL. PAALSVFLKTISP. LSLQSLHDGYNAHLHPSPFNLSWSLETFHV. QSPSFLPLSLT FALPWQASLVLS. LSESSVLHKLFSPPTLQAQHDTYHRHLPGSYSLQWERTPLSI. PRTAFLPFTPT SPKLTN. ISVESILHPTSSNHATTAESLMPKFCGWRGDFHMIVNOPSDR. LKGCRSWSYTTS DVGQEV. KEPAGDRNQYSNPAETFLNKLHRKHS. REVKHQAVKK. AKOP. .RLET. DTLEDEVSQNANN. NKPTS. AKFSNC. LSLCAAPCDEVIARTPFELNHR. REKKELSLKCLDF. HIK. KMKVK.NV RSEFASCVLEPEVWRDVEAALDIELGEVACACNARFVQGVVLSNQAGLNVREQVAGASVGL. YTKDRSNLKWGN M.W. YSGPTFLS. ALDKVNVPG. D. F. VAKALLS. LPKRDLKSLFSRE .LRFED. RYVRVLDLLHIVRSIRLKGHAGLKEPYQYFPVYKREVD. TTVSYCFSIAE .VWPPEFLALSESATLVYNEREFVNRKLYHIAMHGPAKNTEEQ. YKVTKAELAETEYVPDVDVKKRCVKKEEASGLVLS SEW. DVDKSLLQSLSMTFYLHT. K. LAVLKDDLL. ISKFSLG. S MONTSCLOP. PA.SPSIAAPHPLPPAQK. PPRPFTVPT. PKPLASPSOTQAA APTQAGASNPAPRPFAFIAIPL.PP. QPSTSSSPLQEPTLSPHLIHPPLTREPSPLNGCACDSALDSTAAMTSAEHFP PLPPLPVNSSPLFP. PPPLPPS. QPLLSQGPATQAP SAQP TPGEPLLAPPTTELKEESSNEN.NENPSSAGSNPPP PSPSEEIALPP. PIFRV.PPPL. PAQETPS. PPAPALVPPT. QPP.QOPWEEIISTFLS STAPPDHSEASLPPAFASTSV.PR. PPVASLGAQPTTTAAPTPT IETPTQRAHQNSDLTLESSTFIE.PPPPP10SS PDVDLMLENLLLTP. IPWESR.LSDI.LLTINTPANACIQILDCSAASAWDVSVQP IKTFPVAPKMGGTSKEEKGSPPHSVKR SLLSNGWGRSLS.VWKA.GRSRMIPVHLLKPTCGEGNGKPEENKKEEKIPMEGTSKEEKGSPPHSVKR SELSNGWGRSLS.VWKA.GRSRMIPVHLLKPTCGEGNGKPEENKKEEKIPMEGTSKEEKGSPPHSVKR SELSNGWGRSLS.VWKA.GRSRMIPVHLLKPTCGESNKPLESK TITDPSNTFTTVDLNVSFCKL FTVFFYL
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV	801 880 ASKQLAPPLTAES. HSSVNALLRKFLGPNSPQSNLDNYNLHLHPESFTLGWKRRPLLL DSHSSPLP LPLLSLL LSSPTIYIHFFQA.QTPQQLHDNYNLHLHPSFTLGWKRRPLLL DSHSSPLP VNELQPPMWLAIGASLVPELAFLLSWLSGDVDLQTQHDIYHHHLHPSRFELSWTLQSYHV. TQAQSFLPLLPP VNELQPPMWLAIGASLVPELAFLLSWLSGDVDLQTQHDIYHHLHPSRFELSWTLQSYHV. TQAQSFLPLLPP S.TALISAL PAALSVFLKTISP.LSLQSLHDGYNAHLHPSFFNLSWSTEPTVA. LAPSFLPYAHS TALISAL PAALSVFLKTISP.LSQSLHDGYNAHLHPSFFNLSWSLETFHV. QSPSPFLPST SPKLTN. ISVESILHPTSSNHATIAESLNPKFCGWTRGDFHMIVNQPSDR. LKGCRSWSYTS DVQQEV. KEPAGDRNQYSNPAETFLNKLHRKHS. REVKHQAVKK. AKOP RET. DTLDEDVSQNANN. NKPTS AKFSSNC. LSLCAAPCDEVIARTPFELNHR.REKKELSLKCLDF. HTK.KMKVK.NV RSEFASCVLEPEVWRDVEAALDIELGEVACACNARFVQGVVLSNQAGLNVREQVAGASVGL. YTKDRSNLKWGN M.W. YSGPTTLS.ALDKVNVPG. D.F.VAKALLS. LPKRDLKSLFSR LVPWPFFLALSESATLVYNERFVNRKLYHIAMHGPAKNTEEQ.YKVTXAELAFETEYVFDVDKKRCVKKEESGLVS SEW. DVDKSLLQSLSMTFYLHT. K.LAVLKDDLL ISKFSLG.S MTD PLPPEFLALSESATLVYNERFVNRKLYHIAMHGPAKNTEEQ.YKVTXAELAFETEYVFDVDKKRCVKKEESGLVS SEW. DVDKSLLQSLSMTFYLHT. K.LAVLKDDLL ISKFSLG.S MTD PLPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPP
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS*	801 880 ASKQLAPPLTAES. HSSVNALLRKFLGPNSPQSNLDNYNLHLHPSFTLGWKRRPLLL DSHSFLP UPLLSLL LSSPTIYIHFFQA.QTPQQLHDNYHLHLHPSRFLSWTLQSYHV. TQAQSFLPLLP VNLQQPPMWLAIGASLVELAFLLSWLGGVDLQTQHDIYHHLHLPSRFLSWTLQSYHV. TQAQSFLPLLP VNLQQPMWLAIGASLVELAFLLSWLGGVDLQTQHDIYHHLHLPSRFLSWTLPSYLA. LAPSFLPYABS .TALISAL. PAALSVFLKTISP.LSLQSLHDQYNAHLHPSRFNLSWSLETFHV. QSPSPLPLSLT FALPWQASLVLLS. LSESSVLLHKLFSPPTLQAQHDTYHHLHPGSYSLQWERTELSI. PRTTAFLPFTPT SPKLTN. ISVESILHPTSSNHATIAESLNPKFCGWTRGDFHHMIVNQPSDR. LKGCRWSYTTS DVQQEV. KEPAGDRNQYSNPAETFLNKLHRKHS. REVKHQAVKK. AKOP .KLFS. DTLEDEVSQNAN. NKPTS. AKFSSNC. LSLCAAPCDEVIARTPFELNHR.REKKLSLKCLDF. HIK.KMKVK.NV RSEASCVLEPEVWRDVEAALDIELGEVACACNARFVQGVVLSNQAGLNVREQVAGASVGL. YTKDRSNLKWGN M.M. YSGPTFLS.ALDKNVPG. D.F.VAKALSS. LPKRDLKSLFSR LKPED. RYVRUDLLHIVRSIRLKGHAGLKEPYQYPVYKREVD. TVSVCFSIAE .VPWPEFLALSESATLVYNEREFVNRKLYHIAMHGPAKNTEEEQ.YKVTKAELAETEYVFDVDKKKCVKKEEASGLVLS .SEW. DVDKSLLQSLSMTFYLHT. K.LAVLKDDLL ISKFSLG. S DVDKSLLQSLSMTFYLHT. K.LAVLKDDLL ISKFSLG.S DVDKSLLQSLSMTFYLHT. K.LAVLKDDLSSNPINCHTSTAAMTSAEHTP PLPPLPVNSSLFP. PPPPLPPS.QPPLSQGPATQAPSAQPTFGEPLLAPPTTELKPESSNP.NPNPSSSAGSNPPP PSPSEETALPP. PFPLPPS.QPLSQGPATQAPSAQPTGEPLLAPPTTELKPESSNP.NPNPSSSAGSNPPP PSPSEETALPP. PFPLPPS.SQCPLSQGPATQAPSAQPTGEPLLAPPTTELKPESSNP.NPNPSSSAGSNPPP PSPSEETALPP. PFPLPPS.SQCPLSQQPTTTAAPPTPIEPTQARAQNSUSVQPIKTFPVAFVGKGETTLT M.LQNI EXXKGVKA.GCRSMIPVHLLKPTCGEGGNGKPEERNKEEAKIPMNEGTSKEEKGSEPPHSEVKR SELLSNGWCRSLS.VWEEINSVQVFDVAVLSYSKETQMVVLLPSLDGIERGACATVVNLKKCGFIVAFDAGSKEEKGSEPPHSEVKR SELLSNGWCRSLS.VWEEINSVQVFDVAVLSYSKETQMVVLLPSLDGIERGACATVVNLKKCGFIVACAGFIVACAG SATSHSERTPVRDE.SPIRCTDGVFYFI.RMLLKCLGSDKFESV.TITDPRSNTETT
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 16 ALSV 223K PVM 16 ALSV 223K PVM 16 ALSV 223K PVM 16 ALSV 223K PVM 16 ALSV 223K PVM 17 ALMV* 237K BNYVV 205 SINDBIS*	801 800 ASKQLAPPLTAES. HSSVNALLRKFLGPNSPQSNLDNYNLHLHPESFTLGWKRRPLLL DSHSSFLP .LPLLSLL LSSPTIYIHFFQA.QTPQQLHDNYNLHLHPESFTLGWKRRPLLL DSHSSFLP VNLQPPMMLAIGASLVPELAFLLSWLSGDVDLQTQHDIYHHHLHPESFTLSWTLQSYHV TQAQSFLPLLP VNLQPPMMLAIGASLVPELAFLLSWLSGDVDLQTQHDIYHHHLHPESFTLSWRTPYLA. LAPSPFLPYAHS .TALISAL PAALSVFLKTISP.LSLQSLHDGYNAHLHPESFTLSWRTPYLS. PRTAFLFTPT SPKLTN. ISVESILHPTSSNHATIAESLNPKFCGWTRGDFHMIVNQPSDR. LKGCRSWSYTS DVQQEV. KEPAQDRNQYSNPAETFLNKLHRKHS. REVKHQAVK. AKOP. .RLET. DTLEDEVSQNANN. NKTS. AKFSSNC. LSLCAAPCDEVIARTPFELNHR.RKHSLSLKCLDF. HIX.KMKVK.NV RSFASCVLEPEVWRDVEAADJIELGEVACACNARFVQGVVLSNQAGLNVREQVAGASVGL. YTKDRSNLKWGN M.M. YSGPTFLS.ALDKVNVEG. D.F.VAKALLS. LPKRDLKSLFSR .KRPED. RVVRVLDILHIVRSILKKHAGLKEPQYFYVKREVD. TTVSYCFSTAE .VVWPEFLALSESATLVYNEREFVNRKLYHIAMHGPAKNTEEEQ.YKVTKAELAETEYVFDVDKKRCVKKEEASGLVLS .SEW. DVDKSLLQSLSMTFYLHT. K.LAVLKDDLL ISKFSLG.S MONNESSPLSP. PROFENSALDFFLSS, PPAPALVPFT. QPP.QPQPWEEISTFLS SSEN. DVDKSLLQSLSMTFYLHT. K.LAVLKDDLL ISKFSLG.S MONNESSPLSP. PPPLPS.QPPLSGCPATQAFSAQPTTGEPLLAPPTTELKPESSPN NNPRSSSASSNPPP PSPSEEIALPP. PIFRV.PPPL. PAQETPS. PPAPALVPFT. QPP.QPQPWEEISTFLS STAPPOHSESLEPFAFSTSV.FR.PPPVASSLGQPPTTTAAPPTPIEPTQRAHONSDLTESSTFIE.PPPPPISS STAPPOHSESLEPFAFSTSV.FR.PPPVASSLGQPPTTAAPTPIEPTQRAHONSDLTESSTFIE.PPPPPISS STAPPOHSESLEPFAFSTSV.FR.PPPVASSLGQPPTTAPPTPIEPTQRAHONSDLTESSTFIE.PPPPPISS STAPPOHSESLEPFAFSTSV.FR.PPPVASSLGQPPTTAPPTPIEPTQRAHONSDLTESSTFIE.PPPPPISS STAPPOHSESLEPFAFSTSV.FR.PPPVASSLGQPPTTAPPTPIEPTQRAHONSDLTESSTFIE.PPPPPISS STAPPOHSESLEPFAFSTSV.FR.PPPVASSLGQPPTTAPPTPIEPTORAHONSDLTESSTFIE.PPPPIGS PLACIN

210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV	KSSSSDNPPAPNKPTPTS.SSTTPPSPNLPLQFGSIHSPFLSDGQLNYSALPPPQDPTNTTLSLLP.EPKPPTEVQ. SLNASSHKPSPSSAPLES.PSPIPESFEVLAEAPQHQRSINECGALNQLPLPVPSPLQNST.NPKPPF.PS. DIPPSAPVLFPEINSPHRFSPKLPTTPDFEPTRTSPPPSTSHQDSTDPADPLMGSHLLHHSLPAPPT.HPLQSSQLLP FEDDSTLPLKEGEFVFFPPEWLARHKYQIKTGSNLHLC.ATFLVLDTTL
166K PVX	AEGEAEPNETSGGMGAIP
147K WCLMV	NNPD
216K ACLSV	EGVRLDEQHISEPLLSFKLDDFVGREKLCSAGLIKTVGNDYLLLARQIECMPLSQLRGKKAAYFCLDFP.MVYFHDKVSY
223K PVM	WMDHICLEVMANVAYGHECYMRSWGTMDVVVFLKRATVSEQVTFESAQEVGPIEGKSDSGAPGVGVNLDLGGVVGSEYPA
1a AlMV*	GKIDGPSPLISDPVYFQSLEDVYYAEWHQGNAIDASNYARTLLDDIRKQKEESLK.AKAKE
237K BNYVV	RLKANVSAFLRDMVDPISFLWTWLFERRLVDQIFQDGTDVFYQMDRACVDEKALRLNDH.IKITRDFLPADTLLPEGWSL
NSP SINDBIS*	SKTVDSVMLNGCHKAVEVLYVDEAFACHAGALLALIAIVRPRKKVVLCGDPMQCGFFNMMQLKVHFNHPEKDICT
126K TMV	KKMEETEVMYNALSELSVLRESDKFDVDVFSQMCQSLEVDPMTAAKVIVAVMSNESGLTLTFERPTEANVA
Consensus	***************************************
	1041 1120
194K ELV	APLETDDSCAGPISTFODLFPASYYPHTANFPCRSKIPGYLEAPYPPLDCMLVALSAOMPOSPOFLWSALN
205K EMV	TPLADDPTAVGPCLPFHVLHPADYFPLSAEFLTRTRHVPPSSLSHPKLNCLLTCFSELSGHSESDLWLSLO
210K KYMV	SPLMADPTCVGPAVSESSLYPRDEEPNTASE. LTRLRLSPPTPLPMPKNNCLLTAVAPSL HINDHRLWTSLO
198K OYMU	SDLISDMSCTCDWFFFTTFDAFYHMSNCSF DTRIBCHDRSSADEDOKHCIITAVASOI SVTEUOIWEDIC
206K TYM	ADI TNDDTA TODU DEFET HORRYDENTATE I TDI DCI DCNUI DODTI NOI I CANCOM KUCEDU IMOTO
10CV MAR	I CETI ANNO TEDEDI DETACEVICO TATE DINLASLESNOLEVET LINCLESAVSDUT KVSEDHLWESLO
LOOK NMV	LOEILANNCIEFEFERTASARSCUFIFSVD
166K PVX	LG
14/K WCIMV	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••
216K ACLSV	PTFEATGEIRHVMMKARSKWGIDFNSALIQVYNDGCRLPLHSDNEECYDDDGILTINVVGDAKFHTTCHDEVIDLKQGNE
223K PVM	NGAERYKRVSGPGDGCCCWHSFAYLVGMHHMELKRLCTSHVFENAALNVELEQCKASGAFVTHAAILATALRLRAE
la AlMV*	VEDAQKLNRAILQVHAYLEAHPDGGKIEG.LGLSSQFIAKIPELAIPTPKPLPEFEK.N
237K BNYVV	DDWEKAPDSLKTLSAAASL.PVECGAVNCVGKSFKSVRTLLPPSVVTSPVEQFFKSGGKFRDDAEFAELLSAHYR
NSP SINDBIS*	KTFYKYISRRCTQPVTAIVSTLHYDGKMKTTNPCKKNIEIDITGATKPKPGDIILTCFRGWVKQLQIDYPGHEVMT
126K TMV	LALQDQEKASEGALVVTSREVEEPSMKGSMARGELQLAG.LAGDHPESSYSKNEEIESLEQFH
Consensus	L
	1121 1200
194K ELV	TLMPLSALT.SPSLRVLGLGTEELTAL.SYYYHFQAEIHSDNEIYRFSDNEIYRF
194K ELV 205K EMV	TLMPLSALT.SPSLRVLGLGTEELTAL.SYYYHFQAEIHSDNEIYRFSDNEIYRFSDNEIYRFSDNEIYRF SILPDSQLQ.NPEVSTLGLSTDILTAL.CFIYHSSVTLHAPSGVYHY
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV	TLMPLSALT.SPSLRVLGLGTEELTAL.SYYYHFQAEIHSDNEIYRFSDNEIYRFSDNEIYRF SILPDSQLQ.NPEVSTLGLSTDILTAL.CFIYHSSVTLHAPSGVYHY EVLPDSLLS.NSEIDSVGMSTDLLTAL.SHLFNFQAVVHSERGDILF
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV	TLMPLSALT.SPSLRVLGLGTEELTAL.SYYYHFQAEIH.SDNEIYRF. SILPDSQLQ.NPEVSTLGLSTDILTAL.CFIYHSSVTLH EVLPDSLLS.NSEIDSVGMSTDLLTAL.SHLFNFQAVVH.SERGDILF. DMLPDSLLT.NSEVENFGLSTDHLTCL.SYRLHFECIIH.
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV	TLMPLSALT.SPSLRVLGLGTEELTAL.SYYYHFQAEIH.SDNEIYRF. SILPDSQLQ.NPEVSTLGLSTDILTAL.CFIYHSSVTLH.APSGVYHY EVLPDSLLS.NSEIDSVGMSTDLLTAL.SHLFNFQAVVH.SERGDILF DMLPDSLLT.NSEVENFGLSTDHLTCL.SYRLHFECIIH.TSHSTIPY TILPDSOLR.NEEINSLGLSTEHLTAL.AHLYNFOATIY
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV	TLMPLSALT.SPSLRVLGLGTEELTAL.SYYYHFQAEIHSDNEIYRF SILPDSQLQ.NPEVSTLGLSTDILTAL.CFIYHSSVTLH EVLPDSLLS.NSEIDSVGMSTDLLTAL.SHLFNFQAVVH. DMLPDSLLT.NSEVENFGLSTDHLTCL.SYRLHFECIIH. TILPDSQLR.NEEINSLGLSTEHLTAL.AHLYNFQATIY. SDRGPILF. KVLMAAETS.DSVADSLPWASWVNLLO.KHGFKGNOOOI
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX	TLMPLSALT.SPSLRVLGLGTEELTAL.SYYYHFQAEIH.SDNEIYRF. SILPDSQLQ.NPEVSTLGLSTDILTAL.CFIYHSSVTLH EVLPDSLLS.NSEIDSVGMSTDLLTAL.SHLFNFQAVVH DMLPDSLLT.NSEVENFGLSTDHLTCL.SYRLHFECIIH TILPDSQLR.NEEINSLGLSTEHLTAL.AHLYNFQATIY KVLMAA.ETS.DSVADSLPWASWVNLLQ.KHGFKGNQQQI AQDGQLII DBSGTMIM
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV	TLMPLSALT.SPSLRVLGLGTEELTAL.SYYYHFQAEIHSDNEIYRFSDNEIYRFSDNEIYRFSDNEIYRFSDNEIYRFSDNEIYRFSDNEIYRFSDNEIYRFSDNEIYRFSDNEIYRFSPLPDSLLS.NSEIDSVGMSTDLLTAL.SHLFNFQAVVHSERGDILFSPLPDSLLT.NSEVENFGLSTDHLTCL.SYRLHFECIIHSDRGPILF
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV	TLMPLSALT.SPSLRVLGLGTEELTAL.SYYYHFQAEIHSDNEIYRFSDNEIYRFSDNEIYRFSILPDSQLQ.NPEVSTLGLSTDILTAL.CFIYHSSVTLH.APSGVYHY EVLPDSLLS.NSEIDSVGMSTDLLTAL.SHLFNFQAVVH.SERGDILF. DMLPDSLLT.NSEVENFGLSTDHLTCL.SYRLHFECIIH.TSHSTIPY TILPDSQLR.NEEINSLGLSTEHLTAL.AHLYNFQATIY KVLMAAETS.DSVADSLPWASWVNLLQ.KHGFKGNQQQI AQDGQLII EEAVKT.AT.QQVIEGLPWKHWIPQLN.AVGFKALLIQR.DRSGTMIM. LPWAPWLLILQ.AHNADCTQKQY DPENNLIL
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM	TLMPLSALT.SPSLRVLGLGTEELTAL.SYYYHFQAEIH. SDNEIYRF SILPDSQLQ.NPEVSTLGLSTDILTAL.CFIYHSSVTLH APSGVYHY EVLPDSLLS.NSEIDSVGMSTDLLTAL.SHLFNFQAVVH SERGDILF DMLPDSLLT.NSEVENFGLSTDHLTCL.SYRLHFECIIH TSHSTIPY TILPDSQLR.NEEINSLGLSTEHLTAL.AHLYNFQATIY SDRGPILF KVLMAAETS.DSVADSLPWASWVNLLQ.KHGFKGNQQQI AQDGQLII EEAVKTAT.QQVIEGLPWKHWIPQLN.AVGFKALLIQR DRSGTMIM LPWAPWLLILQ.AHNADCTQKQY DPENNLIL ILMPAGYQKKNRH.AVEVASEGRTSVTLRVH.KRDFSFESKLRFIKGKFDCLFVSVAEIIHKKPEEIMMFIPHIMDRCV SVAQALGTENADIL
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM	TLMPLSALT.SPSLRVLGLGTEELTAL.SYYYHFQAEIHSDNEIYRF. SILPDSQLQ.NPEVSTLGLSTDILTAL.CFIYHSSVTLH. EVLPDSLLS.NSEIDSVGMSTDLLTAL.SHLFNFQAVVH. DMLPDSLLT.NSEVENFGLSTDHLTCL.SYRLHFECIIH. TILPDSQLR.NEEINSLGLSTEHLTAL.AHLYNFQATIY. KVLMAAETS.DSVADSLPWASWVNLLQ.KHGFKGNQQQI. AQDGQLII. EEAVKTAT.QQVIEGLPWKHWIPQLN.AVGFKALLIQR. DPENNLIL ILPWAPWLLILQ.AHNADCTQKQY. DPENNLIL ILMPAGYQKKNRH.AVEVASEGRTSVTLRVH.KRDFSFESKLRFIKGKFDCLFVSVAEIIHKKPEEIMMFIPHIMDRCV IRVHNAGTGRVHRFAPKQKNMALDLWLESEHYEPQVLRNGCVIE. SVAQALGTRNADIL
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV*	TLMPLSALT.SPSLRVLGLGTEELTAL.SYYYHFQAEIH. SDNEIYRF. SILPDSQLQ.NPEVSTLGLSTDILTAL.CFIYHSSVTLH. APSGVYHY. EVLPDSLLS.NSEIDSVGMSTDLLTAL.SHLFNFQAVVH. SERGDILF. DMLPDSLLT.NSEVENFGLSTDHLTCL.SYRLHFECIH. TSHSTIPY. TILPDSQLR.NEEINSLGLSTEHLTAL.AHLYNFQATIY. SDRGPILF. KVLMAAETS.DSVADSLPWASWVNLLQ.KHGFKGNQQQI AQDGQLII. EEAVKTAT.QQVIEGLPWKHWIPQLN.AVGFKALLIQR. DRSGTMIM. LPWAPWLLILQ.AHNADCTQKQY. DPENNLIL ILMPAGYQKKNRH.AVEVASEGRTSVTLRVH.KRDFSFESKLRFIKGKFDCLFVSVAEIIHKKPEEIMMFIPHIMDRCV IRVHNAGTGRVHRFAPKQKNMALDLWLESEHYEPQVLRNGCVIE SVAQALGTRNADIL AETGEILRINPHSDAILEA.IDYLKSTSANSIITLN. KLGDHCQW.
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV	TLMPLSALT.SPSLRVLGLGTEELTAL.SYYYHFQAEIH.SDVGAEIH.SDVGMSTULTAL.CFIYHSSVTLH.APSGVYHY SILPDSQLQ.NPEVSTLGLSTDILTAL.CFIYHSSVTLH.APSGVYHY EVLPDSLLS.NSEIDSVGMSTULLTAL.SHLFNFQAVVH.SERGDILF DMLPDSLLT.NSEVENFGLSTUHLTCL.SYRLHFECIIH.STSHSTIPY TILPDSQLR.NEEINSLGLSTEHLTAL.AHLYNFQATIY SURGPILF KVLMAA.ETS.DSVADSLPWASWVNLLQ.KHGFKGNQQQI AQDGQLII EEAVKT.AT.QQVIEGLPWKHWIPQLN.AVGFKALLIQR DPENNLIL ILMPAGYQKKNRH.AVEVASEGRTSVTLRVH.KRDFSFESKLRFIKGKFDCLFVSVAEIIHKKPEEIMMFIPHIMDRCV IRVHNAGTGRVHRFAPKQKNMALDLWLESEHYEPQVLRNGCVIE SVAQALGTRNADIL AETGEI.LRINPHSDAILEA.IDYLKSTSANSIITLN KLGDHCQW DDFRNEIKA
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS*	TLMPLSALT.SPSLRVLGLGTEELTAL.SYYYHFQAEIH. SDNEIYRF. SILPDSQLQ.NPEVSTLGLSTDILTAL.CFIYHSSVTLH. APSGVYHY. EVLPDSLLS.NSEIDSVGMSTDLLTAL.SHLFNFQAVVH. SERGDILF. DMLPDSLLT.NSEVENFGLSTDHLTCL.SYRLHFECIIH. TSHSTIPY. TILPDSQLR.NEEINSLGLSTEHLTAL.AHLYNFQATIY. SDRGPILF. KVLMAAETS.DSVADSLPWASWVNLLQ.KHGFKGNQQQI. AQDGQLII. EEAVKTAT.QQVIEGLPWKHWIPQLN.AVGFKALLIQR. DRSGTMIM. LPWAPWLLILQ.AHNADCTQKQY. DPENNLIL ILMPAGYQKKNRH.AVEVASEGRTSVTLRVH.KRDFSFESKLRFIKGKFDCLFVSVAEIIHKKPEEIMMFIPHIMDRCV RVHNAGTGRVHRFAPKQKNMALDLWLESEHYEPQVLRNGCVIE. SVAQALGTRNADIL AETGEILRINPHSDAILEA.IDYL.KSTSANSIITLN. KLGDHCQW. WQMDNSFCACQVCAALTGKTGSQVVECRWKDESMYTFSMSQTEV. DDFRNEIKA. AAASQG.LTRKGVYAVRQKV.NENPL.YAITSEHVNVLL TRTEDRLVW.
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 186K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV	TLMPLS.ALT.SPSLRVLGLGTEELTAL.SYYYHFQAEIH.SDNEIYRF.SILPDS.QLQ.NPEVSTLGLSTDILTAL.CFIYHSSVTLH.APSGVYHY.EVLPDS.LLS.NSEIDSVGMSTDLLTAL.SHLFNFQAVVH.SERGDILF.DMLPDS.LLT.NSEVENFGLSTDHLTCL.SYRLHFECIIH.TSHSTIPY.TILPDS.QLR.NEEINSLGLSTEHLTAL.AHLYNFQATIY.SDRGPILF.KVLMAA.ETS.DSVADSLPWASWVNLLQ.KHGFKGNQQQI.AQDGQLII.EEAVKT.AT.QQVIEGLPWKHWIPQLN.AVGFKALLIQR.DRSGTMIMLPWAPWLLILQ.AHNADCTQKQY.DPENNLIL.ILMPAGYQKKNRH.AVEVASEGRTSVTLRVH.KRDFSFESKLRFIKGKFDCLFVSVAEIIHKKPEEIMMFIPHIMDRCVIRVHNAGTGRVHRFAPKQKNMALDLWLESEHYEPQVLRNGCVIE.SVAQALGTRNADILKLGDHCQW.AETGEI.LRINPHSDAILEAIDYLKSTSANSIITLN.KLGDHCQW.WQMDNSFCACQVCAALTGKTGSQVVECRWKDESMYTFSMSQTEV.DDFRNEIKA.AAASQG.LTRKGVYAVRQKV.NENPL.YAITSEHVNVLLTRTEDRLVW.MATADS.LIRKQMSSIVYTGPIKVQQM.KNFIDSLVASLS.AAVSNLVKI
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus	TLMPLS ALT.SPSLRVLGLGTEELTAL.SYYYHFQAEIH SDNEIYRF SILPDS QLQ.NPEVSTLGLSTDILTAL.CFIYHSSVTLH APSGVYHY EVLPDS LLS.NSEIDSVGMSTDLLTAL.SHLFNFQAVVH SERGDILF DMLPDS LLT.NSEVENFGLSTDHLTCL.SYRLHFECIIH TSHSTIPY TILPDS QLR.NEEINSLGLSTEHLTAL.AHLYNFQATIY SDRGPILF KVLMAA ETS.DSVADSLPWASWVNLLQ KHGFKGNQQQI AQDGQLII EEAVKT AT.QQVIEGLPWKHWIPQLN AVGFKALLIQR DRSGTMIM LPWAPWLLILQ AHNADCTQKQY DPENNLIL ILMP AGYQKKNRH.AVEVASEGRTSVTLRVH.KRDFSFESKLRFIKGKFDCLFVSVAEIIHKKPEEIMMFIPHIMDRCV IRVHNAGTGRVHRFAPKQKNMALDLWLESEHYEPQVLRNGCVIE SVAQALGTRNADIL AETGEI LRINPHSDAILEA IDYL.KSTSANSIITLN KLGDHCQW MQMDNSFCACQVCAALTGKTGSQVVECRWKDESMYTFSMSQTEV DDFRNEIKA AAASQG LIRKQWSSIVYTGPIKVQQM.KNFIDSLVASLS AAVSNLVKI TRTEDRLVW
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus	TLMPLSALT.SPSLRVLGLGTEELTAL.SYYYHFQAEIH. SDNEIYRF. SILPDSQLQ.NPEVSTLGLSTDILTAL.CFIYHSSVTLH. APSGVYHY. EVLPDSLLS.NSEIDSVGMSTDLLTAL.SHLFNFQAVVH. SERGDILF. DMLPDSLLT.NSEVENFGLSTDHLTCL.SYRLHFECIIH. TSHSTIPY. TILPDSQLR.NEEINSLGLSTEHLTAL.AHLYNFQATIY. SDRGPILF. KVLMAAETS.DSVADSLPWASWVNLLQ.KHGFKGNQQQI. AQDGQLII. EEAVKTAT.QQVIEGLPWKHWIPQLN.AVGFKALLIQR. DRSGTMIM.
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus	TLMPLS ALT.SPSLRVLGLGTEELTAL.SYYYHFQAEIH. SDNEIYRF. SILPDS QLQ.NPEVSTLGLSTDILTAL.CFIYHSSVTLH APSGVYHY. EVLPDS LLS.NSEIDSVGMSTDLLTAL.SHLFNFQAVVH. SERGDILF. DMLPDS LLT.NSEVENFGLSTDHLTCL.SYRLHFECIIH. TSHSTIPY. TILPDS QLR.NEEINSLGLSTEHLTAL.AHLYNFQATIY. SDRGPILF. KVLMAA.ETS.DSVADSLPWASWVNLLQ.KHGFKGNQQQI. AQDGQLII. EEAVKT.AT.QQVIEGLPWKHWIPQLN.AVGFKALLIQR. DRSGTMIM. LPWAPWLLILQ.AHNADCTQKQY. DPENNLIL ILMPAGYQKKNRH.AVEVASEGRTSVTLRVH.KRDFSFESKLRFIKGKFDCLFVSVAEIHKKPEEIMMFIPHIMDRCV IRVHNAGTGRVHRFAPKQKNMALDLWLESEHYEPQVLRNGCVIE. SVAQALGTRNADIL AETGEI LRINPHSDAILEA.IDYLKSTSANSIITLN KLGDHCQW. WQMDNSFCACQVCAALTGKTGSQVVECRWKDESMYTFSMSQTEV. DDFRNEIKA. AAASQG.LTRKGVYAVRQKV.NENPLYAITSEHVNVLL TRTEDRLVW. MATADS.LIRKQMSSIVYTGPIKVQQM.KNFIDSLVASLS AAVSNLVKI
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 186K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV	TLMPLSALT.SPSLRVLGLGTEELTAL.SYYYHFQAEIH.SUPSQLQ.NPEVSTLGLSTDILTAL.CFIYHSSVTLH SDNEIYRF. SILPDSQLQ.NPEVSTLGLSTDILTAL.CFIYHSSVTLH APSGVYHY EVLPDSLLS.NSEIDSVGMSTDLLTAL.SHLFNFQAVVH SERGDILF DMLPDSLLT.NSEVENFGLSTDHLTCL.SYRLHFECIH TSHSTIPY TILPDSQLR.NEEINSLGLSTEHLTAL.AHLYNFQATIY SDRGPILF KVLMAA.ETS.DSVADSLPWASWVNLQ.KHGFKGNQQQI AQDGQLII EEAVKT.AT.QQVIEGLPWKHWIPQLN.AVGFKALLIQR DRSGTMIM LPWAPWLLILQ.AHNADCTQKQY DPENNLIL ILMPAGYQKKNRH.AVEVASEGRTSVTLRVH.KRDFSFESKLRFIKGKFDCLFVSVAEIIHKKPEEIMMFIPHIMDRCV IRVHNAGTGRVHRFAPKQKNMALDLWLESEHYEPQVLRNGCVIE.SVAQALGTRNADIL AETGEI.LRINPHSDAILEA.IDYLKSTSANSIITLN KLGDHCQW WQMDNSFCACQVCAALTGKTGSQVVECRWKDESMYTFSMSQTEV DDFRNEIKA AAASQG.LTRKGVYAVRQKV.NENPL.YAITSEHVNVLL TRTEDRLVW MATADS.LIRKQMSSIVYTGPIKVQQM.KNFIDSLVASLS AAVSNLVKI -LL
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV	TLMPLSALT.SPSLRVLGLGTEELTAL.SYYYHFQAEIH.SDNEIYRF. SILPDSQLQ.NPEVSTLGLSTDILTAL.CFIYHSSVTLH.APSGVYHY. EVLPDSLLS.NSEIDSVGMSTDLLTAL.SHLFNFQAVVH.SERGDILF. DMLPDSLLT.NSEVENFGLSTDHLTCL.SYRLHFECIIH.TSHSTIPY. TILPDSQLR.NEEINSLGLSTEHLTAL.AHLYNFQATIY.SDRGPILF. KVLMAAETS.DSVADSLPWASWVNLQ.KHGFKGNQQQI.AQDGQLI EEAVKT.AT.QQVIEGLPWKHWIPQLN.AVGFKALLIQR.DRSGTMIM. ILMPAGYQKKNRH.AVEVASEGRTSVTLRVH.KRDFSFESKLRFIKGKFDCLFVSVAEIIHKKPEEIMMFIPHIMDRCV ILMPAGYQKKNRH.AVEVASEGRTSVTLRVH.KRDFSFESKLRFIKGKFDCLFVSVAEIHKKPEEIMMFIPHIMDRCV IRVHNAGTGRVHRFAPKQKNMALDLWLESEHYEPQVLRNGCVIE.SVAQALGTRNADIL. AETGEI.LRINPHSDAILEA.IDYL.KSTSANSIITLN.KLGDHCQW. WQMDNSFCACQVCAALTGKTGSQVVECRWKDESMYTFSMSQTEV.DDFRNEIKA. AAASQG.LTRKGVYAVRQKV.NENPL.YAITSEHVNVLL MATADSLIRKQMSSIVYTGPIKVQQM.KNFIDSLVASLS -LO
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV	TLMPLSALT.SPSLRVLGLGTEELTAL.SYYHFQAEIH. SDNEIYRF. SILPDSQLQ.NPEVSTLGLSTDILTAL.CFIYHSSVTLH. APSGVYHY. EVLPDSLLS.NSEIDSVGMSTDLLTAL.SHLFNFQAVVH. SERGDILF. DMLPDSLLT.NSEVENFGLSTDHLTCL.SYRLHFECIH. TSHSTIPY. TILPDSQLR.NEEINSLGLSTEHLTAL.AHLYNFQATIY. SDROFPILF. KVLMAAETS.DSVADSLPWASWVNLQ.KHGFKGNQQQI. AQDGQLII EEAVKTAT.QQVIEGLPWKHWIPQLN.AVGFKALLIQR. DRSGTMIM. LPWAPWLLIQ.AHNADCTQKQY. DPENNLIL ILMPAGYQKKNRH.AVEVASEGRTSVTLRVH.KRDFSFESKLRFIKGKFDCLFVSVAEIHKKPEEIMMFIPHIMDRCV IRVHNAGTGRVHRFAPKQKNMALDLWLESEHYEPQVLRNGCVIE. SVAQALGTRNADIL AETGEI.LRINPHSDAILEA.IDYLKSTSANSIITLN. KLGDHCQW. WQMDNSFCACQVCAALTGKTGSQVVECRWKDESMYTFSMSQTEV. DDFRNEIKA. AAASQG.LTRKGVYAVRQKV.NENPL.YAITSEHVNVLL TRTEDRLVW. MATADS.LIRKQMSSIVYTGPIKVQQM.KNFIDSLVASLS. AAVSNLVKI -L-L-L-L-F F 1280 GIQTA.STKLCLIRDSGPPAHFTAP.DPLRAGSPPSRSQTNENSLRRSLL
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV	TLMPLS. ALT.SPSLRVLGLGTEELTAL.SYYYHFQAEIH. SDNEIYRF. SILPDS. QLQ.NPEVSTLGLSTDILTAL.CFIYHSSVTLH. APSGVYHY. EVLPDS. LLS.NSEIDSVGMSTDLLTAL.SHLFNFQAVVH. SERGDILF. DMLPDS. LLT.NSEVENFGLSTDHLTCL.SYRLHFECIH. TSHSTIPY. TILPDS. QLR.NEEINSLGLSTEHLTAL.AHLYNFQATIY. SDRGPILF. KVLMAA. ETS.DSVADSLPWASWVNLQ.KHGFKGNQQQI. AQDGQLII. EEAVKT. AT.QQVIEGLPWKHWIPQLN.AVGFKALLIQR. DRSGTMIM.
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 186K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV	TLMPLSALT.SPSLRVLGLGTEELTAL.SYYHFQAEIHSDNEIYRF SILPDSQLQ.NPEVSTLGLSTDILTAL.CFIYHSSVTLHAPSGVYHY EVLPDSLLS.NSEIDSVGMSTDLLTAL.SHLFNFQAVVH. DMLPDSLLT.NSEVENFGLSTDHLTCL.SYRLHFECIH TILPDSQLR.NEEINSLGLSTEHLTAL.AHLYNFQATIY. SDRGPILF. KVLMAAETS.DSVADSLPWASWVNLQ.KHGFKGNQQQI EEAVKT.AT.QQVIEGLPWKHWIPQLN.AVGFKALLIQR. LPWAPWLLILQ.AHNADCTQKQY. DENNLIL ILMPAGYQKKNRH.AVEVASEGRTSVTLRVH.KKDFSFESKLRFIKGKFDCLFVSVAEIIHKKPEEIMMFIPHIMDRCV IRVHNAGTGRVHRFAPKQKNMALDLWLESEHYEPQVLRNGCVIE. SVAQALGTRNADIL AETGEILRINPHSDAILEA.IDYLKSTSANSIITLN MQMDNSFCACQVCAALTGKTGSQVVECRWKDESMYTFSMSQTEV. AAASQGLTRKGVYAVRQKV.NENPL.YAITSEHVNVLL MATADSLIRKQMSSIVYTGPIKVQQM.KNFIDSLVASLS.
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 186K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV	TLMPLSALT.SPSLRVLGLGTEELTAL.SYYHFQAEIHSDNEIYRF SILPDSQLQ.NPEVSTLGLSTDILTAL.CFIYHSSVTLH. EVLPDSLLS.NSEIDSVGMSTDLTAL.SHLFNFQAVVH. DMLPDSLLT.NSEVENFGLSTDHLTCL.SYRLHFECIH. TILPDSQLR.NEEINSLGLSTEHLTAL.AHLYNFQATIY. KVLMAAETS.DSVADSLPWASWVNLQ.KHGFKGNQQQI. AQDGQLII. EEAVKT.AT.QQVIEGLPWKHWIPQLN.AVGFKALLIQR. DRLPDSYCKNRH.AVEVASEGRTSVTLRVH.KRDFSFESKLRFIKGKFDCLFVSVAEIIHKKPEEIMMFIPHIMDRCV ILMPAGYQKKNRH.AVEVASEGRTSVTLRVH.KRDFSFESKLRFIKGKFDCLFVSVAEIIHKKPEEIMMFIPHIMDRCV IRVHNAGTGRVHRFPKQKNMALDLWLESEHYEPQVLRNGCVIE. SVAQALGTRNADIL AETGEI.LRINPHSDAILEA.IDYLKSTSANSIITLN KUGDMONSFCACQVCAALTGKTGSQVVECRWKDESMYTFSMSQTEV. AAASQG.LTRKGVYAVRQKV.NENPLYAITSEHVNVLL MATADS.LIRKQMSSIVYTGPIKVQQM.KNFIDSLVASLS. AAVSNLVKI. -L-L.L.L. 1201 12201 12201 1280
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX	TLMPLSALT.SPSLRVLGLGTEELTAL.SYYYHFQAEIH.SDNEIYRF. SILPDSQLQ.NPEVSTLGLSTDILTAL.CFIYHSSVTLH.APSGYYHY. EVLPDSLLS.NSEIDSVGMSTDLLTAL.SHFNFQAVVH.SERGDILF. DMLPDSLLT.NSEVENFGLSTDHLTCL.SYRLHFECIIH.TSHSTIPY. TILPDSQLR.NEEINSLGLSTEHLTAL.AHLYNFQATIY.SDRGPILF. KVLMAAETS.DSVADSLPWASWVNLQ.KHGFKGNQQQI.AQDGQLI EEAVKTAT.QQVIEGLPWKHWIPQLN.AVGFKALLIQR.DRSGTMIM.
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV	TLMPLS .ALT.SPSLRVLGLGTEELTAL.SYYYHFQAEIH.SDNEIYRF.SDNEIYRF. SILPDS .QLQ.NPEVSTLGLSTDILTAL.CFIYHSSVTLH.APSGVYHY EVLPDS .LLS.NSEIDSVGMSTDLLTAL.SHLFNFQAVVH.SERGDILF. DMLPDS .LLT.NSEVENFGLSTDHLTCL.SYRLHFECIH.TSHTPY TILPDS .QLR.NEEINSLGLSTEHLTAL.AHLYNFQATIY.SDRGFLF. KVLMAA .ETS.DSVADSLPWASWVNLQ .KHGFKGNQQQI .AQDGQLII EEAVKT .AT.QQVIEGLPWKHWIPQLN.AVGFKALLIQR.DRSGTMIM.
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV	TLMPLSALT.SPSLRVLGLGTEELTAL.SYYYHFQAEIHSDNEIYRFSDNEIYRFSDNEIYRFSDNEIYRFSDNEIYRFSDNEIYRFSDNEIYRFSDNEIYRFSDNEIYRFSDNEIYRFSDNEIYRFSDNEIYRFSDNEIYRFSDNEIYRFSDNEIYRFSDNEIYRFSDNEJYNRFSDNEJYNRFSDNEJYNRFSDNEJYNRFSDNEJYNRFSDNEJYNRFSDNEJYNRFSDNEJYNRFSDNEJYNRFSDNEJYNRFSDNEJYNRFSDNEJYNRFSDNEJYNRFSDNEJYNRFSDNEJYNRFSDNEJYNRK
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM	TLMPLSALT.SPSLRVLGLGTEELTAL.SYYYHFQAEIH.SDNEIYRF. SILPDSQLQ.NPEVSTLGLSTDILTAL.CFIYHSSVTH.APSGVYHY. EVLPDSLLS.NSEIDSVGMSTDLLTAL.SHLFNFQAVVH.SERGDILF. DMLPDSLLT.NSEVENFGLSTDHLTCL.SYRLHFECIIH.SSNENT SDRGPIF. KVLMAAETS.DSVADSLPWASWVNLLQ.KHGFKGNQQQI.AQDGQLI EEAVKT.AT.QQVIEGLPWKHWIPQLN.AVGFKALLIQR.DRSGTMIM.
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV*	TLMPLSALT.SPSLRVLGLGTEELTAL.SYYYHFQAEIH.SDNEYF.SDNEYFF. SILPDSQLQ.NPEVSTLGLSTDLITAL.CFIYHSSVTH.APSGVYHY. EVLPDSLLS.NSEIDSVGMSTDLLTAL.SHLFNFQAVVH.SERGDILF. DMLPDSLLT.NSEVENFGLSTDHLTCL.SYRLHFECIH.SSNTH.SDRGPIF. KVLMAA.ETS.DSVADSLPWASWVNLQ.KHGFKGNQQQI.AQDGQLI KVLMAA.ETS.DSVADSLPWASWVNLQ.KHGFKGNQQQI.AQDGQLII. EEAVKT.AT.QQVEEGLFWKHWIPQLN.AVGFKALLIQR.DRSGTMIM.
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV	TLMPLS. ALT.SPSLRVLGLGTEELTAL.SYYHFQAEIH. SDNEIYRF. SILPDS. QLQ.NPEVSTLGLSTDILTAL.CFIYHSSVTLH. APSGVYHY. EVLPDS. LLS.NSEIDSVGMSTDLLTAL.SHLFNFQAVVH. SERGDILF. DMLPDS. LLT.NSEVENFGLSTDHLTCL.SYRLFECIH. TSHSTIPY. TILPDS. QLR.NEEINSLGLSTEHLTAL.AHLYNFQATIY. SDRGPILF. KVLMAA. ETS.DSVADSLPWASWVNLQ.KHGFKGNQQQI. AQDGQLII. EEAVKT. AT.QQVIGGLPWKHWIPQLN.AVGFKALLIQR. DRSGTMIM.
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS*	TLMPLSALT.SPSLRVLGLGTEELTAL.SYYYHFQAETHSDNEIYRFSDNEIYRF SILPDSQLQ.NPEVSTLGLSTDILTAL.CFIYHSSVTLHAPSGVYHY EVLPDSLLS.NSEIDSVGMSTDLLTAL.SHLFNÇQAVVHSERGDILF DMLPDSLLT.NSEVENFGLSTDHLTCL.SYRLHFECTIHTSHSTTPY TILPDSQLR.NEEINSLGLSTEHLTAL.AHLYNFQATIYSDRGPILF KVLMAAFTS.DSVADSLWASWVNLQ.KHGFKCNQQQIAQDGQLI. EEAVKTAT.QQVIEGLPWKHWIPQLN.AVGFKALLIQRDRSGTMIM LPWAPWLLIQ.AHNADCTQKQY.DENNILI. ILMPAGYQKKNRH.AVEVASEGRTSVTLRVH.KRDFSFESKLRFIKGKFDCLFVSVAEIHKKPEEIMMFIPHIMDRCV IRVHNAGTGRVHRFAFKQNMALDLWLESEHYEPQVLNGCVIE.SVAQALGTRNADIL AETGEILRINPHSDAILEADIVL.KSTSANSIITLN.KLGDHCQW. WQMDNSFCACQVCAALTGKTGSQVVECRWKDESMYTFSMSQTEV.DPFNELKA. AAASQG.LTRKGVYAVRQKV.NENPL.YAITSEHVNVLL.TRTEDRLVW. MATADSLIRKQMSSIVYTGPIKVQQM.KNFIDSLVASLS.AAVSNLVKI.
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV	TLMPLSALT.SPSLRVLGLGTEELTAL.SYYYHFQAEIHSDNEIYRFSDNEIYRFSDNEIYRFSUPLOSQLQ.NPEVSTLGLSTDILTAL.CFIYHSSVTLHPSGVYHYPSGVYHY EVLPDSLLS.NSEIDSVGMSTDLLTAL.SHLFNFQAVVHSERGDILF DMLPDSLLT.NSEVENFGLSTDHLTCL.SYRLHFECTIHTSHSTIPY TILPDSQLR.NEEINSLGLSTEHLTALAHLYNFQATYYSDRGPILF KVLMAAETS.DSVADSLWASWVNLQ.KHGFKGNQQQIAQDGQLI EEAVKTAT.QQVIEGLPWKHUTPQLN.AVGFKALLIQRDRSGTMIM LPWAPWLLLQ.AHNADCTOKQYDPENNLIL. ILWAPWLLLQ.AHNADCTOKQYDPENNLIL. ILWAPWLLLQ.AHNADCTOKQYDPENNLIL. ILWAPWLLLQ.AHNAGTOKQYDPENNLIL. SUTORGRVHRFAPKOKNMALDUWLESHYEPQVLRNGCVIESVAQALGTRNADILAETGEI AETGEI.LRINPHSDAILEA.IDYLKSTSANSIITINKLGHCQW. WQMDNSFCACQVCAALTGKTGSQVVECRWKDESMYTFSMSQTEV. AAASQG.LTRKGVYAVRQKV.NENPL.YAITSEHVNVLL TRTEDRLVW. MATADS.LIRKQMSIVYTGPIKVQQM.KNFIDSLVASLS AAVSNLVKI

QPATQSPPSIPQTAPVTS.....LLP.....

PLNPPTPSPTPDVPPPDS.PGNPSLLKQVPPEANLHPIHNPDLPSSTTLPSGALTLV...PAKTPSIYA.NPTPPSSHPF

1040

.

961

194K ELV

205K EMV

NSP SINDBIS*	PADSARPVAHWDNSPGTRK.YGYDHAIAAELSRRFPVFQLAGKGTQLDLQTGRTRVISAQHNLVPVNR
IZOK IMV	VS
Consensus	
	1441 1520
194K ELV	PAHHNWRFSTWESALLKH.AEILVIDEIYKLPRGYLDLSLIADPTVKL.ILLGDP
205K EMV	TAENVWRFSTWESSLLKH.SEILVIDEIYKLPRGYLDLSILADPTLSLVIILGDP
210K KYMV	PASQAFRFCTWESSLLKQ.TKILVIDEIYKLPRGYLDLCILADPCLELVIILGDP
198K OYMV	PESEVWRLCTWETALFKS.SNILVVDEIYKLPRGYLDLILLADPSIQLVIMLGDP
206K TYMV	HGSQSWRFNTWESSILKS.SRILVIDEIYKMPRGYLDLSILADPALELVIILGDP
186K NMV	PILPADVFKTFEKSVIQPCNPILVFDDYTKLPPGLIESVVMHHQNVVFIILTGDN
166K PVX	PNTEPYMFKTYEKALIGGTGSIVIFDDYSKLPPGYIEALVCLYSKIKLIILTGDS
147K WClMV	PNLEQANFKTFEKALCQ PCGK IIVFDDYSKLPQGYIEAFLA INQNVILAILTGDS
216K ACLSV	DEKDIKTFESALKSDVKG.KRLFILDEISLLPKGFTDLLMLKMHMEGILKKSTIVCIGDP
223K PVM	AKAGQENWRVTTLETFLARVEFLTEGQVVILDEMQLYPPGYFDLVVSMLKVDVRLFLVGDP
la AlMV*	YIRTCDSYLMS.ASAVKAQRLIFDECFLQHAGLVYAAATLAGCSEVIGFGDTEQIPFVSRN
237K BNYVV	NIPDTKIIHYSDETGEHMMPDYVRGVSKTTVRANQGSTYDNVVLPVLPSDLKLINSAELNLVALSRHRNKLTILLDNDGM
NSP SINDBIS*	NLPHALVPEYKEKQPGPVKKFLNQFKHHSVLVVSEEKIEAPRKRIEWIAPIGIAGADKNYNLAFGFPPQARYDLVFIN
126K TMV	NVKTVDSFMMNFGKSTRCQFKRLFIDEGLMLHTGCVNFLVAMSLCEIAYVYGDTQQIPYINRV
Consensus	PGY-DLLIIL-GD
	1521 1600
194K ELV	1521 LQGEYHSTSAHSSNLRLSSEIPRLLPFIDY.Y.CYWSYRVPK.CVAKLFSLPCFN.PSEG.FIKTTLDFFP
194K ELV 205K EMV	1521 LQGEYHSTSAHSSNLRLSSEIPRLLPFIDY.Y.CYWSYRVPK.CVAKLFSLPCFN.PSEG.FIKTTLDFFP LQGEYHSTSPHSSNHFLPSEVHRFKSYIDC.Y.CFWSHRIPK.QIASLFGVVCHN.TNEG.FVRALTSHPP
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV	1521 LQGEYHSTSAHSSNLRLSSEIPRLLPFIDY.Y.CYWSYRVPK.CVAKLFSLPCFN.PSEG.FIKTTLDFFP LQGEYHSTSPHSSNHFLPSEVHRFKSYIDC.Y.CFWSHRIPK.QIASLFGVVCHN.TNEG.FVRALTSHPP LQGEYHSTSPHSSNHQLQSETTRLLPFIDH.Y.CWWTYRVPS.HIADLFSVPSFN.RSEGHYQMAVRTADSYTP
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV	1521 LQGEYHSTSAHSSNLRLSSEIPRLLPFIDY.Y.CYWSYRVPK.CVAKLFSLPCFN.PSEG.FIKTTLDFFP LQGEYHSTSPHSSNHFLPSEVHRFKSYIDC.Y.CFWSHRIPK.QIASLFGVVCHN.TNEG.FVRALTSHPP LQGEYHSTSPHSSNHQLQSETTRLLPFIDH.Y.CWWTYRVPS.HIADLFSVPSFN.RSEGHYQMAVRTADSYTP LQGEYHSSHPSSSNSRLESETTRLSKYIDC.Y.CWWTYRCPK.AVADLFGVKTFN.SNEG.FIRAVLSHPP
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV	1521 LQGEYHSTSAHSSNLRLSSEIPRLLPFIDY.Y.CYWSYRVPK.CVAKLFSLPCFN.PSEG.FIKTTLDFFP LQGEYHSTSPHSSNHFLPSEVHRFKSYIDC.Y.CFWSHRIPK.QIASLFGVVCHN.TNEG.FVRALTSHPP LQGEYHSTSPHSSNHQLQSETTRLLPFIDH.Y.CWWTYRVPS.HIADLFSVPSFN.RSEGHYQMAVRTADSYTP LQGEYHSSHPSSSNSRLESETTRLSKYIDC.Y.CWWTYRCPK.AVADLFGVKTFN.SNEG.FIRAVLSHPP LQGEYHSQSKDSSNHRLPSETLRLLPYIDM.Y.CWWSYRIPQ.CIARLFQIHSFN.AWQGIIGSVSTPQD.
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV	1521 LQGEYHSTSAHSSNLRLSSEIPRLLPFIDY.Y.CYWSYRVPK.CVAKLFSLPCFN.PSEG.FIKTTLDFFP LQGEYHSTSPHSSNHFLPSEVHRFKSYIDC.Y.CFWSHRIPK.QIASLFGVVCHN.TNEG.FVRALTSHPP LQGEYHSTSPHSSNHQLQSETTRLLPFIDH.Y.CWWTYRVPS.HIADLFSVPSFN.RSEGHYQMAVRTADSYTP LQGEYHSSHPSSSNSRLESETTRLSKYIDC.Y.CWWTYRCPK.AVADLFGVKTFN.SNEG.FIRAVLSHPP LQGEYHSQSKDSSNHRLPSETLRLLPYIDM.Y.CWWSYRIPQ.CIARLFQIHSFN.AWQGIIGSVSTPQD RQSVYHETNPEAYIAALPEAVEIFSPYCEF.Y.LNATHRNVK.DLANKLGVYS.EREGKLKVNFASHHLKAS.
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX	1521 LQGEYHSTSAHSSNLRLSSEIPRLLPFIDY.Y.CYWSYRVPK.CVAKLFSLPCFN.PSEG.FIKTTLDFFP LQGEYHSTSPHSSNHFLPSEVHRFKSYIDC.Y.CFWSHRIPK.QIASLFGVVCHN.TNEG.FVRALTSHPP LQGEYHSTSPHSSNHQLQSETTRLLPFIDH.Y.CWWTYRVPS.HIADLFSVPSFN.RSEGHYQMAVRTADSYTP LQGEYHSSHPSSSNSRLESETTRLSKYIDC.Y.CWWTYRCPK.AVADLFGVKTFN.SNEG.FIRAVLSHPP LQGEYHSQSKDSSNHRLPSETLRLLPYIDM.Y.CWWSYRIPQ.CIARLFQIHSFN.AWQGIIGSVSTPQD RQSVYHETNPEAYIAALPEAVEIFSPYCEF.Y.LNATHRNVK.DLANKLGVYS.EREGKLKVNFASHHLKAS RQSVYHETAEDASIRHLGPATEYFSKYCRY.Y.LNATHRNKK.DLANMLGVYS.ERTGVTEISMSAEFLEG
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV	1521 LQGEYHSTSAHSSNLRLSSEIPRLLPFIDY.Y.CYWSYRVPK.CVAKLFSLPCFN.PSEG.FIKTTLDFFP LQGEYHSTSPHSSNHFLPSEVHRFKSYIDC.Y.CFWSHRIPK.QIASLFGVVCHN.TNEG.FVRALTSHPP LQGEYHSTSPHSSNHQLQSETTRLLPFIDH.Y.CWWTYRVPS.HIADLFSVPSFN.RSEGHYQMAVRTADSYTP LQGEYHSSHPSSSNSRLESETTRLSKYIDC.Y.CWWTYRCPK.AVADLFGVKTFN.SNEG.FIRAVLSHPP LQGEYHSQSKDSSNHRLPSETLRLLPYIDM.Y.CWWSYRIPQ.CIARLFQIHSFN.AWQGIIGSVSTPQD RQSVYHETNPEAYIAALPEAVEIFSPYCEF.Y.LNATHRNVK.DLANKLGV.YS.EREGKLKVNFASHHLKAS RQSVYHETAEDASIRHLGPATEYFSKYCRY.Y.LNATHRNKK.DLANMLGV.YS.ERTGVTEISMSAEFLEG KQSFHHESNEDAYTATLEPSINTYQPFCRY.Y.LNITHRNKP.DLANKLGV.YS.CSSGTTSFTMSSQALKG
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV	1521 LQGEYHSTSAHSSNLRLSSEIPRLLPFIDY.Y.CYWSYRVPK.CVAKLFSLPCFN.PSEG.FIKTTLDFFP LQGEYHSTSPHSSNHFLPSEVHRFKSYIDC.Y.CFWSHRIPK.QIASLFGVVCHN.TNEG.FVRALTSHPP LQGEYHSTSPHSSNHQLQSETTRLLPFIDH.Y.CWWTYRVPS.HIADLFSVPSFN.RSEGHYQMAVRTADSYTP LQGEYHSSHPSSSNSRLESETTRLSKYIDC.Y.CWWTYRCPK.AVADLFGVKTFN.SNEG.FIRAVLSHPP LQGEYHSQSKDSSNHRLPSETLRLLPYIDM.Y.CWWSYRIPQ.CIARLFQIHSFN.AWQGIIGSVSTPQD. RQSVYHETNPEAYIAALPEAVEIFSPYCEF.Y.LNATHRNVK.DLANKLGV.YS.EREGKLKVNFASHHLKAS RQSVYHETAEDASIRHLGPATEYFSKYCRY.Y.LNATHRNKK.DLANMLGV.YS.ERTGVTEISMSAEFLEG KQSFHHESNEDAYTATLEP.SINTYQPFCRY.Y.LNITHRNKP.DLANKLGV.YS.CSSGTTSFTMSSQALKG LQAGYFCPKDDNYLSR.EGEIKRLFKGGVN.Y.KWYSYRINK.FIAKKLAIETMN.DFIGIDEQSSIYKDMPSA.
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM	1521 LQGEYHSTSAHSSNLRLSSEIPRLLPFIDY.Y.CYWSYRVPK.CVAKLFSLPCFN.PSEG.FIKTTLDFFP LQGEYHSTSPHSSNHFLPSEVHRFKSYIDC.Y.CFWSHRIPK.QIASLFGVVCHN.TNEG.FVRALTSHPP LQGEYHSTSPHSSNHQLQSETTRLLPFIDH.Y.CWWTYRVPS.HIADLFSVPSFN.RSEGHYQMAVRTADSYTP LQGEYHSSHPSSSNSRLESETTRLSKYIDC.Y.CWWTYRCPK.AVADLFGVKTFN.SNEG.FIRAVLSHPP LQGEYHSQSKDSSNHRLPSETLRLLPYIDM.Y.CWWSYRIPQ.CIARLFQIHSFN.AWQGIIGSVSTPQD RQSVYHETNPEAYIAALPEAVEIFSPYCEF.Y.LNATHRNVK.DLANKLGV.YS.EREGKLKVNFASHHLKAS RQSVYHETAEDASIRHLGPATEYFSKYCRY.Y.LNATHRNKK.DLANMLGV.YS.ERTGVTEISMSAEFLEG KQSFHHESNEDAYTATLEPSINTYQPFCRY.Y.LNITHRNKP.DLANKLGV.YS.CSSGTTSFTMSSQALKG LQAGYFCPKDDNYLSR.EGEIKRLFKGGVN.Y.KWYSYRINK.FIAKKLAIETMN.DFIGIDEQSSIYKDMPSA AQSDYDSEKDRLVLGAMEENMSVVLGAREYNY.KVRSHRFLNCNFIGRLPCEINK.DDCTIDEPHIMRMHLENLLD
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV*	1521 LQGEYHSTSAHSSNLRLSSEIPRLLPFIDY.Y.CYWSYRVPK.CVAKLFSLPCFN.PSEG.FIKTTLDFFP LQGEYHSTSPHSSNHFLPSEVHRFKSYIDC.Y.CFWSHRIPK.QIASLFGVVCHN.TNEG.FVRALTSHPP LQGEYHSTSPHSSNHQLQSETTRLLPFIDH.Y.CWWTYRVPS.HIADLFSVPSFN.RSEGHYQMAVRTADSYTP LQGEYHSQSKDSSNHRLPSETTRLSKYIDC.Y.CWWTYRCPK.AVADLFGVKTFN.SNEG.FIRAVLSHPP LQGEYHSQSKDSSNHRLPSETLRLLPYIDM.Y.CWWSYRIPQ.CIARLFQIHSFN.AWQGIIGSVSTPQD RQSVYHETNPEAYIAALPEAVEIFSPYCEF.Y.LNATHRNVK.DLANKLGV.YS.EREGKLKVNFASHHLKAS RQSVYHETAEDASIRHLGPATEYFSKYCRY.Y.LNATHRNKK.DLANMLGV.YS.ERTGVTEISMSAEFLEG KQSFHHESNEDAYTATLEPSINTYQPFCRY.Y.LNITHRNKP.DLANKLGV.YS.CSSGTTSFTMSSQALKG LQAGYFCPKDDNYLSR.EGEIKRLFKGGVN.Y.KWYSYRINK.FIAKKLAIETMN.DFIGIDEQSSIYKDMPSA AQSDYDSEKDRLVLGAMEENMSVVLGAREYNY.KVRSHRFLNCNFIGRLPCEINK.DDCTIDEPHIMRMHLENLLD PSFVFRHHKL.TGKVERKLITWRSPADATY.CLEKYFYKN.KKPVKTNSRVLR.SIEVVPINSPVSVERNT
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV	1521 LQGEYHSTSAHSSNLRLSSEIPRLLPFIDY.Y.CYWSYRVPK.CVAKLFSLPCFN.PSEG.FIKTTLDFFP LQGEYHSTSPHSSNHFLPSEVHRFKSYIDC.Y.CFWSHRIPK.QIASLFGVVCHN.TNEG.FVRALTSHPP LQGEYHSTSPHSSNHQLQSETTRLLPFIDH.Y.CWWTYRVPS.HIADLFSVPSFN.RSEGHYQMAVRTADSYTP LQGEYHSSHPSSSNSRLESETTRLSKYIDC.Y.CWWTYRCPK.AVADLFGVKTFN.SNEG.FIRAVLSHPP LQGEYHSQSKDSSNHRLPSETLRLLPYIDM.Y.CWWSYRIPQ.CIARLFQIHSFN.AWQGIIGSVSTPQD RQSVYHETNPEAYIAALPEAVEIFSPYCEF.Y.LNATHRNVK.DLANKLGV.YS.EREGKLKVNFASHHLKAS RQSVYHETAEDASIRHLGPATEYFSKYCRY.Y.LNATHRNKK.DLANMLGV.YS.ERTGVTEISMSAEFLEG KQSFHHESNEDAYTATLEPSINTYQPFCRY.Y.LNITHRNKP.DLANKLGV.YS.CSSGTTSFTMSSQALKG LQAGYFCPKDDNYLSR.EGEIKRLFKGGVN.Y.KWYSYRINK.FIAKKLAIETMN.DFIGIDEQSSIYKDMPSA AQSDYDSEKDRLVLGAMEENMSVVLGAREYNY.KVRSHRFLNCNFIGRLPCEINK.DDCTIDEPHIMRMHLENLLD PSFVFRHH.KL.TGKVERKLITWRSPADATY.CLEKYFYKN.KKPVKTNSRVLR.SIEVVPINSPVSVERNT NIGAVLKGMLEGVPEELERRDYIVGMYLGLHLPIKKEFFFPESEFAKSFRLMVAKYEAFVPYDSDLPTLVSQG
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS*	1521 LQGEYHSTSAHSSNLRLSSEIPRLLPFIDY.Y.CYWSYRVPK.CVAKLFSLPCFN.PSEG.FIKTTLDFFP LQGEYHSTSPHSSNHFLPSEVHRFKSYIDC.Y.CFWSHRIPK.QIASLFGVVCHN.TNEG.FVRALTSHPP LQGEYHSTSPHSSNHQLQSETTRLLPFIDH.Y.CWWTYRVPS.HIADLFSVPSFN.RSEGHYQMAVRTADSYTP LQGEYHSSHPSSSNSRLESETTRLSKYIDC.Y.CWWTYRCPK.AVADLFGVKTFN.SNEG.FIRAVLSHPP. LQGEYHSQSKDSSNHRLPSETLRLLPYIDM.Y.CWWSYRIPQ.CIARLFQIHSFN.AWQGIIGSVSTPQD RQSVYHETNPEAYIAALPEAVEIFSPYCEF.Y.LNATHRNVK.DLANKLGV.YS.EREGKLKVNFASHHLKAS RQSVYHETAEDASIRHLGPATEYFSKYCRY.Y.LNATHRNKK.DLANMLGV.YS.ERTGVTEISMSAEFLEG KQSFHHESNEDAYTATLEPSINTYQPFCRY.Y.LNITHRNKP.DLANKLGV.YS.CSSGTTSFTMSSQALKG LQAGYFCPKDDNYLSR.EGEIKRLFKGGVN.Y.KWYSYRINK.FIAKKLAIETMN.DFIGIDEQSSIYKDMPSA AQSDYDSEKDRLVLGAMEENMSVVLGAREYNY.KVRSHRFLNCNFIGRLPCEINK.DDCTIDEPHIMRMHLENLLD PSFVFRHHKL.TGKVERKLITWRSPADATY.CLÉKYFYKN.KKPVKTNSRVLR.SIEVVPINSPVSVERNT NIGAVLKGMLEGVPEELERRDYIVGMYLGLHLPIKKEFFFPESEFAKSFRLMVAKYEAFVPYDSDLPTLVSQG IGTKYRNHHFQQCEDHAATLKTLSRSALNCLNPGGT.LVVKSYGYA.DRNSEDVVTALA.RKFVRVSAARPDCVSSN
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 1a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV	1521 1600 LQGEYHSTSAHSSNLRLSSEIPRLLPFIDY.Y.CYWSYRVPK.CVAKLFSLPCFN.PSEG.FIKTTLDFFP LQGEYHSTSPHSSNHFLPSEVHRFKSYIDC.Y.CFWSHRIPK.QIASLFGVVCHN.TNEG.FVRALTSHPP LQGEYHSTSPHSSNHQLQSETTRLLPFIDH.Y.CWWTYRVPS.HIADLFSVPSFN.RSEGHYQMAVRTADSYTP LQGEYHSQSKDSSNHRLPSETTRLSKYIDC.Y.CWWTYRCPK.AVADLFGVKTFN.SNEG.FIRAVLSHPP LQGEYHSQSKDSSNHRLPSETLRLLPYIDM.Y.CWWSYRIPQ.CIARLFQIHSFN.AWQGIIGSVSTPQD RQSVYHETNPEAYIAALPEAVEIFSPYCEF.Y.LNATHRNVK.DLANKLGV.YS.EREGKLKVNFASHHLKAS RQSVYHETAEDASIRHLGPATEYFSKYCRY.Y.LNATHRNKK.DLANKLGV.YS.ERTGVTEISMSAEFLEG KQSFHHESNEDAYTATLEPSINTYQPFCRY.Y.LNITHRNKP.DLANKLGV.YS.CSGTTSFTMSSQALKG LQAGYFCPKDDNYLSR.EGEIKRLFKGGVN.Y.KWYSYRINK.FIAKKLAIETMN.DFIGIDEQSSIYKDMPSA AQSDYDSEKDRLVLGAMEENMSVVLGAREYNY.KVRSHRFLNCNFIGRLPCEINK.DDCTIDEPHIMRMHLENLLD PSFVFRHHKL.TGKVERKLITWRSPADATY.CLEKYFYKN.KKPVKTNSRVLR.SIEVVPINSPVSVERNT NIGAVLKGMLEGVPEELERRDYIVGMYLGLHLPIKKEFFFPESEFAKSFRLMVAKYEAFVPJDSDLPTLVSQG IGTKYRNHHFQQCEDHAATLKTLSRSALNCLNPGGT.LVVKSYGYA.DRNSEDVVTALA.RKFVRVSAARPDCVSSN SGFPYPAHFAKLEVDEVETRRTTLRCPADVTH.YLNRRYEGF.VMSTSSVKKSVS.QEMVGGAAVINPISKPL

NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV	SCKTNVCWAKAL.EPILATAGIVLTGCQWSELFPQFADDKPHSAIYALDVICIKFFGMDLTSGLFSKQSIPLTYH GVVETHARKYHV.ALLEYDEOGV.VTCDDWRVAVSSESVVYSDMAKLRTL.RRLIRNGEPH
Consensus	-FPF
	1361 1440
194K ELV	LPKTVDLIHLSGFAGCGK.THPIQQLLKTPHFHNFRVVTPTTNLRSEWKSDMAL
205K EMV	APREVSLIHIAGFAGCGK.THPIQKLLQTSPFHDFRISCPTNELRSEWKRDMQP
210K KYMV	RPKTVSMFHLAGFAGCGK.TKPLQSLLSTRPFHSFRVSTPTTELRNEWKKDMNL
198K OYMV	FPRKCDVIHIAGFPGCGK.SHPIQKLLQTPAFRHFRLSVPTNELRSEWKRDLNL
206K TYMV	PGKTTPVVHFAGFAGCGK.TYPIQQLLKTKLFKDFRVSCPTTELRTEWKTAMEL
186K NMV	.DRKVCGTIIHGCGGSGKGSFAIQEWMRSLKEDQSVVTVVTPTVLLRNDWQTKL
166K PVX	TERKVATCVIHGAGGSGK.SHAIQKALREIG.KGSDITVVLPTNELRLDWSKKV
147K WCLMV	.ERQVLMSVIHGAGGSGK.SHAIQTWMRSLNRRDRHVTIILPTTDLRNDWTTKV
216K ACLSV	KSDLFDKVQELNFMKVKIYGIFGFAGSGK.SHAIQNLIQTEFKGSQGIMVICPRRFLAKDWSEK.GV
223K PVM	LFNNKRNMREKFVRNVSLSLHAIVGTFGSGK.STLFKNLLKYGAGKSLDFVSPRRALAEDFKRTVGMNERGGR
la AlMV*	FSVTIVDGVAGCGK.TTNIKQIARSSGRDVDLILTSNRSSADELKETIDCSPLTKLH
237K BNYVV	EGRGEGISILNKIDLSKVSTHVPIMNFRNPVHDVKVLNYLFGSRMVPMSSVEKGFSFGDIKEFSSLS
NSP SINDBIS*	PADSARPVAHWDNSPGTRK.YGYDHAIAAELSRRFPVFQLAGKGTQLDLQTGRTRVISAQHNLVPVNR
126K TMV	VSSAKVVLVDGVPGCGK.TKEILSRVNFDEDLILVPGKQAAEMIRRRANSSGIIVATKD
Consensus	F-V-PT-LREW

	1281 1360
194K ELV	GFRLNGNLL.PIDQVHSFTSEPSRAKNLASNMKNGFDGILTTLAALSSLSSGPSPRDRIFTLDGICDFA
205K EMV	RFKLNGEFL.PFTQAYAHESSITHAKNLISNMKNGFDGIMSSLTDSSKGPSPREKLTTLDSLIDVA
210K KYMV	RFKYQGSHL.PFSSFHSFTTSVQHAKNLISNMKNGFDGVMSTIEPSIRHQPGHSPREKFIALDAMIDLA
198K OYMV	RFKYNDAFL.PFWDAHQHTISVPHAKNLISNMKNGFDGITSQLSGPSNKSPKMKLLELDATIDVS
206K TYMV	SFKVSGNYL.PFSEAHNHPTSISHAKNLVSNMKNGFDGILSLLDVSTGQRTGPTPKDAIIQIDHYLDTN
186K NMV	NIKRFPVEI.TMQHKRAGSYDSDIKNNRTGKLLSQMDNKWKAAFAYKLQQE
166K PVX	VMNRSPATI.PLDLLRARDYGSDVKNKRIGAITKTQATSWGEYLTGKIESL
147K WCLMV	KLHREPTTV.PLDNHRARAYGSDVKNLRIGALLKKQSKDWLASFALKTENI
216K ACLSV	NFHKRLKLVEPDLTNADIKVDSSRAGKLLKSLMDGMTGIVSHNSTHEGWRMIKGINSTSEMRSFMNMVRGQIEEP
223K PVM	CFDISDEHM.SFCGRRKDPICKLVSGALHGKMFAESALLDLENCGLKIDFEPNWNRAGMLADSMYQGATGVLGSA
la AlMV*	AKYERAMSKDGY.VTLRWDGEVLDANCVRSLSQYEIVFVDQSCVFASAEAIIPSL.EKAL.GLEAH
237K BNYVV	DLVVAPFIKLRSDYQNQRVGDELLSWDFHTPHKALDVTGKQIIFVDEFTAYDWRLLAVLAYRNHAHTIYLVGDEQQTGIQ
NSP SINDBIS*	SCKTNVCWAKAL.EPILATAGIVLTGCQWSELFPQFADDKPHSAIYALDVICIKFFGMDLTSGLFSKQSIPLTYH
126K TMV	GVVETHARKYHV.ALLEYDEQGV.VTCDDWRRVAVSSESVVYSDMAKLRTL.RRLLRNGEPH
Consensus	-FPF

	1601
194K ELV	SANNLVNSHSVVHI.SEACGWNAVTISSSOGCTESDPAFTHLDRNTAL ISPSNCI.VALTRSPS
205K EMV	NSKNLTNATNTALS.LOOMGHHA
210K KYMV	GHENI, VNSVATANA, VTOLGEPA TTISASOGUTHHNRUTTI, DKHSRI I SPSNITI VAL TRSMI
198K OYMV	NIPNI VNSTATANT MOSLCHHA LTISSSOCMTVSDPUTULDPUSLI ITDOTAL VALTEDODO
206K TYMV	OSPVI.TNSHASSI.T FNSLGYRS CTISSSOCI TECDDATIVI DNYTYW LCCANCI VAL TROPOD
186K NMV	RIPHLUPSTMKRNA MEDMCHHS MTYACCOCIT ADKIOLI NUTOE COEDUL VALIESKA
166K DUY	
147K WCIMU	MDILSPSIMKKTA LGEMCOKS MTYACCOCLT TKAVOILLDTNTDI CCCNVILTALSRAID
216K ACISU	
210K ACLSV	VAREVESUUL VSSEDEVMUUCALLEEAN ULTECESTOLTE MUCTIVISAUSER MUEDBULTAL DEDER
12 AIMV*	NALVICHTOAFKAVIKAOTHIKC CONTETTUEAOCKTEDNUVECRITERSTOLL ATCODD IN
237K BNYVV	DVVVI.DIARVENDINDAFDCADE VNI.VSRPNNCI.VVAISECI.CVTIEKI.DNI MOANAVTI DVVIAWI SVVS
NSP SINDRIS*	TEMYLIFROLDNSRTROFTPHHL NCUISSUYEGTRDGVGAAPSVRTKRENIADCOFFAUMNAANDI CDDCF
126K TMV	HGKILTFTOSDKEALLS RG YSDVHTVHEVOGETYSDVSLVRLTPTPVS ITACDSPHVLVALSP
Consensus	ISI-LDI-LDI
	1681 1760
194K ELV	GVYFKGDFTFLSSLSGSSRMFSLAYSGQPIHLPDFFPEIVFQLNMITAPLTKRSSSFRSGFQPNISSAPKI
205K EMV	GVYFVGNLHLASNSFGTNYMFSQALCQGTIDLNNVFPHIMPHLPKMYEPIRSRSNRFVAGSLNFRPTTNSRLLS
210K KYMV	GVEFLGDIGSLSGTNNSSDMFSRAIYRQPINLSSSFPRIFHLLPLLNKPISRRSTRLIGSHSPIFHNP
198K OYMV	GIYFIGSMYTASGSAGTSYMFSCALTGLPVDMMSAFP.LFHTLPLIHEPIRSRRHRLVAGHTPSLHVPPSN
206K TYMV	GVQFMGPSSYVGGTNGSSAMFSDAFNNSLIIMDRYFPSLFPQLKLITSPLTTRSPKLNGATPSASPT
186K NMV	RIHFINTGPTTGDYWAKLEST
166K PVX	RIHFVNTSANSSASWEKLDSTP
147K WCLMV	HIHFINTGPNSTDFWEKLDSTP
216K ACLSV	GFCFALGSKGSKEDYMRSMKSGLLQRICSGVGASKEFILGS
223K PVM	NLCFVNCSGMDYQQLAGRYKGRVRSKFLCKT.AIPDDLNSMLPGQALFKSEYPRLIGKDEGVREEKLAGDPWL
la AlMV*	GPCIYNACRDAGNTDDSILA
237K BNYVV	PSTWQDCRMFADALKVSMYVKVLSDKPYDLTYEVDGAGSSVTLYLTGKESDGHFIAAPLSSSLSTNER
NSP SINDBIS*	GVCRALYKRWPTSFTDSATETGTARMTVCLGKKVIHAVGPDFRKHPEAEALKLLQNAYHAVADLVNEHNIKSVAIP
NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV	GVCRAIYKRWPTSFTDSATETGTARMTVCLGKKVIHAVGPDFRKHPEAEALKLLQNAYHAVADLVNEHNIKSVAIP HTCSLKYYTVVMDPLVSIIRDL.EKLSSYLLDMYKVDAGTQQLQ.IDSVFKGSNLFVAAPKTGDISDM
NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus	GVCRAIYKRWPTSFTDSATETGTARMTVCLGKKVIHAVGPDFRKHPEAEALKLLQNAYHAVADLVNEHNIKSVAIP HTCSLKYYTVVMDPLVSIIRDL.EKLSSYLLDMYKVDAGTQQLQ.IDSVFKGSNLFVAAPKTGDISDM GVCF
NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus	GVCRAIYKRWPTSFTDSATETGTARMTVCLGKKVIHAVGPDFRKHPEAEALKLLQNAYHAVADLVNEHNIKSVAIP HTCSLKYYTVVMDPLVSIIRDL.EKLSSYLLDMYKVDAGTQQLQ.IDSVFKGSNLFVAAPKTGDISDM GVCF
NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus	GVCRALYKRWPTSFTDSATETGTARMTVCLGKKVIHAVGPDFRKHPEAEALKLLQNAYHAVADLVNEHNIKSVAIP HTCSLKYYTVVMDPLVSIIRDL.EKLSSYLLDMYKVDAGTQQLQ.IDSVFKGSNLFVAAPKTGDISDM GVCF
NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV	GVCRALYKRWPTSFTDSATETGTARMTVCLGKKVIHAVGPDFRKHPEAEALKLLQNAYHAVADLVNEHNIKSVAIP HTCSLKYYTVVMDPLVSIIRDL.EKLSSYLLDMYKVDAGTQQLQ.IDSVFKGSNLFVAAPKTGDISDM GVCF
NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV	GVCRALYKRWPTSFTDSATETGTARMTVCLGKKVIHAVGPDFRKHPEAEALKLLQNAYHAVADLVNEHNIKSVAIP HTCSLKYYTVVMDPLVSIIRDL.EKLSSYLLDMYKVDAGTQQLQ.IDSVFKGSNLFVAAPKTGDISDM GVCF
NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV	GVCRAIYKRWPTSFTDSATETGTARMTVCLGKKVIHAVGPDFRKHPEAEALKLLQNAYHAVADLVNEHNIKSVAIP HTCSLKYYTVVMDPLVSIIRDL.EKLSSYLLDMYKVDAGTQQLQ.IDSVFKGSNLFVAAPKTGDISDM GVCF
NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV	GVCRALYKRWPTSFTDSATETGTARMTVCLGKKVIHAVGPDFRKHPEAEALKLLQNAYHAVADLVNEHNIKSVAIP HTCSLKYYTVVMDPLVSIIRDL.EKLSSYLLDMYKVDAGTQQLQ.IDSVFKGSNLFVAAPKTGDISDM GVCF
NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV	GVCRAIYKRWPTSFTDSATETGTARMTVCLGKKVIHAVGPDFRKHPEAEALKLLQNAYHAVADLVNEHNIKSVAIP HTCSLKYYTVVMDPLVSIIRDL.EKLSSYLLDMYKVDAGTQQLQ.IDSVFKGSNLFVAAPKTGDISDM GVCF
NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVY	GVCRAIYKRWPTSFTDSATETGTARMTVCLGKKVIHAVGPDFRKHPEAEALKLLQNAYHAVADLVNEHNIKSVAIP HTCSLKYYTVVMDPLVSIIRDL.EKLSSYLLDMYKVDAGTQQLQ.IDSVFKGSNLFVAAPKTGDISDM GVCF
NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV	GVCRAIYKRWPTSFTDSATETGTARMTVCLGKKVIHAVGPDFRKHPEAEALKLLQNAYHAVADLVNEHNIKSVAIP HTCSLKYYTVVMDPLVSIIRDL.EKLSSYLLDMYKVDAGTQQLQ.IDSVFKGSNLFVAAPKTGDISDM GVCF
NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV	GVCRALYKRWPTSFTDSATETGTARMTVCLGKKVIHAVGPDFRKHPEAEALKLLQNAYHAVADLVNEHNIKSVAIP HTCSLKYYTVVMDPLVSIIRDL.EKLSSYLLDMYKVDAGTQQLQ.IDSVFKGSNLFVAAPKTGDISDM GVCF
NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 186K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM	GVCRAIYKRWPTSFTDSATETGTARMTVCLGKKVIHAVGPDFRKHPEAEALKLLQNAYHAVADLVNEHNIKSVAIP HTCSLKYYTVVMDPLVSIIRDL.EKLSSYLLDMYKVDAGTQQLQ.IDSVFKGSNLFVAAPKTGDISDM GVCF
NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 20 AlMV*	GVCRAIYKRWPTSFTDSATETGTARMTVCLGKKVIHAVGPDFRKHPEAEALKLLQNAYHAVADLVNEHNIKSVAIP HTCSLKYYTVVMDPLVSIIRDL.EKLSSYLLDMYKVDAGTQQLQ.IDSVFKGSNLFVAAPKTGDISDM GVCFFL
NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 2a A1MV* 237K BNYVV	GVCRAIYKRWPTSFTDSATETGTARMTVCLGKKVIHAVGPDFRKHPEAEALKLLQNAYHAVADLVNEHNIKSVAIP HTCSLKYYTVVMDPLVSIIRDL.EKLSSYLLDMYKVDAGTQQLQ.IDSVFKGSNLFVAAPKTGDISDM GVCF
NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 2a AlMV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS*	GVCRALYKRWPTSFTDSATETGTARMTVCLGKKVIHAVGPDFRKHPEAEALKLLQNAYHAVADLVNEHNIKSVAIP HTCSLKYYTVVMDPLVSIIRDL.EKLSSYLLDMYKVDAGTQQLQ.IDSVFKGSNLFVAAPKTGDISDM GVCF
NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 186K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 2a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV	GVCRAIYKRWPTSFTDSATETGTARMTVCLGKKVIHAVGPDFRKHPEAEALKLLQNAYHAVADLUN. EHNIKSVAIP HTCSLKY. YTVVMDPLVSIIRDL.EKLSSYLLDMYKVDAGTQQLQ.IDSVFKGSNLFVA. APKTGDISDM GVCF
NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 2a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus	GVCRAIYKRWPTSFTDSATETGTARMTVCLGKKVIHAVGPDFRKHPEAEALKLLQNAYHAVADLVNEHNIKSVAIP HTCSLKYYTVVMDPLVSIIRDL.EKLSSYLLDMYKVDAGTQQLQ.IDSVFKGSNLFVAAPKTGDISDM GVCF
NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 2a AlMV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus	GVCRAIYKRWPTSFTDSATETGTARMTVCLGKKVIHAVGPDFRKHPEAEALKLLQNAYHAVADLVNEHNIKSVAIP HTCSLKYYTVVMDPLVSIIRDL.EKLSSYLLDMYKVDAGTQQLQ.IDSVFKGSNLFVAAPKTGDISDM GVCF
NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 2a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus	GVCRAIYKRWPTSFTDSATETGTARMTVCLGKKVIHAVGPDFRKHPEAEALKLLQNAYHAVADLVN. EHNIKSVAIP HTCSLKY. YTVVMDPLVSIIRDL.EKLSSYLLDMYKVDAGTQQLQ.IDSVFKGSNLFVA. APKTGDISDM GVCF
NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 2a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus	GVCRAIYKRWPTSFTDSATETGTARMTVCLGKKVIHAVGPDFRKHPEAEALKLLQNAYHAVADLVNEHNIKSVAIP HTCSLKYYTVVMDPLVSIIRDL.EKLSSYLLDMYKVDAGTQQLQ.IDSVFKGSNLFVAAPKTGDISDM GVCFF
NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 186K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 2a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV	GVCRAIYKRWPTSFTDSATETGTARMTVCLGKKVIHAVGPDFRKHPEAEALKLLQNAYHAVADLVNEHNIKSVAIP HTCSLKYYTVVMDPLVSIIRDL.EKLSSYLLDMYKVDAGTQQLQ.IDSVFKGSNLFVAAPKTGDISDM GVCF
NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 186K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 2a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV	GVCRAIYKRWPTSFTDSATETGTARMTVCLGKKVIHAVGPDFRKHPEAEALKLLQNAYHAVADLVNEHNIKSVAIP HTCSLKYYTVVMDPLVSIIRDL.EKLSSYLLDMYKVDAGTQQLQ.IDSVFKGSNLFVAAPKTGDISDM GVCF
NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 2a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV	GVCRAIYKRWFISFTDSATEITGIARMIVCLGKKVIHAVGPDFRKHPEAGALKLLQNAYHAVADLVNEHNIKSVAIP HTCSLKYYTVVMDPLVSIIRDL.EKLSSYLLDMYKVDAGTQQQ.IDSVFKGSNLFVAAPKTGDISDM GVCF
NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 186K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 2a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV	GVCRAIYKRWPTSFTDSATETGTARMTVCLGKKVIHAVGPDFRKHPEAEALLLQNAYHAVADLVNEHNIKSVAIP HTCSLKYYTVVMDPLVSIIRDL.EKLSSYLLDMYKVDAGTQQLQ.IDSVFKGSNLFVAAPKTGDISDM GVCF
NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 2a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV	GVCRAIYKRWPTSFTDSATETGTARMTVCLGKKVIHAVGPDFRKHPEAEALKLLQNAYHAVADLVNEHNIKSVAIP HTCSLKYYTVVMDPLVSIIRDL.EKLSSYLLDMYKVDAGTQQLQ.IDSVFKGSNLFVAAPKTGDISDM GVCT
NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 2a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX	GVCRAIYRKWP TSF TDSATETGTARMTVCLGKKVIHAVGPDFRKHPEAEALLQMAYHAVADLVNEHNIKSVAIP HTCSLKYYTVVMDPLVSIIRDL.EKLSSYLLDMYKVDAGTQQLQ.IDSVFKGSNEVAAPKTGDISDM GVCF
NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 2a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 186K NMV	GVCRAIYRKWP TSF TDSATETGTARMTVCLGKKVIHAVGPDERKHPEAEALLQNAYHAVADLUNEHNIKSVAIP HTCSLKYYTVVMDPLVSIIRDL.EKLSSYLLDMYKVDAGTQQLQ.IDSVFKGSNLFVAAPKTGDISDM GVCF
NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 223K PVM 2a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV	GVCRATYRNWTYSFTDSATETGTARMTVCLGKKVIHAVGPDFRKHPEAEALKLQNAYHAVADUVNEHNTKSVAIP HTCSLKYYTVVMDPLVSIIRDL.EKLSSYLLDMYKVDAGTQQLQ.IDSVFKGSNLFVAAPKTGDISDM GVCP

2a AlMV*	TLGRIIPTTPVPTIRDVFFSG.LSRHGSPEVIQNALDEFLPLHHSIDDKYFQEWVETSDKSLDVDPCRI
237K BNYVV	CFGKLLSALEVLKVDVSRKRFISDWLCKNLENKQFRWRWSSSVASASSAGSNVDDDFVNMAGGKTDANADPADVLRQSFM
NSP SINDBIS*	TTERLLSGLRLYNSATDQPECYKITYPKPLYSSSVPANYSDPQFAVAVCNNYLHENYPTVASYQITDEYDAYL
126K TMV	
Consensus	PP

186K NMV 166K PVX	AAREIFSPAFGHSNAIQTEDSVVQLFQHQQAKDETLYWATIDTR.AISTPEANLREFNMKRDIGDILFMNYAKLMCLPP. FDREIHSESHGHSNCVQTEDTTIQLFSHQQAKDETLLWATIHARLKTSNQEANFREFLSKKDIGDVLFLNYQKAMGLPK.
147K WC1MV	HGREIFSETHGHSNAIQTDNPVVQLFPHQQAKDETLYWATIEARLQCTSSEENLKEFHLKHDIGDILFLNYKQAMNLPQ.
216K ACLSV	QFREEAGPNWKFPYKVNQAMSYAAVYPRHKMDDDLTFLAAIKKRLRFDNVANNYAKFKAAESRGKYLTKIFLKHVPIKC.
223K PVM	OF THDHIKQLGARQLINAAERFETIIPRHKASDIVIFLMAVKKKLSFSNPGKEKGNLFHAASYGKALLSEFLKRVPLKP.
Za AIMV*	DLS.VFNNWQSSENC.YEP.RFKTGALSTR.KGTQTEALLAIKKRNMNVPNLGQIYDVNSVANSVVNKLLTTVIDPD.
237K BNYVV	DYASEFVPILIAESPIFMP.LVEPEPILSKCMVPEFDAFLLIKEFDLDNGADEYQCAYLNESVANRIGDKFVSGVLDTDI
NSP SINDBIS*	DMVDGTVACLDTATFCPAKLRSIPKKHEIRAPNIRSAVPSAMQNTLQNVLIAATKRNCNVTQMRELPTLDSATFNVEC
126K TMV	DMSKSVAAPRDQIKP.LIP.MVRTAAEMPR.QTGLLENLVAMIKRNFNAPELSGIIDIENTASLVVDKFFDSYLLKE.
Consensus	DY-LGLFL
	2001 2080
194K ELV	
205K EMV	
210K KYMV	
198K OYMV	
206K TYMV	
186K NMV	
166K PVX	
147K WCLMV	D.PIPFNPDLWTLCKQEIENTYL.KKSAAALVNAA
216K ACLSV	
223K PVM	
2a AlMV*	QDYIVGKNPDPEL
237K BNYVV	ISPLNLRGHP IAENVKYHSMCVAPAQIYFKRNQWQELQVQQARYLFRKVRNSPSSTQDSVARMVAQLFVSDCLVPNVADT
NSP SINDBIS*	FRKYACNDEYWEEFARKPIRITTEFVTAYVARLKGPKAAAL
126K TMV	
Consensus	EYL-SKAV
	2001
104K ETV	
205K EMU	SKSDPDWRHIFVKIFAKSQ.HKVNDGSIF GPWKACQTLALMHDIVILTLGPV.KK
200K EMV	QRSDPDWRLIAVRIFARAQ.HKVNDASIFSGWRACQTLALMHGIIILVLGPV.KK
100K AIMV	SRSDPDWRHTAVKIFAKSQ.HKVNDASIFGNWKACQTLALMHDFVILSLGPV.KK
196K UIMV	SRSDPDWRITVVRIFAKSQ.HKVNDGSIFGSWKACQTLALMHDFVILTLGPV.KK
10 CK NIMU	SRSDPDWRHIIVKIFAKAQ.HKVNDGSIFGSWKACQTLALMHDIVILVLGPV.KK
166K DUY	JRUGE DE DE DE LA
147K WCIMU	
216K ACLEV	IROSPORDEDEN INTERNESSION DE LE ENVESSION DE L
223K DUM	CRECEDIND TOR
22 JIMUX	
237K DNVIN	ESACNI WE IMPRAMUDMUARNYOCOME E E TENARY VERTER DI REAL ARAC OCTI ANGRE AUTOREMIA E DI ARAC OCTI ANGRE AUTOREMIA E DI ARAC
NCD CINDDIC*	E SASNEWATMDAAMIDMVAANIQGQMEEEE IKNAALIKEQLADIEKELADEEIDLAAAG.QGILAWSAEANVAEMVAEAV
126K TMU	
Consensus	-RPDW
	2161 2240
194K ELV	YQRLFDQLERPSHIYYHAGNTPHDLRRWCSKHLE.TSHCTTNDYTAFDQSQHGEAVVFEVLKMRRLSIPENLI
205K EMV	YQRIFDSKDRPPHIYYHCGKTPSQLSQWCQTHLS.GSSYIANDYTAFDQSQHGEAVVLECLKMRRLSIPDSLI
210K KYMV	YQRIFDALDRPPHLYTHCGKSPADLSAWCQTHLT.GQIKLTNDYTAFDQSQHGESVILEALKMKRLSIPSHLI
198K OYMV	YQRIIDHYDRPNFIYTHCGKTPSELSAWSHSFLK.GDAYICNDYTSFDQSQHGEAVIFESLKMHRVGIPRHLI
206K TYMV	YQRIFDNVDRPSHIYSHCGKTPNQLRDWCQEHLTHSTPKIANDYTAFDQSQHGESVVLEALKMKRLNIPSHLI
186K NMV	YLRKMRRRFQPDNIFI.CETPPEDLDKFIKSQWDFSRPAHTNDFTAFDQSQDGAMLQFEVIKAKFFNIPAEMI
166K PVX	YMRWFRQAFQPKEVFINCETTPEDMSVWALNNWNFSRPSLANDYTAFDQSQDGAMLQFEVLKAKHHCIPEEII
147K WCLMV	YMRKFRNQYCPRKIFVNCETTPADFNSFILDEWNFNRTCFSNDFTAFDQSQDGSILQFEVIKAKFHNIPEDII
216K ACLSV	YTEKVLTANLPDNYYIHQRKNFSELEDFARRFSNGSICVESDYTAFDVSQDHTILAFEVELLRHFGWDDRVL
223K PVM	YIEMKVHEVLPKNYYIHSGKGLEELDAWVKKGKFDRICTESDYEAFDASQDEFIMAFELELMKYLRLPSDLI
Za AlMV*	AAARLMLILRDKITIPSGKFHQLFSIDAEAFDASFHFKEIDFSKFDKSQNELHHLIQERFLKYLGIPNEFL.TLW
237K BNYVV	LNDLLLKSLNSN.VVYDNTMSETEFVGKINAAMNTVPDSAINGVIDAAACDSGQGVFTQLIERHIYAALGISDFFLDW
NSP SINDBIS*	LVRRLTAVLLPN.IHTLFDMSAEDFDAIIAEHFKQGDPVLETDIASFDKSQDDAMALTGLMILEDLGVDQPLL.DLI
126K TMV	LTKQLLDSVDSSRFLFFTRKTPAQIEDFFG.DLDS.HVPMDVLELDISKYDKSQNEFHCAVEYEIWRRLGF.EDFLGEVW
consensus	I-K-E

DQTSQQFPWLNLDFHISCQTSSLISARHQPGSDSTLLPASLHKRLRFRPTAAPYQITPSDSFLGNCLYRSWCQVYRRDP.

DQKSNQFPYLDAPFELSCQPSSLLAPIHKPASDPTLLPGSIKKRLRFRASSSPYSITPSDQLLGQHLFSSLCLAYGRNP.

DQTSAQFPWFDRPFSLSCQPSSLIAAKHSPSQDPTLLPFSIPKRLRFRKSDNPHVLSAIDVLLGNQLFFNLCKAYRRNP. DQTSQQFPYLDQPYTLSCQPSSLLAASHKPASDPTLLIFSISKRLRFRASSSPYAFTPNDLILGHLLYTNWCKAFGRCP.

DQSSNQFPWFDRPFSLSCQPSSLISAKHAPNHDPTLLPASINKRLRFRPSEAPHQITADDVVLGLQLFHSLCRAYSRQP.

2000

1921

194K ELV

205K EMV 210K KYMV

198K OYMV

206K TYMV

	2241 2320
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 2a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV	SLHVHLKTNVETQFGPLTCMRLTGEPGTYDDNTDYNLAVLNLQYDL.RKTPTLVSGDDSYLSGTLSPRSNWPFVK QLHSHLKCSVDTQFGPLTCMRLTGEPGTYDDNSDYNLAVIYSQYSL.NGHPILISGDDSVLCGTPPPSPLWPTLK QLHVHLKTNVATQFGPLTCMRLTGEPGTYDDNSDYNLAVIHSQFDM.KDIPV.MVSGDDSLIDRQPPLAQSWEATK DLHIYLKTNVSTQFGPLTCMRLTGEPGTYDDNTDYNLAVIFSQYVI.SDHPI.MVSGDDSVICGHPPINPNWPAVE QLHVHLKTNVSTQFGPLTCMRLTGEPGTYDDNTDYNLAVIFSQYVI.SDHPI.MVSGDDSLIDHPLPTRHDWPSVL EGYIYIKLNAAIFLGTLGIMRLSGEGPTFDANTECSIAYNATRFHITDDTAQ.VYAGDDMALDRVSIEKDSFNRLE QAYIDIKTNAQIFLGTLSIMRLTGEGPTFDANTECNIAYTHTKFDIPAGSAQ.VYAGDDSALDCVPEVKHSFHRLE EGYIQIKTHAKIFLGTLSIMRLSGEGPTFDANTECNIAYTHTKFNIPCDAAQ.VYAGDDMSIDYVASVKPSFNMIE QSYIKMKCTLGCRLGGFAIMRFTGEFSTFLFNTLANMVFTFCRYEVPDGTPICFAGDDMCALRNLREIDTHEFIL EDYKFIKTSLGSKLGNFAIMRFSGEASTFLFNTLANMLFTFMRYNIRGDEFI.CFAGDDMCALRNLREIDTHEFIL EDYKFIKTSLGSKLGNFAIMRFSGEASTFLFNTLANMLFTFMRYNIRGDEFI.CFAGDDMCALRNLREIDTHEFIL EDYKFIKTSLGSKLGNFAIMRFSGEASTFLFNTLANMLFTFMRYNIRGDEFI.CFAGDDMCALRNLREIDTHEFIL EDYKFIKTSLGSKLGNFAIMRFSGEASTFLFNTLANMLFTFMRYNIRGDEFI.CFAGDDMCALRNLREIDTHEFIL EDYKFIKTSLGSKLGNFAIMRFSGEASTFLFNTLANMLFTFMRYNIRGDEFI.CFAGDDMCALRNLREIDTHEFIL EDYKFIKTSLGSKLGNFAIMRFSGEASTFLFNTLANMLFTFMRYNIRGDEFI.CFAGDDMCALRNLREIDTHEFIL EDYKFIKTSLGSKLGNFAIMRFSGEASTFLFNTLANMLFTFMRYNIRGDEFI.CFAGDDMCALRNLREIDTHEFIL EDYKFIKTSLGSKLGNFAIMRFSGEASTFLFNTLANMLFTFMRYNIRGDEFI.CFAGDDMCALRNLREIDTHEFIL EDYKFIKTSLGSKLGNFAIMRFSGEASTFLFNTLANMLFTFMRYNIRGDEFIFAQDDMCALRNLREIDTHEFIL EDYKFIKTSLGSKLGNFAIMRFSGEASTFLFNTLANMLFTFMRYNIRGDEFIFAQDDMCALRNLREIDTHEFIC EDYKFIKTSLGSKLGNFAIMRFSGEASTFLFNTLANMLFTFMRYNIRGDEFIFAQDDMCALRNLREICA EGYIQKFNVDFQRRGDALTYLGNTIVTLACLCHVYDLMDPNVKFVVASGDDSLI.GTVEELPRDQE YFSFREKYVMQSRY.VRAHMSYVKTSGEPGTLLGNTILMGAMLNAMLRGTGPFCM.AMKGDDGFKRQANLKINDQ ECAFGEISSTHLPTGTRFKFGAMMKSGMFLTLFVNTVLNVVIASRVLEERLKTSRCAAFIGDDNIHGVVSDKEMAERCA KQGHRKTTLKDYTAGIKTCIWYQRKSGDVTTFIGNTVIIAACLASMLP.MEKIIK.GAFCGDDSLLY.FPKGCEFPDVOH
Consensus	IKFG-L-CMRLTGET-D-NTD-NLAYGDD
	2321 2400
194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 2a A1MV* 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS*	ELLHLRLKPSSLIDGLFCGYYLGPQGCIRNPLALFAKLMIAEDDGSAFDKLPSYLTEFSIGHGLGDS KMLHLRFKIERTSHPLFCGYYVSPHGAARNPYALFAKLMICVDDKSLHDKKLSYLSEFSTGHLAGDL RLLHLRFKTEKTTHPLFCGYYGSAGAIRNPLALFSKLMIAIDDEAIHDRRLSYLTEFSTGHQLGDA KLLHLRFKTEETSLPLFCGYYGPTGCCRNPFALFAKLMISYDKGNLFETLPSYLYEFSIGHRLGDV KRLHLRFKLELTSHPLFCGYYGPAGCIRNPLALFCKLMIAVDDDALDDRRLSYLTEFTTGHLLGES KQLKLTSKPMFPKQVKGDYAEFCGWVMTPAGIIKHSLKMHASIQLQKKINNIKESARSYALDLRYAYKLGDE DKLLLKSKPVITQQKKGSWPEFCGWLITPKGVMKDPIKLHVSLKLAEAKGELKKCQDSYEIDLSYAYDHKDS HLMKLKGKPVFNTQTQGDFAEFCGWTISPKGIIKKPEKMNMSIELQKNINKFHEVKRSYALDHAFAYQLGDE SKLSLKAKVNRTKVPMFCGWRLCCDGLIKEPCLIYERLQVAIENGRLMDVIDSYFLEFSFAYKLGER DKLKLKAKVQFVQFV.NKPTFCGWHLCPDGIYKKPQLVLERMCIAKEMNNLSNCIDNYAIEVAYAYKLGGK FLFTTLFNLEAK.FPH.NQPFICSKFLIT.MPTTSGGKVVLPIPNPLKLLIRLGSKKVNADIFDEWYQSWIDIIGG ML.KLIKKETVLDFKL.DLNVPITFCGYALSNGHLFPSVSRKLTKIAAHRFREYKHFCEYQESLRDWIKNLPKDPAV TWLNMEVKIIDAVIGE.RPPYFCGGFILQDSVTSTACRVADPLKRLFKLGKPLPAD
126K TMV	SA.NLMWNFEAKLFKK.QYGYFCGRYVIHHDRGCIVYYDPLKLISKLGAKHIKDWEHLEE
Consensus	SA.NLMWNFEAKLFKK.QYGYFCGRYVIHHDRGCIVYYDPLKLISKLGAKHIKDWEHLEE L-LKPLFCGYYP-GP-LFLL-DSYEFLGD-
Consensus	SA.NLMWNFEAKLFKK.QYGYFCGRYVIHHDRGCIVYYDPLKLISKLGAKHIKDWEHLEE L-LKPLFCGYYP-GP-LFLL-DSYEFLGD-
126K TMV Consensus	SA.NLMWNFEAKLFKK.QYGYFCGRYVIHHDRGCIVYYDPLKLISKLGAKHIKDWEHLEE L-LKPLFCGYYP-GPLFLL-DSYEFLGD- 2401 2480
126K TMV Consensus	SA.NLMWNFEAKLFKK.QYGYFCGRYVIHHDRGCIVYYDPLKLISKLGAKHIKDWEHLEE L-LKPLFCGYYP-GP-LFLL-DSYEFLGD- 2401 LWQLLPSDLVLYQSACFDYFCRKA.TRSQKILLQPGLVDQETLDKIALSAKFISRPFYSMLSSHARSLISTKFKLDSSLT
126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 2a Almv* H 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV	SA.NLMWNFEAKLFKK.QYGYFCGRYVIHHDRGCIVYYDPLKLISKLGAKHIKDWEHLEE L-LKPLFCGYYP-GP-LF-LL-DSY-EFLGD- 2480 LWQLLPSDLVLYQSACFDYFCRKA.TRSQKILLQPGLVDQETLDKIALSAKFISRPFYSMLSSHARSLISTKFKLDSSLT VTSILPSHLLPYQSAVHDFFCRNC.TPAEKILLSLDPIPESKILQLILKVRWASQAFFSYLPQKARELLVARSSLPSLYS LWTLLPESTQIYQSACFDYFCRHS.PPHEKALLSSFELPDSVISKISSSTKWLSKNAFYALPSKIRKAVIASRHSSSFPE VRLLFPDHLLKYYSACWDLFCRKC.TASQKLILSFEPIPPSFFSKLASTSRWVSKVLFSDLPTKIRDMLISSSKLPSHQ LWHLLPETHVQYQSACFDFFCRRC.PKHEKMLLDDSTPTLSLLERITSSPRWLTKNAMYLLPAKLRLAITSLSQTQSFPE LQEHLNEVEADYHQQSVRDMHLLHQQDVLNKGSASPPHVFEKTADANTAGSSKTHKRNALKKKKQTRIAEILPSPD LHDLFDEKQCQAHTLTCRSLILAGQATALDILD LYSHLEIEQLNYHQVLTRFFSLYLEAALESLGKIFAGKTLCKECL.FNEKHESNVKIKPRRVKSH YADFLECNASLSCRNVDDVQRWLDAIISVSRIGRE.Q.FMMMFPIREVFMSLPPVEDSLGELSSTKVAVSI DEQDEDRRRALDETKAWFRVGITGTLAVAVTTR.YEVDN.ITPVLLALRTFAQSKRAFQAIRGEIKH FRSL.CDVAVSLNNCAYYTQLDDAVWEVHKTAPPGSFVYKSLVK.Y.LSDKVLFRSLFIDGSS
126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 2a Almv* H 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus	SA.NLMWNFEAKLFKK.QYGYFCGRYVIHHDRGCIVYYDPLKLISKLGAKHIKDWEHLEE L-LKPLFCGYYP-GP-LF-LL-DSY-EFLGD- 2401 2400 LWQLLPSDLVLYQSACFDYFCRKA.TRSQKILLQPGLVDQETLDKIALSAKFISRPFYSMLSSHARSLISTKFKLDSSLT VTSILPSHLLPYQSAVHDFFCRNC.TPAEKILLSLDPIPESKILQLILKVRWASQAFFSYLPQKARELLVARSSLPSLYS LWTLLPESTQIYQSACFDYFCRHS.PPHEKALLSSFELPDSVISKISSSTKWLSKNAFYALPSKIRKAVIASRHSSSFPE VRLLFPDHLLKYYSACWDLFCRKC.TASQKLILSFEPIPPSFFSKLASTSRWVSKVLFSDLPTKIRDMLISSSKLPSYHQ LWHLLPETHVQYQSACFDFFCRRC.PKHEKMLLDDSTPTLSLLERITSSPRWLTKNAMYLLPAKLRLAITSLSQTQSFPE LQEHLNEVEADYHQQSVRDMHLLHQQDVLNKGSASPPHVFEKTADANTAGSSKTHKRNALKKKQTRIAEILPSPD LHDLFDEKQCQAHTLTCR
126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 2a Almv* H 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus	SA.NLMWNFEAKLFKK.QYGYFCGRYVIHHDRGCIVYYDPLKLISKLGAKHIKDWEHLEE L-LKPLFCGYYP-GP-LF-LL-DSY-EFLGD- 2401 2400 LWQLLPSDLVLYQSACFDYFCRKA.TRSQKILLQPGLVDQETLDKIALSAKFISRPFYSMLSSHARSLISTKFKLDSSLT VTSILPSHLLPYQSAVHDFFCRNC.TPAEKILLSLDPIPESKILQLILKVRWASQAFFSYLPQKARELLVARSSLPSLYS LWTLLPESTQIYQSACFDYFCRKS.PPHEKALLSSFELPDSVISKISSSTKWLSKNAFYALPSKIRKAVIASRHSSSFPE VRLLFPDHLLKYYSACWDLFCRKC.TASQKLILSFEPIPPSFFSKLASTSRWVSKVLFSDLPTKIRDMLISSSKLPSYHQ LWHLLPETHVQYQSACFDFFCRRC.PKHEKMLLDDSTPTLSLLERITSSPRWLTKNAMYLLPAKLRLAITSLSQTQSFPE LQEHLNEVEADYHQQSVRDMHLLHQQDVLNKGSASPPHVFEKTADANTAGSSKTHKRNALKKKQTRIAEILPSPD LHDLFDEKQCQAHTLTCR
126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 2a Almv* H 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus	SA.NLMWNFEAKLFKK.QYGYFCGRYVIHHDRGCIVYYDPLKLISKLGAKHIKDWEHLEE L-LKPLFCGYYP-GP-LF-LL-DSY-EFLGD- 2401 2480 LWQLLPSDLVLYQSACFDYFCRKA.TRSQKILLQPGLVDQETLDKIALSAKFISRPFYSMLSSHARSLISTKFKLDSSLT VTSILPSHLLPYQSAVHDFFCRNC.TPAEKILLSLDPIPESKILQLILKVRWASQAFFSYLPQKARELLVARSSLPSLYS LWTLLPESTQIYQSACFDYFCRHS.PPHEKALLSSFELPDSVISKISSSTKWLSKNAFYALPSKIRKAVIASRHSSFPE VRLLFPDHLLKYYSACWDLFCRKC.TASQKLILSFEPIPPSFFSKLASTSRWVSKVLFSDLPTKIRDMLISSSKLPSYHQ LWHLLPETHVQYQSACFDFFCRRC.PKHEKMLLDDSTPISLLERITSSPRWLTNNAMYLLPAKLRLAITSLSQTQSFPE LQEHLNEVEADYHQQSVRDMHLLHQQDVLNKGSASPPHVFEKTADANTAGSSKTHKRNALKKKQTRIAEILPSPD LHDLFDEKQCQAHTLTCRIIKKGRGTV.SLP LHELYNESEAEHHQLATRSLILAGQATALDILD LYSHLEIEQLNYHQVLTRFFSLYLEAALESLGKIFAGKTLCKECL.FNEKHESNVKIKPRVKKSH YADFLECNASLSCRNVDDVQRWLDAIISVSRIGREQ.FMMMFPIREVFMSLPVVEDSLGELSSTKVAVSI DEQDEDRRRALLDETKAWFRVGITGTLAVAVTTR.YEVDN.ITPVLLALRTFAQSKRAFQAIRGEIKH FRRSL.CDVAVSLNNCAYYQLDDAVWEVHKTAPPGSFVYKSLVK.Y.LSDKVLFRSLFIDGSS L
126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 186K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 2a Almv* H 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV	SA.NLMWNFEAKLFKK.QYGYFCGRYVIHHDRGCIVYYDPLKLISKLGAKHIKDWEHLEE L-LKPLFCGYYP-CP-LF-LL-DSY-EFLGD- 2401 2480 LWQLLPSDLVLYQSACFDYFCRKA.TRSQKILLQPGLVDQETLDKIALSAKFISRFYSMLSSHARSLISTKFKLDSSLT VTSILPSHLLPYQSAVHDFFCRNC.TPAEKILLSLDPIPESKILQILKVRWASQAFFSYLPQKARELLVARSSLPSLYS LWTLLPESTQIYQSACFDYFCRHS.PPHEKALLSSFELPDSVISKISSSTKWLSKNAFYALPSKIRKAVIASRHSSSFPE VRLLFPDHLLKYYSACWDLFCRKC.TASQKLILSFEPIPPSFFSKLASTSRWVSKVLFSDLPTKIRDMLISSSKLPSYHQ LWHLLPETHVQYQSACFDFFCRRC.PKHEKMLLDDSTPTLSLLERITSSPRWLTKNAMYLLPAKLRAITSLSQTQSFPE LQEHLNEVEADYHQQSVRDMHLLHQQDVLNKGSASPPHVFEKTADANTAGSSKTHKRNALKKKQTRIAEILPSPD LHDLFDEKQCQAHTLTCR
126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 2a Almv* H 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV	SA.NLMWNFEAKLFKK.QYGYFCGRYVIHHDRGCIVYYDPLKLISKLGAKHIKDWEHLEE L-LKPLFCGYYP-GP-LF-LL-DSY-EFLGD- 2401 2480 WQLLPSDLVLYQSACFDYFCRKA.TRSQKILLQPGLVDQETLDKIALSAKFISRPFYSMLSSHARSLISTKFKLDSSLT VTSILPSHLLPYQSAVHDFFCRNC.TPAEKILLSLDPIPESKILQLILKVRWASQAFFSYLPQKARELLVARSSLPSLYS LWTLLPESTQIYQSACFDYFCRHS.PPHEKALLSSFELPDSVISKISSSTKWLSKNAFYALPSKIRKAVIASRHSSSFPE VRLLFPDHLLKYYSACWDLFCRKC.TASQKLILSFEPIPPSFFSKLASTSRWVSKVLFSDLPTKIRDMLISSSKLPSYHQ LWHLLPETHVQYQSACFDFFCRRC.PKHEKMLLDDSTPTLSLLERITSSPRWLTKNAMYLLPAKIRLAITSLSQTQSFPE LQEHLNEVEADYHQQSVRDMHLLHQQDVLNKGSASPHVFEKTADANTAGSSKTHKRNALKKKKQTIAEILPSPD LHDLFDEKQCQAHTICRTIKSGRGTV.SLP LHELYNESEAEHHQLATRSLILAGQATALDILD LYSHLEIEQLNYHQVLTRFFSLYLEAALESLGKIFAGKTLCKECL.FNEKHESNVKIKPRVKKSH YADFLECNASLSCRNVDVQRWLDAIISVSRIGREQ.FMMMFPIREVFMSLPVEDSLGELSSTKVAVSI DEQDEDRRRALLDETKAWFRVGITGTLAVAVTTR.YEVDN.ITPULLALRTFAQSKRAFQAIRGEIKH FRRSL.CDVAVSLNNCAYYTQLDDAVWEVHKTAPPGSFVYKSLVK.Y.LSDKVLFRSLFIDGSS LLC-Y-RLF-L 2481 C 2511 TLQDPMVEFELL.PFSNVQ NPDVSQLEFELL.QSFQF
126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 2a Almv* H 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV	SA.NLMWNFEAKLFKK.QYGYFCGRYVIHHDRGCIVYYDPLKLISKLGAKHIKDWEHLEE L-LKPLFCGYYP-GP-LF-LL-DSY-EFLGD- 2401 2480 LWQLLPSDLVLYQSACFDYFCRKA.TRSQKILLQPGLVDQETLDKIALSAKFISRPFYSMLSSHARSLISTKFKLDSSLT VTSILPSHLLPYQSAVHDFFCRNC.TPAEKILLSLDPIPESKILQLILKVRWASQAFFSYLPQKARELLVARSSLPSLYS LWTLLPESTQIYQSACFDYFCRHS.PPHEKALLSSFELPDSVISKISSSTKWLSKNAFYALPSKIRKAVIASRHSSSFPE VRLLFPDHLLKYYSACMDLFCRKC.TASQKLILSFEPIPPSFFSKLASTSRWVSKVLFSDLPTKINDMLISSSKLPSYHQ LWHLLPETHVQYQSACFDFFCRRC.PKHEKMLLDDSTPTLSLLERITSSPRWLTKNAMYLLPAKLRLAITSLSQTQSFPE LQEHLNEVEADYHQQSVRDMHLLHQQDVLNKGSASPHVFEKTADANTAGSSKTHKRNALKKKKQTRIAEILPSPD LHDLFDEKQC.QAHTLTCRTLIKSGRTV.SLP. LHELYNESEA.EHHQLATR.SLYLEAALESLG.KIFAGKTLCKECL.FNEKHESNVKIKPRVKKSH YADFLECNASLSCRNVDDVQRWL.OAIISVSRIGRE.Q.FMMMFPIREVFMSLPPVEDSLGELSSTKVASVI DEQDEDRRRALDETKAWFRVGI.TGTLAVAVTTR.YEVDN.ITPVLLALRTFAQSKRAPQAIRGEIKH FRRSL.CDVAVSLNNCAYYTQLD.DAVWEVHKTAPP.GSFVYKSLVK.Y.LSDK.VLFRSLFIDGSS LLC-Y-R-LF-L
126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 2a Almv* H 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV	SA.NLMWNFEAKLFKK.QYGYFCGRYVIHHDRGCIVYYDPLKLISKLGAKHIKDWEHLEE L-LKPLFCGYYP-GP-LF-LL-DSY-EFLGD- 2401 2480 LWQLLPSDLVLYQSACFDYFCRKA.TRSQKILLQPGLVDQETLDKIALSAKFISRFYSMLSSHARSLISTKFKLDSSLT VTSILPSHLLPYQSACFDYFCRKA.TRSQKILLQPGLVDQETLDKIALSAKFISRFYSMLSKHARSLISTKFKLDSSLT VTSILPSHLLPYQSACFDYFCRK.PHEKALLSSFELPDSVISKISSTKWLSKNAFYALPSKIRKAVIASRHSSSFPE VRLLFPDHLLKYYSACWDLFCRKC.TASQKILLSFEPIPPSFFSKLASTSRWVSKVLFSDLPTKIRDMLISSSKLPSYHQ UWHLLPETHVQYQSACFDFFCRC.PKHEKMLLDSTFISLERITSSPRWLTKNAMYLLPAKLRLAITSLSQTOSFPE LQEHLNEVEADYHQQSVRDMHLLHQQDVLNKGSASPPHVFEKTADANTAGSSKTHKRNALKKKKQTRIAEILPSPD LHDLFDEKQCQAHTLTCR.LHAUMODVLNKGSASPPHVFEKTADANTAGSSKTHKRNALKKKKQTRIAEILPSPD LHDLFDEKQCQAHTLTCR.LHAUMODVLNKGSASPPHVFEKTADANTAGSSKTHKRNALKKKKQTRIAEILPSPD LHDLFDEKQCQAHTLTCR.LHAUMODVLNKGSASPPHVFEKTADANTAGSSKTHKRNALKKKKQTRIAEILPSPD LHDLFDEKQCQAHTLTCR.LHAUMODVLNKGSASPPHVFEKTADANTAGSSKTHKRNALKKKKQTRIAEILPSPD LHDLFDEKQCQAHTLTCR.LHAUMODVLNKGSASPPHVFEKTADANTAGSSKTHKNALKKKKQTRIAEILPSPD LHDLFDEKQCQAHTLTCR.LHAUMODVLNKGSASPPHVFEKTADANTAGSSKTHKRNALKKKKQTRIAEILPSPD LHDLFDEKQCQAHTLTCR.LHAUMODVLNKGSASPPHVFEKTADANTAGSSKTHKNALKKKKQTRIAEILPSPD LHDLFDEKQCQAHTLTCR.LHAUMODVLNKGSASPPHVFEKTADANTAGSSKTHKRNALKKKKQTRIAEILPSPD LHDLFDEKQCQAHTLTCR.LHAUMODVLNKGSASPPHVFEKTADANTAGSSKTHKRNALKKKKQTRIAEILPSPD LHDLFDEKQCQAHTLTCR.LHAUMOTR.VICKIFTAQSKRAFQARGEIKHS FNSL.CDVAVSLNNCAYYTQLDDAIISVSRIGRE.Q.FMMMFPIREVFMSLPPVEDSLGELSSTKVAVSI DEQDEDRRRALLDETKAWRVGI.TGTLAVAVTTR.YEVDN.ITPULLALTFAQSKRAFQAIRGEIKH FRRSL.CDVAVSLNNCAYYTQLDDAVWEVHKTAPP.GSFVYKSLVK.Y.LSDKVLFRSLFIDGSS L
126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 2a Almv* H 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV	SA.NLMWNFEAKLFKK.QYGYFCGRYVIHHDRGCIVYYDPLKLISKLGAKHIKDWEHLEE L-LKPLFCGYYP-GP-LF-LL-DSY-EFLGD- 2401 2480 LWQLLPSDLVLYQSACFDYFCRKA.TRSQKILLQPGLVDQETLDKIALSAKFISRFYSMLSSHARSLISTKFKLDSSLT VTSILPSHLLPYQSACFDYFCRKS.PHEKALLSSFELPDSVISKISSSTKWLSKNAFYALPSKIRKAVIASRHSSSPEP VRLLFPSTQIYQSACFDFFCRC.PHEKALLSSFELPDSVISKISSSTKWLSKNAFYALPSKIRKAVIASRHSSSPEP LWHLLPETHVQYQSACFDFFCRC.PKHEKMLLDSTPISLERITSSPRWLTKNAMYLLPAKIRLAITSLSQTQSFPE LQEHLNEVEADYHQQSVRDMHLLHQQDVLNKGSASPPHVFEKTADANTAGSSKTHKRNALKKKKQTRIAEILPSPD LHDLFDEKQCQAHTLTCR.ILNOQDVLNKGSASPPHVFEKTADANTAGSSKTHKRNALKKKKQTRIAEILPSPD LHDLFDEKQCQAHTLTCR.INKGRAPPHVFEKTADANTAGSSKTHKRNALKKKKQTRIAEILPSPD LHDLFDEKQCQAHTLTCR.INKHLLRGDVLNKGSASPPHVFEKTADANTAGSSKTHKRNALKKKKQTRIAEILPSPD LHDLFDEKQCQAHTLTCR.INKGRAPPHVFEKTADANTAGSSKTHKRNALKKKKQTRIAEILPSPD LHDLFDEKQCQAHTLTCR.INKGRAPPHVFEKTADANTAGSSKTHKRNALKKKKQTRIAEILPSPD LHDLFDEKQCQAHTLTCR.INKGRAPPHVFEKTADANTAGSSKTHKRNALKKKKQTRIAEILPSPD LHDLFDEKQCQAHTLTCR.INKGRAPPHVFEKTADANTAGSSKTHKRNALKKKKQTRIAEILPSPD LHDLFDEKQCQAHTLTCR.INKGRAPPHVFEKTADANTAGSSKTHKRNALKKKKQTRIAEILPSPD LHDLFDEKQCQAHTLTCR.INKGRAPPHVFEKTADANTAGSSKTHKRNALKKKKQTRIAEILPSPD LHDLFDEKQCQAHTLTCR.INKGRAPPHVFEKTADANTAGSSKTHKRNALKKKKQTRIAEILPSPD LHDLFDEKQCQAHTLTCR.INKGRAPPHVFEKTADANTAGSSKTHKRNALKKKKQTRIAEILPSPD LHDLFDEKQCQAHTLTCR.INKGRAPPHVFEKTADANTAGSSKTHKRNALKKKKQTRIAEILPSPD LHDLYNSELSCRNVDDVQRWL.INDAIYSSTIGRE.Q.FMMMFPIREVFMSLPPVEDSLGELSSTKVAVSI DEQDEDRRALLDETKAWFRVGI.TGTLAVAVTTR.VEVDN.ITPVLLALRTPAQSKRAFQAIRGEIKH FRRSLCDVAVSLNNCAYYQLD.DAVEVHKTAPP.GSFVYKSLVK.Y.LSDK.VLFRSLFIDGSS L
126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 2a Almv* H 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX	SA.NLMWNFEAKLFKK.QYGYFCGRYVIHHDRGCIVYYDPLKLISKLGAKHIKDWEHLEE L-L-KPLFCGYYP-GP-LFLL-DSY-EFLOD- 2401 2480 LWQLLPSDLVLYQSACFDYFCRKA.TRSQKILLQPGLVDQETLDKIALSAKFISRPFYSMLSSHARSLISTKFKLDSSLT VTSILPSHLLPYQSAVHDFFCRNC.TPAEKILLSDPIPESKILQLILKVRMSQAFFSYLPQKARELLVARSSLPSLYS LWTLLPESTQIYQSACFDYFCRKS.TASQKLILSFEPIPDSVISKISSSTKWLSKNAFYALPSKIRKAVIASRHSSFPE VRLFPDHLLKYYSACWDLFCRKC.TASQKLILSFEPIPPSFFSKLASTSRWSKVLFSDLPTKIRDMLISSSKLPSYHO LWHLLPETHVQYQSACFDFFCRRC.PKHEKMLLDDSTPTLSLLERITSSPRWSTKNAMYLLPAKLRLAITSLSQTQSFPE LQEHLNEVEADYHQQSVRDMHLLHQQDVLNKGSASPPHVFEKTADANTAGSSKTHKNNALKKKKORTIAEILPSPD LHDLFDEKQCQAHTLTCR. LHELYNESEAEHHQLATR. LYSHLEIEQLNYHQVLTRFF. NTMHH.VIRCVAAMTAHRYLRP. SLYLEAALESLGKIFAGKTLCKECL.PNEKHESNVKIKPRVKKSH YADFLECNASLSCRNVDDVQRWL. DAIISVSRIGRE.Q.FMMMFPIREVFMSLPPVESLGELSSTKVAVSI DEQDEDRRAALDDETKAWFRVGI. TGTLAVAVTTR. PKVNSQLESELL.PFSQ. NPDVSQLEFELL.QSFOF. PRVQYLESELL.PFSQ. NPDVSQLESELL.PFSQ. NPDVSQLESELL.PFSQ. NPDVSQLESELL.PFSQ. NPDVSQLESELL.PFSQ. NPDVSQLESELL.PFSQ. NPDVSQLESELL.PFSQ. NPDVSQLEFFF. ARGLMK
126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WCIMV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 2a Almv* H 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WCIMV 216K ACLSV	SA.NLMWNFEAKLFKK.QYGYFCGRYVIHHDRGCIVYYDPLKLISKLGAKHIKDWEHLEE L-LKPLFCGYYP-GP-LFLL-DSY-EFLGD- 2401 2480 LWQLLPSDLVLYQSACFDYFCRKA.TRSQKILLQPGLVDQETLDKIALSAKFISRPFYSMLSSHARSLISTKFKLDSSLT VTSILPSHLPYQSAVHOFFCRNC.TPAEKILLSDPIPESKILQLILKVRMSQAFFSYLPQKARELLVARSSLPJYS LWTLLPESTQIYQSACFDYFCRKC.TASQKLILSFEPIPSVISKISSSTKWJSKNAFYALPSKIRKAVIASRHSSFPE VRLFPDHLLKYYSACWDLFCRKC.TASQKLILSFEPIPSFFSKLASTSRWSKVLFSDLPTKIRDMLISSSKLPSYHQ LWHLLPETHVQYQSACFDFFCRC.PKHEKMLLDDSTPTISLLERITSSPRWITKNAMYLLPAKLRLAITSLSQTQSFPE LQEHLNEVEADYHQQSVRDMHLLHQQVLNKGSASPPHVFEKTADANTAGSSKTHKRNALKKKQTRIAEILPSPD LHDLFDEKQCQAHTLTCR
126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM 2a Almv* H 237K BNYVV NSP SINDBIS* 126K TMV Consensus 194K ELV 205K EMV 210K KYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 198K OYMV 206K TYMV 186K NMV 166K PVX 147K WC1MV 216K ACLSV 223K PVM	SA.NLMWNFEAKLFKK.QYGYFCGRYVIHDDRGCIVYYDPLKLISKLGAKHIKDWEHLEE L-LKPLFCGYYP-GP-LFL

		2481	L	/				2	5	1	1
194K	ELV	TLQDPMVEFELL.PFSNVQ									
205K	EMV	NPKVSQLESELL.PFSQ									
210K	KYMV	NPDVSQLEFELL.QSFQF									
198K	OYMV	DPRVQYLESELLTSFNHGRLS	TN								
206K	TYMV	SIEVSHAESELL.HYVQ									
186K	NMV	ATGLSSLPFRFF									
166K	PVX	RLRNFL									
147K	WClMV	.YGLRDLK									
216K	ACLSV	DEDGDNDKGSQIEDRRRGYSM	CW	G	E	K	L	Q	N	LI	F
223K	PVM										

2a	Almv*	SDARSRARRA	
237K	BNYVV	GDNVSNVVRKVARVDMKKF	
NSP S	INDBIS*	LYGGPK	
126K	TMV	C	
Con	sensus		

ALMV 1a = RNA1 was aligned in A and B segments. ALMV 2a = RNA2 was aligned in C segment. Sindbis virus NSP = nsP1-nsP2 (amino acid residues 1-1463) and nsP4 (residues 1907-2513)

Table 9. Percent of identical residues in the aligned replicase proteins encoded by five tymoviruses and other Sindbis-like viruses. Acronyms of tymoviruses as in text. Those of other viruses are ACLSV: apple chlorotic leaf spot closterovirus, AlMV: alfalfa mosaic virus, BNYVV: beet necrotic yellow vein furovirus, NMV: narcissus mosaic potexvirus, PVM: potato M carlavirus, PVX: potato X potexvirus, Sindbis alphavirus, TMV: tobacco mosaic tobamovirus, and WCIMV: white clover mosaic potexvirus.

	Domain	ELV	EMV	KYMV	OYMV	TYMV	NMV	PVX	WCLMV	ACLSV	PVM	ALMV	BNYVV	Sindbis
EMV	λ	45.00	1.0.1											
	в	45.02												
	С	58.88												
	total	49.63												
KYMV	λ	44.89	50.44											
	в	45.42	45.66											
	C	56.77	61.80											
	total	49.03	52.63											
OYMV	λ	46.74	53.85	50.18										
	В	44.03	47.77	47.45										
	С	56.67	63.20	59.68										
	total	49.15	54.94	52.44										
TYMV	λ	57.92	60.04	52.80	57.92									
	В	43.42	49.64	43.83	49.26									
	C	44.93	41.96	67.55	40.53									
	total	48.76	50.55	54.73	49.15									
NMV	λ	18.76	20.22	20.18	17.67	23.31								
	B	18.02	17.54	17.50	17.92	23.04								
	C	22.97	19.50	23.21	21.66	21.25								
	total	19.92	19.09	20.30	19.08	22.53								
PVX	A	18.96	20.04	17.19	18.86	25.59	37.02							
	B	21.67	20.54	19.20	21.62	20.44	41.48							
	C	25.43	23.72	25.70	25.70	18.24	54.12							
	total	22.02	21.43	20.70	22.06	21.42	44.21							
WCIM	V A	22.27	22.20	23.04	21.91	23.31	52.15	43.76						
	B	23.77	21.58	21.56	23.43	23.04	49.87	50.94						
	C	23.57	21.02	24.69	23.83	21.25	58.61	55.04						
	total	23.20	21.60	23.09	23.06	22.53	53.54	49.91						
ACLS	V A	17.76	17.14	18.82	16.96	21.94	15.96	14.26	18.71					
	B	20.21	16.25	18.15	17.64	16.23	13.79	18.08	19.46					
	C	21.86	24.08	20.97	22.07	19.02	25.05	26.39	25.37					
	total	19.94	19.16	19.13	18.89	19.06	18.27	19.58	21.18					
PVM	λ	15.74	15.75	14.09	17.18	21.67	15.52	15.26	18.04	29.95				
	B	13.93	12.28	11.83	14.06	13.89	13.44	17.23	16.49	14.08				
	C	22.80	20.22	20.69	23.49	14.31	23.71	25.11	25.00	43.25				
	total	17.49	16.08	15.53	18.24	16.62	17.56	19.20	19.84	29.09				
ATWA		06.67	08.23	05.92	07.11	12.55	07.54	08.47	09.84	08.30	07.11			
	в	12.21	11.23	10.45	11.80	06.26	10.37	11.60	10.42	10.12	09.24			
	C	12.70	11.43	11.83	10.69	10.66	11.81	12.80	10.31	11.39	13.//			
DIDAT	LOLET	10.55	10.30	09.40	09.87	11 15	09.91	10.96	10.19	09.94	15.39	00.04		
BUIA	V A	07.43	20.24	07.29	10.29	11.15	06.57	07.14	07.45	09.04	07.45	09.94		
	в	10.28	10.34	09.61	10.22	07.45	10.74	09.96	10.30	07.60	08.24	17 25		
	total	10 21	12.90	11.52	12.17	08.52	10.74	10.15	10.10	12.33	12.01	11 00		
sind	LOCAL A	00.14	08 01	09.41	09.70	11 57	07 27	09.00	09.30	00.01	07 10	17.04	10 20	
sind	DIS A	09.14	08.01	07.00	10.12	11.5/	08.10	06.00	08.10	05.21	07.10	22.05	05 46	
	6	10 44	10 92	11 60	10.12	09.06	11 20	12 22	11 16	12 42	11 53	26.99	14 12	
	total	00.44	08 08	00.30	12.17	00.00	08 90	12.33	00 21	12.42	11.33	20.29	00 00	
TIME	LUCAL	09.03	05.30	09.30	07 17	16 74	00.03	05.07	06 01	07.16	09 65	10 02	08 54	12 76
****	P	09.17	00.13	00.19	10 14	00 17	09.03	00.52	12 50	10.00	07.33	12 72	06.04	13 07
	D	09.29	09.1/	09.39	10.14	00.1/	00.93	09.31	12.30	10.00	01.32	13.13	00.94	10.01

 C
 15.23
 16.34
 17.66
 16.11
 10.28
 13.54
 12.14
 08.62
 15.86
 13.48
 13.43
 19.10
 17.14

 total
 11.23
 10.42
 11.81
 11.14
 11.73
 10.50
 09.21
 09.36
 11.00
 09.82
 15.39
 11.53
 14.32

Domain ELV EMV KYMV OYMV TYMV NMV PVX WCLMV ACLSV PVM ALMV BNYVV Sindbis

The A Segments

The possible methyltransferase domain was first identified in the Sindbis virus RP (Mi *et al.*, 1989). Candresse *et al.* (1990) reported that the most characteristic signature of the RNA methyl transferase is the consensus sequence Hxxxxx <19-22aa> xxGx <11-13aa> xHxxxxxxDxxRx <22-53aa> xCxxxxxx. However the 'Sindbis-like' viruses of subgroup I (i.e. the tymo-, potex-, carla- and closteroviruses) seem only to have traces of the two motifs closest to the N-terminus. These traces are found in the ELV RP from around amino acid residue 80 to about 440 (Figure 27).

The B Segments

The second conserved segment is located between residues 870 and 1101 in the central part of the ELV RP, and possesses the well-known sequence GxxGxGKS/T, that has been shown to be associated with nucleotide binding activity (Hodgman, 1988; Gorbalenya *et al.*, 1988b; Gorbalenya *et al.*, 1989a, b). It can be seen that when those portions of the 'Sindbis-like' RPs that contain this sequence are aligned, eight conserved blocks of sequence are found. These are xxxxGxxGxGK[S/T]xxxx[I/f]xx xxx <4-14aa> xxxx[P/d/s]xxx[L/a][R/a/k] <21-37aa> xxxxD[E/d]xxxxxx[G/r]xxxx <6-10aa> xxxxxxG[D/g]xxQxxx <8-25aa> xxx[R/e]xxxxx <1-18aa> x[R/y]x <43-60aa> xxxxTxxxx[Q/r/t]GxTxxxxxxxx[L/i/q] <9-17aa> xxxx[A/c/l/v][L/i]x[R/a] xxxxxxx (Figure 28).

The C Segments

The third set of motifs are those of the viral RNA polymerase located at the Cterminal end of the RPs. Those of the ELV RP are around amino acid residues 1475 to 1620 and consist of at least five conserved blocks xxxxDxxx[F/y/c]DxSQxxxxxxxx <23-29aa> xxxxxxxxxxxxCxxxTxxxN[T/s]xxxxxxxxxx <5-6aa> xxxxGDDxxxxxx <8aa> xxxxxxxXxxXx<1-6aa> xxx[F/i]C[G/s]xxxxxx (Figure

29). However Poch et al. (1989) found a larger region of the RPs of viruses with plusstrand, minus-strand, and double-stranded RNA genomes was conserved and this

region contained at least four motifs.

Figure 27. The motifs at N-terminus of the RPs of tymoviruses and of the other corresponding proteins of Sindbis-like viruses. The consensus line indicates the residues which most commonly occur in that position. These motifs are possibly of a methyltransferase (Mi *et al.*, 1989). The domains of the methyltransferase identified by Candresse *et al.* (1990) are the lower set of sequences. Numbers in the gaps between motifs gives the numbers of amino acids within each gap.



(canaresse ce	ar: 19907	126K	TMV	81	HSLAGG		<19aa>	YDIGG	<12aa
<9aa>	LHNYRLHPH	HDSNRY.P	<15aa>	DSLM	YFTPHQIS	G <u>LF</u> ESCPNLLS	LYASLVVP	ESSMT.DL	SLNPDLYR
<9aa>	LINFRLTA	ADTTRY.P	<15aa>	DALM	YFSPAQIV	DLFTQSPALET	LYCSLIVPE	ESHFT.DL	SLFPEIYT
<9aa>	LHNYRLTP	TDSVRF.P	<15aa>	DALM	YYOPEQIL	HLFHQVPQLTN	LFCSLVTPE	ESHFT.HL:	SLMPDLYT
<9aa>	LVNYRLTA	ADSVRY.P	<15aa>	DALM	YFNPSQIL	DLFIQCPSLQR	LHCSLVVPE	ESSFT.DL	SLHPNLYT
<9aa>	LKNYRLHPN	NDSTRY.P	<15aa>	DALM	YYHPSQIM	DLFLQKPNLER	LYASLVVPI	EAHLS . DO	SFFPKLYT
<9aa>	FLNKDVEPH	KDLFRY.D	<19aa>	DTLH	FMSRREIV	QLFEDSPKLET	LLATVVLP	EALHK.RT	SLYPSLYS
<9aa>	FHNVAIEPH	RDVARY.P	<19aa>	DTVH	SLDPSYIV	ET <u>FQNCPKLQ</u> T	LYATLGLP	EAAFK.ME	STHPNLYS
<9aa>	FINLAIEPH	RDLQRY.E	<19aa>	DTLH	FFTRKMLA	DLFFHNPALDV	LYATLVLPH	PEALHK . HP	SIEPDLYT
<12aa>	ILNRLVTA	KDKARYGP	<18aa>	DEIH	YWSRDQLE	T. <u>FLQVHRPKN</u>	LWATLVFPE	PEILAGYKS	SVLPFLYC
<12aa>	VVNRYVTS	ADRMRYTN	<39aa>	DELH	YWSSKVLI	D. <u>F</u> LDVMRPDK	LLGTVVYPI	<u>PELLFKPTR</u>	SLNEWCYT
	N	-DRY		D		-LF	LLPI	2E	SPY-
	_	F		-		T	- <u>v</u> <u>v</u>	7	E
la AlMV	VHCCCPILDAR	DGARL	<22aa>	YC	MDTFOKC	189			
237K BNYVV	VHYYFANKDSK	DLVRT	<28aa>	GC	GYIVKRS	319			
nsP1 SINDBIS	YHCVCPMRSPE	EDPDRM	<39aa>	LC	FHNDVTC	145			
126K TMV	VHCCMPNLDVR	DIMRH	<39aa>	vc	HNTFQTM	188			
<7aa> LH	TPEGHSAGSYNOP	VNALDWLKI	SAI	<1	laa>	LESWGPLHSI	LLI		
<7aa> LH	YIPENHHSGSYNQPI	LQALSWLKI	SSI	<1	laa>	LESWGPVHS	ILI		
<7aa> LH	YTPEGHSAGSYNOP	ITALSWLKI	NSI	<1	laa>	LESWGPLHS	ILI		
<7aa> LH	YVPEGHHAGSYDQPI	LDAISWLKL	NSI	<1	laa>	LESWGPVHSI	LLI		
<7aa> LH	YVPEGHEAGSYNOPS	SDAHSWLRI	NSI	<1	laa>	LESWGPVHSI	LLI		
<7aa> FE	YIPGNHGGGCYFHP	YTTLEWLKV	RMI	<1	8aa>	VESLGANHL	FIV		
<7aa> FQ	YIPGNHGGGAYHHE	FAHLOWLKV	GKI	<2	9aa>	QESFAANHL	YCI		
<7aa> FQ	YIPGNHGGGSYSHE	FKQLEWLKV	GHL	<1	laa>	IESIGANHLI	FMI		
<7aa> LV	YMPDGVRSESYTOPI	LENGFLLSS	SSI	<1	7aa>	VYSLGSHHL	FHI		
<7aa> LM	FFPDGVQSEGYQQPI	LKGGYLLGA	RSL	<1	2aa>	LCSKFPHHL	ISI		

194K ELV	49	LNRMGIQVSGLT	<4;	aa>	HPHAAHKTLELNLL	<13aa>	VVFMK	PSKFFKL
205K EMV	49	LLSWGIPNSGLG	<42	aa>	HPHPIHKTVETFLL	<13aa>	V. MEMK	PSKFQKL
210K KYMV	49	LLKSGIPINSFL	<42	aa>	HPHPAHKTLETHLL	<13aa>	V LEMK	POKEMKL
198K OYMV	49	LLAAGIPTSGFG	<42	aa>	HPHAVHKVIETFLL	<13aa>	V. MEMK	PSKFKKL
206K TYMV	49	LNSYGIPTSGLG	<42	aa>	HPHAAHKTIETFLL	<13aa>	V. MEMK	PSKFNKL
186K NMV	50	LESFGITVNPYA	<42	aa>	HTHAACKVIENRML	<13aa>	M LFLK	RSKLRYM
166K PVX	50	LEGFGIATNPYS	< 4 a	aa>	HTHAAAKTIENKLL	<13aa>	F. MELK	PRKLNYM
147K WCLMV	50	LEKYGIATNPFA	<4a	aa>	HSHGAVKSIENTLL	<13aa>	FLFLK	RSKLRYL
216K ACLSV	54	FTKSGVYLSPFA	<4;	aa>	HSHPGCKTLENHLL	<13aa>	VACLSIK	SNKMSKM
223K PVM	54	LSMAGIYLSPYS	<4;	aa>	<u>HSHPVCKTLENYIL</u>	<13aa>	FVGIK	ERKL.QL
Consensus		<u>LGI</u>			<u>H-HKELL</u>		<u>F</u> - <u>K</u>	<u>K</u> <u>K</u>
		E V			1		G	
					M		S	
Methyltransfera	ase	1a	Almv	99	HCFAAA	<19aa>	IDLGG	<12aa>
consensus		237K	BNYVV	219	HPVLAA	<22aa>	LVVGA	<13aa>
(Candresse et a	al. 199	0) nsP1	SINDBIS	38	HANARA	<19aa>	LDIGS	<11aa>
		1268	TMU	81	HSLAGG	(1922)	YDIGG	(1222)



Figure 28. Eight amino acid sequence motifs in the possible NTP-binding part of the RPs of five tymoviruses and of the corresponding region of Sindbis-like viruses. This domain is similar to that of the nucleic acid helicase of E. coli (rec B) (Habili and Symons (1989). The number of amino acids in the gap between the motifs is given. The consensus indicates residues which occur most commonly.



					<u>GD</u> <u>Q</u>		-	<u>R</u>
		2 1			9			-
<7aa>	YRV	<47aa>	WNAVTISSS	SQGCTFSDPAFIE	HLD	<9aa>	NCLVALTRSRSG	VYFK
<7aa>	HRI	<47aa>	HHAITISAF	R.VTFTEAHTI	LD	<9aa>	NCLVALTRSRTG	VYFV
<7aa>	YRV	<51aa>	FPATTISAS	SQGVTHHNRVTI	LD	<9aa>	NTLVALTRSTVG	VEFL
<7aa>	YRC	<47aa>	HHALTISSS	QGMTYSDPVTI	LD	<9aa>	TALVALTRSRSG	IYFI
<7aa>	YRI	<46aa>	YRSCTISSS	QGLTFCDPAIN	/LD	<9aa>	NGLVALTRSRSG	VQFM
<laa></laa>	HRN	<49aa>	HHSMTYAGO	COGLT . APKIQI	.L.	<9aa>	VLYTCLSRAVDR	IHFI
<laa></laa>	HRN	<48aa>	NDRFTYAGO	QGLT .NPKVQIV	/LD	<9aa>	VMYTALSRATDR	IHFV
<laa></laa>	HRN	<47aa>	QKSMTYAGO	OGLT.TKAVQIJ	LD	<9aa>	VIYTALSRAVDH	IHFI
<7aa>	YRI	<60aa>	GNVMTFGES	QGLTF . NCGVIN	/LS	<9aa>	HIMVAITRFRRG	FCFA
<3aa>	HRF	<61aa>	AKVLTFGES	TGLTF . MHGTI	IS	<9aa>	RWITALRRFRFN	LCFV
18aa>	SRV	<43aa>	DNIFTTHE	AQGKTFDNVYFC	RLT <	:17aa>	NGLVALSRHKKT	FKYF
<9aa>	SRN	<46aa>	VSKTTVRAN	QGSTYDNVVLP	/LP <	(10aa>	LNLVALSRHNKL	TILQ
<7aa>	HYD	<46aa>	HEVMTAAAS	OGLTRKGVYAR	/QK <	:12aa>	HVNKLLTRTEDR	LVWK
<5aa>	RRY	<51aa>	SDVHTVHEV	VOGETYSDVSLVE	RLT	<9aa>	DSPHVLVALSRH	TCSL
	-R-		T	-QG-T	-L-		AL-R	
	Y			R	I		CIA	
				T	0		L	
							77	

 	-	-DE-	 -	-	-	-	G	-	-	-	-	
		D					D					

<28aa>	EILVIDEIYKLPRGYLDL	<7aa>	VKL.ILLGDPLQGEY	<14aa>	EIPRLLPFI
<28aa>	EILVIDEIYKLPRGYLDL	<7aa>	LSLVIILGDPLQGEY	<14aa>	EVHRFKSYI
<28aa>	KILVIDEIYKLPRGYLDL	<7aa>	LELVIILGDPLQGEY	<14aa>	ETTRLLPFI
<28aa>	NILVVDEIYKLPRGYLDL	<7aa>	IQLVIMLGDPLQGEY	<14aa>	ETTRLSKYI
<28aa>	RILVIDEIYKMPRGYLDL	<7aa>	LELVIILGDPLQGEY	<14aa>	ETLRLLPYI
<27aa>	PILVFDDYTKLPPGLIES	<7aa>	VVFIILTGDNRQSVY	<20aa>	PYCEFYLNA
<27aa>	SIVIFDDYSKLPPGYIEA	<7aa>	IKLIILTGDSRQSVY	<20aa>	KYCRYYLNA
<27aa>	KIIVFDDYSKLPQGYIEA	<7aa>	VILAILTGDSKQSFH	<20aa>	PFCRYYLNI
<27aa>	RLFILDEISLLPKGFTDL	<10aa>	LKTIVCIGGPLQAGY	<13aa>	EIKRLFKGG
<41aa>	QVVILDEMQLYPPGYFDL	<8aa>	VR.LFLVGDPAQSDY	<8aa>	LGAREYNYK
<28aa>	QRLIFDECFLQHAGLVYA	<6aa>	CSEVIGFGDTEQIPF	<22aa>	ITWRSPADA
<29aa>	QIIFVDEFTAYDWRLLAV	<6aa>	AHTIYLVGDEQQTGI	<17aa>	MNFRNPVHD
<21aa>	EVLYVDEAFACHAGALLA	<8aa>	RKKVVIC <u>GDPMQ</u> CGF	<24aa>	ISRRCTOPV
<37aa>	R.LFIDEGLMLHTGCVNF	<6aa>	CEIAYVYGDTQQIPY	<25aa>	TTLRCPADV

194K ELV	868	LIHLSGFAGCGK.THPIQQLLK	<7aa>	RVVTPTTNLR
205K EMV	959	LIHIAGFAGCGK.THPIQKLLQ	<7aa>	RISCPTNELR
210K KYMV	996	MFHLAGFAGCGK.TKPIQSLLS	<7aa>	RVSTPTTELR
198K OYMV	893	VIHIAGFPGCGK.SHPIQKLLQ	<7aa>	RLSVPTNELR
206K TYMV	970	VVHFAGFAGCGK.TYPIQQLLK	<7aa>	RVSCPTTELR
186K NMV	862	GTIIHGCGGSGKGSFAIQEWMR	<9aa>	TVVTPTVLLR
166K PVX	729	TCVIHGAGGSGK.SHAIQKALR	<8aa>	TVVLPTNELR
147K WCLMV	564	MSVIHGAGGSGK.SHAIQTWMR	<9aa>	TIILPTTDLR
216K ACLSV	1053	IYGIFGFAGSGK.SHAIQNLIQ	<9aa>	MVICPRRFLA
223K PVM	1160	LHAIVGTFGSGK.STLFKNLLK	<7aa>	DFVSPRRALA
la AlMV	832	TIIVDGVAGCGK.TTNIKQIAR	<12aa>	SNRSSADELK
237K BNYVV	936	LEYVKGGPGTGK.SFLIRSLAD	<4aa>	LVVAPFIKLR
NSP2 SINDBIS	720	TIGVIGTPGSGK.SAIIKSTVT	<14aa>	EIEADVLRLR
126K TMV	830	VVLVDGVPGCGK.TKEILSRVN	<4aa>	LILVPGKQAA
Consensus		<u>G</u> <u>G</u> - <u>GK</u> <u>I</u>		<u>P</u> <u>LR</u>
		F		D AA
				S K



Figure 29. Five amino acid sequence motifs in the RNA polymerase region of the RPs of five tymoviruses and of the corresponding region of Sindbis-like viruses. This domain is located near the C-terminus of the RPs. The number of amino acids in the gap between the motifs is given. The consensus indicates residues which occur most commonly.



				-	
(5aa>	PTLVSGDDSYLSGT	<8aa>	FVKELLHLRLKPS	<laa></laa>	GL.FCGYYLGPQ
(5aa>	PILISGDDSVLCGT	<8aa>	TLKKMLHLRFKIE	<1aa>	PL.FCGYYVSPH
(5aa>	PVMVSGDDSLIDRQ	<8aa>	ATKRLLHLRFKTE	<1aa>	PL.FCGYYTGSA
(5aa>	PIMVSGDDSVICGH	<8aa>	AVEKLLHLRFKTE	<1aa>	PL.FCGYYVGPT
(5aa>	PIMVSGDDSLIDHP	<8aa>	SVLKRLHLRFKLE	<laa></laa>	PL.FCGYYVGPA
(6aa>	AQVYAGDDMALDRV	<8aa>	RLEKQLKLTSKPM	<6aa>	AE.FCGWVMTPA
(6aa>	AQVYAGDDSALDCV	<8aa>	RLEDKLLLKSKPV	<6aa>	PE.FCGWLITPK
(6aa>	AQVYAGDDMSIDYV	<8aa>	MIEHLMKLKGKPV	<6aa>	AE.FCGWTISPK
(6aa>	PICFAGDDMCALRN	<8aa>	FILSKLSLKAKVN	<1aa>	PM.FCGWRLCCD
(6aa>	FICFAGDDMCASRR	<8aa>	HFLDKLKLKAKVQ	<4aa>	PT.FCGWHLCPD
(6aa>	FVVASGDDSLI.GT	<6aa>	DQEFLFTTLFKLE	<5aa>	PF.ICSKFLITM
(6aa>	CMAMKGDDGFKRQA	<8aa>	INDOMLKLIKKET	<5aa>	PITECGYALSNG
(6aa>	CAAFIGDDNIIHGV	<8aa>	RCATWLNMEVKII	<5aa>	PY.FCGGFILQD
(5aa>	KGAFCGDDSLLYFP	<8aa>	VQHSA.NLMWKFE	<5aa>	GY. FCGRYVIHH
	<u>GDD</u>		<u>K</u>		<u>FCG</u>
					IS

Cons	sens	sus
------	------	-----

----<u>D</u>----<u>D</u>-<u>SQ</u>-----

-----<u>G</u>----<u>N</u>-----

194K	ELV	1474	CTTNDYTAFDQSQHGEAVVFEVL	<23aa>	TQFGPLTCMRLTGEPGTYDDNTDYNLAVLNLQY
205K	EMV	1568	YIANDYTAFDQSQHGEAVVLECL	<23aa>	TQFGPLTCMRLTGEPGTYDDNSDYNLAVIYSQY
210K	KYMV	1603	KLTNDYTAFDQSQHGESVILEAL	<23aa>	TQFGPLTCMRLTGEPGTYDDNSDYNLAVIHSQF
198K	OYMV	1498	YICNDYTSFDQSQHGEAVIFESL	<23aa>	TQFGPLTCMRLTGEPGTYDDNTDYNLAVIFSQY
206K	TYMV	1573	KIANDYTAFDQSQHGESVVLEAL	<23aa>	TQFGPLTCMRLTGEPGTYDDNTDYNLAVIYSQY
186K	NMV	1373	AHTNDFTAFDQSQDGAMLQFEVI	<23aa>	IFLGTLGIMRLSGEGPTFDANTECSIAYNATRF
147K	WC1MV	1072	SLANDYTAFDQSQDGAMLQFEVL	<23aa>	IFLGTLSIMRLTGEGPTFDANTECNIAYTHTKF
166K	PVX	1237	CFSNDFTAFDQSQDGSILQFEVI	<23aa>	IFLGTLSIMRLSGEGPTFDANTEANIAYTHTKF
216K	ACLSV	1634	CVESDYTAFDVSQDHTILAFEVE	<23aa>	CRLGGFAIMRFTGEFSTFLFNTLANMVFTFCRY
223K	PVM	1750	CTESDYEAFDASQDEFIMAFELE	<23aa>	SKLGNFAIMRFSGEASTFLFNTLANMLFTFMRY
2a	Almv	525	FKEIDFSKFDKSQNELHHLIQER	<29aa>	GVFFNVDFQRRTGDALTYLGNTIVTLACLCHVY
237K	BNYVV	1836	NGVIDAAACDSSQGVFTQLIERH	<28aa>	.VRAHMSYVKTSGEPGTLLGNTILMGAMLNAML
nsP4	SINDBIS	2267	VLETDIASFDKSQDDAMALTGLM	<29aa>	GTRFKFGAMMKSGMFLTLFVNTVLNVVIASRVL
126K	TMV	1381	VLELDISKYDKSQNEFHCAVEYE	<29aa>	GIKTCIWYQRKSGDVTTFIGNTVIIAACLASML

These alignments resemble, confirm and refine those previously reported (Skryabin *et al.*, 1988; Habili and Symons, 1989; Morozov *et al.*, 1989; Bruenn, 1991; Candresse *et al.*, 1990; German *et al.*, 1990; Poch, *et al.*, 1989). They emphasize the usefulness of the conserved motifs of viral RPs for assessing their relationships, and evolution. The RNA replicase with its very conserved -GDD- motif is shown to be particularly useful for assessing relationships because:

(i) the RNA polymerase signature is the most conserved and is found in all viruses;

(ii) the N-terminal RNA methyltransferase motif seems to be the least conserved, and is thus of limited value for examining the most distant relationships;

(iii) the nucleotide-binding signature is not found in the RPs of all viruses with RNA genomes; it is not found in luteo-, tombus-, diantho-, sobemo- and carmovirus genomes. Furthermore some viral genomes, including those of carla-, potex-, furo-, and hordeiviruses, possess more than one nucleotide-binding domain.

(iv) the parts of the RNA replication protein that are conserved in different tymoviruses, are also those that are found in other viruses.

Comparitive Phylogenetics of the RP motifs

One way to seek evidence of genetic recombination in proteins, especially those with several recognisable and distinct domains, is to classify those parts separately and check whether the resulting classifications are congruent. Therefore each of the three sets of replicase segments (A, B and C) were classified using the 'FJD distance' between each pair of aligned segments (Feng and Doolittle, 1987) to calculate dendrograms by the neighbour-joining method of Saitou and Nei (1987). The dendrograms (Figure 30) are closely similar but not identical; the groupings and the relationships within each group are mostly identical, but there are some differences in the more distant relationships, for example, the relationship of the three segments of BNYVV to those of the other viruses varies, but all agree that, of the viruses studied,

BNYVV is the most distant (Candresse *et al.*, 1990). At the moment there is no published method for assessing the statistical significance of the branch topology of neighbour-joining trees, and the observed differences between trees may not be significant. However, it is clear that these analyses give no evidence of recent genetic recombination between viruses of different groups of the 'Sindbis-like' supergroup.

Furthermore, the close similarity between the dendrograms of the A, B and C segments shows that, although there is little obvious methyltransferase signature in the A segments, they contain a phylogenetic signal that is closely similar to that in the B and C segments.

The three segment classifications were combined by calculating mean 'FJD distances' for each pairwise comparison weighted according to the aligned number of amino acids in each segment. These distances gave the combined RP dendrogram shown in Figure 30, which confirms the clustering of 'Sindbis-like' viruses reported by Candresse *et al.* (1990), and this was used in further analyses of the evolution of the 'Sindbis-like' viruses described below.

THE 'SINDBIS-LIKE' VIRUSES, A SUPERGROUP BASED ON REPLICASE SIMILARITIES; CORRELATIONS WITH OTHER FEATURES.

Comparisons of the sequences of the RPs of the tymoviruses and other 'Sindbislike' viruses have provided a phylogenetic framework to examine and compare some of the other features of these viruses.

Within the 'Sindbis-like' viruses, the carla-, clostero-, potex- and tymoviruses all have positive-sense ssRNA monopartite genomes ranging from 6-8.5 kb in size. However the morphology of their particles are quite different, those of the tymoviruses are isometric, whereas those of the carla-, clostero- and potexviruses are filamentous. This difference probably reflects a fundamental difference in the virion proteins of these viruses; those of the tymoviruses probably have the familiar 8-stranded β -barrel structure (A.J.Gibbs, unpublished data; Argos, 1981) that is found in most proteins of small isometric virions, whereas the filamentous virions of the other viruses probably have a 4-stranded α -helical structure, similar to that of the tobacco mosaic virus virion protein.

Thus it is likely that the secondary division of the 'Sindbis-like' viruses into

tymoviruses on the one hand, and the potex-, carla- and closteroviruses on the other,

coincided with a major genetic recombinational event between the replicase protein and virion protein genes from different sources. This confirms the suggestion by **Figure 30.** (A) Dendrogram showing the relationship of the RPs of fourteen Sindbislike viruses. (B) Dendrograms showing the relationships of the A, B and C parts (the N-terminal part, and those containing the NTP-binding domain and RNA polymerase domain respectively). These proteins are the RPs of the tymoviruses, the 186K protein of NMV, the 166K protein of PVX, the 147K protein of WClMV, the 216K protein of ACLSV, the 223K protein of PVM, the 1a and 2a proteins of AlMV, the 237K protein of BNYVV, the NSP protein of Sindbis virus, and the 126K protein of TMV. The neighbour-joining method was used to calculate the dendrogram from FJD distances (Feng *et al.*, 1985) given by the progressive alignment program of Feng and Doolittle (1987).

A





Cornelissen and Bol (1984), Goldbach (1987) and others that recombination has been an important factor in the evolution of plant viral genomes.

Therefore it is worth examining other less-obvious features to see whether they do or do not correlate with the replicase classification.

Genome Organization of Sindbis-like Viruses

Various features of viral genomes have been considered, at different times, to be important indicators of relatedness. Such features include, the number of genome segments, the translation strategy and the type of 5'- and 3'-terminal structures. It is therefore useful to examine these sorts of features among the 'Sindbis-like' viruses to see how well they correlate with the replicase taxonomy of the supergroup, which consistently divides into two clusters; cluster I includes the tymo-, carla-, clostero-, and potexviruses, and cluster II the alfalfa mosaic, alpha-, furo-, tobamoviruses. If any correlation is found it will imply that the correlated feature has co-evolved with the replicase. Figure 31 shows the combined replicase taxonomy of eight 'Sindbis-like' viruses together with diagrams illustrating the principal features of their genomes.

It can be seen that:-

i) all the viruses of cluster I have a single genome segment, whereas those of cluster II have one, three or four genome segments, but with no pattern within the cluster;

ii) all 'Sindbis-like' viruses have a nucleotide-binding domain, but some, BNYVV of cluster II and PVM and PVX of cluster I, have two nucleotide-binding domains (always in different proteins), however there is no correlation between this difference and their position in the replicase taxonomy, nor with the number of genome segments that the virus possesses;

iii) the 'Sindbis-like' viruses have different 3'-termini (some are tRNA-like, others poly(A) and others unknown), but these do not correlate with the replicase taxonomic groupings.

These facts suggest that several of the obvious features of the genome organization of 'Sindbis-like' viruses are not correlated with their replicase phylogeny, and were probably acquired by those viruses by recombination from other sources, or have evolved *de novo* during the evolution of the group. Two distinctive features of tymoviral genomes that have probably evolved *de novo* are:-
Figure 31. A dendrogram of the RPs of eight Sindbis-like viruses based on sequence similarities and, superimposed, outlines of their genome organizations. The dendrogram was calculated like that in Figure 30A. Coding regions in the genomes are indicated as rectangles; $\star = NTP$ -binding site; $\blacksquare = RNA$ polymerase site; $| = proteolytic cleavage site; ? = data uncertain; <math>\bowtie = cap$ structure, and r / t = read-through.

1.1.1.1.1.1.1





RNA4 31km RNA3 A

i) the large 'overlapping protein' (OP) of the tymoviruses, which is not found in the genomes of any other species of the 'Sindbis-like' group. An overlapping protein that shares some features with those of the tymoviruses is found in maize chlorotic mottle virus (Nutter *et al.*, 1989) and some luteoviruses (Keese *et al.*, 1990), and this will be discussed below. In tymovirus genomes the OP is encoded in the -1 reading frame of the tymoviral replicase protein, which is clearly related to the methyltransferase region of the replicase proteins of all other members of the 'Sindbislike' group;

ii) the base compositions of different species of the 'Sindbis-like' group (Table 10). The tymoviruses are unusual in that all have genomes with 34%-42% cytosine and about 15% guanine (Symons *et al.*, 1963; Gibbs *et al.*, 1966) despite sequence differences of up to one half. Figure 32 and Table 10 shows the great differences between the base composition of a tymovirus genome and those of seven other 'Sindbis-like' viruses (n.b. the large content of adenine in PVX and ACLSV genomes and large guanine content of PVM genomes. The base composition of individual genes in RNA genomes is closely similar to that of the whole genome; this is shown for the tymoviruses in Table 4. Thus the degeneracy of the genetic code allows genomes of greatly different compositions, like those of the 'Sindbis-like' viruses, to encode clearly related replicases.

Table 10. Base composition of some Sindbis-like viruses.

·	%G	%A	%U	%C
Alfalfa mosaic virus(RNA1)	22.09	28.51	29.01	20.39
Sindbis	24.85	28.27	20.83	26.65
PVM	28.50	26.50	24.90	20.10
ACLSV	23.80	31.50	27.00	17.70
BNYVV	24.36	25.81	34.39	15.45

PVX	23.01	30.67	22.71	23.60
TMV	24.16	29.12	27.60	19.12
ELV	16.24	23.72	25.46	34.58
TYMV	16.80	23.10	21.70	38.40

Figure 32. A Dendrogram of the RPs of eight different Sindbis-like viruses based on sequence similarities (see Figure 30A) and, superimposed, histograms showing the base composition of the genomes of those Sindbis-like viruses.







The reason for the large cytosine content of tymovirus genomes is unknown, but as this bias is found in all parts of the genome except the 5'-terminal non-coding region, it is obviously not determined by its coding function, but is more likely to be caused by some bias in the transcription process.

5'- and 3'-terminal Non-coding Regions

The 5'- and 3'-noncoding regions of viral genomes are likely to be involved in genome replication and control. Therefore there have been many attempts to identify conserved sequences or secondary structures in these regions and their functions; for example BMV (French and Ahlquist, 1988), BNYVV RNA-3 (Jubin *et al.*, 1990), and tobacco rattle virus (TRV, RNA-2, Angenent *et al.*, 1989).

In Chapter 3 I reported that computer programs did not detect any consistent folding pattern of the 5'-terminal regions of different tymoviruses, thus it is unlikely that a wider search among the other 'Sindbis-like' viruses will be more successful. This was confirmed by examining the 5'-terminal regions of the genomes of alfalfa mosaic, tobacco mosaic and Sindbis viruses using the method of Zuker and Stiegler (1981). The secondary structures predicted showed no consistent features (Figure 33), that were shared with one another, or with the tymoviruses.

Recently Marsh *et al.* (1989) reported that the sequences of the (+) and (-)RNA termini of bromo-, cucumo-, tobamo- and tymoviruses were similar and homologous to the internal control regions (ICR1 and ICR2) of the RNA polymerase III promoters of eukaryotic tRNA genes. They suggested that the regions resembling ICR1 and ICR2 in those viruses have a conserved function, and may have been inherited from primordial genomic RNA promoters, ancestral to both plant viruses and eukaryotic tRNAs. However, although the 3'-terminal regions of most tymovirus genomes contain this ICR-like sequence, that of ELV contains only part of this ICR2-like sequence (GGUUCGANUCC), and DMV genomes lack it altogether. This suggests that, if this ICR-like region has an essential function, then other sequences replace it in

ELV and DMV.

Initiation and Termination Codons in Tymovirus Genes.

There are tracts of conserved sequences around the initiation codons of mRNAs. These probably regulate the frequency with which the mRNAs are translated. Figure Figure 33. The predicted secondary structures of 5'non-coding regions of alfalfa mosaic virus (AIMV RNA3; Barker *et al.*, 1983), brome mosaic virus (BMV RNA3; Ahlquist *et al.*, 1984), tobacco mosaic virus (TMV; Goelet *et al.*, 1982) and white clover moasic virus (WCIMV; Forster *et al.*, 1988) for comparison with those of tymoviruses (Figure 14).





34 shows an alignment of the nucleotide sequences surrounding the three initiation codons of ORFs of five tymoviruses. It can be seen that the initiation tracts of ELV genes differ from those of other tymoviruses, and do not confirm an earlier report that the tracts around the initiation codons of RP and VP genes of three tymoviruses, but not around the OP genes, were more like those of plant genes, which have a consensus of AACAAUGGC (Kozak, 1986b; Lütche *et al.*, 1987), than of animal genes, CACCAUGG (Kozak, 1984; Heidecker and Messing, 1986; Kozak, 1986c, 1987; Lütche *et al.*, 1987). The crucial G residue at position +4 is found in both the OP and RP, but not the VP, whereas the four nucleotides immediately to the 5'-side of the AUG are close to the plant consensus sequence. It is likely that the translational controls are complex, and that more nucleotides, than have been considered so far, are involved in these control regions.

Figure 34. Alignment of sequences surrounding the AUG initiation codons of tymoviral ORFs.

Virus	OP	RP	VP	lun code
ELV	AUUU AUG GC	GCCA AUG GC	UACA AUG AC	
EMV-Trin	GUCAAUGCC	CCUCAUGGC	AUCAAUGGA	
KYMV-JB	ACUG AUG UC	UCAA AUG GC	CUAGAUGGC	
OYMV-Tin	AUUCAUGUC	UCUA AUG GC	AAUC AUG GA	
TYMV-CL	GCAAAUGAG	AGUA AUG GC	CGAC AUG GA	
G	21511	1155.	.1.154.	
A	3.1251.	1.145	2222513	
υ	.331.5.2.	2.35	1215	
С	.21114	14115	2.222	
Consensus	AUUAAUGUC	UCUAAUGGC	AAAA AUG GA	

CUCC

Plants* AACAAUGGC Animals* CACCAUGG

* From Kozak (1986b) and Lütcke et al. (1987).

The termination codons of each protein are also different (Figure 13, 31 and Table 4). There seems to be no consistent pattern of their usage in different proteins. Furthermore the possible readthrough codon, UAG, terminates the RP genes of EMV and TYMV (Morch *et al.*, 1982 b), and although this might be suppressed by an appropriate host tRNA, this seems unlikely as it is not present in ELV, which shares hosts with TYMV.

Comparisons of Possible Subgenomic Promoters in the Genomes of Tymoviruses and Other Viruses

Tymoviral VPs are translated from subgenomic mRNAs that are transcribed from the (-) genomic strand. It is likely that this transcription is controlled by genomic sequences near the start of the VP gene. Ding *et al.* (1990a) reported a conserved sequence in this region of all tymoviral genomes, and named it the tymobox. Figure 35 shows an alignment of this region of 17 tymoviral genomes. It can be seen that the tymobox is 7 or 8 nucleotides from the 'initiation box', (CAA[U/C]), of the subgenomic mRNA, and this is 1 to 16 nucleotides to the 5'-side of the initiation codon of the VP. Furthermore the tymobox, and associated regions, of the ELV genome are closely similar to those of other tymoviruses, despite the fact that the ELV VP, and other parts of the genome, are least like those of other tymoviruses.

There have been many reports of searches for conserved sequence motifs in the sub-genomic promoter regions of 'Sindbis-like' viruses (Zuidema *et al.*, 1989; Forster *et al.* (1988) and Skryabin *et al.*, 1988 *a,b*; Zavriev *et al.*, 1991; Solis and Garcia-Arenal, 1990; French and Ahlquist, 1988). Figure 35 also shows the aligned nucleotide sequences of the same regions of the genomes of several 'Sindbis-like' viruses. It can be seen that although the tymobox resembles the potexvirus promoters in being U-rich, there are no obvious sequence similarities between the promoters of these two groups, nor are there any similarities with the promoter regions of other

'Sindbis-like' viruses. It can also be seen that the promoter regions of different tymoviruses are closely similar (4 differences in 17 tymoboxes, each of 16 nucleotides), and thus as conserved as the promoters of alphaviruses (2 differences in 4 'alphaboxes', each of 21 nucleotides), whereas the others are much more variable. Figure 35. The possible domains of subgenomic promoters reported for Sindbis-like

viruses.

Virus

Conserved region

Tymoviruses	(Ding et al., 1990)
APLV-Hu	GAGUCUGAAUUGCUUC 7nt CAA U 5nt AUG
BdMV-Eur	GAGUCUGAAUUGCUUC 8nt CAA U 8nt AUG
CoYMV*	GAGUCUGAAUUGCUUC 8nt CAA U 7nt AUG
CYVV	GAGUCUGAAUUGCUUC 8nt CAA C 16nt AUG
DMV	GAGUCUGAAUUGCUUC 8nt CAA U 6nt AUG
ELV	GAGUUUGAAUUGCUUC 7nt CAA U 5nt AUG
EMV-Trin	GAGUCUGAAUUGCUUC 8nt CAA U 6nt AUG
KYMV-BP	GAGUCUGAAUUGCUUC 8nt CAA U 5nt AUG
KYMV-JB	GAGUUUGAAUUGCUUC 8nt CAA^U 5nt AUG
KYMV-PD	GAGUCUGAAUUGCUUC 8nt CAA G 6nt AUG
OYMV-Tin	GAGUCUGAAUUGCUUA 7nt CAA^U 1nt AUG
TYMV-BL	GAGUCUGAAUUGCUUC 8nt CAA U 16nt AUG
TYMV-Caul*	GAGUCUGAAUUGCUUC 8nt CAA U 11nt AUG
TYMV-CL	GAGUCUGAAUUGCUUC 8nt CAA U 16nt AUG
TYMV-Roth	GAGUCUGAAUUGCUUC 8nt CAA U 11nt AUG
TYMV-type	GAGUCUGAAUUGCUUC 8nt CAA^U 16nt AUG
WCuMV	GAGUCUGAAUUGCAUC 7nt CAA U 6nt AUG
consensus	GAGUcUGAAUUGCuUc CAA u
Potexviruses	(Zuidema et al., 1989)
NMV CP	UGGAACGGGGUUAAGUUUCCUUUAU 54nt AUG
PVX CP	UUGAACGGUUAAGUUUCCAUUGA 10nt AUG
WCIMV CP	AACCAC-GGGUUAAGUUUACCAUCU 12nt AUG
PAMV CP	UGGAACGGGGUUAAGUUUCCAUCUA 46nt AUG
PMV CP	CUACACGGGCUUAGGAACUAGCUUC 25nt AUG
NMV 26K	CGCUACCGGGUUAAGUUCAUUGCCU 16nt AUG
PVX 25K	COCUARCEGUUAROUGACUUUAUA 12nt AUG
WCIMV 26K	GACUAC-GGGUUAAGAGACCUUAAG SNE AUG
consensus	Acgeggounaguulecuu
Alfalfa mosa	ic virus (Barker et al. 1983)
ALMV RNA3	GAUCanUGanCGG UAAU
Alphaviruses	(Ou et al., 1982)
MBV	ACCUCUACGGCGGUCCUAAAU 48nt CACC AUG AAU
RRV	ACCUCUACGGCGGUCCUAAAU 46nt AAAC AUG AAU
SEV	ACCUCUACGGCGGUCCUAAAU 49nt CACC AUG AAU
Sindbis	AUCUCUACGGUGGUCCUAAAU 47nt CACC AUG AAU
consensus	ACCUCUACGGCGGUCCUAAAU CACC AAU
Bromoviruses	(Ahlquist et al., 1981 and Allison et al. unpublished result)
BMV RNA3	AGAUCUAUG UCCUAAUU 4nt GUA-UUAAUA AUG
CCMV RNA3	AAAUCUAUG UU-UAAUU 5nt GUAAUUUAUC AUG
consensus	AUCUAUG UCCUAAUU AAUU-AU-

Tobamoviruses		(Solis a	and Garcia	a-Arer	nal, 1	1990)	
TMGMV	30K	GGUUC	GUUUGCUU	53nt	UUAA	AUG	GCU
TMV	30K	GGUUC	GUUUGUUU	53nt	AUAG	AUG	GCU
ToMV	30K	GGUUC	GUUUGUUU	53nt	CUUG	AUG	GCU
TMGMV	CP	AGUAC	GUUUUUAA	lnt	CAAU	AUG	CCU
TMV	CP	GAUUC	GUUUUUAA	-2nt	UAAA	AUG	UCU
ToMV	CP	GAUUC	GUAUUUAA	-2nt	UAAA	AUG	UCU
consensus		ggŪuC	GUuUNuNN				gCU

* CoYMV (Ding et al., 1990c)

TYMV cauliflower strain (Anne Mackenzie unpublished data)

Abbreviations used for the viruses here and in the text are: Andean potato latent (APLV); belladonna mottle (BdMV); brome mosaic (BMV); cacao yellow mosaic (CoYMV); clitoria yellow vein (CYVV); cowpea chlorotic mottle (CCMV); dulcamara mottle (DMV); erysimum latent (ELV); eggplant mosaic (EMV); kennedya yellow mosaic (KYMV); Middelburg (MBV); narcissus mosaic (NMV); ononis yellow mosaic (OYMV); potato aucuba mosaic (PAMV); papaya mosaic (PMV); potato virus X (PVX); Ross River (RRV); Semliki Forest (SFV); Sindbis; tobacco mosaic (TMV); tomato mosaic (ToMV); tobacco mild green mosaic (TMGMV); white clover mosaic (WClMV) and wild cucumber mosaic (WCuMV).



<u>CHAPTER 6</u> - CONSTRUCTION OF CLONED DNA ENCODING THE ELV GENOME

INTRODUCTION

Another way to study the genetic organization, replication and expression of the tymoviral RNA genome, once the complete genomic sequence of ELV has been determined, is to make a clone of DNA encoding the ELV genome, and from this to generate infectious transcripts by *in vitro* transcription.

CLONE CONSTRUCTION

Construction and Selection of Full-size cDNA Clones

DNA encoding the entire genome of ELV was synthesized by two methods: the RNase H method (Gubler and Hoffmann, 1983) and the polymerase chain reaction (PCR) as described in Chapter 2. However, methyl mercuric hydroxide-treated RNA (Gall *et al.*, 1988) was not a suitable template for ELV DNA synthesis, as reported already in Chapter 2, perhaps because the primers for first strand synthesis, dT_8dG or PS9, were ineffective for some unknown reason.

DNA prepared by the RNase H method, hydrolysed by *Sph* I and cloned in vector pTZ18U and pTZ19U, yielded a few hundred clones. At all stages in the preparation of the full-length ELV DNA, the cloned inserts were examined by detailed restriction fragment analysis and sequencing, and compared with the restriction endonuclease map (Figure 36) of the genomic sequence that had been determined before.

Two DNA clones encoding the ELV genome, and named pELV35 and pELV81, were assembled in pBluescript SK(+). First, six smaller clones were ligated together;

their names, genomic positions encoded and the restriction endonuclease sites that formed their termini were:

- pELV37, pTZ19U: (nts 1-2142), EcoR I/Sph I;
- pELV25, pTZ19U: (nts 2142-2461), Sph I/EcoR I;
- pELV40, pTZ19U: (nts 2461-4630), EcoR I/EcoR V;

Figure 36. Map of restriction endonuclease sites in DNA encoding the ELV genome. These restriction sites are those recognized by four and six base restriction endonuclease enzymes and were identified by the UWGCG program Version 6.0.



	(Line	ear) MAPPLOT	of: Elv.Dna c	k: 7837, 1 to:	: 6034 January 2	24, 1991 15:23.	
		1000	2000	3000	4000	5000	600
BabTT		•					
Aatii		•	٠	•		•	
AflII		1	•	•		•	
AluI	+					++++	++ ++++++
AlwI		++.		₩ 1 .			•
ApaI		+ .		•	. 1	•	•
Avall		<u> </u>		I.	5	· · · · ·	4
AvrII				•			
Ball BanI			•	•	1	•	
BanII							
BbvI		. 1 1	11.				•
BcefI			• 1	•	•		+ + .
BglI		•		•	•	ι.	•
Boulot			•	•	•	•	•
Bsal			+ +		•	•	•
BsaBI BsaJI		1*				ų	1
BsiI					• •	· ·	
Bsml BsmAI		. 1	<u>+</u> + • +	1	· · · ·		· · · ·
Bsp1286I	· · · · · ·	+ #		-+	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		- 111
BspGI		. 1 1			1.11		1 1.
BSPHI		•	•	•	•		
BsrI							++ ++
BstEIT	+	•	•	• €	•	•	+
BstYI	+	+ :+	·····	· · ·			
Bsu36I Cfr10I		•		· · ·	•		•
ClaI				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
Dde I							
DpnI	++	+++			++ + +		

00

1 G ACGT'C 3 GT'mk AC 2 C'TTAA G 3 Gr'CG YC 55 AG'CT 12 GGATCnnnn'n 1 CAG nnn'CTG 1 G GGCC'C 5 C^{*}yCGr G 8 G'GwC C 1 C'CTAG G 4 TGG'CCA 6 G'GyrC C
9 G rGCy^{*}C
12 GCAGCnnnnnnn^{*}nnn... 4 GAAGACnn'nnnn 6 ACGGCnnnnnnnnnn... 2 GCAnnnnnTCGnn 1 GCCn nnn'nGGC 1 A'GATC T 2 CC'TnAGC 4 GGTCTCn'nnnn 1 GATnn'nnATC 18 C'CnnG G 1 C'TCGTG 5 GAATG Cn' 14 GTCTCD'nnnn 2 GCAnnnnnTCGnnnn... 14 GTCTCn'nnnn 16 G_dGCh'C 20 GCnn'nnGC 3 CTGGAC 3 CTGGAC 4 T'CATG A 3 T'CCGG⁻A 15 ACTG G⁻A 15 ACTG G⁻A 1 G'GTnAC C 8 r'GATC ⁻Y 1 CC'TnA⁻GG 4 r'CCGG⁻Y 1 AT'CG AT 133 rG'C⁻Y 39 C'TnA G 25 GA'TC⁻



1



(Linear) MAPPLOT of: Elv.Dna ck: 7837, 1 to: 6034 January 24, 1991 15:24.

6	A'CG T
14	'GTnAC
35	GAAGAnnnnnn n'
3	C'GryC G
1	CAAUTO-
24	CAAIIG
24	GASTC
9	TCCrACnnnnnnnnn
91	CCTCnnnnnnn'
7	T'TA A
22	C'CG G
15	GCnn nnn' nnGC
13	
14	
14	
2	C'CATG G
23	CATG'
26	GGn'nCC
1	TCG'CGA
3	A TGCA'T
2	r CATC/ V
5	Cmclckc
1	
1	CCAn nnn nTGG
24	GAGTCnnnn' n
4	rG'GwC Cy
2	GACnn' nnGTC
2	CG AT'CG
3	CAG' CTG
4	CCCACAnnnnnnn n
ĥ	CT'AC
1	CITCCA C
1 5	G ICGA C
12	GGNCC
25	GATC
1	AGT'ACT
25	CC'n GG
10	GCATCnnnnn' nnnn
2	C'TrvA G
1	222 122
2	C CATC/C
10	CECC
19	
5	G AGCT C
2	AGG' CCT
5	C'CwwG G
5	CAGAG -



Enzymes that do not cut:

BamHI BclI BsaAI BspMI BssHII BstXI CfrAI DraIII AflIII AgeI ApaLI AseI DrdII ECOAI ECOEI ECOKI ECOR124I ECOR124/31 Fsel Mlui NarI NdeI NheI PmlI NotI PstI RsrII SacII Sfil SgrAI SnaI SnaBI SpeI SplI SspI StySBI StySJI StySPI StySQI Uball05I XmaIII

21	T'CG A
3	GACCGAnnnnnnn n
1	CACCCAnnnnnnnn n
14	GAWTC -
5	CG'CG
6	GTsAC
18	AATT
2	GACn'n nGTC
7	CAArCAnnnnnnn n
1	TCGTAG
2	T'CTAG A
1	CCAnnnn n'nnnnTGG
2	C'TCGA G
3	GAAnn' nnTTC
	27 3 14 5 6 18 27 1 2 1 2 3

- pELV2, pGEM7Zf: (nts 4630-5494), EcoR V/EcoR I;

- ELV9, M13mp18: (nts 5494-5745), EcoR I/BstE II;

- ELV24, M13mp18: (nts 5745-6034), BstE II/BamH I.

The first four of these clones were obtained by the RNase H method and *Taq* polymerase method and the last two by PCR. Some of these fragments were ligated together in a double ligation reaction as outlined in Figure 37 and Figure 38.

The 5'- and 3'-termini were then replaced sequentially using primers PS10 and PS9, respectively, in order to provide a unique *Pst* I site followed by the T7 promoter attached immediately to the 5'-terminus of the clone and a *BamH* I site adjacent to the 3'-terminus of the clone.

Two methods were used for preparing the template plasmids, pELV35 and pELV81, for transcription. They were hydrolysed with *BamH* I, resulting in molecules with the ELV DNA at the 3'-end of part of the PS9 primer sequence and the 5'-end part of the vector polylinker, or they were hydrolysed using a mixture of *BamH* I and *Pst* I. A large amount of RNAs were obtained by transcription of those two linearised DNA fragments. Furthermore the RNAs were of the same size, and indistinguishable in size from native ELV genomic RNA, as judged by electrophoresis in denaturing polyacrylamide gels (Figure 40). These transcripts were expected to have one extra (non-viral) guanine residues at their 5'-termini and, at their 3'-termini, up to five extra residues (GGAUC), which are part of the *BamH* I site (Figure 38).

Bioassay of Transcripts from the ELV DNA Clones.

The RNAs, transcribed from DNA clones in the presence of the cap homologue, m⁷GpppG, were used to inoculate Chinese cabbage and swede plants. Two weeks after inoculation only Chinese cabbage showed chlorotic mottling (Figure 39). The symptoms produced by transcript RNA and 'parent' ELV were not identical; the severe systemic chlorotic spotting and mottling induced by the parent RNA did not develop with transcript RNA, virus particles could not be detected by electron microscopy, nor

could ELV virion protein be detected by immunoprecipitation. However the mild symptoms resembled those found sometimes when virus inoculum was used at terminal dilutions, but when Chinese cabbage plants were inoculated with sap from the transcript-inoculated plants showing mild symptoms, no symptoms developed. Figure 37. Diagrams showing details of the stages involved in constructing and assembling dsDNA encoding the ELV genome; the location of each of these stages is given the same lettering in the Figure 38 which shows the general plan of DNA synthesis. Locations of important restriction sites are indicated and those DNA portions with different origins are shaded differently. Part of vector genomes are shaded as solid bars. The positions of the primers, and the direction of DNA synthesis they primed, are shown; their sequences are given in the text.





A) Construction of 5'-terminus



-

A) Construction of 5'-terminusii)



B) Substitution of 5'-terminus (PS10 T7RNA polymerase primer)



Pst I Apa I





ii)





D) Substitution of 3'-terminus



E) Construction of full-length ELV genome



Figure 38. (A) General plan of the stages used to construct and assemble dsDNA encoding the ELV genome. Locations of important restriction sites are indicated, and all the intermediate stages are illustrated in Figure 37 and described in the text. The final plasmids pELV35 and pELV81 contained the entire ELV encoding DNA. (B) The expected terminal sequences of transcript products of *BamH* I-linearised pELV35 and pELV81 are presented.





A

3'-end replaced by PS 9-primer





Further tests were done to establish the nature of the agent causing the symptoms in plants inoculated with RNA transcribed from plasmids pELV35 and pELV81. RNAs extracted from these plants did not yield a band of RNA with the mobility of ELV RNA, when the mixture was analysed by electrophoresis in polyacrylamide gels (Figure 40), although the infected plants yielded RNA with a considerably greater concentration of plant ribosomal RNAs than in plants infected with parental ELV. The RNA extracts were also examined for ELV RNA by dot-blot hybridization using labelled DNA of the virion protein gene as probe, and a faint positive reaction was obtained (Figure 40). The RNAs extracted from the transcript-infected plants were also tested for amplification by the PCR method with two primers PS9 and TALLcomp. Figure 40 shows clear evidence of a DNA band with the mobility of the virion protein gene.

These results indicate that the transcripts of the DNA encoding the ELV genome do not produce a severe systemic infection like that of the parental virus, but they may produce a mild infection; progeny particles could not be demonstrated, and the infection could not be transmitted to further Chinese cabbage and *Arabidopsis* plants, but the infected plants did contain the ELV gene as detected by sensitive probing, and by the PCR method.

The reasons why the transcript RNAs are poorly infectious is not known, but will be discussed in Chapter 7.



Figure 39. ELV-infected plants: (A) and (B) Chinese cabbage plants showing severe necrotic and chlorotic spotting and mottling 10 days after inoculation with ELV and (C) Chinese cabbage plants showing mild chlorotic mottling after inoculation with transcript RNA. (D) *Arabidopsis thaliana* showing very severe symptoms of chlorotic mottling and veinclearing after inoculation with ELV; these plants later died.





Figure 40. Analysis of RNAs from Chinese cabbage plants inoculated with RNA transcript.

(A) By polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. Tracks (from left to right) were loaded with RNA from: uninoculated leaf; ELV-infected leaf; leaf sham-inoculated with buffer; leaf inoculated with RNA transcript from pELV35 and pELV81; purified ELV genomic RNA; RNA transcribed from pELV35.

(B) Analysis of the RNAs analysed in (A) for presence of ELV VP gene by PCR using labelled precursors and PS9 primer complementary to the 3'-terminal of ELV genome and TALL-comp tymobox primer. Tracks (from left to right) were loaded with DNA products obtained from: uninoculated leaf; buffer-inoculated leaf; ELV-inoculated leaf; Markers (pBR325/ *Hinf* I); leaf inoculated with transcript of pELV81 and pELV35.

(C) Dot-blot hybridization analysis of RNA extracted from (from left to right and anticlockwise): uninoculated leaf; buffer-inoculated leaf; leaf inoculated with transcript from pELV35; purified ELV genomic RNA and also 2 dilutions of pELV35









CHAPTER 7 - DISCUSSION and CONCLUSIONS

GENOMIC ELV SEQUENCE

My work has provided the complete genomic nucleotide sequence of erysimum latent tymovirus (ELV). This sequence has been compared, in detail, with the four other known tymovirus genomic sequences. The ELV genome is the shortest of those tymoviruses. Like all known tymoviruses, it has a genome with an unusually large cytosine content and small guanine content (Symons *et al.*, 1963; Gibbs *et al.*, 1966; Keese *et al.*, 1989), and the proteins it encodes are rich in amino acids with cytosine-dominated codons such as leucine, proline, serine, and correspondingly poor in amino acids with purine-dominated codons.

The genome has three major open reading frames (ORFs), which encode the overlapping, replicase and virion proteins (OP, RP and VP, respectively). These are flanked by short 5' and 3' non-coding regions with that at the 5'-end probably capped with m⁷GpppG as reported for other tymoviruses (Ahlquist and Janda, 1984; Klein *et al.*, 1976; Pleij *et al.*, 1976); the cap structure is probably not essential for translation (Shatkin, 1976), but may improve its efficiency by helping to unwind loops in the 5'-untranslated sequence (Ray *et al.*, 1985; Lawson *et al.*, 1986).

The terminal untranslated regions

The 5'-untranslated region of ELV, like comparable regions of other tymoviruses, has a smaller content of guanine and cytosine than the remainder of the genome, and in this respect resembles a number of other plant viruses (brome mosaic virus, Ahlquist *et al.*, 1981, 1984; tobacco mosaic virus, Goelet *et al.*, 1982; cowpea mosaic virus, Lomonossoff and Shanks, 1983 and van Wezenbeck *et al.*, 1983; cucumber mosaic virus, Rezaian *et al.*, 1984 and 1985; southern bean mosaic

sobemovirus, Wu et al., 1987).

Computer analysis, to assess possible folding of the terminal regions into stem loop structures, has shown that the 5'-end of the ELV genome may fold into two nonidentical weak stem loops, but this region of the genome shows little similarity with comparable regions of the genomes of four other tymoviruses or other 'Sindbis-like viruses' (Barker et al., 1983; Bergh et al., 1985; Hamilton et al., 1987; Gallie et al., 1988; Ding, 1989). Secondary structures in the 5'-end of the genome possibly control translation (Barker et al., 1983) as loop structures in single-stranded RNAs probably control interactions between RNA and protein (Gregory and Zimmerman, 1986; Mougel et al., 1987; Thomas and Nomura, 1987; Christiansen et al., 1987; Romaniuk et al., 1987; Turner et al., 1988), and the 5'-untranslated region of TMV has been shown by mutation analysis to be an efficient enhancer of protein translation (Sleat et al., 1987; Gallie et al., 1988) and viral multiplication (Takamatsu et al., 1991). The bias in base composition of the 5'-terminal region may also be a consequence of the secondary control structures which form in this region.

The 3'-end of the ELV genomic RNA is of great interest because it is unlikely that it is able to fold into the full five-stemmed base-paired tRNA-like cloverleaf structure proposed for the 3'-untranslated region of the genomes of TYMV and most other tymoviruses (Meshi et al., 1981; Florentz et al., 1982; Joshi et al., 1982; Rietveld et al., 1982, van Belkum et al., 1987), and for cytoplasmic tRNAs (Florentz et al., 1982; Joshi et al., 1983a, b; Rietveld et al., 1982; van Belkum et al., 1988). The tRNA-like structures of tymoviruses have been shown to be aminoacylated in vitro by valyl-tRNA synthetase from wheat germ (Dresher et al., 1988b) or yeast cells (Giège et al., 1978) and in vivo in Chinese cabbage (Joshi et al., 1982). Sequences in the 3'terminus that are able to form tRNA-like structures have been found in the four complete tymovirus genome sequences, and also in twelve partial sequences, that include the 3'-terminal regions of APLV (Maria Osorio-Keese, unpublished data), BMV (Ding et al., 1990b), CoYMV (Ding et al., 1990c), CYVV (Anne Mackenzie, unpublished data), EMV-Trin (Osorio-Keese et al., 1989), KYMV-BP (Anne Mackenzie, unpublished data), KYMV-JB (Ding et al., 1990d), KYMV-PD (Paul Keese, unpublished data), OYMV-Tin (Ding et al., 1989), TYMV-BL (Drew Meek, unpublished data), TYMV-CL (Keese et al., 1989), TYMV-type (Morch et al., 1988), TYMV-Cauliflower (Anne Mackenzie, unpublished data), TYMV-Roth (Marjo

Torronen, unpublished data), WCMV (Anne Mackenzie, unpublished data), and
OYMV-Trin (Ding et al., 1989) but not DMV (Jennie Gibbs, unpublished data).
It is uncertain whether the 3'-terminal tRNA-like structures of tymoviruses are
essential. On the one hand, it is clear that in some viruses they are involved in viral
replication (Ahlquist et al., 1984; Miller et al., 1985; Bujarski et al., 1986; Dreher and

Hall, 1988a, b), but the details are uncertain. Variants of TMV that lack the 3'terminal 5-10 nucleotides are not infectious (Salomon *et al.*, 1976), and certain point mutations within the tRNA-like structure of brome mosaic are lethal (Dreher and Hall, 1988b), are not amino-acylated (Hall, 1979) and do not function as template for synthesis of the genomic minus-strand. By contrast, the fact that the 3'-terminal region of ELV probably forms only part of the tRNA-like structure found in other tymoviruses, and that it seems to be have been replaced by a poly-A tail in dulcamara mottle tymovirus, seems to indicate that a tRNA-like structure is not essential for tymovirus survival, and that other parts of the ELV or DMV genomes can replace its function.

Nonetheless it is clear that further experiments involving mutagenesis and recombination are required to establish the functions of the untranslated regions of viral genomes, and the variety of 3'-termini found among tymoviruses offers many advantages for this work.

Internal Control Regions

Comparisons reported in this thesis do not support earlier suggestions that the consensus of tymoviral translation initiation regions of RP and VP ORFs, but not the OP ORF, are resemble more closely the plant gene initiation consensus at the crucial G (position +4).

It is, however, likely that stem loop structures, that can be detected by computer algorithms, adjacent to the initiation codons of the OP and RP genes (together with the possible poor context of the OP AUG) may control translation of the ORFs (Osorio-Keese *et al.*, 1989). Kozak (1986c) suggested that very stable stem loop structures (i.e with a Gibbs energy of formation of around -50 kcal/mol) decrease translation of associated ORFs. However less stable structures, such as those found in several flaviviruses having free energies of about -20 kcal/mole, seem to affect translation (Brinton and Dispoto, 1988), and thus the possible stem loop found adjacent to the OP

initiation codon of several tymoviruses, including ELV, may regulate differential

translation of OPs and RPs (Osorio-Keese et al., 1989).

Recently, Ding *et al.* (1990a) reported a conserved sequence, -GAGU[C/U]UGA AUUGC[U/A]UC-, just to the 5'-side of the initiation region of the VP ORF of tymoviruses, and named it the tymobox. It presumably functions as a promoter for sub-

genomic mRNA trascription, like the sequence -ACCUCUACGGCGGUCCUAAAUfound in alphavirus genomes (Ou *et al.*, 1982). Similar conserved sequences have been found in other viruses (bromoviruses, Ahlquist *et al.*, 1981; potexviruses, Zuidema *et al.*, 1989; and tobamoviruses, Solis and Garcia-Arenal, 1990), however the promoters seem to be very specific and there is little obvious homology between the promoters of viruses from different groups.

Encoded Proteins

The genome of ELV shows a strong similarity to those of other tymoviruses in its organization and its sequence, and in the sequences of the encoded proteins (Ding *et al.*, 1989 and 1990a; Keese *et al.*, 1989 and Osorio-Keese *et al.*, 1989). The tymoviruses differ from one another in the lengths of the various components of the genome; the ORFs and the non-coding regions.

The first ORF encodes a 48K OP protein, which, like other tymovirus OPs, has a high isoelectric point because of large amount of basic amino acids (his, lys and arg), reflecting the fact that it has a large number of codons with cytosine in the first position. The tymovirus OP proteins differ more in size and sequence than the RPs and VPs; the greatest sequence differences are in the C-terminal halves of the OPs. By contrast the RPs are less variable and contain the conserved ancestral polymerase domain that links all viruses (Franssen *et al.*, 1984; Haseloff *et al.*, 1984; Kamer and Argos, 1984; Hodgman, 1988; Argos, 1988).

The function of the OP is at present unknown. It is probably functional, as it is found in all tymoviruses, and Weiland and Dresher (1989) provided mutational evidence of its required expression; TYMV mutants with changes in the OP initiation codon replicated poorly in protoplasts, whereas changes in the RP initiation codon destroyed the infectivity of the virus.

It is possible that the OPs of tymoviruses control host ranges and enable them to adapt during evolution to infect new hosts, but there is no evidence for this in the

comparative analyses of OP sequences reported in this thesis. However, the hydrophilic N-terminal portion of the OYMV and KYMV OPs proteins led Ding (1989) to propose that the OPs may be membrane-binding proteins, that could participate in forming the vesicles they induce in the peripheries of chloroplasts (Lesemann, 1977). Ding (1989) also suggested that the OP may be involved in
symptom production like the PrP27-30 prion protein of animals (Prusiner, 1988), the protein product of gene VI of cauliflower mosaic virus (CaMV) (Baughman *et al.*, 1988; Schoelz and Shepherd, 1988) and the cell-to-cell movement 30K protein of TMV (Deom *et al.*, 1987). However all the OPs have high isoelectric points, and thus another possibility is that this protein has a histone-like function enabling replicating tymoviral nucleic acids to pack into the vesicles in the peripherals of the chloroplast.

The RP protein (194K) of ELV is clearly homologous to the RPs of other tymoviruses, indeed the RPs are the most conserved of the tymoviral proteins. The RPs probably form the viral contribution to the viral RNA replicase (Keese *et al.*, 1989). The RPs all contain two well-known consensus sequences; the GDD domain of RNA polymerases, which are conserved in all plant and animal single-stranded plussense RNA-containing viruses (Argos, 1988; Gorbalenya *et al.*, 1989a, b; Poch *et al.*, 1989) and also the NTP-binding motif (Hodgman, 1988; Gorbalenya *et al.*, 1988b; Gorbalenya *et al.*, 1989). These two sequences clearly identify this protein as being involved in RNA synthesis.

The third ELV ORF, closest to the 3' terminus, encodes the virion protein or VP (21K). There is no evidence that the VP gene in the intact ELV genome is translated directly to produce VP, however the presence of the conserved sequence, named the tymobox (Ding *et al.*, 1990a), suggests that the VP is translated from a subgenomic mRNA rather than from the genomic RNA. The VP that can be deduced from the VP gene sequence has an amino acid composition (Srifah *et al.*, 1990) similar to that obtained by chemical analysis (Shukla *et al.*, 1980). ELV VP has a unique extra 11 amino acids near its N-terminus which is not represented in the sequences of the other sixteen known tymovirus VPs. Tymovirus VPs probably have an eight-stranded antiparallel β -barrel structure (J.Varghese, personal communication) like that of the VPs found in most other simple isometric virions. The N-terminal portions of such VPs form a network on the inner surface of virion shell, and this network interacts with the encapsidated genomic RNA and seems to direct and stabilize virion assembly

(Carrington et al., 1987 and Hogle et al., 1990). This amino terminal region is more variable in other structurally related viruses such as luteoviruses (Vincent et al., 1990) and thus may account for the variability displayed by ELV. The relationships of the VPs of ELV and other tymoviruses, based on their amino acid sequences, was found to be closely related to their reported serological relationships (Shukla and Schmelzer, 1972; Koenig, 1976; Shukla and Gough, 1980), although the particles of ELV are serologically the most distinct of all tymoviruses, examined so far, and are only very distantly serologically related to those of APLV and OYMV (Shukla *et al.*, 1980).

The relationships of the five fully sequenced tymoviruses, based on those sequences, is closely similar whether the relationship is calculated from the OPs, the RPs or the VPs. They fall into three subgroups; EMV-OYMV, TYMV-KYMV and ELV which has its own long separate branch (Figure 25). The average branch lengths for different proteins are, however, different, reflecting differences in the rates of evolutionary change of the three proteins; the maximum FJD distance of RPs, VPs and OPs are about 34%, 54% and 90% respectively showing that the greatest rate of change is in the OPs.

There was, unfortunately, no evidence of which features of the genomic or viral protein sequences determine their host preferences. I had hoped that some sequence features shared between ELV and TYMV would indicate why both cause such similar diseases of brassicas, but attempts to correlate the amino acids at homologous positions in the five sets of proteins with the host preferences of the viruses showed no obvious regions or motifs of greater correlation. It is, of course, probable that the host range preferences are controlled by features of the sequences, but those features are probably more subtle than those which the SEQCORR program was examining.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH OTHER VIRUSES BASED ON SEQUENCE COMPARISONS

The RNA polymerase motif (Kamer and Argos, 1984) and nucleotide binding fold (Hodgman, 1988; Gorbalenya *et al.*, 1988a, b) found in the RP proteins of tymoviruses (Morch *et al.*, 1988; Keese *et al.*, 1989) are shared with many other viruses. Comparisons of these regions from a range of viruses places the tymoviruses

among the Sindbis-like viruses (Goldbach, 1987; Goldbach and Wellink, 1988; Skryabin *et al.*, 1988a, b; Strauss and Strauss, 1988; Candresse *et al.*, 1990; Gorbalenya and Koomin, 1989; Habili and Symons, 1989; Poch *et al.*, 1989; German *et al.*, 1990), and, in particular, shows them to be closely related to the potexviruses (Morozov *et al.*, 1989, 1990; Rozanov *et al.*, 1990), potato virus M carlavirus (Rupasov et al., 1989; Memelink et al., 1990; Morozov et al., 1990) and apple chlorotic leafspot closterovirus (German et al., 1990). However the genomes of the Sindbis-like viruses differ greatly in most of their features (Figure 31), and they differ more in size, terminal genomic structures and translation strategy than, say, the picornavirus group (Goldbach et al., 1989). Comparisons between the Sindbis-like viruses give clear evidence that their evolution has depended crucially on genetic recombination, otherwise known as modular evolution (Botstein, 1980; Gibbs, 1987), and illustrates the evolutionary flexibility of viral genomes.

INFECTIOUS RNA TRANSCRIPTS FROM CLONES OF ELV

Full-length DNA clones encoding the genome of ELV were constructed, and I have obtained some limited evidence that these may be transcribed to produce RNA transcripts that are poorly infectious and produce atypical symptoms.

It is uncertain why these transcripts differ from the parental virus, but there are many possibilities including:

1). The presence of extra nonviral nucleotides at 5'-end of the transcripts. This has been shown to decrease the infectivity of at least nine different plant viruses, namely brome mosaic virus, BMV (Janda et al., 1987), beet necrotic yellow vein, BNYVV (Bouzoubaa et al., 1987), barley yellow dwarf virus (BYDV; Young et al., 1991), cowpea mosaic virus (CPMV; Vos et al., 1988), plum pox potyvirus (PPV; Riechmann et al., 1990), turnip crinkle virus (TCV; 14 extra nonviral residues; Heaton et al., 1989), TMV (Dawson et al., 1986), tobacco rattle virus (TRV; Angenent et al., 1989), and tobacco vein mottle virus (TVMV; Domier et al., 1989). It has been thought that these nucleotides may interfere with viral replication and thereby diminish the infectivity of in vitro transcripts. Nevertheless, there are several papers reporting that these short extra nonviral nucleotides at the 5'-end are not maintained during replication in plants and that the sequence at the 5'-end of the progeny RNA population is restored to wild-type (Ahlquist et al., 1984; Dasmahapatra et al., 1986; Dawson et al., 1986; Janda et al., 1987; Ziegler-Graff et al., 1988; Vos et al., 1988; Heaton et al., 1989 and Reichman et al., 1990). Thus, if these additional nucleotides or partially capped transcripts caused the reduction in infectivity of the viruses described above, they were apparently corrected in the progeny RNA. Such corrections could then

account for the restored infectivity of the progeny virus that was observed upon passage to new plants. This may be why full-length cDNA copies of TYMV-BL and TYMV-CL (Mary Skotnicki and Anne Mackenzie, personal communication), which have an extra nucleotide at the 5'-terminus, are fully infectious.

2). Inefficient capping of the 5'-terminus. The methylated cap nucleotide at the 5'-end of the genome is thought to increase the stability of the RNA genomes and enhance their translation (Shih et al., 1976; Furuichi et al., 1977; Shimotohmo et al., 1977; Sonenberg, 1988). This cap has been shown to have this effect with several viruses including BMV (Janda et al., 1987), barley stripe mosaic virus (BSMV; Petty et al., 1989), BYDV (Young et al., 1991) and TMV (Dawson et al., 1986). Preliminary results have shown that infectivity could be increased by improving transcript capping. The infectivity of the transcripts decreased in the absence of a 5'terminal cap homologue in TCV (Heaton et al., 1989); and WClMV (Beck et al., 1990), TMV strain L (Meshi et al., 1986), and BMV (Janda et al., 1987). No infectivity was found in its absence in other experiments involving BMV (Ahlquist et al., 1984), TMV (strain U1)(Dawson et al., 1986), BSMV (Petty et al., 1989), TRV (Angenent et al., 1989; Hamilton and Baulcombe, 1989), cowpea chlorotic mottle virus (CCMV; Allison et al., 1989) or TYMV-BL and TYMV-CL (Mary Skotnicki and Anne Mackenzie, personal communication). The functions of the cap is uncertain, as is that of the VPg found in other viruses, and the absence of either type in a few viruses.

3). <u>The extra nucleotides at the 3'-terminus of the transcripts</u>. In contrast, the addition of five to seven extra nonviral nucleotides at the 3'-end of several plant virus transcripts, including BMV (Ahlquist *et al.*, 1984), TMV (Dawson *et al.*, 1986), CPMV (Vos *et al.*, 1988), TCV (Heaton *et al.*, 1989), TYMV (Weiland and Dreher, 1989), WCIMV (with 6, 14 and 198 extra residues)(Beck*et al.*, 1990), BNYVV RNA3 (Jubin *et al.*, 1990), PPV (Riechmann *et al.*, 1990) and TYMV-BL and TYMV-CL (Mary Skotnicki and Anne Mackenzie, personal communication) did not appear to

affect infectivity of the transcripts. Furthermore progeny of normal length appeared during their replication. This might reflect that the ability of the viral replication machinery to recognize and/or replicate only viral sequence (Dawson *et al.*, 1986). However, when a longer 3' extension of nonviral nucleotides was added to the genome (945 nt in TMV and 2700 nt in BMV), the RNA transcripts were not infectious. 4). Sequence differences between the transcripts and the parental virus. There is always the possibility that the clone encoding the genome does not have the same sequence as the infective genome found in the parental virus isolate. This could be caused by transcriptional errors during cloning, or the production of a clone with one or more atypical 'wild-type' nucleotides, as an isolate is often itself a population of slightly different virus genomes (Domingo *et al.*, 1978). This is thought to be the reason for the variable infectivity of the transcripts obtained from BMV (Ahlquist *et al.*, 1984), CPMV (Vos *et al.*, 1988), PPV (Riechmann *et al.*, 1990) and TMV (Dawson *et al.*, 1986; Meshi *et al.*, 1986). This fact, combined with the ability of transcripts to change rapidly could explain why the progeny derived from transcriptinfected plants are often so much more infectious than the *in vitro* synthesized transcripts.

Nonetheless there is great value in obtaining DNA clones encoding RNA viral genomes, as these offer great scope for research. The ELV DNA clones I have obtained may be of direct use to provide defined subgenomic fragments, but to obtain more infectious transcripts it may be necessary to replace progressively parts of the clones with newly cloned fragments. The ELV clone will then take its place alongside a wide range of viral genomes now cloned as DNA and producing fully infectious RNA transcripts. These include the following plant viruses:

Tripartite genome

u i nic
t et al
et al.
nd Pal
al. (19

Bipartite genome

ComovirusCowpea mosaic virus (CPMV)TobravirusTobacco rattle virus (TRV)

Dore and Pinck (1988) Ahlquist et al. (1984) Allison et al. (1988) Rizzo and Palukaitis (1990) Petty et al. (1989)

Vos *et al.* (1988) Hamilton and Baulcombe (1989)

Monopartite genome

Carmovirus Luteovirus Potexvirus

Potyvirus

Tobamovirus

Tombusvirus

Heaton et al. (1989) Turnip crinkle virus (TCV) Barley yellow dwarf virus (BYDV-PAV serotype) Young et al. (1991) Potato virus X (PVX) Hemenway et al. (1990) White clover mosaic virus (WCIMV) Beck et al. (1990) Plum pox potyvirus (PPV) Riechmann et al. (1990) Domier et al. (1989) Tobacco vein mottle virus (TVMV) Dawson et al. (1986) Tobacco mosaic virus (TMV) TMV (tomato strain L) Meshi et al. (1986) Tomato bushy stunt virus (TBSV) Hearne et al. (1990)

Tymovirus

Eggplant mosaic virus (EMV-Trin) Ononis yellow mosaic virus (OYMV-Tin) Turnip yellow mosaic virus (TYMV) TYMV-BL TYMV-CL

(Mary Skotnicki unpublished data) (Shouwei Ding unpublished data) Weiland and Dreher (1989) (Mary Skotnicki unpublished data) (Anne Mackenzie unpublished data)

Also plant viruses with DNA genomes have been cloned including, for instance, the bipartite genome of maize streak (Lazarowitz, 1988), squash leaf curl (Lazarowitz and Lazding, 1991) and tomato golden mosaic (Hamilton *et al.*, 1984) geminiviruses, as well as viruses of other types of hosts, including bacteriophage Q β (Taniguchi *et al.*,1978), human rhinovirus (Mizutani and Colonno, 1985); poliovirus (Racaniello and Baltimore, 1981; van der Werf *et al.*, 1986), and black beetle nodavirus, Dasmahapatra *et al.*, 1986).



REFERENCES

- Ahlquist, P., Dasgupta, R., and Kaesberg, P. (1984). Nucleotide sequence of the brome mosaic virus genome and its implications for viral replication. J. Mol. Biol. 172, 369-383.
- Ahlquist, P. and Janda, M. (1984). cDNA cloning and *in vitro* transcription of the complete brome mosaic virus genome. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 4, 2876-2882.
- Ahlquist, P., Luckow, V., and Kaesberg, P. (1981). Complete nucleotide sequence of brome mosaic virus RNA3. J. Mol. Biol. 153, 23-38.
- Ahlquist, P., Strauss, E.G., Rice, C.M., Strauss, J.M., Haseloff, J., and Zimmern, D. (1985). Sindbis virus proteins nsP1 and nsP2 containing homology to nonstructural proteins from several RNA plant viruses. J. Virology 53, 536-542.
- Allison, R.F., Janda, M., and Ahlquist, P. (1988). Infectious *in vitro* transcripts from cowpea chlorotic mottle virus cDNA clones and exchange of individual RNA components with brome mosaic virus *J. Virol.* **62**, 3581-3588.
- Allison, R.F., Janda, M., and Ahlquist, P. (1989). Sequence of cowpea chlorotic mottle virus RNAs 2 and 3 and evidence of a recombination event during bromovirus evolution. Virology 172, 321-330.
- Angenent, G.C., Posthumus, E., and Bol, J.F. (1989). Biological activity of transcripts synthesized *in vitro* from full-length and mutated DNA copies of tobacco rattle

virus RNA-2. Virology 173, 68-76

Argos, P. (1981). Secondary structure prediction of plant virus coat proteins. Virology **110**, 55-62.

- Argos, P. (1988). A sequence motif in many polymerases. Nucleic Acids Res. 16, 9909-9916.
- Argos, P., Kamer, G., Nicklin, M.J.H., and Wimmer, E. (1984). Similarity in gene organization and homology between proteins of animal picornaviruses and a plant comovirus suggest common ancestry of these virus families. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 12, 7251-7267.
- Barker, R.F., Jarvis, N.P., Thompson, D.V., Loesch-Fries, L.S. and Hall, T.C. (1983).
 The complete nucleotide sequence of alfalfa mosaic virus RNA3. Nucleic Acids Res. 11, 2881-2891.
- Barradas, M.M. (1983). Identification of tomato white necrosis virus as a tymovirus. PhD Thesis, Institututo de Biociencias da U.S.P. Sao Paulo, France.
- Baughman, G.A., Jacobs, J.D., and Howell, S.H. (1988). Cauliflower mosaic virus gene VI produces a symptomatic phenotype in trangenic tobacco plants. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 85, 733-737.
- Beachy, R.N., Zaitin, M., Bruening, G., and Israel, H.W. (1976). A genetic map for the cowpea strian of TMV. Virology 73, 498-507.
- Beck, D.L., Forster, R.L.S., Bevan, M.W., Boxen, K.A., and Lowe, S.C. (1990). Infectious transcripts and nucleotide sequence of cloned cDNA of the potexvirus white clover mosaic virus. Virology 177, 152-158.
- Benicourt, C., Pere, J.P., and Haenni, A.L. (1978). Translation of TYMV RNA into high molecular weight proteins. *FEBS Lett.* 86, 268-272.

Bercks, R. (1973). Scorphularia mottle virus. CMI/AAB Descriptions of Plant Viruses. No. 113.

- Bergh, S.T., Koziel, M.G., Huang, S.C., Thomas, R.A., Gilley, D., and Siegel, A. (1985). The nucleotide sequence of tobacco rattle virus RNA-2 (CAM). Nucleic Acids Res. 13, 8507-8518.
- Blok, J., Gibbs, A., and Mackenzie, A. (1987a). The classification of tymoviruses by cDNA-RNA hybridization and other measures of relatedness. *Arch. Virol.* **96**, 225-240.
- Blok, J., Mackenzie, A., Guy, P., and Gibbs, A. (1987b). Nucleotide sequence comparisons of turnip yellow mosaic virus isolates from Australia and Europe. *Arch. Virol.* 97, 283-295.
- Bock, K.R. and Guthrie, E.J. (1977). Clitoria yellow vein virus. CMI/AAB Descriptions of Plant viruses. No. 171.
- Bonnet, J., Ebel, J.P., Dirheimer, G., and Shershneva, L.P. (1974). The corrected nucleotide sequence of valine tRNA from baker's yeast. *Biochimie* 56, 1211-1213.
- Both, G.W. and Air, G.M. (1979). Nucleotide sequence coding for the N-terminal region of the matrix protein of influenza virus. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **96**, 363-372.
- Botstein, D. (1980). A theory of modular evolution for bacteriophages. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 354, 484-491.
- Bouley, J.P., Briand, J.P., Genevaux, M., Pinck, M., and Witz, J. (1976). The structure of eggplant mosaic virus: Evidence for the presence of low molecular weight RNA in top component. *Virology* **69**, 775-781.

Bouzoubaa, S., Quillet, L., Guilley, H., Jonard, G., and Richards, K. (1987). Nucleotide sequence of beet necrotic yellow vein virus RNA-1. J. Gen. Virol. 68, 615-626.

- Bové, C., Macquot, B., and Bové, J.M. (1972). Turnip yellow mosaic virus RNA synthesis in the plastids: Partial purification of a virus specific DNA independent enzyme template complex. *Symp. Biol. Hung.* **13**, 43-59.
- Bové, J.M., Bové, C., Rondot, M.J., and Morel, G. (1965). Chloroplasts and virus synthesis. In *Biochemistry of Chloroplasts* (Proc. NATO Adv. Stud. Inst., Alberystwyth, Aug. 1965), vol.2, pp 329-339. Academic Press, New York.
- Briand, J.P., Jonard, G., Guilley, H., Richards, K., and Hirth, L. (1977). Nucleotide sequence (n=159) of the amino-acid-accepting 3' OH extremity of turnip yellow mosaic virus RNA and the last portion of its coat protein cistron. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 72, 453-463.
- Briand, J.P., Keith, G., and Guilley, H. (1978). Nucleotide sequence at the 5' extremity of TYMV genome RNA. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 75, 3168-3172.
- Brinton, M.A. and Dispoto, J.H. (1988). Sequence and secondary structure analysis of the 5'-terminal region of flavivirus genome RNA. *Virology*, **162**, 290-299.
- Bruenn, J.A. (1991). Relationships among the positive strand and double-strand RNA viruses as viewed through their RNA-dependent RNA polymerase. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 19, 217-226.
- Brunt, A.A. (1970). Cacao yellow mosaic virus. CMI/AAB Descriptions of Plant Viruses. No 11.
- Bujarski, J.J., Ahlquist, P., Hall, T.C., Dreher, T.W., and Kaesberg, P. (1986). Modulation of replication, aminocylation, and adenylation *in vitro* and infectivity

in vivo of BMV RNAs containing deletions within the multifunctional 3'end.

EMBO J. 5, 1769-1774.

- Candresse, T., Batisti, M., Renaudin, C., Mouchés, C., and Bové, J.M. (1987).
 Immunodetection of turnip yellow mosaic virus non-structural proteins in infected leaves and protoplasts. Ann. Inst. Pasteur Virol. 138, 217-227.
- Candresse, T., Morch, M.D., and Dunez, J. (1990). Multiple alignment and hierarchical clustering of conserved amino acid sequences in the replication-associated proteins of plant RNA viruses. *Res. Virol.* 141, 315-329.
- Candresse, T., Mouches, C., and Bove, J.M. (1986). Characterization of the virus encoded subunit of turnip yellow mosaic virus RNA replicase. Virology 152, 322-330.
- Carrington, J.C., Heaton, L.A., Zuidema, D., Hillman, B.I., and Morris, T.J. (1989). The complete genome structure of turnip crinkle virus. *Virology* **170**, 219-226.
- Carrington, J.C., Morris, T.J., Stockley, P.G., and Harrison, S.C. (1987). Structure and assembly of turnip crinkle virus. IV. Analysis of the coat protein gene and implications of the subunit primary structure. J. Mol. Biol. 194, 265-276.
- Cellier, F., Zaccomer, B., Morch, M.D., Haenni, A.L., and Tepfer, M. (1990).
 Strategies for interfering *in vivo* with replication of turnip yellow mosaic virus.
 (Abstract) VIIIth International Congress of Virology, August 26-31, 1990. An
 Interdivisional Meeting of the International Union of Microbiological Societies
 (IUMS), Berlin.
- Christiansen, J., Brown, R.S., Sproat, B.S., and Garrett, R.A. (1987). Xenopus transcription factor IIIA binds primarily at junctions between double helical stems and internal loops in oocyte 5S RNA. EMBL J. 6, 453-460.

Cohen, S.S. and Greenberg, M.L. (1981). Spermidine, an intrinsic component of turnip

yellow mosaic virus. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 78, 5470.

- Colman, P.M., Tulloch, P.A., Shukla, D.D., and Gough, K.H. (1980). Particles and crystal symmetry of Erysimum latent virus. J. Mol. Biol. 142, 263-268.
- Cornelissen, B.J.C. and Bol, J.F., (1984). Homology between the proteins encoded by tobacco mosaic virus and two tricornaviruses. *Pl. Mol. Biol.* **3**, 379-384.
- Cornelissen, B.J.C., Brederode, F.T., Veeneman, G.H., van Boom, J.H., and Bol, J.F. (1983). Complete nucleotide sequence of alfalfa mosaic virus RNA2. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 3019-3025.
- Crestani, O.A., Kitajimi, E.W., Lin, M.T., Marinho, V.L.A., and Pimentel, J.P. (1984). A new virus disease in passion-fruit yellow mosaic cause by a tymovirus in Brazil. *Fitopatologia Brasilerira* **9**, 394.
- Dale, J., Gardiner, J.E. and Gibbs, A. (1975). Viruses in Kennedya rubicunda. Newsl. Aust. Pl. Path. Soc. 4, 13-14.
- Dasmahapatra, B., Dasgupta, R., Saunders, K., Selling, B., Gallagher, T., and Kaesberg, P. (1986). Infectious RNA derived by transcription from cloned cDNA copies of the genomic RNA of an insect virus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 83, 63-66.
- Dawson, W.O., Beck, D.L., Knorr, D.A., and Grantham, G.L. (1986). cDNA cloning of the complete genome of tobacco mosaic virus and production of infectious transcripts. *Proc. Natl. Acad. USA* 83, 1832-1836.
- Dayhoff, M.O., Schwartz, R.M., Chen, H.R., and Orcutt, B.C. (1978). A model of evolutionary change in proteins. In: Atlas of Protein Sequence and Structure.

(Dayhoff, M.O. eds), vol.5, suppl.3., National Biomedical Research Foundation, Washington D.C.

Deom, C.M., Oliver, M., and Beachy, R.N. (1987). The 30-kilodalton gene product of tobacco mosaic virus potentiates virus movement. *Science* 237, 389-394.

- Devereux, J., Haeberli, P., and Smithies, O. (1984). A comprehensive set of sequence analysis programs for the VAX. Nucleic Acids Res. 12, 387-395.
- Ding, S. (1989). Molecular biology and evolution of tymoviruses, especially ononis yellow mosaic and kennedya yellow mosaic viruses. PhD thesis, The Australian National University, Canberra, Australia.
- Ding, S., Howe, J., Keese, P., Mackenzie, A., Meek, D., Osorio-Keese, M., Skotnicki, M., Srifah, P., Torronen, M., and Gibbs, A. (1990a). The tymobox, a sequence shared by most tymoviruses: Its used in molecular studies of tymoviruses. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 18, 1181-1187.
- Ding, S., Howe, J., Keese, P., Mackenzie, A., Skotnicki, M., and Gibbs, A. (1990b). Nucleotide sequence of the virion protein gene of belladonna mottle tymovirus. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 18, 6138.
- Ding, S., Mackenzie, A., Torronen, M., and Gibbs, A. (1990c). Nucleotide sequence of the virion protein gene of cacao yellow mosaic tymovirus. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 19, 5886.
- Ding, S., Keese, P., and Gibbs, A. (1990d). The nucleotide sequence of the genomic RNA of kennedya yellow mosaic tymovirus-Jervis Bay isolate: Relationships with potex-and carlaviruses. J. Gen. Virol. 71, 925-931.
- Ding, S., Keese, P. and Gibbs, A. (1989). Nucleotide sequence of the genome of ononis yellow mosaic tymovirus. Virology 172, 555-563.

Domier, L.L., Franklin, K.M., Hunt., A.G., Rhoads, R.E., and Shaw, J.G. (1989).

Infectious in vitro transcripts from cloned cDNA of a potyvirus, tobacco vein

mottling virus. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 86, 3509-3513.

- Domingo, E., Sabo, D., Taniguchi, T., and Weissmann, C. (1978). Nucleotide sequence heterogeneity of an RNA phage population. *Cell* 13, 735-744.
- Dore, J.-M. and Pinck, L. (1988). Plasmid DNA containing copy of RNA3 can substitute for RNA3 in alfalfa mosaic virus RNA inocula. J. Gen Virol. 69, 1331-1338.
- Dreher, T.W. and Hall, T.C. (1988a). RNA replication of brome mosaic virus and related viruses. In: *RNA Genetics* (Domingo, E., Holland, J.J., and Ahlquist, P., eds), vol.I, pp91-113, CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida.
- Dreher, T.W., and Hall, T.C. (1988b). Mutational analysis of the tRNA mimicry of brome mosaic virus RNA: Sequence and structural requirements for aminoacylation and 3'adenylation. J. Mol. Biol. 201, 41-55.
- Dumas, P., Moras, D., Florentz, C., Giège, R., Verlann, P., van Belkum, A., and Pleij,
 C.W.A. (1987). 3-D graphics modelling of the tRNA-like 3'-ends of turnip yellow
 mosaic virus RNA: Structural and functional implications. J. Biomolecular
 Structure and Dynamics. 4, 707-728.
- Fauquet, C.A., Monsarrat, A., and Thouvenel, J.C., (1984). Voandzeia necrotic mosaic virus. *CMI/AAB Descriptions of Plant Viruses*. No. 279.
- Feng, D.F. and Doolittle, R.F. (1987). Progressive sequence alignment as a prerequisite to correct phylogenetic trees. J. Mol. Evol. 25, 351-360.
- Feng, D.F., Johnson, M.S., and Doolittle, R.F. (1985). Aligning amino acid sequences: Comparison of commonly used methods. J. Mol. Evol. 21, 112-125.

Florentz, C., Briand, J.P., Romby, P., Hirth, L., Ebel, J.P., and Giège, R. (1982). The tRNA-like structure of turnip yellow mosaic virus RNA: Structural organization of the last 159 nucleotides from 3' OH terminus. *EMBO J.* 1, 269-276.

- Forster, R.L.S., Bevan, M.W., Harrison, S.-A., and Gardner, R.C. (1988). The complete nucleotide sequence of the potexvirus white clover mosaic virus. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 16, 291-303.
- Fowlkes, D.M. and Shenk, T. (1980). Transcriptional control regions of the adenovirus VAI RNA gene. *Cell* 22, 405-413.
- Franssen, H., Leunissen, J., Goldbach, R., Lomonossoff, G., and Zimmern, D. (1984). Homologous sequences in non-structural proteins from cowpea mosaic virus and picornaviruses. EMBO J. 3, 855-861.
- Fribourg, C.E., Jones, R.A.C., and Koenig, R. (1976). Desmodium yellow mottle virus. CMI/AAB Descriptions of Plant Viruses. No. 168.
- French, R. and Ahlquist, P. (1988) Characterization and engineering of sequences controlling *in vivo* synthesis of brome mosaic virus subgenomic RNA. J. Virology 62, 2411-2420.
- Furuichi, Y., La Fiandra, A., and Shaktin, A.J. (1977). 5'-terminal structure and mRNA stability. *Nature (London)* 266, 235-239.
- Gall, O.L., Candresse, T., Brault, Bretout, C., Hibrand, L., and Dunez, J. (1988).
 Cloning full-length cDNA of grapevine chrome mosaic nepovirus. Genes 73, 67-75.
- Gallie, D.R., Sleat, D.E., Watts, J.W., Turner, P.C., and Wilson, T.M.A. (1988). Mutational analysis of the tobacco mosaic virus 5'-leader for altered ability to enhance translation. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 16, 883-893.

Gargouri, R., Joshi, R.L., Bol, J.F., Manifacier, S.A., and Haenni, A.L. (1989). Mechanism of synthesis of turnip yellow mosaic virus coat protein subgenomic RNA in vivo. Virology 171, 386-393.

- Garnett, A.L., (1973). Plantago mottle virus, a new member of the tymovirus group. *Phytopathology* 63, 1313.
- Garnier, M., Mamoun, R., and Bové, J.M. (1980). TYMV RNA replication *in vivo*, replicative intermediate is mainly single stranded. *Virology* **104**, 357.
- Geneveaux, M., Pinck, M., and Duranton, H.M. (1976). Amino acid accepting structures in tymovirus RNAs. Ann. Microbiol. (Inst Pasteur) 127A, 47-53.
- German, S., Candresse, T., Laenneau, M., Huet, J.C., Pernolet, J.C., and Dunez, J. (1990). Nucleotide sequence and genomic organization of apple chlorotic leaf spot closterovirus. *Virology* **179**, 104-112.
- Gibbs, A.J. (1978). Kennedya yellow mosaic virus. CMI/AAB Descriptions of Plant Viruses. No. 193.
- Gibbs, A.J. (1980). How ancient are the tobamoviruses ? Intervirology 14, 101-108.
- Gibbs, A.J. (1987) Molecular evolution of viruses; 'trees', 'clocks' and 'modules'. J. Cell Sci. Suppl. 7, 319-337.
- Gibbs, A.J., Hecht-Poinar, E., and Woods, R.D. (1966). Some properties of three related viruses: Andean potato latent, dulcamara mottle, and ononis yellow mosaic.
 J. gen. Microbiol. 44, 177-193.
- Gibbs, A.J., Knowles, G.R. (1977). A method for assessing the size of a protein from its composition: A correction. J. Gen. Virol. 38, 167-168.

Gibbs, A.J., and Harrison, B.D. (1973). Eggplant mosaic virus. CMI/AAB Descriptions

of Plant Viruses. No. 124.

- Giège, R., Briand, J.P., Mengual, R., Ebell, J.P., and Hirth, L. (1978). Valylation of the two RNA component of TYMV and specificity of the tRNA aminoacylation reaction. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 84, 251-256.
- Givord, I., and Koenig, R. (1974). Okra mosaic virus. CMI/AAB Descriptions of Plant Viruses. No. 128.
- Globet, C., Prost, E., and Whalen, R.G. (1989). One-step amplication of transcripts in total RNA using the polymerase chain reaction. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 17, 2144.
- Goelet, P., Lomonosoff, G.P., Butler, P.J.G., Akam, M.E., Gait, M.J., and Kran, J. (1982). Nucleotide sequence of tobacco mosaic virus RNA. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA. 79, 5818-5822.
- Goldbach, R. (1986). Molecular evolution of plus-strand RNA viruses. Ann. Rev. Phytopath. 24, 289-310.
- Goldbach, R. (1987). Genome similarities between plant and animal RNA viruses. Microbiol. Sci. 4, 197-202.
- Goldbach, R., Eggen, C., de Jager, van Kammen, A., van Lent, J., Rezelman, G., and Wellink, J. (1989). Genetic organization, evolution and expression of plant viral RNA genomes. In *Recognition and Response in Plant-virus Interactions* (R.S.S. Fraser, eds) pp.147-164. Pringer-Verlag, Berlin.
- Goldbach, R., and Wellink, J. (1988). Evolution of plus-strand RNA virus. Intervirology 29, 260-267.

Gorbalenya, A.E., Blinov, V.M., Donchenko, A.P., and Koonin, E.V. (1989a). An NTP-binding motif is the most conserved sequence in a highly diverged monophylogenetic group of proteins involved in a positive strand RNA viral replication. J. Molec. Evol. 28, 256-268.

- Gorbalenya, A.E., Blinov, V.M., Donchenko, A.P., and Koonin, E.V. (1989b). Two related superfamilies of putative helicases involved in replication, recombination, repair and expression of DNA and RNA genomes. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 17, 4713-4730.
- Gorbalenya, A.E. and Koonin, E.V. (1989). Viral proteins containing the purine NTPbinding sequence pattern. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 17, 8413-8440.
- Gorbalenya, A.E., Koonin, E.V., Donchenko, A.P., and Blinov, V.M. (1988a). A novel superfamily of nucleoside triphosphate-binding motif containing proteins which are probably involved in duplex unwinding in DNA and RNA replication and recombination. *FEBS Lett.* 253, 16-24.
- Gorbalenya, A.E., Blinov, V.M., Donchenko, A.P., and Koonin, E.V. (1988b). A conserved NTP motif in putative helicases. *Nature* 333, 22.
- Gough, K.H., Lilley, G.G., Shukla, D.D., and Woods, E.F. (1982). Some physiocochemical properties of erysimum latent virus. Aust. J. Biol. Sci. 35, 5-11.
- Gregory, R.J. and Zimmermann, R.A. (1986). Site-directed mutagenesis of the binding site for ribosomal protein S8 within 16S ribosomal RNA from *Escherichia coli*. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 14, 5761-5776.
- Gubler, U. and Hoffman, B.J. (1983). A simple and very efficient method for generating cDNA libraries. *Genes* 25, 263-269.
- Guilley, H. and Briand, J.P. (1978). Nucleotide sequence of turnip yellow mosaic virus coat protein mRNA. *Cell* 15, 113-122.

Guilley, H., Carrington, J.C., Balazs, E., Jonard, G., Richards, K., and Morris, T.J. (1985). Nucleotide sequence and genome organization of carnation mottle virus RNA. Nucleic Acids Res. 13, 6663-6677.

- Gupta, K. and Kingsbury, D. (1984). Complete sequences of the intergenic and mRNA start signals in the Sendai virus genome: Homologies with the genome of vesicular stomatitis virus. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **12**, 3829-3841.
- Güssow, D., and Clarkson, T. (1989). Direct clone characterization from colonies by the polymerase chain reaction. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 17, 4000.
- Gustafson, G., Hunter, B., Hanau, R., Armour, S.L., and Jackson, A.O. (1987). Nucleotide sequence and genetic organization of barley stripe mosaic virus RNAγ. Virology 158, 394-406.
- Guy, P.L., Dale, L.J., Adena, M.A. and Gibbs, A. (1984). A taxonomic study of the host ranges of tymoviruses. *Plant Pathol.* 33, 337-346.
- Habili, N., and Symons, R.H. (1989). Evolutionary relationship between luteoviruses and other RNA plant viruses based on sequence motifs in their putative RNA polymerases nucleic acid helicase. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 17, 9543-9555.
- Hall, T.C. (1979). Transfer RNA-like structures in viral genomes. Int. Rev. Cytol. 60, 1-26.
- Hall, T.C., Shih, D.S., and Kaesberg, P. (1972). Enzyme-mediated binding of tyrosine to brome mosaic virus ribonucleic acid. *Biochem J.* **129**, 969-976.
- Hamilton, W.D.O, and Baulcombe, D.C. (1989). Infectious RNA produced by *in vitro* transcription of a full-length tobacco rattle virus RNA-1 cDNA. J. Gen. Virol. 70, 963-968.

Hamilton, W.D.O., Boccara, M., Robinson, D.J., and Baulcombe, D.C. (1987). The complete nucleotide sequence of tobacco rattle virus RNA-1. J. Gen. Virol. 68,

2563-2575.

- Hamilton, W.D.O., Stein, V.E., Coutts, R.H.A., and Buck, K.W. (1984). Complete nucleotide sequence of the infectious cloned DNA components of tomato golden mosaic virus: Potential coding regions and regulatory sequences. *EMBO J.* 3, 2197-2205.
- Hanahan, D. (1983). Studies on transformation of *Escherichia coli* with plasmids. J. Mol. Biol. 166, 557-580.
- Harrison, B.D., Finch, J.T., Gibbs, A.J., Hollings, M., Shepherd, R.J., Valenta, V., and Wetter, C. (1971). Sixteen groups of plant viruses. *Virology* **45**, 356-363.
- Haseloff, J., Goelet, P., Zimmern, D., Ahlquist, P., Dasgupta, R., and Kaesberg, P. (1984). Striking similarities in amino acid sequence among nonstructural proteins encoded by RNA viruses that have dissimilar genomic organization. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 81, 4358-4362.
- Hatta, T. and Matthews, R.E.F. (1976). Sites of coat protein accumulation in turnip yellow mosaic virus-infected cells. *Virology* **73**, 1-16.
- Heaton, L.A. Carrington, J.C., and Morris, T.J. (1989). Turnip crinkle virus infection from RNA synthesized *in vitro*. Virology **170**, 214-218.
- Hearne, P.Q., Knorr, D.A., Hillman, B.I., and Morris, T.J. (1990). The complete genome structure and synthesis of infectious RNA from clones of tomato bushy stunt virus. *Virology* 177, 141-151.
- Heidecker, G. and Messing, J. (1986). Structural analysis of plant genes. Ann. Rev. Pl. Physiol. 37, 439-466.

Hemenway, C., Weiss, J., O'Connell, K., and Tumer, N. (1990). Characterization of infectious transcripts from a potato virus X cDNA clone. Virology 175, 365-371.

Hodgman, T.C. (1988). A new superfamily of replicative proteins. Nature 333, 22-23.

- Holmes, D.S., and Quigley, M. (1981). A rapid boiling method for the preparation of bacterial plasmids. *Anal. Biochem.* **114**, 193-197.
- Hogle, J.M., Syed, R., Yeates, T.O., Jacobson, D., and Filman, D.J., (1990). Structural determinants of serotype specificity, host range and thermostability in poliovirus.
 In: Use of X-ray Crystallography in the Design of Antiviral Agents (W.G. Laver and G.M. Air, eds.). Academic press, New York.
- Huisman, M.J., Linthorst, H.J.M., Bol, J.F., and Cornelissen, B.J.C. (1988). The complete nucleotide sequence of potato virus X and its homologies at the amino acid level with various plus-stranded RNA viruses. J. Gen. Virol. 69, 1789-1798.
- Ishikawa, M.T., Meshi, T., Motoyoshi, F., Takamatsu, N., and Okada, Y. (1986). In vitro mutagenesis of the putative replicase genes of tobacco mosaic virus. Nucleic Acids Res. 14, 8291-8305.
- Janda, M., French, R., and Ahlquist, P. (1987). High efficiency T7 polymerase synthesis of infectious RNA from cloned brome mosaic virus cDNA and effects of 5'extensions on transcript infectivity. Virology 158, 259-262.
- Joshi, S., Chapeville, F., and Haenni, A.L. (1982). Length requirements for tRNAspecific enzymes and cleavage specificity at the 3'ends of the turnip yellow mosaic virus RNA. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 10, 1945-1962.
- Joshi, R.L., Joshi, S., Chapeville, F., and Haenni, A.L. (1983a). tRNA-like structures of plant viral RNAs: Conformational requirements for adenylation and aminoacylation. *EMBO*. J. 2, 1123-1127.

Joshi, S., Joshi, R.L., Haenni, A.L., and Chapeville, F. (1983b). tRNA-like structures

in genomic RNAs of plants viruses. TIBS, 402-404.

- Joshi, S., Haenni, A.L., Hubert, E., Huez, G., Marbaix, G. (1978). In vivo aminoacylation and processing of turnip yellow mosaic virus RNA in Xenopus leavis oocytes. Nature 275, 339.
- Joshi, R.L., Ravel, J.M., and Haenni, A.L. (1986). Interaction of turnip yellow mosaic virus Val-RNA with eukaryotic elongation factor EF-1α: Search for a function. *EMBO J.* 5, 1143-1148.
- Jubin, I., Richards, K., Jonard, G., Guilley, H., and Pleij, C.W.A. (1990). Mapping sequences required for productive replication of beet necrotic yellow vein virus RNA 3. Virology 178, 273-280.
- Kamer, G. and Argos, P. (1984). Primary structural comparison of RNA-dependent polymerases from plant, animal and bacterial viruses. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 12, 7269-7281.
- Kaper, G. (1975). The chemical basic of virus structure, dissociation and reassembly.
 In: Frontiers of Biology (Neuberger, A. and Tatum, E.L., eds). North-Holland,
 Amterdam.
- Kaper, J.M. and Steere, R.L. (1959). Isolation and preliminary studies of soluble protein and infectious nucleic acid from turnip yellow mosaic virus. Virology 8, 527-530.
- Keeling, J., Collins, E.R., and Matthews, R.E.F. (1979). Behavior of turnip yellow mosaic virus nucleoproteins under alkaline conditions. Virology 97, 100-111.
- Keese, P., Mackenzie, A., and Gibbs, A. (1989). Nucleotide sequence of an Australian

isolate of turnip yellow mosaic tymovirus. Virology 172, 536-546.

Keese, P., Martin, R.P., Kawchuk, L.M., Waterhouse, P.M., and Gerlach, W.L. (1990). Nucleotide sequence of an Australian and a Canadian isolate of potato leafroll

- Klein, C., Fritsch, C., Briand, J.P., Richards, K.E., Jonard, G., and Hirth, L. (1976).
 Physical and functional heterogeneity in TYMV RNA: Evidence for the existence of an independent messenger coding for the coat protein. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 3, 3043-3061.
- Koenig, R. (1976). A loop-structure in the serological classification system of tymoviruses. Virology 72, 1-5.
- Koenig, R. (1988). Polyhedral plant viruses with monopartite RNA genomes, introduction and summary of important properties. In: *The Plant Viruses* Vol III (Koenig, R. eds.), p1-12. Plenum Press, New York.
- Koenig, R. and Givord, L. (1974). Serological interrelationships in the turnip yellow mosaic virus group. Virology 58, 119-125.
- Kohl, R.J. and Hall, T.C. (1974). Aminoacylation of RNA from several viruses: Amino acid specificity and differential activity of plant, yeast, and bacterial synthetase. J. Gen. Virol. 25, 257-261.
- Kozak, M. (1984). Point mutations close to the AUG initiation codon affect the efficiency of translation of rat prepoinsulin *in vitro*. *Nature* **308**, 214-247.
- Kozak, M. (1986a). Influences of mRNA secondary structure on initiation by eukaryotic ribosomes. *Proc. Natl. Sci. USA* 83, 2850-2854.

Kozak, M. (1986b). Point mutations define a sequence flanking the AUG initiator

codon that modulates translation by eukaryotic ribosomes. Cell 44, 283-292.

Kozak, M. (1986c). Regulation of protein synthesis in virus-infected animal cells. Adv. Virus Res. 31, 229-292.

- Kozak, M. (1987). An analysis of the 5'-noncoding sequences from 699 vertebrate messenger RNAs. Nucleic Acids Res. 15, 8125-8148.
- Lafleche, D., Bove, C., Dupont, G., Mouches, C., Astier, T., Garnier, M., and Bove,
 J.M. (1972). Site of viral RNA replication in the cells of higher plants. TYMV (turnip yellow mosaic virus)-RNA synthesis on the chloroplast outer membrane system. *Proc. Fed. Eur. Biochem. Soc.* 72, 43-71.
- Lawson, T.G., Ray, B.K., Dodds, J.T., Grifo, J.A., Abramson, R.D., Merrick, W.C., Betsch, D.F., Weith, H.L., and Thach, R.E. (1986). Influence of 5'-proximal secondary structure on the translational efficiency of eukaryotic mRNAs and on their interaction with initiation factors. J. Biol. Chem. 261, 13979-13989.
- Lazarowitz, S.G. (1988). Infectivity and complete nucleotide sequence of the genome of a South African isolate of maize streak virus. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 16, 229-249.
- Lazarowitz, S.G. and Lazdins, I.B. (1991). Infectivity and complete nucleotide sequence of the cloned genomic components of a bipartite squash leaf curl geminivirus with a broad host range phenotype. *Virology* **180**, 58-69.
- Lesemann, D.E. (1977). Virus group-specific and virus-specific cytological alterations induced by the members of the tymovirus group. *Phytopathol. Z.* **90**, 315-336.
- Lomonossoff, G.P. and Shanks, M. (1983). The nucleotide sequence of cowpea mosaic virus B RNA. *EMBO J.* 2, 2253-2258.

Lütcke, H.A., Chow, K.C., Michel, F.S., Moss, K.A., Kem, H.F., and Scheele, G.A.

(1987). Selection of AUG initiation codons differs in plants and animals. EMBO J.6, 43-48.

Maizel, J.V., and Lenk, R.P. (1981). Enhanced graphic matrix analysis of nucleic acid and protein sequences. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 78, 7665-7669.

- Man, R., van Steeg, M., Pleij, C.W.A., and Bosch, L. (1990). Site-directed mutagenesis of the pseudoknot in the tRNA-like structure of TYMV RNA: Effects on structure and aminoacylation. (abs.). VIII the International Congress of Virology, August 26-31, 1990. An interdivisional meeting of the International Union of Microbiological Societies (IUMS), Berlin.
- Maniatis, T., Frotsch, E.F., and Sambrook, J. (1982). Molecular Cloning: A Laboratory Manual. Cold Spring Harbour Laboratory, Cold Spring Harbor, NY.
- Markham, R., Matthews, R.E.F., and Smith, K.M. (1948). Specific crystalline protein and nucleoprotein from a plant virus having insect vectors. *Nature* **162**, 88-90.
- Markham, R. and Smith, K.M. (1946). A new crystalline plant virus. Nature 157, 300.
- Markham, R. and Smith, K.M. (1949). Studies on the virus of turnip yellow mosaic. Parasitology 39, 330-342.
- Marsh, L.E., and Hall, T.C. (1987). Evidence implicating a tRNA heritage for the promoters of (+) strand RNA synthesis in brome mosaic virus and related viruses. *Cold Spring Harbor Symp. Quant. Biol.* 52, 331-341.
- Marsh, L.E., Pogue, G.P., and Hall, T.C. (1989). Similarity among plant virus (+) and (-) RNA termini imply a common ancestry with promoters of eukaryotic tRNAs. *Virology* 172, 415-427.
- Matthews, R.E.F. (1960). Properties of nucleoprotein fractions isolated from turnip yellow mosaic virus preparations. *Virology* **12**, 521.

Matthews, R.E.F. (1970). Turnip yellow mosaic virus. CMI/AAB Descriptions of Plant Viruses. No. 2.

- Matthews, R.E.F. (1988). Turnip yellow mosaic virus. In : Portraits of Viruses. A History of Virology. (Fenner, F., and Gibbs, A. eds), pp 87-110, S.Karger AG, Basel.
- Matthews, R.E.F. and Sarkar, S. (1976). A light-induced structural change in chloroplasts of Chinese cabbage cells infected with turnip yellow mosaic virus. J. Gen. Virol. 33, 435-446.
- Mellema, J.R., Bénicourt, C., Haenni, A.-L., Noort, A., Pleij, C.W.A., and Bosch, L. (1979). Translational studies with turnip yellow mosaic virus RNAs isolated from major and minor virus particles. *Virology* 96, 38-46.
- Melton, D.A., Krieg, P.A. Rebagliati, M.R., Maniatis, T., Zinn, K., and Green, M.R. (1984). Efficient *in vitro* synthesis of biologically active RNA and RNA hybridization probes from plasmids containing a bacteriophage SP6 promoter. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 12, 7035-7056.
- Memelink, J., van der Vlugt, C.I.M., Linthorst, H.J.M., Derks, A.F.L.M., Asjes, C.J., and Bol, J.F. (1990). Homologies between the genomes of a carlavirus (lily symptomless virus) and a potexvirus (lily virus X) from lily plants. J. Gen. Virol. 71, 917-924.
- Meshi, T., Ishikawa, M., Motoyoshi, F., Semba, K., and Okada, Y. (1986). In vitro transcription of infectious RNAs from full-length cDNAs of tobacco mosaic virus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 83, 5043-5047.
- Meshi, T., Ohno, T., Iba, H., and Okada, Y. (1981). Nucleotide sequence of a cloned cDNA copy of TMV (cowpea strain) RNA, including the assembly origin, the coat

protein cistron, and the 3' non-coding region. Mol. Gen. Genet. 184, 20-25.

Mi, S., Durbin, R., Haung, H.R., Rice, C.M., and Stollar, V. (1989). Association of the sindbis virus RNA methyltransferase activity with the nonstructural protein nsP1. Virology 170, 385-391.

- Miller, W.A., Dreher, T.W. and Hall, T.C. (1985). Synthesis of brome mosaic virus subgenomic RNA *in vitro* by internal initiation on (-)-sense genomic RNA. *Nature* 313, 68-70.
- Mizutani, S. and Colonno, R.J. (1985). *In vitro* synthesis of an infectious RNA from cDNA clones of human rhinovirus type 14. *J. Virology* **56**, 628-632.
- Morch, M.D. and Benicourt, C. (1980). Post-translational proteolytic cleavage of *in vitro*-synthesized turnip yellow mosaic virus RNA-coded high-molecular-weight proteins. J. Virol. 34, 85-94.
- Morch, M.D., Drugeon, G., and Benicourt, C. (1982a). Analysis of the *in vitro* coding properties of the 3' region of turnip yellow mosaic virus genomic RNA. Virology 119, 193-198
- Morch, M.D., Drugeon, G., Szafranski, P., and Haenni, A.L. (1989). Proteolytic origin of the 150-kilodalton protein encoded by turnip yellow mosaic virus genome RNA. J. Virol. 63, 5153-5158.
- Morch, M.D., Joshi, R.L., Denial, T.M., and Haenni, A.L. (1987). A new 'sense' RNA approach to block viral RNA replication *in vitro*. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 15, 4123-4130.
- Morch, M.D., Zagorski, W., and Haenni, A.L. (1982b). Proteolytic maturation of the turnip yellow mosaic virus polyprotein coded in vitro occurs by internal catalysis. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 127, 259-265.

Morch, M.D., Boyer, J.C. and Haenni, A.L. (1988). Overlapping open reading frames

revealed by complete nucleotide sequencing of turnip yellow mosaic virus genomic

RNA. Nucleic Acids Res. 16, 6157-6173.

- Morozov, S.Y., Dolja, V.V., and Atabekov, J.G. (1989). Probable reassortment of genomic elements among elongated RNA-containing plant viruses. J. Mol. Evol. 29, 52-62.
- Morozov, S.Y., Kenyuka, K.V., Levay, K.E., and Zaviriev, S.V. (1990). The putative RNA replicase of potato virus M: Obvious sequence similarity with those of potexand tymoviruses. *Virology* **179**, 911-914.
- Mouches, C., Candresse, T., and Bove, J.M. (1984). Turnip yellow mosaic virus RNAreplicase contains host and virus-encoded subunits. *Virology* **134**, 78-90.
- Mougel, M., Eyermann, F., Westhof, E., Romby, P., Expert-Bezancon, A., Ebel, J.-P., Ehresmann, B., and Ehresmann, C. (1987). Binding of *Escherichia coli* ribosomal protein S8 to 16S rRNA: A model for the interaction and the tertiary structure of the RNA binding site. *J. Mol. Biol.* **198**, 91-107.
- Needleman, S.B., and Wunsch, C.D. (1970). A general method applicable to the search for similarities in the amino acid sequence of two proteins. J. Mol. Biol. 48, 443-453.
- Nutter, R.C., Scheets, K., Panganiban, L.C., and Lommel, S.A. (1989). The complete nucleotide sequence of the maize chlorotic mottle virus genome. Nucleic Acids Res. 17, 3163-3177.
- Oberg, B. and Philipson, L. (1972). Binding of histidine to tobacco mosaic virus RNA. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 48, 927-932.

Osorio-Keese, M.E., Keese, P., and Gibbs, A. (1989). Nucleotide sequence of eggplant

mosaic tymovirus genome. Virology 172, 547-554.

Osterburg, R. and Sommer, R. (1981). Computer support of DNA sequence analysis. Computer Programs in Biomedicine 13, 101-109.

- Ou, J.-H., Rice, C.M., Dalgarno, L., Strauss, E.G., and Strauss, J.H. (1982). Sequence studies of several alphavirus genomic RNAs in the region containing the start of the subgenomic RNA. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 79, 5235-5239.
- Paul, H.L. (1971). Belladonna mottle virus, CMI/AAB Descriptions of Plant Viruses No. 52.
- Paul, H.L., Gibbs, A.J., and Wittman-Liebold, B. (1980). The relationships of certain tymoviruses assessed from the amino acid composition of their coat proteins. *Intervirology* 13, 99-109.
- Pearson, W.R., and Lipman, D.J. (1988). Improved tools for biological sequence comparison. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 85, 2444-2448.
- Peter, D., and Derks, A.F.L.M. (1974). Host range and some properties of physalis mosaic virus a new virus of the turnip yellow mosaic virus group. Neth. J. Pl. Pathol. 80, 124.
- Petty, I.T.D., Hunter, B.G., Wei, N., and Jackson, A.O. (1989). Infectious barley stripe mosaic virus RNA transcribed *in vitro* from full-length genomic cDNA clones. *Virology* 171, 342-349.
- Pinck, M., Yot, P., Chapeville, F., and Duranton, H.M. (1970). Enzymatic binding of valine to the 3' end of TYMV-RNA. *Nature* 226, 954-956.
- Pleij, C.W.A. (1990). Pseudoknots: A new motif in the RNA genome. TIBS 15, 143-147.

Pleij, C.W.A., Needleman, A., van Vloten-Doting, L., and Bosch, L. (1976). Translation of turnip yellow mosaic virus RNA *in vitro*: A closed and open coat

protein cistron. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 73, 4437-4441.

- Pleij, C.W.A., Rietveld, K., and Bosch, L. (1985). A new principle of RNA folding based on pseudoknotting. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* **13**, 1717-1731.
- Poch, O., Sauvaget, I., Delarue, M., and Tordo, N. (1989). Identification of four conserved motifs among the RNA-dependent polymerase encoding elements. *EMBO J.* 8, 3867-3874.
- Pogue, G.P, Marsh, L.E., and Hall, T.C. (1990). Point mutations in the ICR2 motif of brome mosaic virus RNAs debilitate (+)-strand replication. *Virology* **178**, 152-160.
- Proeseler, G., and Schmelzer, K. (1977). Laboratory and field tests about the transmission of erysimum latent virus by *Phyllotreta* species (Chrysomelidae). *Zentralbl. Bakt. Abt. II* 132, 716-721.
- Prusiner, S.B. (1988). Molecular structure, biology, and genetics of prions. Adv. Virus. Res. 35, 83-136.
- Racaniello, V.R. and Baltimore, D. (1981). Molecular cloning of poliovirus cDNA and determination of the complete nucleotide sequence of the viral genome. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 78, 4887-4891.
- Ralph, R.K. and Clark, M.F. (1966). Intracellular location of double-stranded plant viral ribonucleic acid. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **119**, 29-36.
- Rezaian, M.A., Williams, R.H.V., Gordon, K.H.J., Gould, A.R., and Symons, R.H. (1984). Nucleotide sequence of cucumber mosaic virus RNA 2 reveals a translocation product significantly homologous to corresponding proteins of other viruses. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 143, 277-284.

Rezaian, M.A., Williams, R.H.V., and Symons, R.H. (1985). Nucleotide sequence of cucumber mosaic virus RNA 1. Eur. J. Biochem. 150, 331-339.

- Ricard, B., Barreau, C., Renaudin, H., Mouches, C., and Bove, J.M. (1977). Messenger properties of turnip yellow mosaic virus RNA. Virology 79, 231-235.
- Riechman, J.L., Lain, S., and Garcia J.A. (1990). Infectious *in vitro* transcripts from a plum pox potyvirus cDNA clone. *Virology* **177**, 710-716.
- Rietveld, K., van Poelgeest, R., Pleij, C.W.A., van Bloom, J.H., and Bosch, L. (1982). The tRNA-like structure at the 3' terminus of turnip yellow mosaic virus RNA. Differences and similarities with canonical tRNA. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 10, 1929-1946.
- Rizzo, T. and Palukaitis, P. (1990). Construction of full-length cDNA clones of cucumber mosaic virus RNAs 1, 2 and 3: Generation of infectious RNA transcripts. *Mol. Gen. Genet.* 222, 249-256.
- Robinson, D.J., Hamilton, W.D.O., Harrison, B.D., and Baulcombe, D.C. (1987). Two anomalous tobamo-virus isolates: Evidence for RNA recombination in nature. J. Gen. Virol. 68, 2551-2561.
- Romaniuk, P.J., Lowry, P., Wu, H.N., Stormo, G., and Uhlenbeck, O.C. (1987). RNA binding site of R17 coat protein. *Biochemistry* 26, 1563-1568.
- Rozanov, M.N., Morozov, S.Y., and Skryabin, K.G. (1990). Unexpected close relationship between the large non-virion proteins of filamentous potexviruses and spherical tymoviruses. *Genes* 3, 373-379.
- Rupasov, V.V., Morozov, S.Y., Kanyuka, K.V., and Zavriev, S.V. (1989). Partial nucleotide sequence of potato virus M RNA shows similarities to potexviruses in

gene arrangement and the encoded amino acid sequences. J. Gen. Virol. 70, 1861-

1869.

- Saiki, R.K., Gelfand, D.H., Stoffel, S., Scharf, S.J., Higuchi, R., Horn, G.T., Mullis, K.B., Erlich, H.A. (1988). Primer-directed enzymatic amplification of DNA with a thermostable DNA polymerase. *Science* 239, 487-491.
- Saitou, N., and Nei, M. (1987). The neighbour-joining method: A new method for reconstructing phylogenetic trees. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 4, 406-425.
- Salomon, R., Sela, I., Soreq, H., Giveon, D., and Littauer, U.Z. (1976). Enzymatic acrylation of histidine to tobacco mosaic virus RNA. Virology 71, 74-84.
- Sanger, F. Nicklen, S. and Coulson, A.R. (1977). DNA sequencing with chainterminating inhibitors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 74, 5463-5467.
- Sanger, F., Coulson, A.R., Barrell, B.G., Smith, A.J.H., and Roe, B.A. (1980). Cloning in a single-stranded bacteriophage as an aid to rapid DNA sequencing. J. Mol. Biol. 143, 161-178.
- Schoelz, J., Shepherd, R.J., and Daubert, S. (1986). Region VI of cauliflower mosaic virus encodes a host range determinant. *Mol. Cel. Biol.* **6**, 2632-2637.
- Schroeder, J.L., and Blattner, F.R. (1982). Formal description of a DNA oriented computer language. Nucleic Acids Res. 10, 69-84.
- Sellers, P.H. (1974). On the theory and computation of evolutionary distances. SIAM J. App. Math. 26, 787-793.

Shatkin, A.J. (1976). Capping of eucaryotic mRNAs. Cell 9, 645-653.

Shih, D.S., Dasgupta. R., and Kaesberg, P. (1976). 7-Methylguanosine and efficiency of translation. J. Virol. 19, 736-742.

- Shimotohno, K., Kodama, Y., Hashimoto, J., and Miura, K.I. (1977). Importance of 5'terminal blocking structure to stabilize mRNA in eukaryotic protein synthesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 74, 2734-2738.
- Shukla, D.D. and Gough, K.H. (1980). Erysimum latent virus. CMI/AAB Descriptions of Plant viruses, No. 222.
- Shukla, D.D., Koenig, R., Gough, K.H., Huth, W., and Lesemann, D.-E. (1980). Erysimum latent virus-further characterization as a tymovirus. *Phytopathology* 70, 382-384.
- Shukla, D.D., Proll, E., Schmelzer, K., and Schmidt, H.B. (1973a). Studies on viruses and virus diseases of cruciferous plants. VIII. Purification, properties and serology of erysimum latent virus. Acta Phytopathologica Academiae Scientiarum Hungaricae 8, 91-103.
- Shukla, D.D., and Schmelzer, K. (1972). Studies on viruses and virus diseases of cruciferous plants. IV. The previously undescribed erysimum latent virus. Acta Phytopathologica Academiae Scientiarum Hungaricae 7, 157-167.
- Shukla, D.D., and Schmelzer, K. (1973b). Studies on viruses and virus diseases of cruciferous plants. IX.Brassica napus var. napobrassica, a sensitive and reliable local lesion host of erysimum latent virus. Acta Phytopathologica Academiae Scientiarum Hungaricae 8, 105-111.
- Shukla, D.D., and Schmelzer, K. (1973c). Studies on viruses and virus diseases of cruciferous plants. X. Effects of temperature on symptom expression and concentration of erysimum latent virus in *Brassica chinensis* and *B. juncea*. Acta

Phytopathologica Academiae Scientiarum Hungaricae 8, 113-119.

Shukla, D.D., and Schmelzer, K. (1973d). Studies on viruses and virus diseases of cruciferous plants. XI. Effects of light on symptom expression and concentration of

erysimum latent virus in Brassica chinensis. Acta Phytopathologica Academiae Scientiarum Hungaricae 8, 121-126.

- Shukla, D.D., and Schmelzer, K. (1975). Studies on viruses and virus diseases of cruciferous plants. XIX. Analysis of the results obtained with ornamental and wild species. Acta Phytopathologica Academiae Scientiarum Hungaricae 10, 217-229.
- Sleat, D.E., Gallie, D.R., Jefferson, R.A., Bevan, M.W., Turner, PC., and Wilson,
 T.M.A. (1987). Characterization of the 5'-leader sequence of tobacco mosaic virus
 RNA as a general enhancer of translation *in vitro*. Genes 60, 217-225.
- Skryabin, K.G., Kraev, A., Morozov, S.Y., Rozanov, M.N., Chernov, B.K., Lukasheva, L.I., and Atabekov, J.G. (1988a). Nucleotide sequence of potato virus X RNA. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 16, 10929.
- Skryabin, K.G., Morozov, S.Y., Kraev, A.S., Rozanov, M.V., Chernov, B.K., Lukasheva, L.I., and Atabekov, J.G. (1988b). Conserved and variable elements in RNAs genomes of potexviruses. *FEBS Lett.* 240, 33-40.
- Sneath, P.H.A. and Sokal, R.R. (1973). Numerical Taxonomy: The Principles and Practice of Numerical Classification. Freeman, W.H., San Francisco.
- Solis, G. and Garcia-Arenal, F. (1990). The complete nucleotide sequence of the genomic RNA of the tobamovirus, tobacco mild green mosaic virus. Virology 177, 553-558.
- Sonenberg, N. (1988). Cap-binding proteins of eukaryotic messenger RNA: Functions in initiation and control of translation. *Prog. Nucleic Acids Res.* 35, 173-207.

Srifah, P., Keese, P., Shukla, D.D., and Gibbs, A. (1990). The primary structure of the virion protein gene and encoded protein of erysimum latent virus. J. Gen. Virol. 71,

3085-3088.

- Staden, R. (1982). Automation of the computer handling of gel reading data produced by the shotgun method of DNA sequencing. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 10, 4731-4751.
- Strauss, E.G., Rice, C.M., and Strauss, J.H. (1984). Complete nucleotide sequence of the genomic RNA of Sindbis virus. *Virology* **133**, 92-110.
- Strauss, J.H. and Strauss, E.G. (1988). Evolution of RNA viruses. Ann. Rev. Microbiol. 42, 657-683.
- Studier, J.A. and Keppler, K.L. (1988). A note on neighbour joining algorithm of Saito and Nei. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 5, 729-731.
- Symons, R.H., Rees, M.W., Short, M.N., and Markham, R. (1963). Relationships between the ribonucleic acid and protein of some plant viruses. J. Mol. Biol. 6, 1-15.
- Szybiak, U., Bouley, J.P., and Fritsch, C. (1978). Evidence for the existence of a coat protein messenger RNA with the top component of each of three tymoviruses. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 5, 1821-1831.
- Tabor, S. and Richardson, C.C. (1987). DNA sequence analysis with a modified bacteriophage T7 DNA polymerase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 84, 4767-4771.
- Takamatsu, N., Watanabe, Y., Iwasaki, T., Shiba, T., Meshi, T., and Okada, Y. (1991). Deletion analysis of the 5'untranslated leader sequence of tobacco mosaic virus RNA. J. Virol. 65, 1619-1622.

Taniguchi, T., Palmieri, M., and Weissman, C. (1978). QB DNA-containing hybrid

plasmids give rise to $Q\beta$ phage formation in the bacterial host. Nature (London)

274, 223-228.

- Thomas, M.S. and Nomura, M. (1987). Translational regulation of the L1 ribosomal protein operon of *Escherichia coli* mutations that define the target site for repression by L1. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 15, 3085-3096.
- Turner, D.R., Joyce, L.E., and Butler, P.J.G. (1988). The tobacco mosaic virus assembly origin RNA: Functional characteristics defined by directed mutagenesis. J. Mol. Biol. 203, 531-547.
- Unger, R., Harel, D., and Sussman, J.L. (1986). DNAMAT: An efficient graphic matrix sequence homology algarithm and its application to structural analysis. *Computer Applications in the Biosciences* 2, 283-289.
- van Belkum, A., Jiang, B., Rietveld, K., Pleij, C.W.A., and Borsch, L. (1987). Structural similarities among valine-accepting tRNA-like structures in tymoviral RNAs and elongator tRNAs. *Biochemistry* **26**, 1141-1151.
- van Belkum, A., Verlaan, P., Jiang, B., Pleij, C. and Bosch, L. (1988). Temperature dependent chemical and enzymatic probing of the tRNA-like structure of TYMV RNA. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 16, 1931-1950.
- van der Werf, S., Bradley, J., Wimmer, E., Studier, F.W., and Dunn, J.J. (1986). Synthesis of infectious poliovirus RNA by purified T7 RNA polymerase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 83, 2330-2334.
- van Regenmortel, M.H.V. (1972). Wild cucumber mosaic virus. CMI/AAB Descriptions of Plant Viruses. No. 105.

van Wezenbeck, P., Verver, J., Harmsen, J., Vos, P. and van Kammen, A. (1983).

Primary structure and gene organization of the middle-component RNA of cowpea mosaic virus. *EMBO J.* 2, 941-946.
- Veidt, I., Lot, H., Leiser, M., Scheidecker, D., Guilley, H., Richards, K., and Jonard, G. (1988). Nucleotide sequence of beet western yellows virus RNA. Nucleic Acids Res. 16, 9917-9933.
- Verwoerd, T.C., Dekker, B.M.M., and Hoekema, A. (1989). A small-scale procedure for the rapid isolation of plant RNAs. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 17, 2362.
- Vincent, J.R., Ueng, P.P., Lister, R.M., and Larkins, B.A. (1990). Nucleotide sequences of coat protein genes for three isolates of barley yellow dwarf virus and their relationship to other luteoviruses coat protein sequences. J. Gen. Virol. 71, 2791-2799.
- Vos, P., Jaegle, M., Wellink, J., Verver, J., Eggen, R., Kammen, A.V., and Goldbach,
 R. (1988). Infectious RNA transcripts derived from full-length DNA copies of the genomic RNAs of cowpea mosaic virus. *Virology* 165, 33-41.
- Weiland, J.J., and Dreher, T.W. (1989). Infectious TYMV RNA from cloned cDNA: Effects in vitro and in vivo of point substitutions in the initiation codons of two overlapping ORFs. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 17, 4675-4687.
- Wu, S.X., Rinehart, C.A., and Kaesberg, P. (1987). Sequence and organization of southern bean mosaic virus genomic RNA. Virology 161, 73-80.
- Young, M.J., Kelly, P., Larkin, P.J., Waterhouse, P.M., and Gerlach, W.L. (1991).
 Infectious *in vitro* from a cloned cDNA of barley yellow dwarf virus. J. Gen. Virol.
 70, 2245-2251.
- Yot, P., Pinck, M., Haenni, A.L., Duranton, H., and Chapeville, F. (1970). Valine

specific tRNA-like structure in turnip yellow mosaic virus RNA. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 67, 1345.

Zavriev, S.K., Kanyuka, K.V., and Levay, K.E. (1991). The genome organization of potato virus M RNA. J. Gen. Virol. 72, 9-14.

- Ziegler-Graff, V., Bouzoubaa, S., Jubin, I., Guilley, H., Jonard, G., and Richards, K. (1988). Biologically active transcripts of beet necrotic yellow vein virus RNA-3 and RNA-4. J. Gen. Virol. 69, 2347-2357.
- Zuidema, D., Linthorst, H.J.M., Huisman, M.J., Asjes, C.J., and Bol, J.F. (1989). Nucleotide sequence of narcissus mosaic virus RNA. J. Gen. Virol. 70, 267-276.
- Zuker, M. and Steigler, P. (1981). Optimal computer folding of large RNA sequences using thermodynamics and auxiliary information. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 9, 133-148.
- Ahlquist, P., French, R., Janda, M., and Loesch-Fries, L.S. (1984). Multicomponent RNA plant virus infection derived from cloned viral cDNA. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 81, 7066-7070.

